

Developing Bacteriophage and the Predatory Bacterium *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* as an Alternative Therapy for Canine Otitis Externa

Bailey Secker B.Sc. (Hons)

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

Canine otitis externa (OE) is a complex multifactorial disease and is one of the most common diagnoses for dogs seen in veterinary practices worldwide. Pseudomonas aeruginosa is not a typical constituent of the canine ear microbiota but when present in the canine ear, commonly results in severe chronic infections. Antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation are common in chronic disease and highlights the need for alternative treatments. In the present study the antimicrobial susceptibility and biofilm forming ability of 253 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE was assessed. This identified that resistance to fluroquinolones was high: namely enrofloxacin (25%), levofloxacin (15%) and ciprofloxacin (13%). Further analysis using genome sequencing implicated mutations in DNA gyrase and topoisomerase genes as the cause of this resistance. Similarly, the majority (82%) of canine P. aeruginosa clinical isolates were found to produce strong levels of biofilm. The use of bacteriophage and the predatory bacterium Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus have both been suggested for their use as novel therapies against a variety of pathogens. Subsequently, bacteriophage were isolated and characterised using the clinical P. aeruginosa isolates. Two lytic bacteriophage, with a wide host range (40%, 34%) in regard to the clinical P. aeruginosa isolates, Pseudomonas phage K9-6 and K9-7, were isolated from wastewater samples. Genotypic analysis suggested these bacteriophage belonged to the genus *Pbunavirus*. Finally, *B. bacteriovorus* was shown to prey upon a number of (16%) clinical isolates of *P. aeruginosa*. These results highlight the potential of bacteriophage and *B. bacteriovorus* to treat P. aeruginosa infection in cases of canine otitis externa.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank Dr Laura Hobley, Dr Robert Atterbury and Dr Stephen Shaw for your supervision, guidance, and support throughout my PhD. I want to thank Rob in particular for helping me make this thesis what it is today and for responding to many of my late-night questions. I would also like to thank Dr Adriano Gigante for being a fount of bacteriophage knowledge and taking the time to teach me so much.

I am grateful to all of the PhD students from the microbiology department for spending the last four years laughing and moaning together over numerous long lunch breaks.

I'm thankful to the Nottingham BBSRC DTP for giving me the opportunity to take part in this PhD program, including my Professional Internship for PhD Students where I was hosted at UKHSA by Dr Frieda Jorgensen.

I thank my parents Claire and Martyn, and my sisters, India and Violet for your support not just through my PhD but my entire time studying in Nottingham. Last but by no means least I'd like to thank my partner Rhi, for putting up with me being sat in the office for hours on end and being even grumpier than usual.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledge	mentsii
List of Tables	X
List of Figure	sxii
List of Abbre	viations xvi
Chapter 1 II	ntroduction1
1.1 Can	ine otitis externa
1.1.1	Normal ear structure and function2
1.1.2	Normal ear microbiota4
1.1.3	Clinical framework
1.1.4	Prevalence of canine otitis externa11
1.1.5	Treatment11
1.2 <i>Pse</i>	udomonas aeruginosa14
1.2.1	Prevalence14
1.2.2	Isolates
1.2.3	Virulence factors involved in canine otitis externa
1.2.4	Biofilm formation
1.2.5	Motility
1.2.6	Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in Pseudomonas aeruginosa 23

1.2.7	Previously investigated potential alternative treatments for use in
canin	e otitis externa
1.3	Bacteriophage
1.3.1	Bacteriophage morphology and classification
1.3.2	Lifestyle
1.3.3	Current use of bacteriophage for the treatment of infection35
1.3.4	Limitations of bacteriophage
1.4	Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus
1.4.1	Lifecycle
1.4.2	Prey range and decoys
1.4.3	Resistance and inhibition of predation45
1.4.4	Animal trials
1.5	Summary
1.6	Aims
Chapter 2	Materials and Methods
2.1	Preparation of buffers, culture and storage media
2.1.1	Solutions and buffers
2.1.2	Culture media51
2.1.3	Storage media preparation53
2.2	Bacterial strain isolation54
2.3	Growth and laboratory maintenance55
2.3.1	P. aeruginosa55

2.3.	.2 <i>E. coli</i>	55
2.3.	.3 B. bacteriovorus	55
2.3.	.4 Bacteriophage	57
2.4	Agarose gel electrophoresis	59
2.5	Antimicrobial sensitivity testing	59
2.6	Submerged biofilm assay	62
2.6.	.1 Biofilm analysis	62
2.7	Congo red biofilm assay	63
2.8	Swarming motility assay	63
2.9	Isolation of bacteriophage	64
2.9.	.1 Isolation using enriched samples	66
2.10	Bacteriophage host range	67
2.10	0.1 Bacteriophage efficiency of plating	67
2.11	Bacteriophage genomic DNA extraction	68
2.12	Restriction digestion	69
2.13	P. aeruginosa growth kinetics in the presence of bacteriophage	69
2.13	3.1 Optimising host input	70
2.14	Predation on YPSC double layer agar plates	70
2.15	Detection of secreted inhibitory products	71
2.16	Predation in liquid culture	71
2.17	Microscopy	72

2.18 Pr	redation of pre-formed biofilm	72
2.19 Su	urvival in ear wash	72
2.20 Bi	oinformatics	73
2.21 G	enome assembly and annotation	73
2.21.1	P. aeruginosa genome sequencing	73
2.21.2	Bacteriophage genome sequencing	74
2.22 W	hole genome analysis of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates	76
2.22.1	Selection of additional P. aeruginosa genomes	76
2.22.2	Identification of resistance, virulence genes and mutations	80
2.22.3	Identification of plasmids	80
2.22.4	Identification of biofilm associated genes	81
2.22.5	Phylogeny	84
2.22.6	Identification of CRISPR-Cas arrays	84
2.22.7	Prediction of prophage sequences	84
2.22.8	Identification of predation-inhibitory products	84
2.23 W	hole genome analysis of bacteriophage	84
2.24 St	atistical analysis	85
2.24.1	Principal Component Analysis	85
2.24.2	Cluster analysis	85
Chapter 3	Characterisation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolated	from
Canine Otiti	s Externa	87
3.1 In	troduction	88

3.1.1	Aims and Hypothesis
3.2 Res	sults
3.2.1	Strain collection
3.2.2	Antimicrobial sensitivity testing90
3.2.3	Biofilm-forming ability of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates103
3.2.4	Swarming motility 109
3.2.5	Cluster analysis111
3.2.6	Bioinformatic analysis 113
3.3 Dis	cussion
3.3.1	Characterisation of clinical P. aeruginosa isolates from cases of
canine o	titis externa
3.3.2	Comparison of different P. aeruginosa PAO1 sublines 129
Chapter 4 1	solation and Characterisation of Bacteriophage
4.1 Int	roduction
4.1.1	Aims and Hypothesis134
4.2 Res	sults
4.2.1	Screening existing phage collection134
4.2.2	Characterisation of bacteriophage137
4.2.3	Bacteriophage genome analysis156
4.3 Dis	cussion
Chapter 5	Biological Control of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Using
Bdellovibrio	bacteriovorus

5.1 I	ntroduction
5.1.1	Aims and Hypothesis
5.2 F	Results
5.2.1	Predation on YPSC double layer agar plates
5.2.2	Predation in liquid culture190
5.2.3	Microscopy 191
5.2.4	Predation of pre-formed biofilm192
5.2.5	Effect of ear cleaner on the viability of <i>B. bacteriovorus</i> 193
5.2.6	Detection of secreted predation-inhibitory products 194
5.2.7	Identification of genes associated with sensitivity to B.
bacter	riovorus
5.2.8	P. aeruginosa phylogeny and B. bacteriovorus susceptibility 198
5.3 I	Discussion199
Chapter 6	General Discussion
Chapter 7	References
Chapter 8	Appendix
8.1 \$	Supplementary material
8.1.1	Complete canine otitis externa strain collection
8.1.2	Extracting amino acid sequences for genes of interest
8.1.3	Complete biofilm formation ability of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates 268
8.1.4	Comparison of biofilm formation of PAO1 sublines
8.1.5	Cluster analysis

8.1.6	Bacteriophage restriction digestion gels
8.1.7	Complete prophage analysis
8.1.8	Coverage of bacteriophage reads before and after subsampling
	281
8.1.9	VIRIDIC heatmap containing prophage regions
8.1.10	VIRIDIC genus and species clustering
8.2 PIP	S reflective statement
8.3 Put	plications from this work

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Bacteria and fungi commonly isolated from cases of canine otitis
externa using both culture-based and metagenomic methods. (Secker, Shaw
& Atterbury, 2023)
Table 1.2 Otic treatments containing antibiotics in the UK. (Secker, Shaw &
Atterbury, 2023)
Table 2.1. A summary of the bacterial strains used in this work
Table 2.2 List of antibiotics used in the disc diffusion assay 61
Table 2.3 Summary of environmental samples collected and used for
bacteriophage isolation
Table 2.4 Additional P. aeruginosa genomes used for bioinformatics
analysis
Table 2.5 Genes that are associated with biofilm formation and were
investigated in the present study
Table 3.1 Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance genes and a summary of
their function
Table 3.2 Amino acid substitutions and deletions of gyrA, gyrB, parC, parE
and <i>fusA1</i>
Table 3.3 Summary of the genome features of 35 isolates of <i>P. aeruginosa</i>
from clinical cases of canine otitis externa
Table 3.4 Summary of plasmids identified from genome sequencing. 116
Table 3.5 Summary of antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes
identified in plasmid sequences
Table 4.1 Collection of bacteriophage characterised as part of the present
study

Table 4.2 Summary of CRISPR-Cas presence in clinical P. aeruginosa
genome sequences
Table 4.3 Predicted prophage regions in the genome sequences of 29 P.
aeruginosa isolates
Table 4.4 Summary of the method used for genome reordering for each
bacteriophage158
Table 4.5 Summary of bacteriophage genome features. 160
Table 4.6 Comparison of three tools used to identify bacteriophage lifestyles,
PhaTYP, BACPHLIP and PhageScope
Table 4.7 Presence of a gene with integration or excision function within the
bacteriophage genomes
Table 4.8 Table of assigned genus and species clusters
Table 5.1 Summary of isolates that were susceptibility to <i>B. bacteriovorus</i>
predation
Table 5.2 Summary of the top 10 results from Scoary analysis. 197
Table 8.1 Complete collection of clinical <i>P. aeruginosa</i> used in this work.
Table 8.2 Results from PHASTEST analysis of clinical P. aeruginosa genome
sequences
Table 8.3 Table of assigned genus and species clusters

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Diagram of the external and middle canine ear (Doyle, Skelly &
Bellenger, 2004)
Figure 1.2 Cytology showing rods and nuclear streaming indicative of an
active infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa-modified Romanovsky stain
(×1000) (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023)
Figure 1.3 Diagram showing the influences and progress of ear disease from
primary disease to infection. (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023)6
Figure 1.4 An example of the clinical appearance of <i>Pseudomonas</i> otitis in a
Cocker spaniel. (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023)9
Figure 1.5 A typical bacteriophage replication cycle highlighting both the
lytic and lysogenic cycles
Figure 1.6 Predatory life cycle of <i>Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus</i>
Figure 3.1 Percentage of isolates susceptibility to 14 antibiotics
Figure 3.2 Percentage of P. aeruginosa isolates from canine otitis extra
resistant to multiple antibiotics
Figure 3.3 Principal component analysis of antimicrobial sensitivity data.
Figure 3.4 Presence and absence of antimicrobial resistance genes
Figure 3.5 Antimicrobial susceptibility of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PAO1 sublines. 103
Figure 3.6 Biofilm formation of P. aeruginosa from canine otitis externa.
Figure 3.7 Comparison of biofilm formation between <i>P. aeruginosa</i> sublines.

Figure 3.8 <i>P. aeruginosa</i> colony morphology in the presence of Congo red
and Coomassie blue dyes
Figure 3.9 Comparison of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PAO1 sublines on agar containing
Congo red and Coomassie blue dyes
Figure 3.10 Percentage coverage of the nucleotide sequence of 53 genes
associated with biofilm formation
Figure 3.11 Examples of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> swarming motility
Figure 3.12 Relationship between biofilm formation and swarming motility.
Figure 3.13 Swarming motility patterns of four <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PAO1
sublines
Figure 3.14 Hierarchical clustering of clinical <i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates 112
Figure 3.15 Bandage output of an assembly graph from Flye
Figure 3.16 Presence and absence of virulence genes in the genomes of <i>P</i> .
aeruginosa isolates
Figure 3.17 Phylogenetic trees of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> strains
Figure 4.1 Host range of a collection of 19 bacteriophage
Figure 4.2 Efficiency of plating of 19 bacteriophage
Figure 4.3 Efficiency of bacteriophage infection
Figure 4.4 Growth curves of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PAO1-QUB142
Figure 4.5 Growth curves of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PAO1-QUB in the presence of
bacteriophage
Figure 4.6 Panels showing growth curves of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PAO1-QUB in the
presence of <i>Pseudomonas</i> phage K9-6

Figure 4.7 Ethidium Bromide agarose gel image of bacteriophage restriction
digestion with EcoRI-HF
Figure 4.8 Ethidium Bromide agarose gel image of bacteriophage restriction
digestion with HincII and XbaI
Figure 4.9 Host range of 29 isolates of P. aeruginosa from clinical cases of
canine otitis externa
Figure 4.10 Clinker alignment of Pseudomonas phage K9-11 and closest
relative <i>Pseudomonas</i> phage YuA
Figure 4.11 Comparison of genome length and the number of coding
sequences predicted by Pharokka
Figure 4.12 Intergenomic similarities calculated by VIRIDIC
Figure 4.13 Proteomic phylogenetic tree generated using ViPTree
Figure 4.14 Proteomic phylogenetic tree generated using ViPTree
Figure 5.1 Double layer YPSC agar plates highlighting positive and negative
predation results
Figure 5.2 Growth curves of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates in the presence if <i>B</i> .
<i>bacteriovorus</i> in liquid culture
Figure 5.3 Formation of bdelloplasts in clinical P. aeruginosa isolates
following <i>Bdellovibrio</i> exposure
Figure 5.4 Level of pre-formed biofilms in the presence of <i>B. bacteriovorus</i> .
Figure 5.5 Viability of <i>B. bacteriovorus</i> in the presence of commercially
available ear wash
Figure 5.6 Agar plate photographs investigating the presence of products
that inhibit predation

Figure 5.7 Presence and absence of genes known to produce predation-
inhibitory products
Figure 5.8 Phylogenetic tree of P. aeruginosa strains and relationship to
susceptibility to <i>B. bacteriovorus</i>
Figure 8.1 Python script used to extract the amino acid sequences of genes
of interest
Figure 8.2 Biofilm formation of P. aeruginosa from canine otitis externa.
Figure 8.3 Comparison of biofilm formation between <i>P. aeruginosa</i> sublines.
Figure 8.4 Breakdown of hierarchical clustering results
Figure 8.5 Ethidium Bromide agarose gel image of bacteriophage restriction
digestion with three restriction endonucleases
Figure 8.6 Mean coverage of bacteriophage genomes assembled from co-
sequenced reads
Figure 8.7 Heatmap showing intergenomic similarities calculated by
VIRIDIC.

List of Abbreviations

%	Percentage
°C	Degrees Celsius
μL	Microlitre
μm	Micrometre
AMR	Antimicrobial Resistance
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
b	Base(s)
B. bacteriovorus	Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus
BaCl ₂	Barium Chloride
bp	Base Pair(s)
CaCl ₂	Calcium Chloride
cAD	Canine Atopic Dermatitis
CFU	Colony-Forming Unit
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
exoS/ExoS	bi-functional type-III cytotoxin
FIC	Fractional Inhibitory Concentration
g	Gram(s)
g	Gravitational force equivalent
ĥ	hour(s)
H ₂ O	Water
H_2SO_4	Sulfuric acid
ICTV	International Committee of Taxonomy of Viruses
K. pneumoniae	Klebsiella pneumoniae
L	Litre(s)
LB	Lysogeny Broth
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
LTP	Long tail fibre
Μ	molar
M. pachydermatis	Malassezia pachydermatis
MgSO ₄	Magnesium Sulfate
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
min	Minutes
mL	Millilitre
mol	Mole
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
nm	Nanometre
OD _x	Optical Density at a given Wavelength (x)
OE	Otitis Externa
ОМ	Otitis Media
P. aeruginosa	Pseudomonas aeruginosa
PFU	Plaque-Forming Unit
<i>plcH</i> /PlcH	Haemolytic phospholipase C
QS	Quorum Sensing
R-M	Restriction-Modification
RO	Reverse Osmosis
rpm	Revolutions per minute

S. pseudintermedius	Staphylococcus pseudintermedius
SM buffer	Sodium Magnesium buffer
STP	Short tail fibres
ТМ	Tympanic Membrane
toxA/ToxA	Exotoxin A
V	Volt(s)
v/v	Volume per Volume Concentration
w/v	Weight per Volume Concentration
YT	Yeast extract tryptone

Chapter 1 Introduction

A portion of this introduction has been previously published (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023).

1.1 Canine otitis externa

Otitis externa (OE) is defined as inflammation of the external ear canal that may affect the entire length, or any part, of the canal from the tympanic membrane (TM) to the outer meatus and is often associated with concurrent pinnal changes. The disease can be painful and/or pruritic, acute, or chronic, and may affect one or both ears. Chronic OE is defined variably but is usually considered to be disease of over three months duration or which returns within three months (Bajwa, 2019; Nuttall, 2023).

1.1.1 Normal ear structure and function

Epidermal cells of the drum and ear wall are constantly being renewed. Corneocytes, shed from the surface, mix with sebaceous and ceruminous secretions to form cerumen (ear wax) that acts as a vehicle to carry material, including microorganisms, out of the ear. The underlying epidermis moves centrifugally towards the outer meatus to facilitate this (Tabacca et al., 2011).

A higher density of ceruminous glands has been associated with the development of OE in dogs predisposed to otitis (Huang, Little & McNeil, 2009; Stout-Graham et al., 1990). These secretions largely determine the acidity of the canine ear—at around pH 6—providing a buffered environment that regulates pH changes (Grono, 1970b). Acute ear infections can be accompanied by a reduction in the pH of the canal wall, whereas chronic disease may be more associated with an alkaline shift. Innate and specific immune responses mediated by host defence peptides, such as β -defensin (cBD3)-like and cathelicidin (cCath), and the secretion of IgA, IgM, and (particularly) IgG in cerumen contribute to the maintenance of the normal microbiota (Santoro, 2023; Diamond et al., 2009). Bacterial and epidermal antimicrobial peptides may act to limit bacterial growth and alter the immunosurveillance of commensal organisms (Diamond et al., 2009). The disruption of the microbiota may lead to sustained dysbiosis and subsequent secondary infections. A further understanding of this may assist in the development of more effective treatments for OE.



Figure 1.1 Diagram of the external and middle canine ear (Doyle, Skelly & Bellenger, 2004).

1.1.2 Normal ear microbiota

Microorganisms in the ear are characterised using three main techniques: cytological examination, bacterial culture, and deep sequencing (Dickson & Love, 1983; Tater et al., 2003; Leonard et al., 2022) (Figure 1.2). The organisms present in the normal canine ear have been investigated in only a few studies (Dickson & Love, 1983; Grono & Frost, 1969; Yamashita et al., 2005; Aoki-Komori et al., 2007). Traditional culturing has revealed the predominance of *Staphylococcus pseudintermedius* (previously termed *S. intermedius*), *Bacillus* spp., coagulase-negative *Staphylococcus* spp., *Micrococcus* spp., as well as *Malassezia* spp., with smaller numbers of *Corynebacterium* spp. and Gramnegative rods (Shaw, 2016; Fraser, 1961; Lyskova, Vydrzalova & Mazurova, 2007).



Figure 1.2 Cytology showing rods and nuclear streaming indicative of an active infection with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*—modified Romanovsky stain (×1000) (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023)

In OE, these organisms are over-represented, but the results of culture often reveal less commonly isolated organisms, such as *Staphylococcus schleiferi*, that are also likely part of the normal microbiota (Igimi, Takahashi & Mitsuoka, 1990).

More recently, deep sequencing and metagenomics have revealed a richer population of bacteria and yeasts that characterise the microbiome of normal ears. The normal microbiota of the ear is outside of the scope of this work but has been discussed elsewhere in detail (Tang et al., 2020; Hoffmann et al., 2014).

Dysbiosis of the ear may be characterised by an overgrowth of *Malassezia* spp. or bacterial populations, but there is not a consistent pattern of change from normal to infected ears, and this may also vary according to breed (Mauldin et al., 1997), dysbiosis often makes dogs more vulnerable to ear infections with *Pseudomonas*.

1.1.3 Clinical framework

August (1988) devised a useful clinical framework that separated the factors involved in the development of canine OE into primary disease, predisposing factors, and perpetuating factors. This allowed a structured approach to diagnosis and treatment. More recently, the perpetuating factors have been separated into physical changes and secondary infections resulting in the PSPP (primary, secondary, perpetuating, and predisposing factors) system (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Diagram showing the influences and progress of ear disease from primary disease to infection. (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023).

1.1.3.1 Primary Factors

These describe the causes of initial inflammation in the ear. The most common are allergy, presence of foreign bodies, and infestations with *Otodectes cynotis*. Between 70 and 80% of dogs suffering from allergic skin disease (food and environmental allergy) have OE (Paterson & Matyskiewicz, 2018; Rosser, 1993). In particular, OE has been increasingly linked with canine atopic dermatitis (cAD) over the last few decades (Scott, 1981; Willemse, 1986; Saridomichelakis et al., 2007; Favrot et al., 2010). It is important to note that primary factors are not identified in some cases (Saridomichelakis et al., 2007).

The association between atopic dermatitis and OE complicates the PSPP system, as allergy causes inflammation and increases the probability of secondary infection. Studies comparing the microbiota of dogs suffering from atopic dermatitis with control animals identified significantly different numbers of some microbial species in the ears of dogs suffering from cAD compared with unaffected control animals (Ngo et al., 2018; Apostolopoulos et al., 2021).

The type of primary disease may influence the subsequent bacterial and yeast infections. Zur, Lifshitz & Bdolah-Abram (2011) reported *Malassezia* and

bacterial rods more commonly in allergy and endocrine disease, respectively. In contrast, Paterson & Matyskiewicz (2018) reported that allergy was a common cause of *Pseudomonas* infections in dogs (70%), likely a result of the chronic nature of the underlying disease.

1.1.3.2 Secondary Infections

Secondary infection usually causes a marked increase in the clinical signs experienced in canine OE, unfortunately many patients are not presented until this is noted. The normal canine ear is not sterile, and depending on the primary disease, some dysbiosis may be seen in the absence of clinical infection, blurring the line between traditionally binary infected versus non-infected ears. Inflamed ears are often dysbiotic, with an overgrowth of *S. pseudintermedius* and *M. pachydermatis* (Ngo et al., 2018). In the absence of perpetuating factors (below), reducing inflammation may be sufficient to resolve the overgrowth (Bergvall et al., 2017).

Table 1.1 summarises the microbial species found in OE using culture-based and metagenomic methods. *Staphylococcus* spp. (2.97–58.5%) and *P. aeruginosa* (5.83–35.5%) are both frequently isolated using culture, along with the fungus *M. pachydermatis* (8.75–30.9%). Shotgun metagenomics has further identified the obligate anaerobes *Peptostreptococcus canis* and *Porphyromonas cangingivalis* in 5.52% and 4.38% of OE cases respectively (Tang et al., 2020). The anaerobic nature of these organisms means that they have not yet been implicated in cases of OE; however, they have both been identified in the canine mouth (Lawson et al., 2012; Collins et al., 1994).

Genus	Species	Prevalence Using	Prevalence Using
Gram-nosit	iva hactaria	I raditional Culture	Metagenomics
Staphylococcus	S intermedius	58 5% + 6 2% [1]	22% [4]
Shiphiyococous	coagulase-positive		/0 [.]
	Staphylococci, S.	36.83% + 2.97% [2]	11.25% + 8.54% [5]
	pseudintermedius, S.		
	schleiferi, S. schleiferi	24.30% [3]	
	spp. Coagulass,		
	Staphylococci		
Streptococcus	S. canis, β -haemolytic	29.9% + 4.1% [1]	5.42% + 3.80% +
1	Streptococci, non-		0.83% [5]
	haemolytic	6.2% [3]	
	Streptococci, S.	0.070/ [0]	2.2% [4]
	halichoeri, S.	2.9/% [2]	
Corvnehacterium	C auriscanis C	0 79% [2]	7 08% + 4 38% [5]
corynebucienum	freneyi, C. spp.	0.7970 [2]	7.0070 1 4.5070 [5]
			5.4% [4]
Finegoldia	F. magna		5.83% [5]
Peptostreptococcus	P. canis		5.52% [5]
Lactobacillus		5.00/ 513	5.5% [4]
Enterococcus	E. faecium, E. faecalis	5.2% [1]	2.30% [4]
			1 04% [5]
Arcanobacterium	A. canis		4% [5]
Peptoniphilus	P. harei		2.29% [5]
Bacillus	<i>B</i> . spp.	0.99% [2]	
Gram-negat	tive bacteria		
Pseudomonas	P. aeruginosa	35.5% [3]	18.6% [4]
		16 2404 [2]	5 830% [5]
		10.24/0 [2]	5.6570 [5]
		7.2% [1]	
Proteus	P. spp., P. mirabilis	14.4% [1]	5.60% [4]
		6.8% [3]	2.29% [5]
		3 56% [2]	
Escherichia	E. coli	10.30% [1]	
		4.2% [3]	
F (1 ()		3.17% [2]	4.00/ [4]
(Unknown genus)			4.9% [4]
Porphyrimonas	P. cangingivalis		4.5% [4]
			4.38% [5]
Fu	ngi		
Malassezia	M. pachydermatis	30.9% [1]	8.75% [5]
		30.01% [2]	
Candida	C. spp.	2.38% [2]	
Oth	iers		
14 Others			2.08-0.63% [5]

Table 1.1 Bacteria and fungi commonly isolated from cases of canine otitis externa usingboth culture-based and metagenomic methods. (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023).

1 - Lyskova, Vydrzalova & Mazurova, 20072 - Petrov et al., 20193 - Bugden,20134 - Borriello et al., 20205 - Tang et al., 2020

Corynebacterium spp. was isolated from 0.79% of canine OE patients in Bulgaria (Petrov et al., 2019). However, metagenomic sequencing suggests that this could be an underestimate, as its prevalence could be up to 5.4–7.08% (Tang et al., 2020; Borriello et al., 2020). This is in line with other studies showing the greater sensitivity of 16S rRNA sequencing compared with traditional culture methods (Leonard et al., 2022). However, the results of DNA sequence analysis should be interpreted with caution, as they do not distinguish between viable and dead cells.

Given the microbial diversity of healthy ears and the range of environmental and physical exposures that can initiate infection, it is unsurprising that the relative abundance of pathogens in canine OE also varies considerably between studies. However, despite this diversity, *Pseudomonas* spp. are the most common bacteria in chronic otitis, with up to 35% of cases affected (Figure 1.4) (Nuttall & Cole, 2007).



Figure 1.4 An example of the clinical appearance of *Pseudomonas* otitis in a Cocker spaniel. (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023).

1.1.3.3 Perpetuating Factors

Perpetuating factors represent the tissue changes in the ear canal that develop as a result of disease and that prevent the resolution of OE and make repeated infection more likely (August, 1988). Swelling and hyperplasia of the canal wall are followed by the enlargement of the ceruminous glands (modified sweat glands) and, finally, hidradenitis. Once the disease has progressed to this stage, it is often irreversible, and with increased surface area and ineffective physical and mechanical defences, bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* thrive. Bacterial toxins and physical accumulation of discharge can cause the rupture of the tympanic membrane, allowing infection to spread to the middle ear, resulting in otitis media (OM), which can then act as a perpetuating reservoir of infection (Paterson, 2016). Ear canal stenosis (38%) and OM (25%) were identified as the most prevalent perpetuating factors in Greece among 100 dogs of varying breeds (Saridomichelakis et al., 2007).

1.1.3.4 Predisposing Factors

Predisposing factors are not causative of inflammation but increase the probability of developing otitis. Predisposing factors include the physical traits of the dogs such as long, pendulous, hairy, or V-shaped drop pinna, as well as narrow external canals. These traits and external factors, such as swimming may disrupt normal functioning by increasing moisture within the ear canal, disrupting the normal microbiota and predisposing to OE (Saridomichelakis et al., 2007; O'Neill et al., 2021b).

1.1.4 Prevalence of canine otitis externa

Estimates of canine OE prevalence range between 5–20% (August, 1988). In the UK, canine OE was a frequent diagnosis (7.3%) in a random sample of 22,000 dogs attending primary care practices over a one-year period in 2016, which was second only to periodontal disease (12.52%) (O'Neill et al., 2021a). An earlier study in South-Eastern England found that OE was the most prevalent diagnosis for dogs (10.2%), followed by periodontal disease (9.3%) (O'Neill et al., 2014). A similar prevalence has been reported in South Korea (6.3%) (Kim et al., 2018), the US (13%) (Lund et al., 1999), and New Zealand (7.5%) (Baxter & Lawler, 1972).

1.1.5 Treatment

In cases where there are minimal perpetuating changes and mild dysbiosis, removing the primary disease may be sufficient to restore ear health. Steroids are often included in the treatment of canine OE; these aid in the management of inflammation of the ear canal and are administered orally, parenterally, or topically. Steroids do not have a direct effect on the ear microbiota (Léonard et al., 2021) and their use in infections, including *Pseudomonas*, is controversial as they may reduce useful inflammation and immune responses; however, severe swelling is often a marked impediment to successful treatment, and they are widely used. Negative effects are offset as steroids are usually part of combined steroid, antibiotic, antifungal products (cSAA products)—see Table 1.2 below.

Steroid	Antibiotic	Antifungal		
Dexamethasone (as	Marbofloxacin	Clotrimazole		
acetate) 0.9 mg/mL	3 mg/mL	10 mg/mL		
Prednisolone 2.5 mg/mI	Diethanolamine fusidate 5.0 mg/mL	Nystatin		
redifisione 2.5 mg/mL	Framycetin sulphate 5.0 mg/mL	100,000 iu/mL		
Hydrocortisone aceponate	Gentamicin sulfate	Miconazole nitrate		
1.11 mg/mL	1505 iu/mL	15.1 mg/mL		
Betamethasone valerate	Gentamicin sulfate	Clotrimazole		
0.88 mg/mL	2640 iu/mL	8.80 mg/mL		
Mometasone furoate	Orbifloxacin	Posaconazole		
0.9 mg/mL	8.5 mg/mL	0.9 mg/mL		
Prednisolone acetate	Polymyxin B sulfate	Miconazole nitrate		
5 mg/mL	0.5293 mg/mL	23 mg/mL		
Mometasone furoate 2.2	Florfenicol 16.7 mg/dose	Terbinafine 14.9 mg/dose		
mg/dose				
Betamethasone acetate 1	Florfenicol 10 mg/dose	Terbinifine 10 mg/dose		
mg/dose	6	6		
Note: no products have marketing authorisation for use in the middle ear.				

Table 1.2 Otic treatments containing antibiotics in the UK. (Secker, Shaw & Atterbury, 2023).

Topical antimicrobial therapy is generally preferred by clinicians for treating canine OE. This is because otic preparations provide a much higher local drug concentration than systemic treatments (Nuttall, 2016). The concentration used is such that culture and susceptibility data must be considered carefully as the antibiotic is being used at many times the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). For this reason, and following cytological examination, antibiotics are often used empirically (Nuttall & Cole, 2007). Bacterial resistance is a common feature of recurrent OE and constitutive resistance is a feature of *Pseudomonas* infections. For cases of *P. aeruginosa* OE, three classes of antibiotics are often used. These are fluoroquinolones, such as marbofloxacin, and aminoglycosides, particularly gentamicin and polymyxin antibiotics, such as polymyxin B. In addition, some clinicians prepare *ad hoc* solutions using injectable solutions of antibiotics when resistance is seen or suspected (Morris, 2004) e.g., ticarcillin–

clavulanic acid (Bateman et al., 2012), amikacin (Klinczar et al., 2022), ceftazidime (Hoff et al., 2021), and enrofloxacin (Metry et al., 2012).

Dogs with canine OE may be prescribed ear cleaners, usually as an adjunctive to antibiotics. This aids in the removal of debris from the ear canal, which is important for the proper function of some antimicrobials, namely aminoglycosides and polymyxin B, which have reduced efficiency in the presence of pus (Nuttall, 2016; Pye, 2018). The specific composition varies between products; however, they generally include cerumenolytics, surfactants, astringents, antimicrobials, and anti-inflammatories (Swinney et al., 2008), as well as containing ingredients that disrupt biofilms (Pye, Singh & Weese, 2014). When products with antimicrobial action are used, this can have a marked effect on the success of therapy. Such disinfectant cleaners can have a faster rate of action than antibiotics, and by providing an alternative mechanism to kill bacteria, make the development of resistance by mutant selection less likely. For fluoroquinolones, the mutant prevention concentration for Pseudomonas is many times the minimum inhibitory concentration and, in infections where high numbers of organisms are present, additional products are essential (Blondeau, 2009; Pasquali & Manfreda, 2007).

The efficacy of ear cleaners in inhibiting clinical *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE varies based on the composition. Multiple studies have failed to identify key components or properties of ear cleaners, e.g., pH. However, the combination of Tris-EDTA plus 0.15% chlorhexidine has shown some effect against *P. aeruginosa* (Swinney et al., 2008; Steen & Paterson, 2012), and products containing this formulation have been widely adopted for this reason.

In some cases of chronic OE, the disease may progress to a point where medical treatment will be unsuccessful in controlling infection. In such cases, marked canal hyperplasia, secondary OM, and biofilm production in the presence of a multi-drug-resistant *Pseudomonas* infection are often evident. At this stage, surgery is necessary, including total ear canal ablation with or without bulla osteotomy. This procedure involves the removal of the infected ear canal and bulla contents, resulting in the resolution of disease in most cases (Doyle, Skelly & Bellenger, 2004; Smeak, 2016).

1.2 *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*

P. aeruginosa is a Gram-negative bacterium usually found in soil and aqueous environments; it is not only an important opportunistic pathogen in canine otitis, but also in humans. Most infections in humans are seen from those with underlying health conditions, with 28.7% of infections in intensive care units across Europe as a result of *P. aeruginosa* (Vincent et al., 1995). Similarly, in England, 13% of hospital onset bacteraemia was due to *P. aeruginosa* (Sloot et al., 2022). While in the US it is estimated that 7.3% of all nosocomial infections can be attributed to this pathogen (Weiner et al., 2016). Perhaps most important are cystic fibrosis patients, where 70% of adults will suffer from untreatable *P. aeruginosa* infections for their entire life (Moradali, Ghods & Rehm, 2017). This highlights the importance of this pathogen from a one health perspective.

1.2.1 Prevalence

P. aeruginosa is often described as ubiquitous in soil and aqueous environments. However, it is more frequently isolated from soil and water sources linked to human activity, such as those contaminated with oil hydrocarbons or pesticides (Crone et al., 2020). Urban rivers have been linked to an increased prevalence of *P. aeruginosa* (Crone et al., 2020). In an outbreak of human OE in the Netherlands involving *P. aeruginosa*, 83% of cases were linked to swimming in freshwater lakes, even though the water met quality standards (Asperen et al., 1995).

Contamination of the veterinary clinical environment has been reported in the findings of surveillance studies (Verdial et al., 2021; Stull & Weese, 2015; Fraser & Girling, 2009). In ear disease, the contamination of otic speculums is a particular risk, chiefly in practices with poor speculum availability and high case volumes where disinfection between patients is inadequate (Newton et al., 2006; Kirby et al., 2010), this is also a problem in human ear clinics (Korkmaz, Qetinkol & Korkmaz, 2013).

P. aeruginosa colonisation of environments in a hospital is also an important issue. As discussed above, *P. aeruginosa* nosocomial infections are common and reservoirs of this pathogen have been found in taps and sinks of intensive care units (Blanc et al., 2004; Cholley et al., 2008). Additionally, *P. aeruginosa* has been shown to persist on dry inanimate surfaces for up to 16 months (Kramer, Schwebke & Kampf, 2006).

P. aeruginosa has been isolated from multiple sites in the home, such as surfaces, water supplies, and dishwasher rubber seals. Several studies have identified household drains as important reservoirs of *P. aeruginosa* (Remold et al., 2011; Zupančič et al., 2019; Purdy-Gibson et al., 2015). Clonal isolates to those causing OE in dogs have been found in the oral cavity of affected dogs and other animals in the home, as well as water bowls and taps (Morris et al., 2017),

although the directionality of transmission could not be established. Clonal *P. aeruginosa* isolates have been found in household taps used to fill water bowls (Morris et al., 2017). The same study used statistical modelling to link swimming in pools and visiting dog parks to a 64% higher prevalence of *Pseudomonas* otitis (Morris et al., 2017). This makes sense given the occurrence of *P. aeruginosa* in environmental water samples and even in commercial swimming pools (Rice et al., 2012). *P. aeruginosa* can be isolated from the ears of apparently healthy dogs occasionally, suggesting an unknown history of OE (Park et al., 2020) or contamination from the environment. This could then result in the contamination of the home environment and subsequent reinfection or infection of other animals/humans in the household. Finally, grooming products in the home and professional salons have been found to harbour *P. aeruginosa* (Perry et al., 2022).

1.2.2 Isolates

The population structure of *P. aeruginosa* causing clinical infections in animals and people is largely non-clonal, i.e., the strains involved exhibit a high degree of diversity, with little or no association between groups and diseases (Haenni et al., 2015). Very few studies have examined the genomic profiles of *P. aeruginosa* strains causing canine otitis specifically. Whole-genome MLST has revealed a high diversity of *P. aeruginosa*, with 45 different sequence types (STs) identified from 80 isolates in one study (Hyun, Chung & Hwang, 2018) and 27 STs from 29 isolates in another (Elfadadny et al., 2023). This mirrors studies of *Pseudomonas* from human infections, which also found a largely nonclonal population structure punctuated by highly successful epidemic clones/clonal complexes (Maatallah et al., 2011). These highly successful clones include STs such as ST235, ST175, ST111 and ST146, which are also frequently associated with extensively drug-resistant infections (Oliver et al., 2015). *P. aeruginosa* clone C is one example of a highly successful clone and is one of the most frequently isolated from chronic and acute human infections (Lee et al., 2020).

1.2.3 Virulence factors involved in canine otitis externa

P. aeruginosa is capable of growing at a wide range of temperatures from 4-42° C however its optimal growth temperature is 37° C, very similar to that of the canine ear (LaBauve & Wargo, 2012; Grono, 1970a). Growth at this temperature results in significant changes in gene expression such that 182 genes are upregulated when grown at 37° C compared to ambient temperatures (22° C); these changes include an upregulation in genes for metabolism, replication and various genes known to encode virulence factors (Barbier et al., 2014).

Few studies have investigated virulence factors specific to the development of canine OE. While it is widely accepted that biofilm formation and antibiotic resistance contribute to *P. aeruginosa* infection in canine OE (Nuttall, 2016), other virulence factors are relatively unexplored. In insect and plant infection models, clinical (hospital) and environmental (soil and water) isolates showed no statistically significant difference in pathogenesis (Vives-Flórez & Garnica, 2006), supporting the notion of infections originating from exposure to environmental reservoirs.

Hattab et al., (2021) investigated the presence of five virulence genes in *P. aeruginosa* isolates from dogs, including from the ear canal. Three genes, *lasB* (elastase A), *aprA* (alkaline protease), and *plcH* (haemolytic phospholipase C),

were present in all the tested isolates, while *exoS* (bi-functional type-III cytotoxin) and *toxA* (Exotoxin A) were present in 87.5% and 91.7%, respectively.

Bacterial proteases are a major contributor to disease. *P. aeruginosa* secretes several proteases, including alkaline protease (AprA), Elastase A and B (LasA and LasB), protease IV (PrpL), small protease (PASP), large exoprotease (LepA), and others (Galdino et al., 2017). Protease activity, measured by the degradation of azocasein, from *P. aeruginosa* infection has been identified in humans with OM (Avidano et al., 1998). The total protease activity of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE is more variable than that from other animal sources (p < 0.0001) but is the same on average (p = 0.7538) when assessed by the hide powder azure absorbance assay (Petermann, Doetkott & Rust, 2001). The treatment of a chinchilla model of *P. aeruginosa* OM with bacterial protease inhibitor (GM 6001) resulted in higher survival (66%) compared with the control, gentamicin and gentamicin + GM 6001 groups, although this was not significant (p = 0.2674) (Cotter et al., 1996).

P. aeruginosa isolates from chronic cases of canine OE have been found to have a reduced mean elastase activity compared with other animal isolates (p < 0.0001); moreover, some strains produce a stable elastase-negative phenotype due to deficiencies in the *rhl* quorum sensing system. Interestingly, the *rhl* phenotype was observed in an isolate with wild-type elastase activity, implicating an unknown constituent of quorum sensing being important in chronic otitis infections (Petermann, Doetkott & Rust, 2001; Tron et al., 2004). *P. aeruginosa* isolates from chronic lung infections such as those found in cystic fibrosis patients show a similar reduced virulence phenotype. This includes the
loss of flagella and mutations that inactivate *lasR* (Hogardt & Heesemann, 2010). One possible explanation for these findings is the presence of social cheats. These cells do not produce quorum sensing molecules, but still benefit from the products of quorum sensing and therefore have a selective advantage when growing in the presence of wild type cells (Chen et al., 2019; Diggle et al., 2007). Haemolytic phospholipase C (*plcH*) is an exoenzyme that is able to lyse red blood cells (Shoriridge, Lazdunski & Vasil, 1992) and components of eukaryotic cell membranes (Berka & Vasil, 1982). No specific studies have been performed investigating the role of *plcH* in cases of OE. The intradermal inoculation of the protein in an *in vivo* mouse model resulted in a concentration-dependent response showing either no change, erythema, or dermonecrosis (Berk et al., 1987).

Bacterial secretion systems are important for the virulence of Gram-negative bacteria as they allow for the transport of proteins across the two membranes and, in some cases, directly into a target cell. Exotoxin A (ToxA) is exported via the SEC-dependent type II secretion system. The toxin is part of the AB toxin family, where the A subunit has enzymatic activity, and the B subunit facilitates attachment to CD91 (also known as alpha2-macroglobulin receptor/low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein α 2MR/LRP). Once inside the host cytoplasm, the protease furin cleaves the protein and it is transported to the trans Golgi network, where it inhibits the eukaryotic elongation factor-2 by ADP-ribosylation, inducing apoptosis. This allows the toxin to bind to and kill cells from many different tissues (Michalska & Wolf, 2015; Kounnas et al., 1992). Increased transcription of ToxA in human OE patients has been associated with patients suffering from more severe symptoms compared with those with 'mild

to moderate' symptoms (Matar et al., 2002). Additionally, when applied to the middle ear, the toxin causes the apoptosis of epithelial cells and can penetrate the inner ear, causing damage to the cochlea in multiple animal studies (Lundman et al., 1992; Stenqvist, Anniko & Rask-Andersen, 1999; Stenqvist, Anniko & Pettersson, 1997). Whether the toxin is able to cross the tympanic membrane during OE and have this effect has not been investigated.

ExoS is part of the type III secretion system of *P. aeruginosa*. It possesses an N-terminal GTPase-activating protein region that triggers actin cytoskeleton disruption, and a C-terminal adenosine diphosphate ribosyl transferase, which is a major cause of host apoptosis (Horna & Ruiz, 2021). The presence of ExoS is commonly mutually exclusive with ExoU, although the reason for this and its role in infection are unclear (Feltman et al., 2001; Rutherford et al., 2018). *P. aeruginosa* isolates from human chronic OM cases were significantly more likely to be *exoU*+ than *exoS*+ compared with a control group of isolates from blood and respiratory infections (Park et al., 2017). In human cases of OE, *P. aeruginosa* isolates have been shown to produce significantly less pyocyanin and alginate than isolates from other sites of infection, in addition to increased deoxyribonuclease production (Sundström et al., 1997). Whether differences in these factors are seen in canine OE and their clinical significance remains to be elucidated.

1.2.4 Biofilm formation

Quorum sensing (QS) is present in many bacterial genera and allows populations to regulate gene expression based on the density of small molecules known as autoinducers. The *P. aeruginosa* QS system consists of four separate but interlinked systems - *las*, *rhl*, *pqs*, and *iqs*. These are responsible for the

production of some virulence factors such as proteases, toxins and hydrogen cyanide. Additionally, QS also controls biofilm formation (Moradali, Ghods & Rehm, 2017).

Biofilm formation is likely the most important virulence factor involved in chronic *P. aeruginosa* canine OE infections and is associated with poor treatment outcomes (Pye, Yu & Weese, 2013; Robinson et al., 2019; Chan et al., 2019a). Biofilms provide protection from antimicrobials and the immune system and facilitate dispersion to other environments. Bacteria form biofilms by attaching to a surface and producing extracellular polymeric substances comprising exopolysaccharides, extracellular DNA, and proteins.

Initial attachment is reversable and is facilitated by the flagella and type IV pili (O'Toole & Kolter, 1998). Adhered cells become irreversibly attached and produce extracellular polysaccharides. *P. aeruginosa* is known to produce three exopolysaccharides; Psl, Pel and alginate. One bacterial strain can have the genetic potential to synthesise all three polysaccharides, but it will typically only produce one. Alginate is the best characterised as it associated with chronic pulmonary infection while most environmental isolates will secrete Pel or Psl (Franklin et al., 2011). The biofilm then develops first into microcolonies and then into more complex mushroom-like structures (Allesen-Holm et al., 2006). In addition to the exopolysaccharides, extracellular DNA is highly structured within the biofilm at different stages of development and is essential for the formation of *P. aeruginosa* biofilm (Allesen-Holm et al., 2006; Whitchurch et al., 2002). Extracellular DNA has also been shown to chelate cations and induce antimicrobial resistance (Mulcahy, Charron-Mazenod & Lewenza, 2008). Biofilms are produced by 40–95% of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE (Pye, Yu & Weese, 2013; Robinson et al., 2019; Chan et al., 2019a) and 92% of human patients with chronic OE, but only 20% from those with acute otitis (Fusconi et al., 2011). *Pseudomonas* isolates from human OE showed increased adherence to guinea pig epithelial cell lines compared with isolates from other sites of infection (Sundström et al., 1997). The removal of the biofilm using novel therapies, such as chemical ear peeling, significantly reduced the recurrence of symptoms compared with ciprofloxacin/hydrocortisone antibiotic treatment in humans (Fusconi et al., 2011).

1.2.5 Motility

P. aeruginosa employs a single polar flagellum which enables the cell to swim in aqueous environments and perform chemotaxis (Bouteiller et al., 2021). The presence of a flagellum is essential for early infection in both pulmonary and burn wound models (Feldman et al., 1998; Montie et al., 1982). Additionally, swarming motility is mediated by flagella and is important for growth on semisolid surfaces (Köhler et al., 2000). This likely means that this type of motility is important in mucous layers that overlay epithelial surfaces (Yeung et al., 2009). Swarmer cells are hyperflagellated, elongated and require the production of surfactants (Kearns, 2010). Moreover, swarmer cells overexpress virulence factors including type III secretion systems (Overhage et al., 2008). *P. aeruginosa* has a final method of motility that is twitching motility, unlike the method discussed above, twitching motility uses type IV pili to propel the cell across surfaces (Burrows, 2012).

1.2.6 Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa

AMR, both intrinsic and acquired, has allowed *P. aeruginosa* to become such a prevalent opportunistic pathogen (Hancock & Speert, 2000; Cox & Wright, 2013). The outer membrane of *P. aeruginosa* has limited permeability, 12-100-fold lower than *E. coli*, which confers some intrinsic resistance to antimicrobials and allows specific antibiotic resistance mechanisms to act more effectively. Resistance can also arise from efflux pumps and the expression of a chromosomal β -lactamase (Cox & Wright, 2013; Hancock, 1998). Acquired AMR can be due to mutation of a target gene or through horizontal gene transfer (Pang et al., 2019).

Resistance genes can be acquired via multiple mechanisms, namely, transformation, transduction, and conjugation (Pang et al., 2019). These genes usually encode enzymes that can modify the structure of the antibiotic, however, the main driver of resistance in *P. aeruginosa* is the development of mutations. *P. aeruginosa* rapidly develops mutations that confer resistance to a given antibiotic, in fact mutation of the *P. aeruginosa* genome can result in resistance to almost all antibiotics used to treat this organism. Mutations that are known to increase the AMR of *P. aeruginosa* have been reviewed in detail elsewhere (López-Causapé et al., 2018).

AMR, especially for Gram-negative rods, has been recognised as a problem in canine otitis for many years (Guedeja-Marrón et al., 1998), with numerous studies documenting resistance profiles for *P. aeruginosa* isolates. Fluoroquinolone resistance has frequently been reported, particularly with respect to enrofloxacin (27–68%), orbifloxacin (55–82%), and marbofloxacin

(33–35%). Gentamicin resistance seems to vary greatly depending on the study, with resistance reported in 3–43% of isolates (Petrov et al., 2019; Nuttall & Cole, 2007; Elfadadny et al., 2023; KuKanich, Bagladi-Swanson & KuKanich, 2022; Mekić, Matanović & Šeol, 2011; Bourély et al., 2019). Multidrug resistance, which is defined as resistance to at least one antibiotic from three or more classes (Sweeney et al., 2018), was recorded in 13–35% of isolates (Elfadadny et al., 2023; KuKanich, Bagladi-Swanson & KuKanich, 2022). Non-susceptibility to carbapenem antibiotics has also been reported in 15-23% of P. aeruginosa isolates from canine otitis (Hyun, Chung & Hwang, 2018; KuKanich, Bagladi-Swanson & KuKanich, 2022). This is important as the World Health Organisation identified a critical need for new antibiotics against carbapenemresistant P. aeruginosa (WHO, 2017). Carbapenem resistance can arise in P. aeruginosa by either the production of carbapenemase, efflux pump overexpression, or reduced outer-membrane permeability (Nordmann & Poirel, 2019). Clinical canine otitis P. aeruginosa isolates producing metallo-βlactamase VIM-2 have been identified in Korea (Hyun, Chung & Hwang, 2018). Petrov et al., (2019) monitored AMR patterns in dogs suffering from both Grampositive and Gram-negative infections in OE between 2007–2011, and again in 2013–2017. They found that, for most antibiotics tested against P. aeruginosa

2013–2017. They found that, for most antibiotics tested against *P. aeruginosa* between these time points, resistance had increased. Notably, gentamicin resistance increased from 2% to 15%, as did resistance to tobramycin (20% to 26%), amikacin (0% to 18%), lincomycin/spectinomycin (40% to 93%), and polymyxin B (0% to 50%). In contrast, enrofloxacin resistance decreased (38% to 27%). In France, the investigation of *P. aeruginosa* resistance profiles from canine OE surveillance databases found that resistance to gentamicin remained

unchanged over a 5-year period, while resistance to enrofloxacin first increased and then slowly decreased over the following years. Worryingly, resistance to both enrofloxacin and gentamicin was reported in 19.4% of isolates. The decrease in resistance to enrofloxacin was likely due to the reduced exposure of companion animals to antibiotics over the study period (Bourély et al., 2019).

Park and colleagues (Park et al., 2020) investigated the antibiotic susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from various body sites of healthy and diseased dogs. While antibiotic resistance was more prevalent in diseased samples, resistance was still present in isolates from otherwise healthy dogs. Specifically, resistance to ciprofloxacin (10.5%) was the most common, while other antibiotics all showed the same level of resistance (2.6%).

1.2.7 Previously investigated potential alternative treatments for use in canine otitis externa

Increasing AMR, particularly among the ESKAPE pathogens, a group of pathogens recognised for increasing levels of multidrug resistance, which includes *Pseudomonas*, has driven research into enhancing the efficacy of current therapeutic options and the development of novel alternatives. Prior to 2000, there was very little research on alternative treatments for *Pseudomonas* OE. One study investigated the use of new antibiotic, ticarcillin in treatment-resistant cases, resulting in the initial resolution of 11 out of 12 cases, although two of these later relapsed (Nuttall, 1998). More recently, synergy and partial synergy were reported when a combination of polymyxin B/miconazole and marbofloxacin/gentamicin was tested on *P. aeruginosa* canine otitis isolates (Pietschmann et al., 2013; Jerzsele & Pásztiné-Gere, 2015).

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), specifically Tris-EDTA, has been studied as an adjuvant in combination with antimicrobials in relation to OE for many years (Wooley & Jones, 1983; Sparks et al., 1994; Wooley et al., 1983), and is now a common component of many commercially available ear cleaners (Steen & Paterson, 2012). When used alone, Tris-EDTA typically produces a bacteriostatic effect on *P. aeruginosa*, unless applied in excess (Chan et al., 2019a). However, it has been used to eradicate biofilms produced by clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates (Chan et al., 2019a; Buckley, McEwan & Nuttall, 2013) or reduce the MIC of certain antibiotics for *P. aeruginosa* present in biofilms (Pye, Singh & Weese, 2014).

Tris-EDTA has been found to act synergistically with amikacin (fractional inhibitory concentration, FIC = 0.1994) and neomycin (FIC = 0.1646) against *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE (Sparks et al., 1994). It has also been found to complement the action of enrofloxacin (Gbadamosis & Gotthelf, 2003), marbofloxacin, and gentamicin (Buckley, McEwan & Nuttall, 2013) when used against AMR *P. aeruginosa* from cases of OE.

N-acetylcysteine (NAC) is another candidate being explored as an adjuvant for use in canine OE. NAC acts by inhibiting cysteine utilisation in addition to disrupting disulfide bonds in extracellular polymeric substances (Kregiel et al., 2019). Similarly to Tris-EDTA, it has been shown to inhibit the growth of *P*. *aeruginosa*, including in canine otitis clinical isolates (Chan et al., 2019a; May, Ratliff & Bemis, 2019; Chan et al., 2019b). Synergistic interactions between NAC and enrofloxacin or gentamicin have been observed for one *P. aeruginosa* isolate but were indifferent or antagonistic at the concentrations tested *in vitro* for most isolates (May, Ratliff & Bemis, 2019). NAC is also able to remove biofilms formed by clinical *P. aeruginosa* (20,000–80,000 μ g/mL minimum biofilm eradication concentration, MBEC) isolates; however, it is important to note that this was at potentially ototoxic concentrations (<20,000 μ g/mL) (Chan et al., 2019a).

Narasin and monensin are ionophores which act by transporting mono/divalent cations across bacterial cell membranes (Chan et al., 2018). These compounds were unable to inhibit clinical *P. aeruginosa* and other Gram-negative otitis pathogens at the tested concentrations when used alone, but an additive effect for narasin (but not monensin) was seen in combination with Tris-EDTA (Chan et al., 2020, 2018). However, monensin was found to significantly reduce, but not eradicate, *P. aeruginosa* biofilm development (Chan et al., 2019a).

A combination of enrofloxacin plus silver sulfadiazine demonstrated increased antimicrobial susceptibility, with the mean MIC decreasing from 12.97 μ g/mL to 1.52/3.05 μ g/mL (Trott et al., 2007). Similarly, clinical canine OE *P. aeruginosa* isolates challenged with silver sulfadiazine alone were all found to be susceptible, with 80% of isolates having a mean MIC of <10 μ g/mL. It was noted that a commercially available product should be effective *in vivo*, as it has a concentration much higher than the MICs seen in the study (von Silva-Tarouca, Wolf & Mueller, 2019).

Phytochemicals have been investigated for *P. aeruginosa* inhibition. An antimicrobial effect has been reported for cinnamon oil, cinnamaldehyde (Sim et al., 2019b), oregano oil, carvacrol, thyme oil, thymol (Sim et al., 2019a), basil oil, rosemary oil, clary sage oil (Ebani et al., 2017), and *Harungana madagascariensis* extract (Moulari et al., 2007) *in vitro*. In all cases, *P.*

aeruginosa required a higher MIC than other common otitis pathogens, specifically Gram-positive organisms, such as *S. pseudintermedius*. One group tested an EDTA combination, and a synergistic interaction was observed for cinnamon oil (FIC = 0.27) and cinnamaldehyde (FIC = 0.26) (Sim et al., 2019b). Song and colleagues (Song et al., 2020) showed that, when applied alone, *P. aeruginosa* was resistant to manuka oil (MIC > 8% v/v). However, when combined with Tris-EDTA, the MIC was reduced to 0.5% or less. This was also true for multidrug-resistant isolates. When investigating the use of a commercially available essential oil blend *in vivo* for cases of acute OE, 33.3% of dogs were "cured" and a further 20.9% showed strong improvements. Importantly, rods were not present in the cytology; therefore, more work is needed to assess its use in chronic cases of OE involving *P. aeruginosa*. Despite this, the blend did inhibit a clinical strain of *P. aeruginosa* when tested *in vitro* (Vercelli et al., 2021).

Another promising alternative treatment is the use of antimicrobial photodynamic therapy. The use of tetra-cationic porphyrins to inactivate multidrug-resistant *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE and other infection sites has been demonstrated in vitro (Seeger et al., 2020; Machado et al., 2022). Antimicrobial photodynamic therapy has been successfully used *in vivo* for a case of OE caused by a VIM-2 Metallo- β -lactamase-producing *P. aeruginosa* that had been unresponsive to treatment with enrofloxacin (Sellera et al., 2019).

The effect of cold atmospheric microwave plasma was investigated using primarily Gram-positive canine otitis isolates, but the study did include an ATCC *P. aeruginosa*. Gram-negative bacteria, including the ATCC *P. aeruginosa*, were more susceptible to cold atmospheric microwave plasma than

other isolates. For example, after 10 s of exposure at a plasma intensity of 30 W, *P. aeruginosa* survival was only 22.9%, while that of *Staphylococcus aureus* was 50.3%. However, this has yet to be tested on canine OE isolates (Jin et al., 2021).

1.3 Bacteriophage

Bacteriophage, literally "bacteria eater", are viruses that infect and replicate within bacterial cells. Bacteriophage were discovered independently by William Twort and Felix d'Herelle in 1915 and 1917 respectively (Twort, 1915; d'Herelle, 1917). Their antimicrobial nature was quickly exploited and in 1919, d'Herelle treated children suffering from dysentery using bacteriophage (Abedon et al., 2011). Subsequently, by 1922, bacteriophage had been applied for the treatment of dysentery in children in the US (Davison, 1922). Despite these early successes, research investigating bacteriophage therapy was abandoned in the west after the discovery of antibiotics (Clokie et al., 2011) while extensive research continued in the former Soviet Union (Sulakvelidze, Alavidze & Morris, 2001). The rapid development of antimicrobial resistance as discussed above has once again focused attention on bacteriophage as an alternative to antibiotics.

1.3.1 Bacteriophage morphology and classification

Initially, The International Committee of Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), classified bacteriophage according to multiple characteristics including the virus structure and genome sequence comparisons (Lefkowitz et al., 2018). In 2022, the taxonomy of bacteriophage was drastically changed using genome-level relationships, as a result, the families *Myoviridea*, *Podoviridae* and *Siphoviridae*

were abolished (Turner et al., 2023). With an estimated 10³¹ particles in the biosphere, bacteriophage are the most abundant biological entities on the planet (Comeau et al., 2008). Bacteriophage display a large amount of genomic diversity and can package their genome as double or single-stranded (ds or ss) DNA and RNA (Dion, Oechslin & Moineau, 2020).

The ICTV recognises 40 classes of bacteriophage, with the class *Caudoviricetes*, formally known as the order *Caudovirales*, making up the majority of bacteriophage comprising 1360 genera and 4079 species at the time of writing (Turner et al., 2023). This class encompasses all bacterial and archaeal tailed viruses with an icosahedral capsid and double-stranded DNA genome (Turner et al., 2023).

1.3.2 Lifestyle

Primary, bacteriophage can undergo two different life cycles, lytic and lysogenic. Upon infecting a host, a virulent bacteriophage will replicate and eventually kill its host. A temperate bacteriophage can either enter its lysogenic lifestyle or act as a virulent bacteriophage (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5 A typical bacteriophage replication cycle highlighting both the lytic and lysogenic cycles.

1.3.2.1 Host encounter, attachment and genome injection

Before a bacteriophage can infect a host, it must first encounter a susceptible host. When considering the movement of bacteriophage particles, diffusion is the primary mechanism by which this happens. This means that factors such as host and virus size, and the number of bacteriophage particles are important when considering the rate of adsorption (Abedon, 2023). Other forms for movement can also bring bacteriophage into contact with a host, namely turbulent movement and bacterial motility (Abedon, 2023).

Once a host cell has been encountered, there is an initial reversible attachment followed by an irreversible attachment, or separation of the bacteriophage and host when under unfavourable conditions (Storms & Sauvageau, 2015). The diversity of bacteriophage means that the mechanism by which this occurs is distinct for a given virus. Attachment can also be influenced by other factors, namely: environmental factors such as temperature or acidity (Jończyk et al., 2011); or growth phase of the host, expression of surface structure is dependent on what stage of growth the host is in, common bacteriophage receptors are expressed during the exponential phase and therefore these cells will be infected more readily (Chai, 1983). Additionally, stochastic receptor expression can allow otherwise sensitive bacteria to resist bacteriophage infection (Chapman-McQuiston & Wu, 2008).

During attachment of the well-characterised tailed bacteriophage T4, a long tail fibre (LTP) will reversibly bind to its receptor, *E. coli* LPS or OmpC, a second LTP can then bind, and this process can allow the bacteriophage to 'walk' along the surface of the bacteria until an optimal site is reached. At this point, the short tail fibres (STP) irreversibly bind to the host, following this the bacteriophage genomic material is injected into the host cytoplasm from the action of the contractile tail (Washizaki, Yonesaki & Otsuka, 2016; Hu et al., 2015).

In contrast, bacteriophage MS2, which also infects *E. coli*, is a spherical (icosahedral) single-stranded RNA virus. The receptor binding protein of MS2 recognises and binds to the pili of its host. Upon retraction of the pili the receptor binding protein, which is also bound to the bacteriophage genome, is pulled into the host cytoplasm (Gorzelnik & Zhang, 2021).

Some bacteriophage are capable of infecting Gram-positive bacteria with peptidoglycan and teichoic acid being important receptors however Gram-positive bacteria are outside the scope of this work and so will not be discussed further (Dowah & Clokie, 2018; Leprince & Mahillon, 2023).

Bacteriophage that infect *P. aeruginosa* have been shown to recognise the O and Vi surface antigens in addition to PilA (Chaturongakul & Ounjai, 2014).

1.3.2.2 Replication, assembly and host lysis

The lytic-lysogenic decision has been documented in detail using bacteriophage lambda. This decision is determined by multiple factors, this includes genetic compatibility, host conditions such as starvation and the density of bacteriophage (Howard-Varona et al., 2017). Temperate bacteriophage are able to integrate their genome into that of the host at specific or random sites or produce extra-chromosomal elements which allows them to survive within the host without forming an active infection (Howard-Varona et al., 2017).

Once a lysogenic infection has been established the prophage is replicated as part of the bacterial chromosome however under conditions of stress such as changes in nutrients or exposure to antibiotics prophage can convert back to a lytic cycle (Howard-Varona et al., 2017).

A bacteriophage in the lytic cycle, either from a strict virulent bacteriophage or from a prophage entering the lytic cycle, replicate within the host producing new bacteriophage particles which are released upon the destruction of the host cell. The exact mechanism by which this happens varies by bacteriophage and the composition of the genome (DNA or RNA), as such, a variety of DNA replication mechanisms have been identified for bacteriophage (Weigel & Seitz, 2006).

Using the bacteriophage T7 as an example, host RNA polymerase transcribes the early genes that code for the T7 RNA polymerase as the bacteriophage dsDNA enters the host in addition to proteins that inhibit the host RNA polymerase. From this point the T7 RNA polymerase transcribes the rest of the bacteriophage genes. This includes proteins for DNA replication and bacteriophage structural components (Madigan et al., 2010).

At the end of the infection cycle, virions are assembled, for dsDNA tailed phage there are several steps, the prohead is assembled and the genome is packed. Following this the proheads mature, and the tail proteins are attached (Aksyuk & Rossmann, 2011). Bacteriophage with dsDNA employ multiple methods to package their DNA. The packaging mechanism can vary based on the method that the bacteriophage used to replicate its genome. Some common packaging mechanisms include direct terminal repeats, cohesive ends and headful packaging (Merrill et al., 2016).

Once the virions are assembled, four classes of proteins have been identified with a role in host lysis. The first is a holin that forms pores in the host cell membrane before the second protein, an endolysin, degrades the cell wall peptidoglycan (Young, 2014). Bacteriophage endolysins have two distinct functional domains, the first binds the protein to its substrate although this is not always present in bacteriophage that target Gram-negative organisms. The second domain is responsible for catalysing the peptidoglycan of which there are five groups depending on the specific bond of the that is targeted (Schmelcher, Donovan & Loessner, 2012). The third protein is an antiholin that acts to regulate lysis under unfavourable conditions. The final class of protein are spanins, these are essential in Gram-negative hosts as they are responsible for outer membrane disruption (Young, 2014). At this point the host cell lyses and the viral progeny are released to infect new host cells.

1.3.3 Current use of bacteriophage for the treatment of infection

The use of bacteriophage *in vivo* is not a new idea (Abedon et al., 2011; Davison, 1922). Consequently, usage of bacteriophage *in vivo* for animals and humans has been investigated (Liu et al., 2021b). A focus of early bacteriophage work was veterinary medicine and the resurgence of bacteriophage therapy in the west was in part due to the work performed by William Simth in the 1980s on mice, calves, piglets and lambs (Gigante & Atterbury, 2019; Smith & Huggins, 1982, 1983; Smith, Huggins & Shaw, 1987). As a result, a number of commercial bacteriophage products are now marketed in countries such as the USA and the UK (Huang et al., 2022).

Bacteriophage therapies have already been assessed *in vivo* against antibioticresistant *P. aeruginosa* causing chronic otitis in humans and dogs. In humans, twenty-four patients were selected, of which twelve received bacteriophage. Those who were treated with the phage reported clinical improvement and no adverse effects, with three cases seeming to be cured after a single treatment (Wright et al., 2009). In the canine study, ten dogs suffering from antibioticresistant *P. aeruginosa* otitis were treated once with a cocktail of six bacteriophages and monitored. After 48 h there was a 67% reduction in the number of *P. aeruginosa*. After 18 months, three of the animals had recovered from the disease and another three had no detectable *P. aeruginosa*; again, no side effects were reported (Hawkins et al., 2010). Although these results are promising, bacteriophages are often strain-specific; therefore, a cocktail of bacteriophage targeting different receptors is required. Additionally, bacteriophage resistance may be seen, although this was not investigated in the above studies. It is also potentially important to note that the chronic nature of *P. aeruginosa* OE might require multiple rounds of phage treatment, further increasing the risk of developing resistance and therefore potentially requiring multiple phage cocktails per treatment.

When examining the use of bacteriophage *in vivo* there are some factors that must be considered. One of these is the release of endotoxins such as LPS from bacterial lysis, LPS can induce an inflammatory response that can be lethal (Galanos & Freudenberg, 1993). This has been demonstrated *in vivo* in a *Galleria mellonella* wax month model where the application of bacteriophage to a *P. aeruginosa* infection resulted in a worsened condition (Olszak et al., 2015).

1.3.4 Limitations of bacteriophage

Despite these successes there are some limitations of bacteriophage therapy. Just like for antibiotics, resistance to bacteriophage can develop, however this is thought to happen at a lower rate than for antibiotics (Łusiak-Szelachowska et al., 2022). Resistance to bacteriophage can occur using three main mechanisms, masking of receptors, intracellular host systems and prophage associated defence (Labrie, Samson & Moineau, 2010). Mutations in the chromosome of *P. aeruginosa* have been identified that confer resistance to bacteriophage. This included deletions that result in the loss of the receptor (Le et al., 2014) but were also caused by single-nucleotide polymorphisms within a gene (Mi et al., 2023). These mutations are random and can therefore have a negative fitness cost associated with them in the form of decreased motility, biofilm formation (Mi et al., 2023) or an increased susceptibility to antibiotics (Chan et al., 2016). *P. aeruginosa* has also been shown to mask receptors through glycosylation which is less likely to cause these negative effects (Harvey et al., 2018). Additionally,

exopolysaccharide production, such as within a biofilm, is able to prevent bacteriophage attachment and therefore infection (Vidakovic et al., 2018).

Bacteria have also evolved their own mechanisms to defend against bacteriophage, the most well-known of these systems is the CRISPR-Cas system. CRISPR-Cas systems have been identified in up to 36% of clinical P. aeruginosa isolates from humans (Cady et al., 2011). CRISPR regions in the genome comprise multiple repeated sequences separated by spacers, the sequence of the spacer region will correspond to that of a bacteriophage or other foreign DNA. These are then transcribed and the mature small CRISPR RNA complexes with the Cas protein. Where a complementary sequence is encountered, it is cleaved, which prevents bacteriophage replication. Most interestingly CRISPR-Cas systems can incorporate DNA sequences from newly encountered bacteriophage into system subsequently becoming resistant to them (Cady et al., 2012). Another well characterised defence mechanism that targets the genomic material of the bacteriophage is the presence of restrictionmodification (R-M) systems. R-M systems are classified into four groups and function by degrading DNA with self-DNA protected by modification, usually in the form of methylation. Interestingly, type IV systems target modified bacteriophage DNA (Bernheim & Sorek, 2020).

The final mechanism by which bacteria can be resistant to infection by bacteriophage is utilising bacteriophage derived mechanisms. These mechanisms are typically associated with prophages, in the case of *P. aeruginosa*, temperate bacteriophage have been shown to prevent superinfection by interacting with components of the type IV pili (Wang et al., 2022).

37

In addition to resistance, environmental factors can affect the efficiency of bacteriophage therapies. Factors such as temperature, acidity and salinity can have negative impacts on the viability of bacteriophage particles (Jończyk et al., 2011). Viscosity and the presence of inert obstacles can also significantly impact the rate at which bacteriophage can interact with host cells (Abedon, 2023). These factors will likely be important when considering otitis externa.

1.4 Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus

Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus is a small Gram-negative Deltaproteobacterium that can prey upon other Gram-negative bacteria via an unusual predatory lifestyle (Figure 1.6). Prey are encountered during its motile attack phase where attachment occurs before *B. bacteriovorus* enters the prey periplasm via a small pore which is resealed once inside. After a few minutes the prey is killed and the predator begins to reproduce inside of the periplasm, releasing enzymes to degrade macromolecules from the cytoplasm of the host (Negus et al., 2017; Lambert et al., 2011). B. bacteriovorus is ubiquitous in the environment having been isolated from soil, fresh water, and marine environments in addition to sewage and animal faeces (Chu & Zhu, 2010; Taylor et al., 1974; Klein & Casida, 1967). It was first reported as an accidental discovery by Stolp and Petzold in 1962 while trying to isolate bacteriophage due to the similar looking plaque morphology (Stolp & Petzold, 1962). In recent years B. bacteriovorus has become of greater interest for its potential use as an antimicrobial agent (Dashiff et al., 2011). B. bacteriovorus is not unique in its predatory lifestyle; other organisms such as Micavibrio aeruginosavorus and Bdellovibrio exovorus are both able to prey on Gram-negative organisms. B. exovorus was first identified in 1991 and later designated in 2013 and unlike its related counterpart

does not invade the periplasm, but rather attaches to the outside of prey, consuming them from outside (Koval et al., 2013). Similarly, *M. aeruginosavorus* is able to kill Gram-negative organisms but again doesn't invade the periplasm and interestingly has a smaller prey range which includes *P. aeruginosa* (Dashiff et al., 2011; Kadouri et al., 2013).

1.4.1 Lifecycle



Figure 1.6 Predatory life cycle of *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus*.

1.4.1.1 "Attack phase"

During the free-swimming "attack phase" of the life cycle of *B. bacteriovorus*, the cell is motile via a single polar sheathed flagellum and has been recorded swimming at up to 160 μ m/s. The flagellum continues to grow as the cell ages. The flagellum also has an unusual, damped waveform (Thomashow & Rittenberg, 1985; Lambert et al., 2006; Iida et al., 2009). This is due to the

flagellar filament being a combination of six FliC proteins (Iida et al., 2009). Having so many copies is important as the flagellum is essential in liquid culture for both prey collisions and exit after the completion of replication. During knockout experiments only *fliC3* gave a complete loss in motility, however the sheath and basal filaments were still present. This suggests that FliC3 is the first filament protein in the flagellum and the others build upon it (Lambert et al., 2006; Iida et al., 2009). Additionally, *B. bacteriovorus* has three sets of *motAB* genes, encoding the flagellum motor proteins and further deletion experiments identified that just like the flagella, knockout of a single pair did not result in a loss of motility (Morehouse et al., 2011). This level of protection shows that even if natural acquisition of mutations were to occur, predation could continue. Moreover, flagella mediated motility is not the only method by which *B. bacteriovorus* is motile; in the absence of a high moisture environment, such as that encountered in biofilms, or when placed on a solid surface, *Bdellovibrio* is able to invade cells using gliding motility (Lambert et al., 2011).

Both types of motility are key for predation, however it is still unclear what role other factors play. Chemotaxis is the process by which bacteria move in relation to concentration gradients of a substrate. Early work on the role of chemotaxis in *Bdellovibrio* was contradictory. Some strains of *Bdellovibrio* can sense certain amino acids and other molecules by chemotaxis but also high concentrations of *E. coli* do not elicit a response (LaMarre, Straley & Conti, 1977; Straley & Conti, 1977; Straley et al., 1979). Since then, genome sequencing identified that *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 contains 21 genes with homology to methyl-accepting chemotaxis proteins (MCP) (Lambert et al., 2009). A study investigating a homolog of one of these genes in *B. bacteriovorus* 109J found that the wild-type strain preyed more efficiently than the mutant, suggesting chemotaxis does have a role in predation (Lambert, Smith & Sockett, 2003). Additionally, the use of cyro-electron tomography identified chemosensory arrays during the attack phase (Kaplan et al., 2023).

1.4.1.2 Attachment and entry into prey

When B. bacteriovorus encounters a potential prey cell, there is a reversible attachment, before the cell becomes irreversibly attached, or in the case of nonprey, the initial attachment is reversed (Hobley, King & Sockett, 2006; Mahmoud & Koval, 2010). Recent work has identified a mosaic adhesive trimer (MAT) superfamily of proteins, localised on the predatory surface that are able to bind prey surface glycans potentially revealing the prey recognition mechanism (Caulton et al., 2024). Additionally, on the opposite pole to the flagellum, the presence of type IV pili has been shown using electron microscopy. Inactivation of these pili, either by mutation or through the use of antibodies, results in the loss of predation, as the *Bdellovibrio* cells are unable to enter into the prey (Evans, Lambert & Sockett, 2007; Mahmoud & Koval, 2010). B. bacteriovorus enters though a small pore formed shortly after attachment, and although the way in which this pore is formed is still unknown, pili could be responsible for movement though the pore via retraction (in other bacteria this retraction is due to the activity of PilT) (Evans, Lambert & Sockett, 2007). Although B. bacteriovorus possesses two homologs of the PilT protein, knockout experiments identified that PilT is not essential for invasion of E. coli. However, the study also noted that PilT2 is required for predation on biofilms (Chanyi & Koval, 2014). A further 10 genes have been identified as essential for prey attachment with only three having known function including *pilT*.

1.4.1.3 Intraperiplasmic growth and replication

During the switch from attack phase to intraperiplasmic growth, transcriptional analysis showed that 479 genes were up regulated, including several that are important for peptidoglycan modification (Lambert et al., 2010). As B. bacteriovorus enters the prey cell, peptidoglycan modification is needed in order to accommodate *B. bacteriovorus* in the periplasm, which results in a rounded bdelloplast (an osmotically stable structure of the dead prey cell in which B. bacteriovorus replicates) and ensures reinfection cannot occur (Lambert et al., 2016). Several genes have been identified to be important in peptidoglycan modification during infection, including bd3459 and bd0816, both of which encode DD-endopeptidases that cause de-crosslinking of the prey peptidoglycan. Deletion of both of these genes did not result in the loss of predation, however an atypical, less rounded bdelloplast shape was seen. Additionally, absence of these genes resulted in an increase in the number of double invasion events, where two B. bacteriovorus cells enter the same prey. A further two genes, bd3279 and bd0468, that encode for N-acetylglucosamine deacetylases, are important for peptidoglycan degradation (Lerner et al., 2012; Lambert et al., 2016). Inside the bdelloplast the prey macromolecules and genomic material are rapidly degraded by extracellular enzymes secreted by the *Bdellovibrio* into the cytoplasm of the prey, and incorporated into the predator, which is possible due to the large number of hydrolytic enzymes that have been identified in the genome (Engelking & Seidler, 1974; Rendulic et al., 2004).

Like most aspects of its life cycle, cell division in *B. bacteriovorus* is unusual. Bacteria will most commonly divide by binary fission, however *B. bacteriovorus* can be seen forming a long filament which will then divide into multiple cells. The length of the filament and number of progeny depends on the host cell; both odd and even numbers of progeny can be seen which allows for the maximum number of new *Bdellovibrio* to be produced from the limited resources of one prey cell (Eksztejn & Varon, 1977; Fenton et al., 2010). The exact method by which *B. bacteriovorus* regulates this division is still being investigated however DivIVA has been identified at the poles of the filament with a suggested role in septal position selection, as well as four proteins that potentially interact with it (Milner et al., 2020). Once the prey cell content has been depleted and division has produced progeny *Bdellovibrio*, the new cells mature producing flagella. Additionally, in most cases, exit from the bdelloplast is facilitated by one or two small pores in the outer membrane of the remaining bdelloplast rather than a complete breakdown of the structure (Fenton et al., 2010).

1.4.2 Prey range and decoys

B. bacteriovorus preys on a wide range of Gram-negative bacteria, with one study identifying 68 different strains from 18 separate genera successfully preyed upon, including pathogens such as *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* (Dashiff et al., 2011). The primary focus of this work is predation of *P. aeruginosa*. Interestingly, reports of predation of *P. aeruginosa* by *Bdellovibrio* are contradictory. Two studies have shown that *B. bacteriovorus* was unable to produce plaques on agar or reduce *P. aeruginosa* numbers in liquid coculture (Dashiff et al., 2011; Markelova, 2010), while other groups have reported predation in liquid coculture but no plaque formation on agar (Waso, Khan & Khan, 2019). Finally, when testing 10 different strains for *P. aeruginosa*, Shanks and co-workers saw that *B. bacteriovorus* strain HD100 was able to prey on all 10 *P. aeruginosa* strains while *B. bacteriovorus strain* 109J was only able to

prey on 7 of the 10 tested. This was again analysed in liquid coculture and suggests that some strains of *P. aeruginosa* possess protection from predation (Shanks et al., 2013). Other groups have also reported *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 predation on *P. aeruginosa* but have only investigated a single isolate (Iebba et al., 2014; Pantanella et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2023b).

When considering the use of *B. bacteriovorus* as a novel therapy we must also consider the effects of the presence of Gram-positive pathogens as well as the natural microbiota. Bacillus spp. are a common Gram-positive commensal found in healthy dog ears (Shaw, 2016). The presence of this non-susceptible 'decoy' organism has been shown, *in vitro*, to introduce a lag period when compared to predation in its absence due to the Bdellovibrio reversibly attaching, then detaching after it recognises it is attached to a non-susceptible cell. However, its presence does not reduce the overall yield of Bdellovibrio (Hobley, King & Sockett, 2006). S. pseudintermedius is a common Gram-positive pathogen isolated from cases of canine otitis, and there are no published investigations of the interaction between *B. bacteriovorus* and this organism. However, in the presence of S. aureus, it has been shown that B. bacteriovorus is able to attach to S. aureus as well as the Bdellovibrio population increasing in the presence of the S. aureus, suggesting epibiotic predation as seen in B. exovorus (Pantanella et al., 2018; Iebba et al., 2014). There is also a chance of two Gram-negatives co-existing in a case of otitis with the second species being such bacteria as Proteus or E. coli (Morris et al., 2017). In a culture containing multiple prey organisms, not all are preved upon equally, with evidence of prey preference shown (Rogosky, Moak & Emmert, 2006). Together, the presence of more than one species within an infected site will increase the number of interactions between different species during *Bdellovibrio* treatment, and further investigation of these interactions *in vitro* is required to inform the best approaches before applying *Bdellovibrio* therapeutically.

1.4.3 Resistance and inhibition of predation

Bacterial resistance (for example to antibiotics or bacteriophage) is typically due to genetic change, be that acquiring an enzyme or changing a target site (Pang et al., 2019). One of the major benefits to using *Bdellovibrio* as 'a living antibiotic' is that prey bacteria do not become resistant via genetic mutation. Instead 'plastic' resistance is seen, a temporary resistance that is not genetically encoded. Thus, when a suspension of prey is left overnight in the presence of *Bdellovibrio* the prey population will initially decrease in number, however a small proportion of the population will survive and be able to increase in number (if sufficient nutrients are available for growth). However, if the resistant cells are recovered and grown on nutrient agar before being re-introduced to *Bdellovibrio*, they are cleared as efficiently as the original culture, suggesting this is a phenotypic change (Shemesh & Jurkevitch, 2004). The precise cause and mechanism of this resistance is unknown, but recent work suggests that it may arise due to the prey sensing predation of other prey cells within the culture (Hobley et al., 2020). Bdellovibrio is a very successful predator and can overcome LPS modification, capsules and S-layers (Negus et al., 2017).

1.4.4 Animal trials

Recent research has been performed in order to assess the safety of *B*. *bacteriovorus*, including both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. *In vitro* human corneal-limbal epithelial cells were inoculated with *B. bacteriovorus* and no

damage was reported for the cells (Shanks et al., 2013). Whilst a recent study has shown that when incubated alongside human phagocytic cells, the *Bdellovibrio* were engulfed and ultimately degraded by the phagocytes similarly to other bacteria (Raghunathan et al., 2019). As the aim of this project is to evaluate the possibility for a treatment for canine otitis it is important to consider the risks of using predatory bacteria in vivo. Atterbury and colleagues were the first to publish in vivo of a complete live-animal with B. bacteriovorus; layer healthy chicks were inoculated orally and monitored for 28 days, after which there was no difference in health or weight observed between the study and control groups. Additionally, when used therapeutically in birds colonised by Salmonella, the presence of the predator significantly reduced Salmonella carriage, which in turn resulted in a reduction of caecal abnormalities. A change in microbiota was seen, specifically a statistically significant reduction in the population of *Lactobacillus* and increase of streptococcal populations (Atterbury et al., 2011). Which has since been shown to also occur in rats, and so this is something that will need to be considered when considering the types and locations of infections that could be treated with *Bdellovibrio* (Shatzkes et al., 2017b). Another study inoculated high concentrations $(1.1 \times 10^9 \text{ PFU})$ of B. bacteriovorus into rat lungs; after 24 h there was a non-sustained increase in inflammatory cytokines and after 10 days no B. bacteriovorus could be recovered. Additionally, no animals showed any signs of illness, and lung tissue was shown to be normal. In the same study rats were challenged with *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in the presence and absence of the predator, which was shown to reduce the burden of K. pneumoniae (Shatzkes et al., 2016). At the time of writing there have been numerous in vivo experiments that show similar results

regarding the safety of *B. bacteriovorus*, although none specifically in canine ears (Shatzkes et al., 2017a; Willis et al., 2016; Tajabadi et al., 2023; Romanowski et al., 2023, 2016). These results show considerable evidence that when an animal is challenged by an inoculation of *B. bacteriovorus* there are no serious adverse effects.

1.5 Summary

Canine OE is a common disease in veterinary practices, with the most recent study from the UK reporting a prevalence of 7.3%. Cases are often only seen after an increase in clinical signs from secondary infection. When addressing this disease, it is important to consider the primary, secondary, perpetuating, and predisposing factors. *P. aeruginosa* is commonly isolated from cases of canine OE and, due to widely reported antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation, poses a major issue for clinicians. Research investigating alternative treatments has seen promising results *in vitro*, with only a few being tested *in vivo*. Further work and *in vivo* experiments will be required in order to provide a better prognosis for the future. *B. bacteriovorus* and bacteriophage have both been investigated previously for their use as a novel therapeutic and could be an alternative therapy for this disease.

1.6 Aims

The primary aim of this study was to investigate the use of bacteriophage and *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* as novel therapies for treating canine otitis externa caused by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. To that end the project was split into three main aims that form the basis for the three results chapters of this thesis.

- I. Characterisation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from cases of canine otitis externa. Use a combination of phenotypic and bioinformatics methods to analyse the antimicrobial susceptibility, biofilm formation capacity and swarming ability of a range of clinical and non-clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates. Determine the genomic diversity of these isolates and evaluate the complement of key virulence factors in these strains.
- II. Isolation and characterisation of bacteriophage that infect isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa. Isolate bacteriophage from a range of environmental sources including wastewater. Characterise the bacteriophage for attributes important in clinical applications including host range and efficiency of plating. Employ whole genome sequencing to predict their lifestyles and suitability for use as a therapeutic agent.
- III. Investigate the ability of *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* to prey upon clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates. Determine the ability of *B. bacteriovorus* to prey upon a collection of clinical and non-clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates. Assess if factors within the ear will affect the predatory efficiency of *B. bacteriovorus*. And finally, investigate is a combination of *B. bacteriovorus* and bacteriophage result in a greater reduction of *P. aeruginosa in vitro*.

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Preparation of buffers, culture and storage media

Unless otherwise stated all media was prepared using reverse osmosis (RO) water according to the manufacturer's instructions and sterilised by autoclaving at 121° C for 15 minutes. Most media and chemicals were purchased from Fisher Scientific and Sigma Aldrich unless otherwise stated, product codes were included for each item.

Solutions, buffers, broth, and storage media were stored at room temperature until required. Agar plates were stored at 4° C for up to two weeks.

2.1.1 Solutions and buffers

2.1.1.1 Calcium chloride stock solution

Calcium chloride stock (25 g/L CaCl₂·2H₂O, C/1500/53) was prepared using analytical grade water (10626852).

2.1.1.2 Sodium hydroxide solution

Sodium hydroxide (NaOH aq, S/4880/60) solution was prepared to a final concentration of 2 M and was not sterilised.

2.1.1.3 Congo red stock

Congo red stocks (1 g/L Congo red dye, C6767-100G) were prepared, and filter sterilised using a 0.22 μ m filter (Sartorius, Germany FIL6570) before use. Stock solutions were protected from light using aluminium foil and stored at 4° C.

2.1.1.4 Coomassie blue stock

Coomassie blue stocks (20 g/L Coomassie brilliant blue dye, 27815-25G-F) were prepared, and filter sterilised before use. Stock solutions were protected using aluminium foil and stored at 4° C.

2.1.1.5 Ca/HEPES buffer

Ca/HEPES buffer (5.94 g/L HEPES, 44034-1KG, 0.284 g/L CaCl₂·2H₂O) was prepared using analytical grade water and corrected to pH 7.6 using 2 M NaOH.

2.1.1.6 Sodium magnesium (SM) buffer

SM buffer (5.8 g/L NaCl, S/3160/60; 2 g/L MgSO₄·7H₂O, M/1050/53; 5% v/v 1 M Tris-Cl, adjusted to pH 7.5) was prepared and aliquoted into 50 mL working stocks before use.

2.1.1.7 McFarland standard

A 0.5 McFarland Standard (0.5% v/v, 0.048 mol/L BaCl₂ stock, 217565-500G; 99.5% v/v, 0.18 mol/L H₂SO₄ stock, 339741) was prepared as previously described (CLSI, 2012). The absorbance was checked to be between 0.08 to 0.13 at 625 nm before being aliquoted into 15 mL falcon tubes (Sarstedt, UK 62.554.502), the same type used for the bacterial inoculum in §2.5.

2.1.2 Culture media

2.1.2.1 Lysogeny broth (LB) / agar

LB Miller (25 g/L, L3152-1KG), supplemented with 15 g/L agar (15129303) for plates.

2.1.2.2 LB double layer agar plates

LB was prepared as described in §2.1.2.1 but was instead supplemented with 15 g/L agar select (A5054-1KG) for base agar or 7 g/L agar select for top agar.

2.1.2.3 Yeast extract tryptone (YT) broth / agar

YT broth (5.0 g/L yeast extract Gibco 212750, 8.0 g/L tryptone Gibco 211705, 5.0 g/L NaCl) was prepared using analytical grade water and adjusted to pH 7.5 using 2 M NaOH. For plates 10 g/L agar select was included.

2.1.2.4 YPSC broth / double layer agar plates

YPSC broth (1.0 g/L yeast extract, 1.0 g/L meat peptone 70174-500G, 0.5 g/L anhydrous sodium acetate S/2080/60, 0.25 g/L MgSO₄·7H₂O) was prepared using analytical grade water and adjusted to pH 7.6 using 2 M NaOH. For double layer agar plates 10 g/L agar select was added for base agar and 6 g/L agar select for top agar. After sterilisation, CaCl₂ was added to a final concentration of 0.25 g/L.

2.1.2.5 Mueller-Hinton broth

Mueller-Hinton (MH) broth (21 g/L 70195-500G).

2.1.2.6 Mueller-Hinton agar 2

MH agar 2 (38 g/L 97580-500G).

2.1.2.7 Tryptone broth / agar

Tryptone broth (10 g/L tryptone, 5 g/L NaCl) supplemented with 10 g/L agar for plates.

2.1.2.8 Swarming agar

Swarming agar (8 g/L nutrient broth Oxoid, UK SM001, 5 g/L agar select) was prepared and after sterilisation, glucose was added to a final concentration of 0.5% v/v using a filter sterilised stock solution (20% w/v glucose G/0500/61).

2.1.3 Storage media preparation

2.1.3.1 Glycerol solution

A 50% v/v glycerol stock solution was prepared by combing an equal volume of

100% glycerol (Honeywell, UK 49770-25L) and analytical grade water.

2.2 Bacterial strain isolation

A summary of the bacterial strains used in this work are described below (Table

Species/Strain	Origin	Original Isolation
Escherichia coli		
<i>E. coli</i> S17-1	University of	Simon <i>et al.</i> , 1983
	Nottingham, Prof. L	
	Sockett	
E. coli ATCC25922	University of	
	Nottingham, Dr J	
	Hobman	
Pseudomonas		
D aeruginosa		Hellemer WD 1055
P. aeruginosa PAOI-	Queens University	Holloway, WB. 1955
QUD D. gomuning DAO1 N	University of	
P. deruginosa PAOI-N	Nottingham Prof Daul	
	Williams	
P. aeruginosa PAO1-	University of	
UW	Nottingham, Prof. Paul	
	Williams	
P. aeruginosa PAO1-L	University of	Dieter Haas laboratory,
	Nottingham, Prof. Paul	University of Lausanne
	Williams	
P. aeruginosa ATCC	University of	
27853	Nottingham, Prof. Paul	
	Williams	
P. aeruginosa isolates	Royal Veterinary	
from cases of canine	Collage	
otitis externa $(n = 46)$		
<i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates	NationWide	Veterinary practices
from cases of canine	Laboratories	across the UK
otitis externa $(n = 93)$		
<i>P. aeruginosa</i> isolates	University of	EU collection
from cases of canine	Copenhagen, School of	
outis externa $(n = 104)$	veterinary Medicine	
P. aeruginosa isolates	Unknown	
$\begin{array}{c} \text{If OIII} \text{cases} \text{OI} \text{canine} \\ \text{otitic outcome} \left(n - 10 \right) \end{array}$		
outus externa $(n = 10)$		

2.1), a complete list can be found in the appendix Table 8.1:

Table 2.1. A summary of the bacterial strains used in this work.
2.3 Growth and laboratory maintenance

Bacterial strains were maintained at -80° C in 25% v/v glycerol stocks.

2.3.1 P. aeruginosa

Prior to each experiment LB agar plates were inoculated with the required *P*. *aeruginosa* strain and streaked to obtain single colonies. Plates were inverted and incubated statically at 37° C for 16 h. Following incubation, 10 mL of LB was inoculated with a single colony using a sterile inoculating loop (302774) and incubated at 37° C with shaking at 200 rpm for 16 h.

P. aeruginosa PAO1-QUB was used as a control where appropriate.

2.3.2 *E. coli*

E. coli S17-1 was first cultured on YT agar to obtain single colonies. Plates were incubated statically at 37° C for 16 h. Following incubation, a single colony was used to inoculate YT broth and grown at 37° C with shaking at 200 rpm for 16 h. *E. coli* S17-1 cultured in YT was used for the maintenance of *B. bacteriovorus* as described in §2.3.3.

For use as a control in predation experiments (§2.14, §2.15, §2.16, and §2.18) *E. coli* S17-1 instead grown in LB.

E. coli ATCC 25922 was grown using LB media as for P. aeruginosa.

2.3.3 *B. bacteriovorus*

Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus was maintained as described in (Lambert & Sockett, 2008).

2.3.3.1 Bacterial lawn preparation

The required bacterial cultures were prepared as described above (§2.3.1, §2.3.2). Lawns were prepared by combining 150 μ L of a prey overnight culture (~10⁹ CFU/mL) with 5 mL of YPSC top agar in a 7 mL bijou (STARLAB, UK E1412-0711). The inoculated agar was immediately poured onto YPSC base agar plates and rotated gently to produce an even lawn. Plates were left to set at room temperature before being used.

2.3.3.2 Recovery of *B. bacteriovorus* from frozen stocks

First a bacterial lawn containing *E. coli* S17-1 prey cells was produced as described in §2.3.3.1. *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 glycerol stocks were then partially defrosted, and the lawn was inoculated with 100 μ L of stock. This was incubated at 29° C for 4-5 days. The plates were observed for an area of clearing, indicative of predation by *B. bacteriovorus*, a P1000 pipette set to 250 μ L was used to pick this into 2 mL of Ca/HEPES buffer containing 150 μ L of *E. coli* S17-1 and incubated at 29° C with shaking at 200 rpm for 48 h. The presence of a complete predatory culture, i.e., the presence of motile *B. bacteriovorus* in the absence of *E. coli* or bdelloplast was confirmed by light microscopy, the predatory culture could be sub-cultured for up to two weeks keeping the ratio of 5:3:1, Ca/HEPES buffer: prey: predator. Alternatively, the predatory culture can be filtered through a 0.45 μ m filter (Sartorius, Germany 10109180) and used in an experiment.

2.3.3.3 Enumeration of *B. bacteriovorus*

Enumeration of *B. bacteriovorus* was performed by producing a lawn as described in \$2.3.3.1 with slight modifications. First, 150 µL of *E. coli* S17-1 prey cells were combined with 100 µL aliquots of *B. bacteriovorus* decimal

dilutions within an appropriate range to allow for counting (typically 10^{-4} , 10^{-5} , 10^{-6}) before 5 mL of YPSC top agar was added. Once dried the plates were incubated at 29° C for 4-5 days.

Due to the small size of attack phase cells, *B. bacteriovorus* cannot be quantified by optical density readings. As a result, the concentration (PFU/mL) of *B. bacteriovorus* used in a given experiment could only be calculated retrospectively. Therefore, the input *B. bacteriovorus* predatory culture was always enumerated to ensure a concentration ~ 2×10^8 PFU/mL

2.3.4 Bacteriophage

The majority of standard methods used here have been previously described by Sambrook & Russell, (2001) and Clokie & Kropinski, (2009) with some modifications.

2.3.4.1 Preparation of a bacterial lawn

The preparation of bacterial lawns for use with bacteriophage is very similar to that for *B. bacteriovorus* as described in §2.3.3.1 with some differences. In a 7 mL bijou tube, 100 μ L of host overnight culture was combined with 5 mL LB top agar and then promptly poured onto LB base agar plates, gently rotating to create a uniform lawn.

2.3.4.2 Enumeration of bacteriophage

Enumeration of bacteriophage was performed using two methods, double layer agar overlay and Miles and Misra plating. For the first method, serial dilutions of bacteriophage were prepared using SM buffer within the required range. Then a bacterial lawn was prepared as in §2.3.4.1 however, before adding the molten top agar, 100 μ L of the dilution was added. Once dry, the plates were incubated at 37° C for 16 h.

Secondly, the Miles and Misra method was performed by producing a bacterial lawn was produced as described in §2.3.4.1, once the top agar had dried 3×10 µL spot of each bacteriophage dilution was spotted onto the lawn and left to dry. Once the spots had dried, they could be incubated as above. This method could be used to quickly enumerate multiple bacteriophage using a Micro-Dilution Tube System (STARLAB, UK E1750-0410) with a multichannel pipette.

2.3.4.3 Plaque picks

Plaque picks were achieved by resuspending a plaque in 500 μ L of SM buffer using a P1000 set to 250 μ L followed by a 2 h incubation period at room temperature.

2.3.4.4 Preparing bacteriophage stocks

In a 50 mL falcon tube (Sarstedt, UK 62.547.254) 100 μ L of host overnight culture was combined with 50 μ L of phage adjusted to 1×10⁶ PFU/mL and incubated at 37° C for 20 min. Following incubation 30 mL of pre-warmed LB as added and the mixture was incubated for a further 16 h at 37° C with shaking (150 rpm). Next, the culture was centrifuged for 30 min at 1935 × *g* and the supernatant collected. DNase and RNase were then added to the supernatant to a final concentration of 1 μ g/ μ L and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. Subsequently, NaCl was added to a final concentration of 1M and mixed until dissolved followed by PEG-8000 (10407773) to a final concentration of 10% (w/v). The lysate was then stored at 4° C overnight. The precipitated bacteriophage was recovered by centrifugation for 30 min at $1935 \times g$ and the supernatant removed, leaving the tube inverted to allow the pellet to dry. Once the supernatant had been removed, the pellet was resuspended in 800 µL of SM buffer and transferred to a 2 mL microcentrifuge tube and combined with an equal volume of chloroform. The mixture was gently mixed for 30 seconds and then centrifuged for 1 min at $13000 \times g$, the aqueous layer was recovered and washed again until all the PEG-8000 has been removed. Finally, the purified phage was filtered using a 0.22 µm filter.

2.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

A 1% (w/v) agarose gel was prepared by combining 1 g of agarose (A9539-500G) to 100 mL of 1x TAE buffer and dissolving the agarose by microwave heating. The solution was allowed to cool until no longer steaming before ethidium bromide was added to a final concentration of 0.2 μ g/mL and the mixture poured into a casting tray. Once set, 5 μ L of sample was combined with 1 μ L of loading dye (New England Biolabs, USA B7025S) and loaded into a well in the agarose gel. An aliquot of the DNA ladder was loaded into each gel as appropriate. Finally, the gel was electrophoresed at 100 V for 45-60 min and imaged using a UV transilluminator (Bio-Rad).

2.5 Antimicrobial sensitivity testing

Antimicrobial sensitivity testing (AST) was performed as described by the Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) using the disc diffusion method (CLSI, 2012). A suspension of bacterial cells was prepared by inoculating 8 mL of MH broth in a 15 mL falcon tube with bacterial colonies selected from an LB plate until a turbidity equivalent to a 0.5 McFarland

standard had been reached, as determined by visual comparison using a Wickerham card. Within 15 min of adjusting the turbidity, a sterile cotton swab (VWR, USA 115-8270) was saturated with the suspension and excess removed by rotating inside of the tube. The swab was then used to inoculate the surface of a Mueller-Hinton agar plate ensuring the entire plate is covered evenly ensuring to rotate the plate 90° between swabbing the first time with a final diagonal swab. Again, within 15 min antibiotic discs were dispensed onto the surface of the plate using an antibiotic disc dispenser. Finally, within 15 min of the discs being applied the plates were placed in a 37° C incubator for 16 h. The zones of inhibition were inspected for uniform circles before being measured using a digital calliper (11777105).

AST was performed using an antibiotic panel comprised of six antibiotic classes and is shown below (Table 2.2). All antibiotics were tested against all strains with the exception of Ticarcillin + Clavulanic acid which was discontinued part way through this work and were acquired from two suppliers, ProLabs, UK and Oxoid, UK. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *P. aeruginosa* ATCC 27853 were the control strains used in this assay.

Antibiotic sensitivity was determined using breakpoints outlined by the CLSI, where available canine veterinary breakpoints were used (CLSI, 2020) otherwise human breakpoints were used (CLSI, 2018).

60

Antibiotic	Concentration (µg)		
Penicillin			
Piperacillin	100		
Piperacillin + Tazibactam	100 + 10		
Ticarcillin + Clavulanic acid	75 + 10		
Cephalosporin			
Ceftazidime	30		
Cefepime	30		
Carbapenem			
Imipenem	10		
Meropenem	10		
Monobactam			
Aztreonam	30		
Aminoglycosides			
Amikacin	30		
Gentamicin	10		
Tobramycin	10		
Fluroquinolone			
Enrofloxacin	5		
Levofloxacin	5		
Ciprofloxacin	5		

Table 2.2 List of antibiotics used in the disc diffusion assay

Due to being discontinued, most of the antibiotics were acquired from two suppliers. 1. ProLabs (Cirencester, UK) 2. Oxoid (Basingstoke, UK)

2.6 Submerged biofilm assay

The ability of clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates to form biofilm was tested *in vitro* using U-bottom polystyrene 96-well microtiter plates (Greiner bio-one, Austria 650161) as described previously (Coffey & Anderson, 2014). Overnight cultures were diluted 1 in 100 into LB and 100 μ L aliquots were separately transferred to wells of the 96-well microtiter plates in triplicate in the same microtiter plate, two microtiter plates were used for each technical repeat. A negative control, consisting of three wells containing sterile LB, was included on each plate. The cultures were then grown statically at 37° C for 24 h. Following incubation, planktonic cells were removed, and the wells were washed using 125 μ L of Ca/HEPES buffer; the wells were then stained using 0.1% (v/v) crystal violet solution (HT901-8F02). Excess crystal violet was removed, and the wells were then de-stained using ethanol (100%), and absorbance measured at 595 nm using a Tecan GENios Pro (Tecan Group AG, Switzerland). The assay was repeated three times to achieve three biological repeats.

2.6.1 Biofilm analysis

Biofilm production was scored as either as either strong, moderate, weak, or nonbiofilm producing as previously described (Stepanović et al., 2000). Briefly, the mean absorbance of the negative control wells was used to blank the samples. For each plate three times the standard deviation of the negative control wells was calculated (ODc) and subsequentially used to categorise biofilm production as shown: $Non - Biofilm Producing \leq ODc < Weak Biofilm Producing$ $\leq 20Dc < Moderate Biofilm Producing \leq 40Dc$ < Strong Biofilm Producing

2.7 Congo red biofilm assay

Congo red agar plates were used to detect colony associated biofilm formation adapted from (McCready et al., 2019). *P. aeruginosa* cultures were first grown in tryptone broth before 10 μ L aliquots were spotted onto tryptone agar supplemented with Congo red dye (0.04 mg/mL) and Coomassie brilliant blue dye (0.02 mg/mL) from filter sterilised stock solutions (§2.1.1.3, §2.1.1.4). The plates were then incubated at 25° C for 120 h. Images were taken at a set distance of 12 cm using a Google Pixel 5 camera at 2× zoom. Three biological repeats were performed.

2.8 Swarming motility assay

Swarming motility assays were modified from (Ugurlu et al., 2016). Swarming motility agar was prepared, poured, and used on the same day. To ensure plates were evenly dried, they were left within the sterile area around a lit Bunsen burner for 40 min with the lid ajar. Once dry, 1 μ L of bacterial culture was spotted into the centre of the plate and incubated at 37° C for 16 h. The distance travelled from the point of inoculation was measured using a digital caliper, and swarming motility assessed by phenotype on the plates in combination with the distance travelled from the point of inoculation. Three biological repeats were performed.

2.9 Isolation of bacteriophage

.

An existing collection of 109 bacteriophage isolated using *P. aeruginosa*, as the target, was assessed using four *P. aeruginosa* host strains PAO1-QUB, 80664, 84269 and 484098. This was performed by preparing a lawn as described in \$2.3.4.1, followed by spotting 10 µL of the bacteriophage stock onto the lawn and incubating at 37° C for 16 h. The appearance of clearing indicated viable bacteriophage which were then purified as described below.

Aqueous samples were collected from 19 sites. A summary of the samples is shown in Table 2.3

Sample	Collection Date	Location	Collected by
School A effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
			Ecology &
			Hydrology
School B effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	-		Ecology &
			Hydrology
School C effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	-		Ecology &
			Hydrology
School D effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	5		Ecology &
			Hydrology
School E effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	5		Ecology &
			Hydrology
School F effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	, and the second s		Ecology &
			Hvdrology
Prison A effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	, and y		Ecology &
			Hvdrology
Prison B effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
			Ecology &
			Hydrology
Prison C effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
			Ecology &
			Hydrology
Prison D effluent	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
	, and y		Ecology &
			Hydrology
Care home A	Feb - July 2021	Unknown	UK Centre of
effluent	-		Ecology &
			Hydrology
Sutton Bonington	10/11/2022	52°49'54"N	Dr. Jon Hobman –
effluent		1°15'30"W	University of
			Nottingham
Sutton Bonington	24/11/2022	52°49'54"N	This work
effluent		1°15'30''W	
Sutton Bonington	10/11/2022	52°50'20.805''N	Dr. Jon Hobman –
dairy farm effluent		1°15'1.988"W	University of
			Nottingham
Sutton Bonington	10/11/2022	52°50'20.805''N	Dr. Jon Hobman –
muck heap runoff		1°15'1.988"W	University of
			Nottingham
Beeston canal	24/11/2022	52°55'9.095"N	This work
		1°11'26.381"W	
Highfield Park lake	24/11/2022	52°56'1.846''N	This work
		1°11'59.197"W	
Wollaton Park lake	24/11/2022	52°56'28.799''N	This work
		1°12'49.482''W	
BABS moat	24/11/2022	52°59'52.586''N	This work
		1°15'2.35"W	

Table 2.3 Summary of environmental samples collected and used for bacteriophage isolation.

Aliquots (50 mL) of the samples were then centrifuged for 30 min at $1935 \times g$ to remove large particles. Subsequently, the supernatant was filtered using a 0.22 µm filter and stored at 4° C until required. The filtered samples were then used to isolate environmental bacteriophage using five hosts, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB, 84269, 488958, 26820-3 and 484098. To achieve single plaques, decimal dilutions (10⁰ to 10⁻⁴) were used as described in §2.3.4.2. In cases where individual plaques were present, they underwent passage to ensure the presence of only a single bacteriophage. Plaques were picked as described above §2.3.4.3 and a dilution series produced to achieve single plaques. This was repeated at least three times or until only a single plaque morphology was present. Any bacteriophage identified were subsequently named as described by Adriaenssens and Brister (Adriaenssens & Brister, 2017).

2.9.1 Isolation using enriched samples

In addition to the filtered raw samples, enrichments were also performed. This was performed by combining 20 mL of sterile LB with 8 mL of the filtered raw sample and 150 μ L of the target host in a 50 mL falcon tube. Following incubation for 16 h at 37° C, the enrichment was centrifuged for 30 min at 1935 $\times g$. The resulting supernatant was filtered using a 0.22 μ m filter. The enriched sample could then be stored at 4° C and used for bacteriophage isolation as described above §2.9.

2.10 Bacteriophage host range

Host range and efficiency of plating was performed as previously described (Kutter, 2009).

Host range was determined by first producing a bacterial lawn as described in \$2.3.4.1 before applying 10 µL of each phage at a concentration of 1×10^8 PFU/mL. Following incubation at 37° C for 16 h, any clearing was classified either as complete clearing (4), clearing throughout but with faintly hazy background (3), substantial turbidity throughout the cleared zone (2), a few individual plaques (1) or no clearing (0). A SM only spot was included as a control.

2.10.1 Bacteriophage efficiency of plating

Efficiency of plating was performed in a similar manner as host range however, a serial dilution of the 1×10^8 PFU/mL bacteriophage stock was prepared 10^{-1} to 10^{-6} . Subsequently, the overlay was inoculated with 20 µL of each bacteriophage dilution. The PFU/mL was calculated for the host strain that each phage was isolated from, and this was used to calculate the efficacy of plating as a percentage. For each host two technical and three biological repeats were performed. An SM only spot was included as a control.

Mean efficiency of plating values were then ranked as previously described (Viazis et al., 2011). Where no lysis was recorded (0%) the bacteriophage were ranked as 'Not effective', 'High' efficiency was recorded for values \geq 50%, 'Medium' \geq 20%<50% and 'Low' >0%<20%.

2.11 Bacteriophage genomic DNA extraction

Bacteriophage DNA extraction was performed with a Promega Wizard DNA cleanup kit (Promega, USA A7280) using a method from the Center for Phage Technology (CPT, 2011). First a lysate was made as described in §2.3.4.4 with some modifications, when adding the DNase and RNase, a higher concentration of 10 μ g/ μ L of each was used. Additionally, a precipitant stock solution consisting of 30% (w/v) PEG-8000 and 3M NaCl was prepared in advance by combining 110 mL ddH₂O, 35g NaCl and 60g PEG-8000 in a Duran bottle and incubating at 55° C stirring occasionally, once dissolved ddH₂O was added to a final total volume of 200 mL. This was combined with 10 mL of DNase and RNase treated lysate at a rate of 1:2 precipitant:lysate and incubated at 4° C overnight.

Following this, the mixture was centrifuged at $1935 \times g$ for 30 min and the supernatant removed. The pellet was then resuspended in 500 µL of 5mM MgSO₄, transferred to a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube, centrifuged at $13,000 \times g$ for 5-10 seconds and the supernatant transferred to a clean microcentrifuge tube. Next, 1 mL of purification resin was added to the tube and pushed through the minicolumn using a syringe. The resin was then washed using 2 mL of 80% isopropanol and subsequently dried by centrifugation at $13,000 \times g$ for 2 min. Finally, the column was transferred to a clean microcentrifuge tube and 100 µL of MilliQ water pre-heated to 80° C was added, the column was then immediately centrifuged at $13,000 \times g$ for 1 min. The eluted DNA was then quantified using a BioDrop uLite+ Spectrophotometer (BioDrop, UK) and ran on an agarose gel to determine integrity, DNA was stored at -20° C until required.

2.12 **Restriction digestion**

All reagents were purchased from New England Biolabs, USA. Restriction digestions were performed using the manufacturer's instructions by combining sample DNA diluted to 1 µg, 5 µL 10x CutSmart buffer, 1 µL enzyme and MilliQ water to 50 µL total volume. The mixture was then incubated at 37° C for 2 h. The digestions were subsequently separated by gel electrophoresis as described in §2.4 using λ -HindIII (N3013) and λ -BstEII (N3014) as a ladder. Enzymes were selected based on a literature search. Initially, three enzymes were used, EcoRI-HF (R3101), NdeI (R0111) and HindIII (R0104), these alone did not provide a good separation for all the phage genomes so two further enzymes, HincII (R0103) and XbaI (R0145) were included.

2.13 *P. aeruginosa* growth kinetics in the presence of bacteriophage

The indirect measurement of bacteriophage growth was assessed using an Omnilog plate reader (Biolog, USA) assay.

First, 10 mL of fresh LB was inoculated with 100 μ L of overnight culture and incubating at 37° C with shaking (150rpm) until an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5 was reached.

Meanwhile, $10 \ \mu L$ of 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC T8877-5G) was combined with 10 mL of LB per 96 well plate to a final concentration of 0.002% (w/v). Subsequently, 90 μL of the mixture was loaded into each well of the 96 well plate.

Once the broth had been added, $10 \ \mu\text{L}$ of bacteriophage suspension at 1.5×10^7 PFU/mL was added to wells A7+B7, subsequently, different bacteriophage were pipetted into wells C1+D1, C7+D7 until all of the wells had been inoculated.

Once the bacteriophage had been added to the plate, serial dilutions from wells 1 to 6 and 7 to 12 were performed.

Once the host refresh had reached 0.5 OD_{600} , the culture was diluted to reach a bacterial suspension of 1×10^4 CFU/mL, 10 µL of this was finally added to all of the wells excluding column 6 and 12 which acted as controls. The microtiter platers were then loaded into the Omnilog plate reader and incubated at 37° C for 24 h with readings every 5 min.

Technical repeats were performed within the microtiter plates and three biological repeats were performed.

2.13.1 Optimising host input

The microtiter plate was set up as described above however the host refresh at 0.5 OD_{600} was added in place of the bacteriophage and diluted. Following this, $10 \,\mu\text{L}$ of fresh LB was used in place of additional host.

2.14 **Predation on YPSC double layer agar plates**

B. bacteriovorus was prepared as in 2.3.3, serial dilutions (10^0 to 10^{-6}) of the filtered predatory culture were prepared and the bacterial lawn was inoculated with 3 x 5 µL spots of each dilution. Duplicates of each host were prepared, and plates were incubated for 5 days at 29° C and 37° C. The ability of *B. bacteriovorus* to prey upon each strain was assessed by the appearance of clearing of the bacterial lawn, indicative of prey killing. Ca/HEPES only spots were used as a control and three biological repeats were performed.

2.15 Detection of secreted inhibitory products

The detection of products secreted by *P. aeruginosa* isolates that may inhibit *B. bacteriovorus* was adapted from work previously described (Hoshiko et al., 2021). In a 7 mL bijou bottle 100 μ L of *B. bacteriovorus* was combined with 100 μ L of *E. coli* S17-1 and 3 mL molten YPSC top agar before being poured into a YPSC base agar plate and left to cool. Once dry the middle of the top agar was inoculated with 2 μ L of *P. aeruginosa* overnight culture. Duplicate plates of each isolate were prepared, and plates were incubated statically at 29° C and 37° C for 5 days. The zone of inhibition, indicated by *E. coli* growth, was measured using a digital calliper. Of the 253 *P. aeruginosa* isolates that were screen, 69 of these were screened by undergraduate project students, Michael Rousell, Jade Brewster-Mahon and Annice Norman.

2.16 **Predation in liquid culture**

An overnight predatory culture (§2.3.3.2) was centrifuged at $4000 \times g$ for 30 min and the pellet resuspended in YPSC broth, this was then repeated. Similarly, overnight cultures of *P. aeruginosa* were centrifuged at $4000 \times g$ for 10 min and the pellet resuspended in YPSC broth, again this was then repeated. Subsequently, in a 50 mL falcon tube, 12 mL YPSC broth was combined with 1.5 mL of prey in YPSC broth and either 1.5 mL washed predatory culture or 1.5 mL YPSC broth. Immediately, the OD₆₀₀ was collected, and the mixture was incubated at 37° C with shaking (200 rpm). The input of prey and *B. bacteriovorus* was then enumerated. The OD₆₀₀ was then measured every 24 h for 72 h, where a large drop in OD₆₀₀ was observed, confirmation of predation was performed using light microscopy.

2.17 Microscopy

Fluorescence microscopy using a phase contrast lens was performed by Dr Jess Tyson using the following method. A filtered overnight predatory culture of *B. bacteriovorus* HD100:Bd0064mCherry was concentrated and resuspended in YPSC broth. Subsequently, 500 μ L of the predatory culture was combined with a prey culture at OD₆₀₀ 1 and incubated at 37° C statically. Images were then taken within 1 h 15 min to 2 h post addition. Images were then processed using Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012), a distribution of ImageJ, using the sharpen and smooth tools iteratively a maximum of two times in addition to adjustments to brightness and contrast.

2.18 Predation of pre-formed biofilm

Initially, biofilms were produced as described in \$1.1; however, after 24 h, planktonic cells were removed, and the wells were washed using Ca/HEPES buffer. Then 125 µL of either a dilution of 1in10 *B. bacteriovorus* or Ca/HEPES control was added to the wells and incubated at 29°c or 37°c statically for a further 24 h. Following incubation, the media was removed, and the wells were washed using Ca/HEPES buffer. Staining and biofilm quantification was then performed as described before (\$1.1).

2.19 Survival in ear wash

An overnight predatory culture was aliquoted into 2 mL samples and centrifuged at $4000 \times g$ for 20 min. Subsequently, the pellet was resuspended in either 2 mL Ca/HEPES or ear wash (TrizAural) and incubated at 29°c with shaking at 200 rpm for 24 h. The PFU/mL of *B. bacteriovorus* was enumerated every 15 min for the first two hours, after 24 h, 1 mL was enumerated over 10 agar plates to get an accurate measurement of PFU/mL.

2.20 **Bioinformatics**

Genome sequencing was performed by MicrobesNG (Birmingham, UK) using their standard protocols. Clinical *P. aeruginosa* were sent as strain samples for the enhanced sequencing platform consisting of short read (Illumina MiSeq) and long read (Oxford Nanopore) sequencing.

Bacteriophage were sent as DNA samples (§2.11) for short read (Illumina MiSeq) sequencing only.

2.21 Genome assembly and annotation

2.21.1 *P. aeruginosa* genome sequencing

The quality of the Illumina paired-end reads was initially assessed using FastQC v0.11.8 (Andrews, 2010) before trimming adapters and poor quality reads using FastP v0.12.4 (Chen et al., 2018) with default settings except phred quality which was set to 26. Assembly was performed using a 'long read first' approach where initially Flye v2.9.2-b1786 (Kolmogorov et al., 2019) was used to create a *de novo* assembly specifying high quality nanopore reads, followed by Circlator v1.5.5 to circularise the genome assembly (Hunt et al., 2015). The integrity of the assemblies, in addition to the presence of secondary circular contigs which indicated the presence of a plasmid, was then assessed using Bandage v0.8.1 (Wick et al., 2015). Finally polishing was performed with one round of long read polishing using Medaka v 1.11.1 (ONT, 2023) and two rounds of short read polishing using the trimmed Illumina reads, first using Polypolish v0.5.0 (Wick & Holt, 2022) and then POLCA (Zimin & Salzberg, 2020). Quast

v5.2.0 (Gurevich et al., 2013) was used to assess the quality of the assemblies. This was done by evaluating measurements such as total contigs, GC content, N50 values and the percentage of reads that mapped to the assembly. Similarly, Quast was used to compare the quality of the assembly and subsequent polishing steps. Once the assemblies were deemed complete, i.e. once the assemblies were in as few contigs as possible and were at an appropriate quality as determined by QUAST, the genomes were reoriented to begin with *dnaA* using Dnaapler v0.4.0 (Bouras et al., 2024) before being annotated using Bakta v1.8.2 (Schwengers et al., 2021). Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) was performed *in silico* using mlst v2.23.0 (Seemann, 2023) which scans contigs against the PubMLST database (Jolley, Bray & Maiden, 2018). At the same time, another *de novo* assembly was produced using Unicycler v0.5.0 (Wick et al., 2017). This was done as small plasmids can be underrepresented in long read sequencing and so this assembly was used as a comparison.

2.21.2 Bacteriophage genome sequencing

Bacteriophage genome sequences were processed as previously described with some modifications (Shen & Millard, 2021). Similar to above, prior to assembly the Illumina paired-end reads were assessed using FastQC followed by trimming adapters and poor-quality reads with a Phred value lower than 26 using FastP while retaining unpaired reads. Trimmed and unpaired reads were used to produce a *de novo* genome assembly with Unicycler. The integrity of the assemblies was assessed using Bandage. This assembly was then used to establish a preliminary genome size and the number of reads required to achieve 100x coverage was calculated. Subsequently, the trimmed reads were used subsampled using Seqtk v1.4 (Li, 2013) specifying the seed value as 100 for

each of the paired end reads. *De novo* genome assembly was repeated using Unicycler and again assessed using Bandage. Additional quality control was performed by first aligning the reads used to the assembly with Minimap2 v2.26r1175 (Li, 2018), the alignment file was then processed using Samtools v1.19 (Li et al., 2009) using the utilities fixmate, sort, markdup and index. The alignment was finally assessed with Qualimap2 v2.3 (Okonechnikov, Conesa & García-Alcalde, 2016). The assemblies then underwent short read polishing with Polypolish. Preliminary checks for completeness of the draft genomes were performed by comparing similarity and size to closely related bacteriophage identified using PhageClouds (Rangel-Pineros et al., 2021)

PhageTerm (Garneau et al., 2017) was used to predict the DNA termini, packaging mechanisms and reorder the genomes accordingly. Where the termini were not identified, manual genome reordering was performed using the closest relative as a reference where a complete genome was available. This was determined using Blastn percentage identity (≥95%) specifying Viruses (taxid:10239) in addition to PhageClouds (Rangel-Pineros et al., 2021). The first coding sequence of this relative was subsequently used as an arbitrary start of the genome. Once a reordered sequence had been achieved, a final round of polishing was performed using Polypolish. The finished genomes were then annotated using Pharokka (Bouras et al., 2023a).

2.22 Whole genome analysis of *P. aeruginosa* isolates

2.22.1 Selection of additional *P. aeruginosa* genomes

•

The genome sequences of 70 *P. aeruginosa* isolates were downloaded from the *Pseudomonas* genome database (PGDB) v.22.1 (Winsor et al., 2016). This included the genomes of three common reference strains, PAO1, PA14 and PA7. Genomes were selected from the PGDB as it contains assembled and annotated *Pseudomonas* genomes. The genome sequences of isolates from a variety of human and animal infections in addition to environmental strains were chosen to ensure diversity amongst the genomes Table 2.4

Isolate	ST	Source		Assembly Accession
PAO1	549	Human	Wound	GCF_000006765. 1*
UCBPP-PA14	253	Human	Burn wound	GCF_000014625. 1*
PA7	1195	Human	Non-respiratory clinical isolate	GCF_000017205. 1
VA-134	3090	Human	Burn wound	GCF_001447845. 1*
PA_D22	1971	Human	Ventilator- associated pneumonia	GCF_001721825. 1*
Pa124	309	Human	Ventilator- associated pneumonia	GCF_002192475. 1*
CCBH4851	277	Human	Catheter	GCF_000763245. 3*
RP73	198	Human	Cystic fibrosis	GCF_000414035. 1*
Pa1207	155	Human	Blood	GCF_002208645. 1*
BAMC 07-48	313	Human	Combat injury wound	GCF_001632245. 1*
FRD1	111	Human	Cystic fibrosis	GCF_000829885. 1*
PA34	1284	Human	Keratitis	GCF_003332705. 2*
DH01	395	Human	Nose (asymptomatic carrier)	GCF_000496455. 2*
X78812	257	Human	Cancer	GCF_001542795. 2*
W16407	244	Human	Cancer	GCF_001516165. 2*
VRFPA04	-	Human	Keratitis	GCF_000473745. 2*
24Pae112	235	Human	Blood	GCF_003433235. 1*
2856	111	Human	Tracheal aspirate	GCF_028403965. 1*
NY5510	1976	Human	Phlegm	GCF_030121895. 1*
YT12746	292	Human	Blood	GCF_013305645. 2*
F22031	485	Human	Pubic bone (cancer)	GCF_000816985. 1*
L1a	549	Human	Sputum	GCF_022213165. 2*
PB350	235	Human	Sputum	GCF_002812905. 2*
97	234	Human	Urine	GCF_002411865. 3*

BWHPSA016	2317	Human	Ear	GCF_000481385.
20/27	27	Human	Chronic otitis media	GCF_028895265.
019	446	Human	Otitis externa	GCF_016792065. 1
2021CK-01162	309	Human	Abscess	GCF_029961325. 1*
PALA36	532	Human	Cystic Fibrosis	GCF_027571115. 1*
MRSN1612	207	Human	Ear	GCF_003969725. 1
BK2	2719	Human	Keratitis	GCF_002243265. 1
AZPAE14828	1858	Human	Intra-abdominal tract infection	GCF_000795385. 1
LIM1136	277	Human	Blood	GCF_003204365. 1
PB353	-	Human	Urine	GCF_002812865. 1*
LES431	146	Human	Healthy carrier	GCF_000508765. 1*
DK2	386	Human	Cystic fibrosis	GCF_000271365. 1*
PACS2	1394	Human	Cystic fibrosis	GCF_000168335. 1*
F23197	1295	Human	Cancer	GCF_001516245. 2*
PA7790	277	Human	Tracheal aspirate	GCF_001870265. 1*
USDA-ARS- USMARC- 41639	-	Cow	Respiratory Disease	GCF_001518975. 1*
K19PSE24	313	Dog	Ear	GCF_013201015.
AUS207	145	Koala	Ear	GCF_003839865. 1
PSE305	244	Sheep	Mastitis	GCF_000750905. 1
19660	-	Mouse	Ocular infection	GCF_000481765. 1
KCJK8014	2853	Coyote	Missing	GCF_003053445. 1
ICB10P	644	Magellanic penguin	Pododermatitis	GCF_002156655. 1
VET-33	2450	Cow		GCF_003628935. 1
VET-36	2450	Cat	Ear	GCF_003628985. 1
CA19603	235	Cat	Ear	GCF_014596275. 1
PA59	260	Mink	Hemorrhagic pneumonia	GCF_009497675. 1

UFMG-H10	549	Zebu	Urine	GCF_012102115.
OSIRIS	146	Cat	Upper Resp Tract	GCF_013619435. 1
FMDP001	1249	Forest musk deer	Lung	GCF_007896855. 1
BCW_7428	-	Dolphin	Rectum	GCF_009916345. 1
VET-58	1744	Cow	Internal Organs	GCF_003633515. 1
B-20-37098-1-1	2683	Cow	Unknown	GCF_025791395. 1
CA12133	1600	Dog	Ear	GCF_015704805. 1
AUS456	179	Goat	Milk	GCF_003976335. 1
A237	1207	Leporidae	Unknown	GCF_003836985. 1
3K-6	-	Env		GCF_025209925. 1
WH-SGI-V- 07166	1990	Env		GCF_001449485.
S-8	381	Env		GCF_028970225. 1
PDNC003	-	Env		GCF_016919425. 1
F1-DN-2	-	Env		GCF_003833465. 1
C41	164	Env		GCF_000480455. 1
C20	17	Env		GCF_000480515.
M8A.4	918	Env		GCF_000480555.
M8A.1	257	Env		GCF_000480615.
PB25	-	Env		GCF_025209735. 1
PA1-1	27	Env		GCF_026624905. 1

Table 2.4 Additional P. aeruginosa genomes used for bioinformatics analysis.

P. aeruginosa genomes (n=70) were selected from the *Pseudomonas* genome database from human, animal, and environmental (Env) sources. - denotes unknown sequence type * - denotes a complete genome assembly

2.22.2 Identification of resistance, virulence genes and mutations

Antibiotic resistance genes were screened for using ABRicate v1.0.1 (Seemann, 2015) with the CARD database (Alcock et al., 2023). Numerous databases are available as a result of the rise in high throughput sequencing used to test for genes associated with antibiotic resistance. CARD was chosen because it has a vast amount of gene sequences and can detect mutations more effectively than comparable methods (Papp & Solymosi, 2022).

The presence of virulence genes was assessed using ABRicate v1.0.1 with the VFDB database (Liu et al., 2021a). To avoid repeat analysis, genes recognised to be related to alginate biofilm formation were removed as they are investigated below (§2.22.3). Percentage coverage was then adjusted to analyse presence and absence of genes.

To investigate the presence of mutations that confer resistance, the amino acid sequences of genes of interest were extracted using a custom python script (Figure 8.1). Subsequently, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 reference genes were downloaded from the PSDB. The amino acid sequences of each gene were then aligned using the ClustalW algorithm (Larkin et al., 2007) in MEGA v11.0.13 (Tamura, Stecher & Kumar, 2021) and amino acid substitutions and deletions were recorded.

2.22.3 Identification of plasmids

Plasmids were assembled from the whole genome sequencing reads using Plassembler v1.3.0 (Bouras et al., 2023b) with default settings. Where the plasmid was assembled as a single contig, the sequence was reoriented to begin with *repA* using Dnaapler. Subsequently, the plasmid sequence were investigated for antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes using ABRicate as described above (§2.22.2).

2.22.4 Identification of biofilm associated genes

A custom database using gene sequences from *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (NC_002516.2), downloaded from NCBI, was created as described by (Seemann, 2015) using genes located within the *psl, pel* and alginate (*alg*) operons (Franklin et al., 2011) in addition to other associated biofilm genes (Kiel et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2021a). A complete list of the genes is shown in Table 2.5.

Gene	Locus Tag	Description
pelA	PA3064	hypothetical protein
pelB	PA3063	pellicle/biofilm biosynthesis protei
pelC	PA3062	pellicle/biofilm biosynthesis outer
		membrane protein
pelD	PA3061	pellicle/biofilm biosynthesis protein
pelE	PA3060	pellicle/biofilm biosynthesis protein
pelF	PA3059	pellicle/biofilm biosynthesis
		glycosyltransferase
pelG	PA3058	pellicle/biofilm biosynthesis Wzx-like
		polysaccharide transporter
pslA	PA2231	biofilm formation protein PslA
pslB	PA2232	biofilm formation protein PslB
pslC	PA2233	biofilm formation protein PslC
pslD	PA2234	biofilm formation protein PslD
pslE	PA2235	biofilm formation protein PslE
pslF	PA2236	biofilm formation protein PslF
pslG	PA2237	biofilm formation protein PslG

pslH	PA2238	biofilm formation protein PslH
pslI	PA2239	biofilm formation protein PslI
pslJ	PA2240	biofilm formation protein PslJ
pslK	PA2241	biofilm formation protein PlsK
pslL	PA2242	biofilm formation protein PslL
pslM	PA2243	bFAD-binding dehydrogenase
pslN	PA2244	hypothetical protein
algD	PA3540	GDP-mannose 6-dehydrogenase AlgD
alg8	PA3541	glycosyltransferase alg8
alg44	PA3542	alginate biosynthesis protein Alg44
algK	PA3543	alginate biosynthesis protein AlgK
algE	PA3544	alginate production protein AlgE
algG	PA3545	alginate-c5-mannuronan-epimerase AlgG
algX	PA3546	alginate biosynthesis protein AlgX
algL	PA3547	alginate lyase
algI	PA3548	alginate o-acetylase AlgI
algJ	PA3549	alginate o-acetylase AlgJ
algF	PA3550	alginate o-acetyltransferase AlgF
algA	PA3551	bifunctional mannose-1-phosphate
		guanylyltransferase/mannose-6-phosphate
		isomerase
mvfR	PA1003	transcriptional regulator MvfR
pqsA	PA0996	anthranilateCoA ligase
pqsB	PA0997	hypothetical protein

pqsC	PA0998	hypothetical protein
pqsD	PA0999	3-oxoacyl-ACP synthase
pqsE	PA1000	thioesterase PqsE
algU	PA0762	RNA polymerase sigma factor AlgU
mucA	PA0763	sigma factor AlgU negative regulator MucA
тисВ	PA0764	sigma factor AlgU regulator MucB
mucC	PA0765	positive regulator for alginate biosynthesis
		MucC
mucD	PA0765	serine protease MucD
тисР	PA3649	metalloprotease protease
mucE	PA4033	small envelope protein MucE
algW	PA4446	AlgW protein
algP	PA5253	alginate regulatory protein AlgP
algQ	PA5255	anti-RNA polymerase sigma 70 factor
algR	PA5261	alginate biosynthesis regulatory protein
		AlgR
algZ	PA5262	alginate biosynthesis protein AlgZ/FimS
algC	PA5322	phosphomannomutase
algB	PA5483	two-component response regulator AlgB

Table 2.5 Genes that are associated with biofilm formation and were investigated in the present study.

2.22.5 Phylogeny

A neighbour joining phylogenetic tree was constructed using Mashtree v1.4.6 (Katz et al., 2019) with bootstrapping with 100 replicates and mindepth 0. Trees were then visualised using MEGA.

2.22.6 Identification of CRISPR-Cas arrays

CRISPRCasFinder (Couvin et al., 2018) was performed to identify CRISPR arrays and Cas proteins using default settings.

2.22.7 **Prediction of prophage sequences**

The presence of prophage regions in the genome sequences was predicted using PHASTEST (Wishart et al., 2023) with default settings.

2.22.8 Identification of predation-inhibitory products

Bakta annotation produced GFF3-files which were used in combination with Roary v3.13.0 (Page et al., 2015) to create a gene presence and absence file for the 35 *P*. *aeruginosa* genomes which was used to identify genes known to encode for products that inhibit predation (Mun et al., 2017; Hoshiko et al., 2021).

Subsequently, the Roary analysis was paired with a trait table containing sensitivity to predation in the liquid predation assay (§2.16), and used to calculated genes that were overrepresented in the groups with Scoary (-p 5E-2 -c I --no_pairwise) v1.6.16 (Brynildsrud et al., 2016).

2.23 Whole genome analysis of bacteriophage

Taxonomic classification at the genus and species level was performed using taxmyPHAGE v0.2.7 (Millard, 2023). Bacteriophage lifestyle predictions were performed using three tools, PhaTYP (Shang, Tang & Sun, 2023), BACPHLIP v1.0

(Hockenberry & Wilke, 2021) and PhageScope (Wang et al., 2024). Intergenomic similarities were performed using VIRIDIC (Moraru, Varsani & Kropinski, 2020). Finally, a proteomic tree was generated using ViPTree (Nishimura et al., 2017).

2.24 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Python 3.8.5 and the SciPy library version 1.9.1. Results were first assessed for normality by first plotting a histogram of the data followed by a Shapiro-Wilk test. This was followed by a T-test or ANOVA (parametric data), or Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric data). The type of statistical test used is stated where appropriate.

2.24.1 Principal Component Analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed using Scikit-learn (Pedregosa et al., 2011) with AST data of isolates from the UK and Denmark. Ticarcillin/Clavulanic Acid discs were discontinued part way though this work and so some isolates were missing this data and so this antibiotic was removed from the analysis. Following this, the data was normalised using StandardScaler. PCA was then performed by linear dimensionality reduction using Singular Value Decomposition.

2.24.2 Cluster analysis

Hierarchical clustering analysis was performed using the results from six experiments, namely the crystal violet biofilm and swarming motility assays, the total number of resistances to the tested antibiotics, predation by *B. bacteriovorus* on YPSC agar and in YPSC broth and finally bacteriophage host range. Hierarchical clustering was performed using Euclidean distance with Ward linkage, both of these metrics were selected as are widely considered the most appropriate in most cases. A dendrogram that shows the clusters' merging or breaking patterns was used to calculate the optimal

number of clusters. Where the data was categorical, such as predation by *B*. *bacteriovorus* on YPSC double agar or in YPSC broth, ordinal encoding was used to encode categorical data to numbers.

Chapter 3 Characterisation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolated from Canine Otitis Externa

3.1 Introduction

Canine otitis externa (OE) is a common condition seen in veterinary practices, a recent study in the UK identified that canine OE was a frequent diagnosis (7.3%), second only to periodontal disease (12.52%) (O'Neill DG, 2021). Canine OE is a multifactorial disease; however, cases are often only seen after an increase in clinical signs due to secondary infection. In some cases of chronic OE, the disease may progress to a point where medical treatment will be unsuccessful in controlling infection. In such cases, biofilm production in the presence of a multi-drug-resistant *Pseudomonas* infection are often evident. At this stage, surgery is necessary, including total ear canal ablation with or without bulla osteotomy. This procedure involves the removal of the infected ear canal and bulla contents, resulting in the resolution of disease in most cases (Doyle RS, 2004).

P. aeruginosa is not a typical constituent of the canine ear microbiota but is frequently isolated from cases of chronic OE in up to 35.5% of cases (Budgen DL, 2013). Despite this there are only a limited number of studies investigating isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine OE. The nature of this pathogen often makes treatment difficult; biofilm formation is identified in 40–95% of *P. aeruginosa* from cases of OE (Pye CC, 2013; Robinson VH, 2019; Chan WY, 2019) and intrinsic and acquired antibiotic resistance, especially resistance to clinically important antibiotics, highlights the need for alternative treatments. Very few studies have examined the genomic profiles of *P. aeruginosa* strains causing canine otitis specifically, however the population structure of *P. aeruginosa* causing clinical infections in animals consists of genetically diverse isolates. This highlights the need to investigate this pathogen further, with a focus on bioinformatic analysis.

3.1.1 Aims and Hypothesis

The aim of this chapter was to identify factors that reduce the success of treatment in a clinical setting. Additionally, to use bioinformatics to get a better understanding of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from cases of canine otitis externa.

- Hypothesis: Clinical *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE will form biofilms under the tested conditions and have resistance to antibiotics commonly used in veterinary medicine. Biofilm will be quantified using two methods and antibiotic resistance assessed using a panel of antibiotics important for *P. aeruginosa* infections in veterinary medicine. Subsequent genomic analysis will be utilised to further characterise these important virulence factors.
- Hypothesis: Clinical *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE will be genetically diverse. Analysis of the genomes of clinical *P. aeruginosa* will be performed and compared to a selection of other isolates from human, animal and environment sources.

3.2 **Results**

3.2.1 Strain collection

A collection of 253 clinical isolates from cases of canine OE collected in veterinary practices from the UK (88), Denmark (103), Dubai (2), Malta (1) and unknown (59) were previously identified by Anette Loeffler (Royal Veterinary College), Arshnee Moodley (University of Copenhagen), and Stephen Steen (NationWide Laboratories) using growth on cetrimide agar, the oxidase test and 16s ribosomal RNA (rRNA) amplification (Table 8.1).

In addition to clinical isolates four sublines of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 were included in this study. *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB (PAO1-QUB) previously existed within the lab group and originates from Queens University Belfast. The other sublines used in the present study were selected as they have been previously characterised and sequenced. *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 subline Lausanne (PAO1-L) originally from the Dieter Haas laboratory, Washington (PAO1-UW), maintained at the University of Washington, and the University of Nottingham (PAO1-N).

3.2.2 Antimicrobial sensitivity testing

3.2.2.1 Selection of antimicrobials

Antibiotics were selected based on clinical relevance for the treatment of dogs with *P. aeruginosa* infections seen in the veterinary practice (Morris, 2004; Nuttall & Cole, 2007). This was established using CLSI Vet (CLSI, 2018), presence in the literature (Arais et al., 2016; Dégi et al., 2021; Mekić, Matanović & Šeol, 2011) and personal communication with Dr Stephen Shaw.

3.2.2.2 Clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates show varied antibiotic resistance

P. aeruginosa canine otitis isolates were tested for resistance to 14 antibiotics representing 6 different classes (Table 2.2). One strain, 29130, failed to grow under the tested conditions and was excluded from this assay. The greatest level of resistance was recorded for Enrofloxacin (25.4%; 64/252) while Tobramycin showed the highest sensitivity (99.6%; 251/252). Intermediate resistance was mainly seen against Ticarcillin + Clavulanic acid (60.7%; 127/252 of strains tested) (Figure 3.1). Importantly, 8.3% (21/252) and 0.79% (2/252) of isolates were resistant to imipenem and meropenem respectively.


Figure 3.1 Percentage of isolates susceptibility to 14 antibiotics.

Antimicrobial susceptibility of 252 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis extra was determined using the disc diffusion method as described by the Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute. Red bars indicate resistance, purple intermediate resistance and green sensitive.

Of the 252 isolates tested, 65% (164/252) of the isolates were susceptible to all of the tested antibiotics. The remaining 35% (88/252) were resistant to at least one antibiotic. Moreover, 1.6% (4/252) were classified as multidrug resistant (Figure 3.2), multidrug resistance was determined by resistance to three or more antibiotic classes as previously described (Sweeney et al., 2018).



Figure 3.2 Percentage of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine otitis extra resistant to multiple antibiotics.

Bar chart identifying the percentage of isolates resistant to a different number of antibiotics as determined by the disc diffusion method. Multidrug resistance is reported for resistance to three or more classes, strains found to meet this criterion are noted in red.

The relationship between resistance and origin of isolation was investigated by comparing the number of antibiotics strains from the UK and EU were resistant to using a Mann-Whitney U test. Strains for which the source of isolation was unknown were excluded. Due to Ticarcillin + Clavulanic acid being discontinued part way though this work, several European isolates were not tested with this antibiotic and so it was also removed from the test. This resulted in 88 isolates from the UK and 103 isolates from the EU with a mean number of resistances per isolate being 0.52 and 0.95 respectively; the distributions of these two groups differed significantly (p=0.0164).

To further investigate this, Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed based on the size of the zone of clearing for each antibiotic. The results for Ticarcillin + Clavulanic acid was excluded as PCA does not allow missing values. The results shown in Figure 3.3 show two components which account for 60.1% of the variation of the original data. Principal component 1 explaining 40.9% of the total variation separates isolates based on their sensitivity to all antibiotics - isolates with the largest zones of clearing and therefore the most sensitive migrate to the left of the graph. The UK isolates cluster more towards the left-hand side of the graph suggesting they are more susceptible to all antibiotics. The loadings for each antibiotic across both principal components range from 0.45 to -0.30 indicating that a lot of antibiotics played a role in separating the samples rather than just one or two. Similarly, there are no clusters from a particular location for any individual antibiotic.



Figure 3.3 Principal component analysis of antimicrobial sensitivity data.

Principal component analysis was performed using AST data for UK (n=88) and EU (n=103) isolates. The first and second principal components explain 40.9% and 19.2% of the total variation respectively.

3.2.2.3 Presence of antimicrobial resistance genes

The genomes of clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE were screened for the presence of antimicrobial resistance genes using the CARD database (§0).



Figure 3.4 Presence and absence of antimicrobial resistance genes.

A selection of 35/253 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa were selected for whole genome sequencing. The genomes were subsequently screened for the presence of antimicrobial resistance genes using the CARD database.

The results shown in Figure 3.4 are interesting as they show that the presence of resistance genes is largely the same across the isolates despite having variable phenotypic susceptibility. The main exceptions being *mexM* and *mexN* being absent from *P. aeruginosa* 26491 and *aadA7* plus *sul1* being present in *P. aeruginosa* 25181. A summary of the genes identified can be found in Table 3.1.

Product	Gene(s)	Resistance
	and	
	prevalence	
	(%)	
aminoglycoside 3'-	aph	Chromosomal aminoglycoside
phosphotransferase	(100%)	phosphotransferase that provides
type IIb (APH(3')-		resistance to kanamycin A and B,
IIb)		neomycin B and C, butirosin and
		seldomycin F5 (Hächler, Santanam
		& Kayser, 1996).
MexAB-OprM	mexA	MexAB-OprM is a constitutively
	(100%),	expressed efflux pump providing
	mexB	intrinsic resistance (Aeschlimann,
	(100%),	2003).
	oprM	
	(100%),	
	armR	
	(100%),	
	cpxR	
	(100%)	
MexCD-OprJ	mexC	MexCD-OprJ mutations that give
	(100%),	rise to overexpression can result in
	mexD	resistance to several classes of
	(100%),	antibiotics (Jeannot et al., 2008).
	oprJ	
	(100%)	
MexEF-OprN	mexE	Generally inactive under normal
	(100%),	conditions, can cause resistance
	mexF	when overexpressed (Köhler et al.,
	(100%),	1997).
	OprN	
	(100%)	Muy ABC Opp a contributed to the
MuxAbC-Opilib	(100%)	MuxABC-OpinB contributes to the
	(100%),	mutations resulting in
	(100%)	inutations resulting in
	(100%),	resistance phonotype (Mima et al
	(100%)	2000
	(10070),	2007):
	(100%)	
TriABC-OpmH	(10070) triA	TriABC-OpmH another efflux
in De opini	(100%)	pump seems to only provide
	(10070), triB	resistance to triclosan when
	(100%)	overexpressed due to mutations
	triC	(Mima et al., 2007).
	(100%)	(
	opmH	
	(100%)	
MexGHI-OpmD	mexG	The efflux pump MexGHI-OmpD
opinio	(100%).	has been shown to confer resistance
	mexH	to some antibiotics but also appears
	(100%).	to be important for quorum sensing
	mexI	(Aendekerk et al., 2005).
	(100%),	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

(100%), sork (100%).Similarly, MexJK seems to be primarily involved in quorum sensing and not antimicrobial resistance (Amieva et al., 2022).MexJKmexJ (100%).MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%). oprMMexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%).MexVW-OprMmexQ (100%).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%).MexVV-OprMmexQ (100%).MexVV-OprMmexQ (100%).MexVV-OprMmexV (100%).MexVV-OprMmexV (100%).MexVV-OprMmexV (100%).MexXY-OprMmexV (100%).MexXY-OprMmexV (100%).MexXY-OprMmexV (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMfilux pump, overexpression oprM (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprMmexA (100%).MexXY-OprMmexA (100%).MexY-OprMphenotype (Aires et al., 1999). </th <th></th> <th>opmD</th> <th></th>		opmD	
Sork (100%)Similarly, MexJK seems to be primarily involved in quorum sensing and not antimicrobial resistance (Amieva et al., 2022). mexL (100%)MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), oprMMultidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), (100%), opmE (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), mexVSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wid type P. aeruginosa is silent or weak but overexpression results in oprM (100%), mexYMexXY-OprMmexX (100%), (100%), mexYMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), important for intrinis resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance (100%), phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%) (100%)PmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%) (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides but also ethicium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArmAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which <br< td=""><td></td><td>(100%).</td><td></td></br<>		(100%).	
MexJKmexJ (100%). (100%). mexK (100%). mexL (100%).Similarly, MexJK seems to be primarily involved in quorum mexn sensing and not antimicrobial resistance (Amieva et al., 2022).MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), mexNMultidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%).Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%).Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM (100%).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%).Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in mexW wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or (100%).MexXY-OprMmexV (100%).MexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%).MexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to antinoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression (100%).PmpMpmpM (100%).PmpM is a H ⁻ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%).Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%).Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimic		soxR	
MexJK mexJ (100%). mexK (100%). mexL (100%) Similarly, MexJK seems to be primarily involved in quorum sensing and not antimicrobial resistance (Amieva et al., 2022). MexMN-OprM mexM (97.14%), oprM (100%) Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005). MexPQ-OpmE mexP (100%), mexQ Multidrug efflux pumped expressed (100%), mexQ MexVW-OprM mexV (100%), mexV Siinalty or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005). MexVW-OprM mexV (100%), oprM (100%), oprM Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or (100%), oprM MexXY-OprM mexX (100%), oprM MexXY-OprM efflux pump, (100%), oprM MexXY-OprM mexX (100%), oprM MexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), oprM MexXY-OprM mexX (100%) MexXY-OprM efflux pump, other efflux pump, overexpression other efflux pump, overexpression (2004). CatB7 catB7 (100%) Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 2004). CatB7 catB7 (100%) Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetiflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003). AmA arnA (100%) Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to catinorig		(100%)	
(100%). mexK (100%), mexL (100%)primarily involved in quorum sensing and not antimicrobial resistance (Amieva et al., 2022).MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), oprMMultidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%),Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or weak but overexpression results in oprM resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to mamioglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance (100%)MexXY-OprMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H* drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol actifuransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol actifurine (Li, Poole & Nikiado, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- dexy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	MexJK	mexJ	Similarly, MexJK seems to be
mexK (100%), mexL (100%)sensing and not antimicrobial resistance (Amieva et al., 2022).MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), mexN 		(100%).	primarily involved in quorum
(100%), mexL (100%)resistance (Amieva et al., 2022).MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), mexN (97.14%), mexN (97.14%), mexN (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), mexW (100%), mexW (100%), mexXSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in weak but overexpression results in oprM resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump, expression resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase to cationic antinicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		mexK	sensing and not antimicrobial
mexL (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed (97.14%), <i>oprM</i> (97.14%), <i>oprM</i> (97.14%), <i>oprM</i> (97.14%), <i>oprM</i> (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed (silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed (silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expression of MexVW-OprM in mexV (100%), weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression oprM leads to a greater resistance to arbitotics (Li et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%),	resistance (Amieva et al., 2022).
(100%)MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), oprM (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a (100%), mexQ (100%)MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a (100%), resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), mexWSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in mexW (100%), weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), (100%), oprM (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression oprM leads to a greater resistance (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%) (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- dexy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		mexL	
MexMN-OprMmexM (97.14%), mexN (97.14%), oprM (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%), (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), (100%), mexW (100%), mexVSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or wild type P. aeruginosa).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexXMexXY-OprM efflux pumps, oprM (100%), important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%)phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)Phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)CatB7Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	
(97.14%), mexN oprM (100%)silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%), opmE (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), mexW (100%), mexW (100%),Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or (100%), antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), oprM (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to a greater resistance (100%)PmpMpmpM pmpMPmpM is a H [*] drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides at acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to actionic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	MexMN-OprM	mexM	Multidrug efflux pumped expressed
mexN (97.14%), oprM (100%)P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%), opmE (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), oprM (100%), mexWSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexX (100%), mexX (100%), mexX (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexX (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), prnMPmpM is a H' drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H' drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%) (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to actonic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(97.14%),	silently or in low levels in wild type
(97.14%), oprM (100%)resistance expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQ (100%), (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), (100%), mexW (100%), oprMSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), mexY (100%), phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%) phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%) acetyltransferase (White et al., 2004).CatB7 catB7 (100%)catB7 constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%) ArnAModifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to acimic antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gazeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		mexN	<i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a
oprM (100%)expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), opmE (100%), (100%),Multidrug efflux pumped expressed silently or in low levels in wild type P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), (100%), (100%), mexWSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), oprM (100%), mexY (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%), oprMPmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gazeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(97.14%),	resistance phenotype when
MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%)Multidrug efflux pumped expressed (100%), resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%)Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in mexW (100%), mexWSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in mexW wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or (100%), mexW (100%), mexXSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in mexW wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or (100%), mexXMexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexX (100%), mexX (100%), important for intrinsic resistance to mexY aminoglycosides. Similar to the (100%), oprM (100%), phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%) phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%) acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).CatB7catB7 (100%) (100%) acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%) (100%) acetyltransferase (Chite et al., 2003).ArnAarnA (100%) acetyltransferase to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%) atibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		oprM	expressed (Mima et al., 2005).
MexPQ-OpmEmexP (100%), mexQMultidrug efflux pumped expressed (100%), resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), (100%), mexWSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or (100%), mexWMexVY-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), (100%), mexXSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or (100%) antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), (100%), mexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression oprM leads to a greater resistance (100%), phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- (100%) deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	
(100%), mexQsilently or in low levels in wild type <i>mexQ</i> (100%), opmE (100%) <i>P. aeruginosa</i> but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), mexWSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type <i>P. aeruginosa</i> is silent or (100%), antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexYMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), mexYMexXY-OprMmexX (100%), (100%), mexYMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression penotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM pmpM is a H+ drug antiporter (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- (6oxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	MexPQ-OpmE	mexP	Multidrug efflux pumped expressed
mexQ opmE (100%), opmE (100%)P. aeruginosa but provides a resistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), mexW (100%), oprM (100%), oprMSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), oprM (100%), mexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%) oprM (100%)PmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%),	silently or in low levels in wild type
Image: New ProblemPresistance phenotype when expressed (Mima et al., 2005).MexVW-OprMmexVSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or (100%), oprMmexWwild type P. aeruginosa is silent or (100%), oprMmexXYMexXY-OprMmexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), important for intrinsic resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the (100%), oprMPmpMpmpMPmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7Chromosomal chloramphenicol (100%)EmrEemrEConstitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnAModifies lipid A with 4-amino-4-deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		mexQ	P. aeruginosa but provides a
OpmE (100%)expressed (Minia et al., 2003).MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), oprM (100%)Similar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), oprM (100%), mexY (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM pmpMPmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%) (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%),	resistance phenotype when
MexVW-OprMmexV (100%), (100%), oprM (100%), oprMSimilar to the other efflux pumps, expression of MexVW-OprM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silent or (100%), oprM important for intrinsic resistance to antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), oprM (100%), oprM (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%) oprM (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		OPTE	expressed (Mima et al., 2005).
Mex v w-OptMIntex v (100%), mexWSimilar to the oner enux pumps, expression of Mex VW-OprM intex weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), (100%), mexY (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7 (100%)Chromosomal acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnA <td>MoxVW OprM</td> <td>(100%)</td> <td>Similar to the other offlux numps</td>	MoxVW OprM	(100%)	Similar to the other offlux numps
Image (100%), mexWExpression of Mex W-opfM in wild type P. aeruginosa is silen or (100%), mexX weak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexY (100%), oprM (100%), oprMMexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpMpmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)	Mex v w-Opim	(100%)	expression of MexVW-OprM in
InterverWith type 1. derugtmost is shell of (100%), oprMinterver(100%), oprMweak but overexpression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexXMexXY-OprM efflux pump (100%), oprM(100%), (100%)important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)CatB7catB7 (100%)EmrEemrE (100%)CatB7Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)March (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%), merW	wild type <i>P</i> aeruginosa is silent or
oprM (100%)weak bit overspression results in resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX 		(100%)	what type 1: deruginosa is shell of weak but overexpression results in
OptimizeOptimize(100%)antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexY (100%), 		oprM	resistance to multiple classes of
MexXY-OprMmexX (100%), mexY (100%), oprM (100%), oprM (100%)MexXY-OprM efflux pump important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance (100%)PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	antibiotics (Li et al., 2003).
Initial of partInitial of part(100%), mexY (100%), oprM (100%)important for intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpMPmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)EmrEemrE (100%)EmrEemrE (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)	MexXY-OprM	mexX	MexXY-OprM efflux pump
mexY (100%), oprM (100%)aminoglycosides. Similar to the other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%).	important for intrinsic resistance to
(100%), oprM (100%)other efflux pumps, overexpression leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		mexY	aminoglycosides. Similar to the
oprM (100%)leads to a greater resistance phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM (100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%),	other efflux pumps, overexpression
(100%)phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).PmpMpmpM(100%)PmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7(100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnAArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		oprM	leads to a greater resistance
PmpMpmpMPmpM is a H+ drug antiporter providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrEConstitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	phenotype (Aires et al., 1999).
(100%)providing resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (He et al., 2004).CatB7catB7Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrEConstitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	PmpM	pmpM	PmpM is a H ⁺ drug antiporter
CatB7catB7Chromosomal acetyltransferase (100%)Chromosomal acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	providing resistance to multiple
CatB7catB7 (100%)Chromosomal chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrE (100%)Constitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			classes of antibiotics (He et al.,
CatB7catB7Chromosomal acetyltransferasechloramphenicol acetyltransferaseEmrEemrEConstitutively (100%)expressedefflux transporterEmrEemrEConstitutively (100%)constitutively transporterexpressedefflux transporterArnAarnAModifies (100%)Modifies lipid Awith 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinoseAra4N) which providesArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid Awith 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinoseand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid Awith 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinoseand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid Awith 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinoseand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid Awith 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinoseand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid Awith 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinoseand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Ara4N)with Aand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Ara4Nwith Aand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)Ara4Nwith Aand antibioticsArnAarnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnA (100%)ArnAarnA (100%)			2004).
(100%)acetyltransferase (White et al., 1999).EmrEemrEConstitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	CatB7	catB7	Chromosomal chloramphenicol
EmrEemrEConstitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	acetyltransferase (White et al.,
EmrEemrEConstitutively expressed efflux transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			1999).
(100%)transporter that provides intrinsic resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	EmrE	emrE	Constitutively expressed efflux
resistance to aminoglycosides but also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	transporter that provides intrinsic
also ethidium bromide and acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido, 2003).ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			resistance to aminoglycosides but
ArnAarnA (100%)Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			also ethidium bromide and
ArnAarnAModifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- (100%)(100%)deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			acriflavine (Li, Poole & Nikaido,
AnnA (100%) Modifies lipid A with 4-amino-4- (100%) deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	Δ		2003). Modified linid A mith 4 miles 4
(100%) deoxy-L-arabinose (Ara4N) which provides resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)	AmA	(100%)	dooyy L probinges (Are(N)) which
antimicrobial peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)		(100%)	provides resistance to estimic
antihicrobian peptides and antibiotics such as polymyxin (Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			antimicrobial pentides and
(Gatzeva-Topalova, May & Sousa, 2005)			antihiotics such as polymyrin
(Oatzeva-Topalova, Way & Sousa,)			(Gatzeva Topalova May & Sousa
			(3005)

BasS	basS	
Dor 1	(100%)	Transmombrana protain that
DCI-I	(100%)	removes histolomusin from the call
	(100%)	removes bicyclomyclin from the cell (Earganes et al. 2015)
	C A	(Fonseca et al., 2015).
FosA	fosA	Metalloglutathione transferase
	(100%)	which inactivates Fostomycin
		(Beharry & Palzkill, 2005).
CrpP	crpP	Phosphotransferase with unknown
	(65./1%)	function, first thought to confer
		resistance to ciprofloxacin (Chávez-
		Jacobo et al., 2018) but later
		disproven (Zubyk & Wright, 2021).
OXA-486, OXA-	40%,	OXA-50 is a constitutively
488, OXA-50	17.14%,	expressed oxacillinase gene that
	40%	provides resistance to ampicillin,
		ticarcillin and other β -lactams
		(Girlich, Naas & Nordmann, 2004).
PDC-1, PDC-2,	5.71%,	Chromosomal AmpC variations
PDC-3, PDC-5,	5.71%,	identified by (Rodríguez-Martínez,
PDC-7, PDC-8,	51.43%,	Poirel & Nordmann, 2009).
PDC-9, PDC-10	11.43,	
	2.86%,	
	5.71%,	
	2.86%,	
	14.29%	
aadA7	2.68%	Aminoglycoside
		nucleotidyltransferase that confers
		resistance to gentamicin and
		sisomicin (Ahmed et al., 2004).
MexXY-OprA	mexX	Some P. aeruginosa contain oprA
_	(100%),	which can form a complex with
	mexY	MexXY providing more resistances
	(100%),	(Singh et al., 2020).
	oprA	
	(11.43%)	
Sul1	2.86%	Sulfonamide resistant
		dihydropteroate synthase
		(Domínguez et al., 2019).

Table 3.1 Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance genes and a summary of their function.

A selection *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa were selected for whole genome sequencing. The genomes were subsequently screened for the presence of antimicrobial resistance genes using the CARD database. Above shows a summary of the findings including the prevalence (%) of each gene.

rain	ŕA	rB	rC	rE	sAI	L	A	p	Y		þ
Sti	82	82	pa	pa	snf	En	Le	Ci	Ąŀ	Cr	\mathbf{T}_{0}
80664	T83I, S912_E 913del, A916T				I186V	R	Ι	S	S	S	S
87895	T83I, S912_E 913del		S87L, H262Q		1186V, Q678L	R	R	R	S	S	S
88812	Т83I, D87H		S87L, E91K		A595V, M648V	R	R	R	R	R	S
484919	T83I, S912_E 913del	T235S, E239Q, L268I, I529V, A627V	S331T, I388V, A528T	D533E		R	R	R	S	Ι	S
488958	T83I, S912_E 913del	T235S, E239Q, L268I, I529V, A627V	\$331T, 1388V, A528T	D533E	T671A	R	R	R	R	R	R
489267	T83I, S912_E 913del	T235S, E239Q, L268I, S466F, I529V, A627V	S87L, S331T, I388V, A528T	D533E		R	R	R	S	S	S
490614	D87N, S912_E 913del	T235S, E239Q, L268I, I529V, A627V	I388V, A528T, P752A	D533E		R	Ι	S	S	S	S
29582	1380L		D754N	H50Y, I57V		R	Ι	S	S	S	S
2943	D652Y	S466F				R	R	R	S	S	S
29758	D652Y	S466F				R	R	R	S	S	S

3.2.2.4 Identifying mutations in DNA Gyrase, DNA Topoisomerase and *fusA1* genes

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1		1	1						
29878-1	D652Y	S466F			M1_R1 37del, I138M, V139F, Y140P, V141I, N142L	R	Ι	S	S	S	S
29878-2	D652Y	S466F				R	R	Ι	S	S	S
490051	E783D		H262Q			S	S	S	S	S	S
488402	T847A, S912_E 913del					Ι	S	S	S	S	S
25181	S912_E 913del			D533E		S	S	S	S	S	S
26491	S912_E 913del			D533E		R	Ι	S	S	S	S
88693	S912_E 913del		V646L			S	S	S	S	S	S
467896	S912_E 913del					S	S	S	S	S	S
485101	S912_E 913del		G634S	D533E		Ι	S	S	S	S	S
488613	S912_E 913del			A473V, D533E		Ι	S	S	S	S	S

490137	S912_E 913del		A473V, D533E	Ι	S	S	S	S	S
484098		V238I	D533E	S	S	S	S	S	S
488427		H262Q		S	S	S	S	S	S
85505		V646L	D533E	Ι	S	S	S	S	S
26820-3		V646L		S	S	S	S	Ι	S
80715			D533E	Ι	S	S	S	S	S
27827-1			D533E	Ι	S	S	S	S	S
84269				R	Ι	S	S	S	S
83240				Ι	Ι	S	S	S	S
80632				Ι	S	S	S	S	S
463027				S	S	S	S	S	S
464429				S	S	S	S	S	S

		S	S	S	S	S	S
		Ι	S	S	S	S	S
				Image: Second	Image: Second	Image: second	Image: Second state of the second s

Table 3.2 Amino acid substitutions and deletions of gyrA, gyrB, parC, parE and fusA1.

The amino acid sequences of five genes were extracted from the genome sequences of 35 *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine otitis externa using a custom python script (§8.1.2). The amino acid sequence of each gene was compared to PAO1 by alignment using MEGA and compared to the resistance profile from the disc diffusion assay. Amino acids are reported using standard single letter abbreviations. Enr – Enrofloxacin, Lev – Levofloxacin, Cip – Ciprofloxacin, Ak – Amikacin, Cn – Gentamicin, Tob – Tobramycin, R – Resistant, I – Intermediate, S – Susceptible.

Development of resistance through the acquisition of mutations is one of the main drivers of resistance in *P. aeruginosa* (López-Causapé et al., 2018). In order to get a better understanding of the resistance patterns observed in the clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates, and given the high proportion of resistance to fluoroquinolones the amino acid sequence of *gyrA*, *gyrB*, *parC* and *parE* was investigated for quinolone resistancedetermining region (QRDR) mutations and compared to *P. aeruginosa* PAO1. The same was then performed for *fusA1* to explain aminoglycoside resistance.

QRDR mutations were identified in almost all of the isolates that were resistant to at least one fluroquinolone antibiotic with the exception of 84269 that was resistant to enrofloxacin but did not contain a QRDR mutation. However, QRDR mutations were also identified in isolates susceptible to all of the investigated fluoroquinolones suggesting these mutations do not play a role in resistance. An example of this is V646L in *parC*, despite having a moderate prevalence 11.4% (4/35), all of the isolates in which this mutation was seen were sensitive to all of the tested fluroquinolones.

Looking at genes individually, *gyrA* was the most likely to have a mutation with 65.7% (23/35) of the sequenced *P. aeruginosa* having at least one mutation. Interestingly, in 40% (14/35) of the sequenced strains studied a deletion was identified (S912_E913del). The mutation T83I was the most common amongst strains resistant to at least one fluroquinolone. S466F, S87L/S331T and D533E were the most common mutations for *gyrB*, *parC*, *parE* respectively.

As for *fusA1*, fewer mutations were seen overall with only 11.4% (4/35) of the sequenced isolates containing a mutation in this gene, of these, two showed resistance to at least one of the tested aminoglycosides. Strain 488958, which was resistant to all of the tested aminoglycosides, contained T671A. Similarly, 88812 was resistant to amikacin and gentamicin and contained A595V and M648V.

3.2.2.5 PAO1 sublines show different resistance profiles

The antibiotic resistance patterns of four *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines was investigated as described above. PAO1-QUB and *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-L (PAO1-L) were sensitive to all the tested antibiotics, while *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-N (PAO1-N) was resistant to imipenem and meropenem and *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-UW (PAO1-UW) was resistant to imipenem and enrofloxacin and showed intermediate resistance to levofloxacin (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5 Antimicrobial susceptibility of P. aeruginosa PAO1 sublines.

Shown are the susceptibility patterns of three common lab sublines *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-L, PAO1-N and PAO1-UW, in addition to *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB to 13 antibiotics using the disc diffusion method. Red indicates resistance, purple intermediate resistance and green sensitive as described by the CLSI.

3.2.3 Biofilm-forming ability of *P. aeruginosa* isolates

Clinical isolates of *P. aeruginosa* were tested for their ability to form a biofilm *in vitro* (§1.1). In total, 82% (207/253) of strains produced strong levels of biofilm, 9% (23/253) produced moderate biofilm, 5% (13/253) produced weak biofilm and 4% (10/253) made no quantifiable biofilm under the tested conditions (Figure 3.6; Figure 8.2). Additionally, each strain as was compared to PAO1-QUB. Strain 29051 produced the most biofilm followed by 464009(1) which produced 181% and 173% more biofilm on average than PAO1 respectively.



Figure 3.6 Biofilm formation of *P. aeruginosa* from canine otitis externa.

The biofilm forming ability of 253 *P. aeruginosa* strains was tested in a crystal violet, 96 well plate assay, a representative subset of 35, which were selected for whole genome sequencing, are shown here. Green – Strong biofilm producing - Purple – Moderate biofilm producing - Orange – Weak biofilm producing - Red – No quantifiable biofilm. The values here are from three biological and six technical repeats represented by the mean with 95% confidence interval.

3.2.3.1 Comparison of biofilm formation of PAO1 sublines

The *in vitro* biofilm forming ability of different *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines was assessed as described above (Figure 3.7). All of the isolates were strong biofilm formers. Each strain produced a similar amount of biofilm under the tested conditions however a one-way Welch's ANOVA test revealed a statistically significant difference in biofilm formation (p<0.0001). Dunnett's T3 multiple comparisons test found that all the groups were statistically significantly different (Figure 8.3).



Figure 3.7 Comparison of biofilm formation between P. aeruginosa sublines.

The ability of three common *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines, PAO1-L originally from the Dieter Haas laboratory, PAO1-UW, maintained at the University of Washington, and PAO1-N from the University of Nottingham to form biofilm in vitro was compared using a 96 well microtiter plate assay to PAO1-QUB from the present study. Green – Strong biofilm producing. Three biological repeats with 24 technical repeats are represented by the mean with 95% confidence interval.

3.2.3.2 Congo Red agar

Congo red in combination with Coomassie blue was used to complement the biofilm

work done in section §3.2.3 with surface associated biofilm production. Tryptone agar

containing Congo red and Coomassie blue dyes was inoculated with an overnight

tryptone broth culture of *P. aeruginosa* and visualised after 120 h (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8 *P. aeruginosa* colony morphology in the presence of Congo red and Coomassie blue dyes.

Overnight cultures grown in tryptone broth were spotted onto agar plates containing Congo red and Coomassie blue and imaged after incubation at 25° C for 120 h. A subset of strains were separated based on morphology. Isolates that resembled *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB are shown in the top row, while the second row shows isolates that appeared similar to isolate 29051 which produced the most biofilm in the crystal violet assay. The third row shows a selection of isolates that produced no quantifiable biofilm in the crystal violet assay in addition to a selection of isolates grouped based on their "red" appearance. Finally, the bottom row shows a selection of isolates that produced varying morphologies in comparison to the other groups. Above each image is the OD₅₉₅ of that isolate from the crystal violet assay. Images shown are representative of three biological repeats.

A subset of isolates were grouped based morphology in the Congo red assay. Despite these groups having a similar appearance on Congo red agar, when the amount of biofilm they produced in the crystal violet assay was assessed it highlighted there is still variation. There were also some isolates that were not able to be grouped as there is such a large amount of variation in the assay. Interestingly, the non-biofilm forming group also had varied morphologies suggesting that something other than Pel and Psl is impacting their ability to form biofilm.

3.2.3.3 Comparison of PAO1 sublines colony morphology

To further compare biofilm formation between different PAO1 lab strains, colony morphology on agar containing Congo red and Coomassie blue was assessed as done above. There was no difference in the appearance of colony morphology between the strains.



Figure 3.9 Comparison of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines on agar containing Congo red and Coomassie blue dyes.

Overnight cultures of three *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines, PAO1-N, PAO1-L and PAO1-UW in addition to PAO1-QUB were grown in tryptone broth and spotted onto agar plates containing Congo red and Coomassie blue and imaged after 120 h at 25° C. Above each image is the OD₅₉₅ of that isolate from the crystal violet assay. Images shown are representative of three biological repeats.

3.2.3.4 Detection of biofilm associated genes

To further understand the differences between levels of biofilm formation, the genomes of 35 *P. aeruginosa* isolates were screened for the presence of 53 genes known to be associated with biofilm formation (\$2.22.4). This identified that 97% (34/35) of the isolates contained all the screened genes with the exception of 464429 which did not contain *pslABCD* (Figure 3.10). Additionally, with the exception of *algP*, all of the genes were highly conserved when compared to PAO1.



Figure 3.10 Percentage coverage of the nucleotide sequence of 53 genes associated with biofilm formation.

Heatmap displaying percentage coverage of the genomes of 35 *P. aeruginosa* canine OE isolates to 53 genes from PAO1 that are associated with biofilm formation. Additionally, the level of biofilm produced in a crystal violet microtiter plate assay is shown Green – Strong biofilm producing - Purple – Moderate biofilm producing - Orange – Weak biofilm producing - Red – No quantifiable biofilm.

3.2.4 Swarming motility

To determine the prevalence of swarming motility among *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from canine otitis externa, the isolates were tested for their ability to swarm (§2.8). Agar plates containing 0.5% agar select were inoculated with overnight cultures of *P. aeruginosa* (§2.1.2.8) and the distance travelled in addition to comparison to PAO1-QUB was measured (Figure 3.11), this identified that 71% (179/253) were positive for swarming motility. PAO1 consistently travelled to the edge of the agar plate, 16% (41/253) of the isolates showed a similar swarming ability. Of the 205 isolates that produced strong levels of biofilm, 72% (147/205) were also tested positive for swarming. Additionally, Strain 29051, the highest biofilm former, was swarming negative.



Figure 3.11 Examples of *P. aeruginosa* swarming motility.

Overnight cultures grown in LB were spotted onto swarming motility agar and incubated at 37° C for 16 h before imaging. Above shows selection of *P. aeruginosa* clinical canine otitis externa isolates with varying levels of swarming motility. A-C shows strains PAO1, 83240 and C3524. D shows strain 29775 which is swarming negative under the tested conditions. Images shown are representative of three biological repeats.

3.2.4.1 Relationship Between Swarming Motility and Biofilm Formation

The relationship between biofilm and swarming motility was investigated (Figure 3.12) using a Mann-Whitney U test and found there was no significant difference (p=0.52) between the populations when testing the biofilm formation of non-swarmers (n=74) with swarmers (n=179).



Figure 3.12 Relationship between biofilm formation and swarming motility.

A scatter plot showing the relationship between absorbance in a crystal violet biofilm assay and distance travelled in a swarming motility assay for 253 clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine otitis externa. Results from the biofilm assay are indicated on the graph - Green – Strong biofilm producing - Purple – Moderate biofilm producing - Orange – Weak biofilm producing - Red – No quantifiable biofilm. Swarming motility was measured in cm.

3.2.4.2 Comparing Swarming Motility Between PAO1 Sublines

The swarming motility assay was performed as described above using PAO1 sublines (Figure 3.13). Interestingly, differences in the morphologies of the different sublines were identified. *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB and PAO1-L both consistently swarmed to the edge of the plate while PAO1-UW and PAO1-N displayed different swarming patterns in comparison and a reduction in distance travelled.





Overnight cultures grown in LB were spotted onto swarming motility agar and incubated for 16 h at 37° C before images were taken. Above shows the results of three different PAO1 sublines and PAO1-QUB. Images shown are representative of three biological repeats.

3.2.5 Cluster analysis

In order to aid in the selection of isolates for whole genome sequencing, hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using results from crystal violet biofilm and swarming motility assays, the total number of resistances to the tested antibiotics, predation by *B. bacteriovorus* on YPSC agar and in YPSC broth and finally bacteriophage host range (§2.24.2). From the dendrogram, four distinct clusters were identified coloured yellow (Cluster A), green (Cluster B), red (Cluster C) and purple (Cluster D). This indicates that these isolates have separated based on results from the different assays (Figure 3.14).

Further analysis (Figure 8.4) identified that Cluster A contained isolates that were susceptible to *Bdellovibrio* in liquid predation, whereas isolates susceptible to *Bdellovibrio* on double layer agar were found in all clusters but primarily in cluster A and B. Cluster C contained only strains that swarmed a long distance while Cluster D contained non and lower distance swarmers. Finally, Cluster B contained strains that were susceptible to the broadest range bacteriophage (§4.2.2.2). Notably, this cluster also contained the strains resistant to the most antibiotics. Interestingly, biofilm formation did not seem to impact clustering with the mean biofilm formation remaining the same across the clusters.



Figure 3.14 Hierarchical clustering of clinical P. aeruginosa isolates.

Dendrogram from hierarchical clustering using clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine otitis externa with Euclidean distance with Ward linkage. Isolates selected for sequencing are highlighted in red.

3.2.6 Bioinformatic analysis

A total of 35 clinical isolates were selected for whole genome sequencing based on cluster analysis described above (§3.2.5) or as part of a separate project. The seven additional genomes were 464429, 467523, 488402, 2943, 29758, 29878-1, 29878-2.

3.2.6.1 Genome assembly

Prior to assembly the quality of the reads were assessed using FastQC, and subsequently adaptor sequences and low-quality score bases were trimmed using FastP (§2.21.1). Genome assembly was initially performed using Flye and Circlator, genomes were assessed using Bandage. Subsequently polishing with Medaka, Polypolish and POLCA was performed. Following assembly, the genomes were reoriented to *dnaA* and MLST was performed *in silico* (§2.21.1). A summary of the findings is shown in Table 3.3. Interestingly, strain 484919 and 488958 originally assembled into one contig using Flye, however, upon investigation of the Unicycler assembly, each was found to be missing a small plasmid which was subsequently added to the genome.

Strain	Sequence	Number of GC (%)		Genome
	type (ST)	contigs		Length (bp)
2943	Unknown	1	66.42	6,503,316
25181	253	2	65.42	7,421,260
26491	Unknown	2	66.24	6,771,923
26820-3	1437	2	66.46	6,325,486
27827-1	1284	2	66.21	6,612,504
29582	1527	1	66.53	6,309,761
29758	Unknown	1	66.43	6,499,987
29878-1	Unknown	1	66.42	6,503,340
29878-2	Unknown	1	66.42	6,503,319
80632	471	1	66.43	6,380,312
80664	Unknown	3	66.39	6,453,488
80715	1248	1	66.27	6,624,527
83240	Unknown	2	65.78	6,918,464
84269	Unknown	1	66.04	6,906,640
85505	1228	1	66.34	6,426,992
87895	3514	1	65.80	7,118,680
88693	Unknown	1	66.11	6,785,458
88812	Unknown	2	66.32	6,597,535
463027	267	1	66.23	6,558,666
464429	111	7	66.03	6,629,067
467523	3014	1	66.50	6,376,100
467896	2451	1	66.36	6,458,191
480630	569	1	66.43	6,389,087
484098	815	1	66.11	6,846,060
484919	705	2	66.37	6,374,283
485101	2961	1	65.84	6,980,998
488402	557	1	66.42	6,337,671
488427	381	1	65.87	7,012,748
488613	Unknown	4	65.95	6,997,611
488958	705	2	66.36	6,330,233
489267	Unknown	2	66.22	6,541,895
490051	381	5	65.99	6,915,769
490137	1720	1	66.27	6,509,478
490614	3690	2	66.35	6,342,491
C5752-1	267	1	66.37	6,408,360

Table 3.3 Summary of the genome features of 35 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa.

Whole genome sequencing of 35 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine otitis externa. Above is a table showing genome length and GC content for each isolate in addition to the number of contigs comprising each assembly and the sequence type of each strain. Assembled using Flye followed by polishing with Medaka, Polypolish and POLCA.

MLST analysis identified 28 unique sequence types (STs) among the 35 isolates, with 8 of these belonging to unknown STs. *P. aeruginosa* 2943, 29758, 29878-1 and 29878-2 belonged to the same unknown ST while 463027 and C5752-1 belonged to ST 267, 484919 and 488958 belonged to ST 705 and 488427 and 490051 belonged to ST 381. The remaining isolates all belonged to unique STs, indicating a large degree of diversity among the isolates.

3.2.6.2 Identification and analysis of plasmids

Analysis of Bandage results highlighted the presence of secondary circular contigs in some of the assemblies, this indicated a high likelihood of plasmids (Figure 3.15).



Figure 3.15 Bandage output of an assembly graph from Flye.

Bandage output of the assembly graph produced using Flye for *P. aeruginosa* 88812. The small secondary circular contig is typical of a plasmid.

Plasmid sequences were assembled using Plassembler and - similarly to genome sequences where a circular contig was produced - were aligned to the *repA* gene using Dnaapler (§2.22.3).

A summary of the results can be seen in Table 3.4

<i>Pseudomonas</i> strain isolates from	Plasmid name	Circular (Y/N)	Plasmid Length (bp)
25181	p25181	Y	353,950
27827-1	p278271	Y	15,017
80664	p80664	Y	46,902
83240	p83240	Y	128,992
88812	p88812	Y	59,209
484098	p484098	Ν	43,517
484919	p484919	Y	47,781
488427	p488427	Ν	25,546
488958	p488958	Y	47,781
489267	p489267	Y	46,272
490051	p490051	Ν	515,872
490137	p490137	Y	11,837
490614	p490614	Y	47,052

Table 3.4 Summary of plasmids identified from genome sequencing.

Plasmid sequences were assembled from whole genome sequencing reads of 35 isolates of *P*. *aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa using Plassembler.

Analysis of the plasmid sequences for antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes

only identified genes in p490051 (Table 3.5).

Plasmid	CARD	VFDB
p490051	Pseudomonas_aeruginosa_catB7,	algU, algW, mucA,
	mexV, mexW	mucB, mucC, mucD

Table 3.5 Summary of antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes identified in plasmid sequences.

Plasmid sequences from the genomes of 35 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine otitis externa were investigated for the presence of antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes using CARD and VFDB.

3.2.6.3 Presence of virulence genes in clinical isolates

Presence and absence of virulence genes was investigated using ABRicate with VFDB (Figure 3.16). Comparison of the canine OE isolates from this work to other *P. aeruginosa* isolates from human, animal and environmental sources using hierarchical clustering highlighted that there is no specific virulence profile that predisposed an isolate for causing a canine OE infection.



Figure 3.16 Presence and absence of virulence genes in the genomes of *P. aeruginosa* isolates.

Heatmap with hierarchical clustering using Euclidean distance with Ward linkage of presence and absence of virulence genes from 35 canine otitis externa isolates from the present study and an additional 70 genomes from human, animal, and environmental sources.

3.2.6.4 Phylogenetic Tree

A total of 107 *P. aeruginosa* genomes including PAO1, PA14, PA7 in addition to 70 isolates listed in PGBD and 35 from this study were compared using Mashtree. The distances calculated were then used to construct phylogenetic trees (Figure 3.17). This found that the isolates were largely part of two groups with some in a smaller third group. Additionally, the canine isolates from the present study were distributed across the tree amongst isolates from human, animal and environmental sources indicating that the canine isolates were not closely related, even when considering geography of isolation, isolates from either Denmark or the UK can be found across the tree.



Figure 3.17 Phylogenetic trees of P. aeruginosa strains.

Mashtree with bootstrapping (100 replicates) was used to calculate the phylogenetic distances of the *P. aeruginosa* isolates from this work in addition to 70 isolates from other sources to create a neighbour joining tree which was visualised using MEGA. 1. The scale represents 1 base difference per 100 bases. 2. Strains from the present study (blue), human infections (red), animal infections (green) and environmental sources (purple) were included as a comparison.

3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Characterisation of clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates from cases of canine otitis externa

Canine otitis externa is a common condition seen in veterinary practice worldwide with *P. aeruginosa* being frequently isolated from chronic cases. The nature of this pathogen makes treatment difficult, as part of the present study, isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine OE were characterised using culture based and bioinformatic methods.

Antimicrobial resistance has been recognised in cases of canine otitis externa for many years (Guedeja-Marrón et al., 1998). In the UK, otic treatments for dogs are topical and often combine steroid, antibiotic, and antifungal products, (Table 1.2) and, in comparison to systemic treatments, offer a higher drug concentration. These products primarily contain four classes of antibiotics: aminoglycosides, fluroquinolones, amphenicols and polymyxin B. The disc diffusion assay identified that resistance to fluroquinolones was high, enrofloxacin (25%; 64/252), levofloxacin (15%; 37/252) and ciprofloxacin (13%; 33/252) but resistance to gentamicin was lower (3.6%). Antimicrobial resistance has been extensively studied for cases of Pseudomonas canine OE. Similar to what was shown in this study, fluroquinolone resistance is frequently reported, notably for enrofloxacin (27-72.2%) and marbofloxacin (33-35%). Highlighting the prevalence of fluroquinolone resistance in *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine OE. According to different studies, gentamicin resistance varies significantly, with reports of resistance ranging from 3 to 43% (Petrov et al., 2019; Nuttall & Cole, 2007; Elfadadny et al., 2023; KuKanich, Bagladi-Swanson & KuKanich, 2022; Mekić, Matanović & Šeol, 2011; Bourély et al., 2019; Arais et al., 2016).

The finding of levofloxacin resistance is worrying as the use of levofloxacin for the treatment of animals is banned in the EU (Sitovs, Sartini & Giorgi, 2021) and is licensed for use in multiple human infections including the treatment of *P. aeruginosa* infections in cystic fibrosis patients (Podder & Sadiq, 2024; Waters & Smyth, 2015). Similarly, ciprofloxacin is not routinely used in dogs, although some veterinary dermatologists have reported the successful use of this antibiotic (Nuttall, 2016; Morris, 2004). All strains resistant to ciprofloxacin were also resistant to levofloxacin and enrofloxacin suggesting that it is the most effective fluroquinolone against *Pseudomonas in vitro*. This is similar to what has been seen in other studies (Mekić, Matanović & Šeol, 2011) and is most likely due to its lower affinity to efflux pumps compared to other fluroquinolones (Teresa Tejedor et al., 2003). This means ciprofloxacin is likely a better measure of fluroquinolone resistance and relying on enrofloxacin alone could result in an overestimation of resistance to antibiotics relevant to a veterinary setting.

While enrofloxacin is not a component of any cSAA listed above, some clinicians use injectable antibiotics as *ad hoc* solutions when resistance is seen or suspected (Morris, 2004), including the use of enrofloxacin (Metry et al., 2012). This could explain the high percentage of resistance that was identified here. Alternatively, although marbofloxacin shows better antimicrobial activity than enrofloxacin against *P. aeruginosa* isolated from companion animals (Farca et al., 2007), continuous exposure studies using *E. coli* from canine infections shows that quinolone resistance-determining region (QRDR) mutations occur after treatment with marbofloxacin that can provide protection against other fluroquinolone antibiotics (Gebru et al., 2011). This could explain the high amount of fluroquinolone resistance observed.

Despite having different resistances in the disc diffusion assay, isolates were found to have very similar antimicrobial resistance gene profiles according to CARD. One exception is the identification of CrpP, an enzyme initially thought to confer resistance to ciprofloxacin (Chávez-Jacobo et al., 2018) but later found to not be the case (Zubyk & Wright, 2021). This is consistent with what was found in this study as the gene was present in 65.7% (23/35) of the sequenced *P. aeruginosa* isolates but 69.6% (16/23) of those were susceptible to ciprofloxacin suggesting that this is not the only factor involved in ciprofloxacin resistance.

P. aeruginosa rapidly develops mutations that can cause resistance to most antibiotics used to treat the organism, resulting in resistance to almost all available treatments (López-Causapé et al., 2018). Point mutations are difficult to detect, databases such as PointFinder (Zankari et al., 2017) are available but have not been developed for *P. aeruginosa*. Mutations in the QRDR are a primary way in which *P. aeruginosa* can become resistant to fluoroquinolones (Piddock, 1999). In *E. coli* these mutations occur between amino acid residues 67-107 for GyrA, 63-102 for ParC (Egorov, Ulyashova & Rubtsova, 2018). *P. aeruginosa* researchers have reported the QRDR regions in GyrB as 429-585 and ParE as 357-503 (Bruchmann et al., 2013). From this, multiple common substitutions were identified, namely T83I, S466F, S87L/S331T and D533E. Three of these, GyrA, T83I; GyrB, S466F and ParC, S87L were all found in strains with resistance to at least one of the tested fluroquinolones, are within the QRDR region reported above, and have been previously associated with resistance (Bruchmann et al., 2013; Akasaka et al., 2001). This implicates these mutations as the source of fluroquinolone resistance in these isolates.

The presence of QRDR mutations has been studied in *P. aeruginosa* isolates from dog infections in Korea, where *gyrA* T83I was identified as a prevalent mutation but also

reported high numbers of a novel mutation, *parC* P116R which was not identified as part of the present study (Park et al., 2020). Another study in Brazil also frequently identified T83I in *P. aeruginosa* resistant to fluroquinolone antibiotics from canine otitis externa and pyoderma (Arais et al., 2016). This highlights that the high levels of fluroquinolone resistance seen in this work is likely due to QRDR mutations although further sequencing work would be needed to confirm this for all the isolates.

Two of the sequenced strains were resistant to gentamycin; strain 88812 was resistant amikacin and gentamicin while 488958 was resistant to all the tested to aminoglycosides. Resistance to aminoglycosides can be due to inactivation by enzymes but also though reduced permeability or increased efflux (Poole, 2005). More recently, mutations to *fusA1* in *P. aeruginosa* have been shown to confer resistance to aminoglycosides (Bolard, Plésiat & Jeannot, 2018). CARD was able to identify one chromosomal aminoglycoside 3'-phosphotransferase (APH(3')-IIb) that provides resistance to kanamycin A and B, neomycin B and C, butirosin and seldomycin F5 in all the sequenced isolates but this does not explain the resistances observed in the ASTs. As this did not explain any of the resistances observed, the amino acid sequence of FusA1 was investigated. This identified a few mutations - two strains contained an I186V substitution, but this has been shown to not impact aminoglycoside resistance (Bolard, Plésiat & Jeannot, 2018) which is consistent with what was shown here as both of the isolates were sensitive to all of the tested aminoglycosides. Strain 488958 was resistant to all the tested aminoglycosides and contained a T671A substitution which has been shown to significantly decrease the susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* to the tested aminoglycosides including gentamicin, amikacin and tobramycin (Bolard, Plésiat & Jeannot, 2018). Interestingly, strain 88812 was resistant to gentamicin and amikacin and contained two amino acid substitutions A595V and M648V, at the time

of writing A595V has not been reported in the literature and M648V has been but is unlikely to affect protein function (Thacharodi & Lamont, 2023). This could mean that A595V is a novel substitution that confers resistance to some aminoglycosides or that other factors such as decreased permeability or overexpression of efflux pumps might be responsible for the resistance seen.

Mutations alone do not account for all of the resistance seen in this study, namely, *P. aeruginosa* 84269 was resistant to enrofloxacin under the tested conditions but did not contain any mutations in the genes investigated. However, other well characterised fluoroquinolone resistance mechanisms such as efflux pump overexpression and decreased outer membrane permeability were not investigated in the present study but could be responsible for the resistance seen (Hooper & Jacoby, 2016). CARD (Table 3.1) identified 14 efflux mechanisms. Mutations in regulatory genes can result in overproduction of these pumps resulting in resistances to many antibiotics including fluroquinolones and aminoglycosides (Pang et al., 2019). Additionally, *P. aeruginosa* encodes a chromosomal encoded AmpC protein for which 10 mutations have been identified with increased resistance to ceftazidime and imipenem (Rodríguez-Martínez, Poirel & Nordmann 2009) although no clear pattern in the presence of one of the AmpC mutations and resistance was found in the present study.

Worryingly, resistance to two carbapenem antibiotics, meropenem and imipenem, was identified, with the latter showing resistance in 8.33% of isolates. This is significant as the World Health Organisation (WHO) recognises a critical need for new antimicrobials for the treatment of carbapenem resistance *P. aeruginosa* (WHO, 2017). Of the isolates sent for whole genome sequencing, only one showed resistance to imipenem although no carbapenemase genes were identified. Carbapenemases have

123

been identified in Korea in a *P. aeruginosa* isolate from a case of canine otitis externa (Hyun, Chung & Hwang, 2018).

In addition to the use of injectable enrofloxacin as a topical solution, other antibiotics have also been used including, ticarcillin–clavulanic acid (Bateman et al., 2012), amikacin (Klinczar et al., 2022), tobramycin (Morris, 2004), and ceftazidime (Hoff et al., 2021). Resistance to these antibiotics was also relatively low in the present study 5.2%, 2.4%, 0.4% and 2.8% respectively, with the exception of ticarcillin-clavulanic which had the highest intermediate resistance of the antibiotics tested of 60.8%. This shows that resistance in cases of canine OE is most prevalent against the antibiotic classes commonly found in prescribable ear cleanings, which is expected.

Antibiotic resistance, in combination with biofilm formation, are some of the major challenges that need to be overcome when thinking about the treatment of *P. aeruginosa* infections. The formation of biofilms allows *P. aeruginosa* to better survive in its environment and significantly reduces the effectiveness of treatment in the case of otitis externa. This can result in prolonged chronic infections which in extreme cases can only be solved with surgery (Pye, 2018).

The ability of *P. aeruginosa* to form biofilm *in vitro* was investigated using a microtiter plate assay. Among the strains tested, 82% produced strong levels of biofilm, 9% produced moderate, 5% produced weak and 4% produced no detectable biofilm. Other groups have investigated biofilm formation in *P. aeruginosa* isolates from cases of canine OE and found biofilm formation in between 40-100% of clinical *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE (Robinson et al., 2019; Pye, Yu & Weese, 2013; Chan et al., 2019; Pye, Singh & Weese, 2014). Interestingly, like the present study, some non-biofilm formers were identified (Chan et al., 2019; Robinson et al., 2019). To further

investigate the identification of non-biofilm strains, the presence of 53 biofilm associated genes was assessed. Only one of the strains that produced no biofilm, 464429, was missing any of the biofilm genes that were screened. Specifically, *pslABCD* were absent in this strain. Deletion of *pslD* has been shown to eliminate the ability of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 to attach to a microtiter dish (Colvin et al., 2012). Interestingly, some P. aeruginosa isolates have been shown to be deficient in psl production the most notable being PA14 which is also missing *pslABCD* (Friedman & Kolter, 2004). As a result, PA14 uses *pel* as its primary biofilm matrix polysaccharide. Despite this P. aeruginosa PA14 is still able to adhere to a microtiter dish and form a biofilm after 24 h (Colvin et al., 2011). This could mean that the strains that produce no quantifiable biofilm have an attachment deficiency. The presence of non-biofilm producing clinical strains is not yet fully understood - while it is accepted that the presence of biofilm-related genes correlates with biofilm forming capacities of P. aeruginosa strains, it is unknown why some strains show no biofilm production, as the presence of biofilm associated genes can also be seen in non-biofilm producers. Quorum sensing deficiencies due to mutations in the LasR protein could be the reason why these non-biofilm formers exist (Kamali et al., 2020; Lima et al., 2018). To get a better understanding of biofilm production, a second widely used technique was added, namely the use of Congo red and Coomassie brilliant blue dye in agar. Congo red binds to amyloid fibres in addition to several bacterial polysaccharides and other speciesspecific polysaccharides (Jones & Wozniak, 2017). Congo red has previously been used to quantify Psl in a liquid assay (Ma et al., 2006) and Pel production on agar (Friedman & Kolter, 2004). The combination of Congo red and Coomassie brilliant blue dyes in agar is used as Psl appears to form a wrinkled colony morphology and binds brilliant blue dye, while Pel will bind Congo red (Jones & Wozniak, 2017). This

should allow for the identification of the primary biofilm polysaccharide and addition to matrix overproducers (Jones & Wozniak, 2017).

Unfortunately, due to the large variety of morphologies that were identified, nothing was uncovered from this method. While this method may be appropriate to investigate individual mutations in polysaccharide genes, the results from this experiment suggest that it may not be sensitive enough to make meaningful comparisons between clinical isolates. The wide variation in colony morphology using Congo red agar has been reported by other researchers (Colvin et al., 2012).

Due to its ability to help bacterial cells colonise their host, motility is a crucial component of virulence. Additionally, the flagella can act as an adhesin during the initial stages of colonisation (O'Toole & Kolter, 1998). In burn would and pulmonary models, it is crucial for full clinical outcomes from *P. aeruginosa* infection (Arora et al., 2005; Feldman et al., 1998). Swarming motility specifically has been implicated in the dispersion of *P. aeruginosa* around the body (Coleman, Pletzer & Hancock, 2021) in addition to the upregulation of virulence genes (Overhage et al., 2008).

The relationship between swarming motility and biofilm formation in *P. aeruginosa* is complex, various knock out experiments using PA14 seem to indicate an inverse relationship between swarming and biofilm formation (Yeung et al., 2009; Caiazza et al., 2007). Similar results have been found using clinical non-cystic fibrosis *P. aeruginosa* from humans (Murray et al., 2010). Contradictorily, others have demonstrated that mutants with altered swarming motility were also incapable of forming biofilms, implicating swarming motility with early biofilm formation (Overhage et al., 2008). As such the relationship between swarming motility and biofilm formation was investigated. Which highlighted that there is no correlation

126
between swarming and biofilm formation. This was confirmed by a Mann-Whitney U test where the populations were shown to be equal (p=0.52).

Very few studies have examined the genomic profiles of *P. aeruginosa* strains causing canine otitis specifically. The use of MLST has revealed a high diversity of P. aeruginosa, with 45 different sequence types (STs) identified from 80 isolates in one study (Hyun, Chung & Hwang, 2018) and 27 STs from 29 isolates in another (Elfadadny et al., 2023). MLST analysis of the OE isolates from the present study identified that 80% (28/35) of the isolates belonged to unique ST. The STs found in the present study vary from those found in the other studies. This is consistent with research on *Pseudomonas* infections in humans, which also revealed a predominantly non-clonal population structure interspersed with highly successful epidemic clones and clonal complexes (Maatallah et al., 2011). These 'high-risk' clones include STs such as ST235, ST175, ST111 and ST146 (Oliver et al., 2015). Interestingly, one isolate was identified as ST111 in this study which is known to be associated with resistant nosocomial infections (Oliver et al., 2015). Transmission of Pseudomonas between dogs and people has been reported in both directions (Santaniello et al., 2020; Fernandes et al., 2018). The identification of ST111 in the present study might indicate human to animal spread. Transfer of this pathogen between dogs and people is particularly concerning considering the isolation of resistance to antibiotics important in human medicine.

Interestingly, 8 unknown STs were identified amongst the canine OE isolates, the identification of unknown STs has also been reported in isolates from Australia (Subedi et al., 2018), Pakistan (Irum et al., 2021) and from dog isolates in Japan (Elfadadny et al., 2023) and Korea (Hyun, Chung & Hwang, 2018), therefore the identification of unknown sequence types in this collection was not atypical. Future

work would involve the submission of these isolates to the pubMLST database to be assigned a new ST.

Analysis of phylogeny using Mashtree highlights similar trends. Isolates from the present study were compared using 70 isolates from human, animal and environmental sources and found to be distributed across the tree indicating that the canine isolates were not closely related. Further analysis identified that the majority of the isolates belonged to two groups as previously described (Ozer et al., 2019; Stewart et al., 2014) where one group contains PAO1 and the other contains PA14. A third group was also identified, containing the known taxonomic outlier PA7, which in some cases can exist as two sub-groups as identified in this work (Ozer et al., 2019; Roy et al., 2010).

Not much is known about virulence factors specific to the development of canine OE. Investigation of five virulence genes in *P. aeruginosa* from canine sources, including the ear canal, found that three genes, *lasB*, *aprA*, and *plcH*, were present in all of the tested isolates, while *exoS* and *toxA* were present in 87.5% and 91.7%, respectively (Hattab et al., 2021). Similarly, in the present study *lasB*, *aprA*, and *plcH* were identified in all of the isolates and *toxA* in 91%.

The population of *P. aeruginosa* isolates either contain *exoU* or *exoS* although the reason for this is currently unclear. This is important because *exoU* positive isolates tend to cause more severe infections and seem to be involved in chronic OM infections (Ozer et al., 2019; Park et al., 2017). In the present study, *exoS* positive strains constituted a larger proportion of the population with 69% (24/35) of isolates containing this gene while only 14% (5/35) contained *exoU*. Interesting, one isolate 3% (1/35) contained both genes and 14% (5/35) had neither gene. All of the *exoU* positive isolates in addition to the isolate containing both genes were located on the

128

same branch of the phylogenetic tree as PA14 as previously described (Ozer et al., 2019).

Comparison of the virulence factor genes from isolates in the present study to other human, animal and environmental strains did not implicate any virulence genes as having a role in this disease. Environmental *P. aeruginosa* isolates were found in clusters with clinical isolates reiterating what is already known (Vives-Flórez & Garnica, 2006).

In summary, the findings from the present study have identified that antimicrobial resistance, in particular resistance to fluroquinolones is common amongst isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine OE. Moreover, this resistance is largely due to mutations in QRDR genes. Additionally, a majority of isolates were found to be strong biofilm formers. Finally, whole genome sequencing of 35 isolates confirmed the non-clonal nature of these infections and highlighted that no virulence factor was commonly found in this disease. This supports the notion that *P. aeruginosa* from these infections originates from environmental sources.

3.3.2 Comparison of different *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines

Despite being a common reference strain, comparison of PAO1 isolates maintained in laboratories highlighted genotypic and phenotypic differences (Klockgether et al., 2010; Chandler et al., 2019) which might be important for the conclusions of past and future research using PAO1. Differences between four different PAO1 sublines were investigated, PAO1-QUB originated from Queens University Belfast. PAO1-UW maintained at the University of Washington, in addition to PAO1-L from the Dieter Haas laboratory and PAO1-N from Nottingham were also investigated as part of the present study. Results from the disc diffusion assay found that PAO1-QUB and PAO1-L were sensitive to all of the tested antibiotics while PAO1-N showed resistance to imipenem and meropenem and PAO1-UW was resistant to imipenem and enrofloxacin and showed intermediate resistance to levofloxacin. Differences in the antimicrobial resistance has been reported previously (Chandler et al., 2019) however, this is the first report to use the disc diffusion assay to establish a resistance phenotype.

When investigating differences in the swarming motility of the sublines, different swarming phenotypes were found with PAO1-N and PAO1-UW having a reduced swarming phenotype in comparison to PAO1-QUB and PAO1-L. This reduction swarming phenotype between PAO1-L and PAO1-N has been previously shown by other groups (Dubern et al., 2022). Differences in swarming phenotype has also been reported in different sublines of PAO1 from across North America (Chandler et al., 2019). At the time of writing, this is the first report of a reduced swarming phenotype of PAO1-UW.

In the crystal violet microtiter plate biofilm assay, all of the sublines were strong biofilm formers but there was a statistically significant difference (p<0.0001) in the levels of biofilm between the four sublines. PAO1-UW produced the most biofilm under the tested conditions and PAO1-L produced the least.

Similar to what found with the clinical isolates, the Congo red agar assay was unable to uncover any differences between the sublines. The morphologies were similar for all of the sublines. Other studies have observed that for wild type PAO1, there are large, smooth colonies that do not bind either dye (Jones & Wozniak, 2017).

Dubern and colleagues (Dubern et al., 2022) identified a large deletion in PAO1-N that included toxR in addition to a Y442D mutation in *bifA* that were responsible for the

reduced swarming phenotype that has been seen for this subline. Additionally, they found that biofilm formation was increased in the absence of toxR expression due to an increase in the expression of *psl* and *pel*.

Chapter 4 Isolation and Characterisation of Bacteriophage

4.1 Introduction

P. aeruginosa infections from cases of canine otitis externa are complicated by antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation (Pye, 2018). As part of the present study, a collection of isolates from clinical cases of canine OE were characterised (Chapter 3). Antimicrobial susceptibility testing identified that resistance to fluroquinolones was common. Whole genome sequencing of the *P. aeruginosa* isolates identified that this resistance was likely the result of amino acid substitutions in DNA gyrase and topoisomerase genes. Moreover, a majority of isolates were found to produce strong levels of biofilm under the tested conditions. Prolonged infection can result in the progression of disease such that treatment will be unsuccessful in controlling infection, at this stage, surgery is necessary (Doyle, Skelly & Bellenger, 2004; Smeak, 2016).

Bacteriophage, literally "bacteria eater", are viruses that infect and subsequently lyse bacterial cells. Bacteriophage are the most abundant biological entities on the planet and have been isolated from a variety of environments (Comeau et al., 2008). Bacteriophage can undergo two different life cycles, lytic and lysogenic. Upon infecting a host, a virulent bacteriophage will replicate and eventually kill its host. A temperate bacteriophage can either enter its lysogenic lifestyle or act as a virulent bacteriophage (§1.3.2). Due to their ability to kill important pathogens, bacteriophage have been investigated as alternative therapies in both humans and animals (Liu et al., 2021b).

4.1.1 Aims and Hypothesis

The aim of this work was to isolate bacteriophage from environmental samples that showed potential for the use of as a novel therapeutic for *P. aeruginosa* infections in cases of canine otitis externa.

- Hypothesis: Bacteriophage that infect isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa will be recoverable from environmental samples. Bacteriophage isolated previously from environmental sources will first be screened for recoverable bacteriophage. Following this, environmental samples will be collected and used to isolate new bacteriophage.
- 2 Hypothesis: **Bacteriophage are able to infect and control the growth of clinical** *P. aeruginosa. In vitro* experiments will show that *P. aeruginosa* isolated from clinical instances of canine otitis externa can be infected and killed by bacteriophage from the environment.

4.2 **Results**

4.2.1 Screening existing phage collection

A collection of 109 bacteriophage isolated using *P. aeruginosa* from environmental and wastewater samples had been previously collected by Dr Joan Colom and was initially assessed for use in the present study. Overlays were produced using four *P. aeruginosa* strains, PAO1-QUB, 80664, 84269 and 484098 (§2.3.4.1) the top agar was then inoculated with the bacteriophage stocks (§2.9). Only two bacteriophage, 491171-1-30 and 464570-1-10 were successfully recovered using PAO1-QUB. Only one of those, 491171-1-30 was carried forward for further investigation.

4.2.1.1 Isolation of novel bacteriophage

As the existing bacteriophage collection was largely unrecoverable, environmental samples from 19 sources (Table 2.3) were used to isolate bacteriophage as described in §2.9 and §2.9.1. A majority of the collected samples (68%, 13/19), were directly from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), a further 5% (1/19) were from bodies of water associated with WWTPs. Of the remaining samples 11% (2/19) were from rumen-associated samples and the final 16% (3/19) from environmental bodies of water.

Using these samples 18 bacteriophage were isolated primarily from WWTPs or samples associated with WWTPs (78%, 14/18). The remaining (22%, 4/18) were isolated from rumen-associated samples (Table 4.1). A majority (89%, 16/18) were isolated using *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB and the final 11% (2/18) were isolated using *P. aeruginosa* 484098.

Name	Isolated	Source	Enriched				
	using		(Y/N)				
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	Original	NA				
phage 491171-1-		Collection					
30							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	School D	Y				
phage K9-1							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	School F	Y				
phage K9-2							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	School F	Y				
phage K9-3							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	Prison B	Y				
phage K9-4							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	Prison B	Y				
phage K9-5							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	Prison D	Y				
phage K9-6							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	School E	Y				
phage K9-7							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	Carehome A	Y				
phage K9-8							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Effluent	Ν				
phage K9-9							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Effluent	Ν				
phage K9-10							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Dairy	Ν				
phage K9-11							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Muckheap	Ν				
phage K9-12							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Effluent	N				
phage K9-13							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Effluent	N				
phage K9-14							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	SB Effluent	Ν				
phage K9-15							
Pseudomonas	PAO1-QUB	Beeston Canal	N				
phage K9-16							
Pseudomonas	484098	SB Dairy	N				
phage K9-17							
Pseudomonas	484098	SB Muckheap	N				
phage K9-18							

Table 4.1 Collection of bacteriophage characterised as part of the present study.

The source of isolation and propagation strain are shown. Samples were enriched as described in 2.9.1. Y-Yes N-No

4.2.2 Characterisation of bacteriophage

4.2.2.1 Selection of *P. aeruginosa* isolates

Due to evidence of lysogeny, of the 253 *P. aeruginosa* isolates, only 81 were carried forward for further investigation in the bacteriophage work to mitigate any confounding results.

4.2.2.2 Host range and Efficiency of plating

The host range of the isolated bacteriophage was determined using a selection of 81 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clincal cases of caine otitis externa in addition to PAO1-QUB (§2.10). Overlays were inoculated with each of the bacteriophage, the results were subsequently characterised between 0-4 with 0 being no lysis and 4 complete clearing (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 Host range of a collection of 19 bacteriophage.

Overlays of 80 *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine otitis externa, PAO1-QUB and 484098 were inoculated with 10 μ L of each bacteriophage in the collection at a concentration of 1×10⁸ PFU/mL. After incubation for 16 h at 37° C the area of clearing was characterised. 0 – no clearing. 1 – individual plaques. 2 – turbidity throughout the cleared zone. 3 – clearing with a hazy background. 4 – complete clearing.

A majority of the isolates (61%, 50/82) were susceptible to infection by at least one of the bacteriophage in the collection. The bacteriophage with the largest host range was *Pseudomonas* phage K9-7 followed by *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 which were able to produce at least individual plaques in 40% (33/82) and 34% (28/82) of the *P. aeruginosa* isolates respectively. Similarly, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-7 and *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 were able to produce complete clearing on 20% (16/82) and 18% (15/82) of *P. aeruginosa* isolates respectively.

P. aeruginosa isolates that were insensitive to infection for all the bacteriophage (32/82) were excluded and efficiency of plating was performed with the remaining 50 isolates (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Efficiency of plating of 19 bacteriophage.

Overlays of 50 *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine otitis externa were inoculated with decimal dilutions $(10^{-1} \text{ to } 10^{-6})$ of each bacteriophage. The result shown is the mean efficiency of plating (%) where the PFU/mL of the propagation strain is 100% with hierarchical clustering using Euclidean distance and Ward linkage. Values are representative of two technical and three biological repeats.

Despite removing the non-susceptible strains based on the host range assay, 10%

(5/50) of isolates were identified as resistant to all the tested bacteriophage based

on the efficiency of plating results.

Efficiency of plating was calculated as a percentage of infection in comparison

to the isolation host. The proportion of bacteriophage where efficiency of plating

was greater than 100% was low with only 22% (11/50) of host isolates displaying

increased sensitivity to a given bacteriophage. Clustering analysis identified that the bacteriophage fell into three main clusters when considering efficiency of plating.

Where a bacteriophage was able to infect a given host strain, it did so with 'High' efficiency (Figure 4.3) as described by (Viazis et al., 2011).



Figure 4.3 Efficiency of bacteriophage infection.

Efficiency of plating values were ranked as previously described (Viazis et al., 2011). High efficiency was defined as a mean efficient of plating value \geq 50%, medium \geq 20%<50% and 'Low' >0%<20%.

4.2.2.3 *in vitro* replication kinetics

Growth curves of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB were optimised to ensure the effect of bacteriophage infection could be monitored (§2.13.1). Initially, the input CFU/mL of the host was assessed. An aliquot of overnight culture was combined with sterile media and incubated until an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5 was reached and enumerated, which was equivalent to 5×10^8 CFU/mL. Decimal dilutions of this culture (10^{-1} to 10^{-4}) were used to inoculate a 96 well microtiter plate and incubated at 37° C statically for 24 h with readings every 5 min (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Growth curves of P. aeruginosa PAO1-QUB.

A culture of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB at an OD₆₀₀ equivalent to 5×10^8 CFU/mL was prepared. Decimal dilutions of this culture (10^{-1} to 10^{-4}) were used to inoculate a 96 well microtiter plate and grown in LB containing 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride at 37° C for 24 h with readings every 5 min using an OmniLog plate reader. The values shown are the mean of two technical repeats with 95% confidence intervals for each biological repeat.

Analysis of the growth curves identified that the 10^{-4} dilution equivalent to an input of 5×10^4 CFU/mL was the optimum condition as a clear lag phase was seen in addition to still reaching the maximum absorbance within 24 h.

Bacteriophage infection was measured indirectly by monitoring the kinetics of infection using an OmniLog plate reader (§2.13). As a result of the findings presented above, to achieve a multiplicity of infection of 100, 10, 1, 0.1 and 0.01

a starting CFU/mL of 1×10^4 was used to measure bacteriophage lysis (Figure 4.5).

Examination of the results identified that *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 alone followed a typical sigmoid logarithmic curve. With the exception of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 and K9-7, an MOI lower than 100 did not have a noticeable effect on the growth of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB. Looking specifically at MOI 100, five patterns were observed; no effect (2/19), interruption of exponential growth but with no effect to the maximum growth (3/19) as seen for *Pseudomonas* phage K9-4, slower exponential growth but with no effect to the maximum growth (8/19), slower exponential growth and reduced total growth (4/19) and finally complete disruption of normal growth (2/19).







Figure 4.5 Growth curves of P. aeruginosa PAO1-QUB in the presence of bacteriophage.

LB containing 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride was inoculated with a culture of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB equivalent to 1×10^3 CFU/mL in addition to bacteriophage ranging from 1×10^6 to 1×10^2 PFU/mL. For each bacteriophage, a phage only control was included shown as the orange line. Similarly, a host only control was included in each microtiter plate shown in the top left of each figure. The values shown are representative of three biological and two technical repeats.

The error bars for *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 were much larger than those from the other samples suggesting a large variation in the growth of the host. Further investigation of the growth curves (Figure 4.6) highlighted variable regrowth within individual technical repeats after a long lag period of 10-15 h.



Figure 4.6 Panels showing growth curves of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB in the presence of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6.

P. aeruginosa PAO1-QUB was grown in a 96 well microtiter plate containing LB and 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride in the presence of Pseudomonas phage K9-6. Each row shows a biological repeat and each line a line within a graph a technical repeat or individual well. Columns indicate an increasing MOI starting with a phage only control in the first column.

4.2.2.4 Restriction digestions

Restriction digestions were performed to identify identical bacteriophage prior to genome assembly. Initially, this was done using three restriction endonucleases (§2.12). Analysis of the digestion patterns found nine unique banding patterns, 37% (7/19) of the bacteriophage had unique banding patterns whist 16% (3/19) shared the additional pattern. Digestions with EcoRI-HF, NdeI and HindIII failed to separate all of the bacteriophage genomic DNA extracts, the remaining 47% (9/19) of the genomes were not cut by the enzymes (Figure 4.7; Figure 8.5).



Figure 4.7 Ethidium Bromide agarose gel image of bacteriophage restriction digestion with EcoRI-HF.

Restriction digestions of genomic DNA extracts from 18 *P. aeruginosa* bacteriophage were performed using EcoRI-HF as described in §2.12. Subsequently, the digestions were run on an agarose gel containing Ethidium Bromide (§2.4). Ladder sizes are shown in bp.

To resolve the remaining bacteriophage, the genomes of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16 and 18 were digested using HincII and XbaI (Figure 4.8). This identified another pattern shared by *Pseudomonas* phage K9-13 and 14. Where no restriction patterns were seen or the same restriction pattern was seen, the host range profile was used to separate the bacteriophage for sequencing.



Figure 4.8 Ethidium Bromide agarose gel image of bacteriophage restriction digestion with HincII and XbaI.

Restriction digestions of genomic DNA extracts from nine *P. aeruginosa* bacteriophage were performed using HincII and XbaI as described in §2.12. Subsequently, the digestions were run on an agarose gel containing Ethidium Bromide (§2.4). Ladder sizes are shown in bp.

4.2.2.5 Analysis of *P. aeruginosa* genomes for factors implicated in bacteriophage insensitivity

The genome sequences of 35 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine OE were determined as described in §3.2.6. A selection of these were sequenced as part of a different project and due to evidence of lysogeny were not included in bacteriophage host range analysis. Of the remaining 29 isolates, susceptibility to bacteriophage in the host range assay was investigated (Figure 4.9). Analysis of the genome sequences was performed to determine differences in susceptibility to the bacteriophage isolated as part of the present study.



Figure 4.9 Host range of 29 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa.

Susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* isolates to 19 bacteriophage was determined using a host range assay (§4.2.2.2). Genome sequencing had been performed for 35 *P. aeruginosa* isolates, 29 of which were assessed for susceptibility to bacteriophage infection. Insensitivity was assessed by the absence of clearing, or a score of 0 in a host range assay.

4.2.2.6 Identification of CRISPR-Cas systems in *P. aeruginosa* genomes

CRISPR-Cas systems can recognise foreign DNA, such as bacteriophage genomes and degrade it protecting the host from infection (Labrie, Samson & Moineau, 2010). Therefore, the presence of CRISPR arrays and Cas proteins was assessed in the genome sequences of the *P. aeruginosa* clinical isolates (§2.22.6). This found that 38% (10/26) of the sequenced isolates contained a CRISPR-Cas system, of those, 100% (10/10) contained Cas type IF and a further 30% (3/10) contained more than one type of Cas protein (Table 4.2).

P. aeruginosa strain	CRISPR-Cas identified	Cas Type
	(Y/N)	
25181	Y	IF
26491	Y	IF
26820-3	Y	IF
27827-1	Ν	-
29582	Ν	-
29758	Y	IF
80632	Y	IF
80664	Y	IF and IE
80715	Y	IC
83240	Y	IF
84269	Ν	-
85505	Y	IF
87895	Ν	-
88693	Ν	-
88812	Y	IF
27827-1	N	-
463027	N	-
467896	Y	IF
480630	Y	IF and IC
484098	Ν	-
484919	Ν	-
485101	Ν	-
488427	Ν	-
488613	Ν	-
488958	Ν	-
489267	Y	IF
490051	Ν	-
490137	Ν	-
490614	Y	IF and IE
C5752-1	Ν	-

Table 4.2 Summary of CRISPR-Cas presence in clinical *P. aeruginosa* genome sequences.

Results from CRISPRCasFinder detailing the presence of CRISPR arrays and Cas proteins in the genome sequences of *P. aeruginosa* clinical isolates.

4.2.2.7 Prediction of prophage regions in *P. aeruginosa* **genome sequences** Prophage maintained within the genomes of their host can contain genes that encode for superinfection exclusion systems, these proteins can prevent bacteriophage DNA from entering the host and therefore confer immunity to infection by other bacteriophage (Labrie, Samson & Moineau, 2010). Predicted prophage regions within the genomes were assessed using PHASTEST (§2.22.7). This identified that prophage sequences were abundant within the genomes of clinical *P. aeruginosa* with as many as 10 prophage regions being identified in a single *P. aeruginosa* genome (Table 4.3). Notably, not all of these were found to be complete, completeness was determined by PHASTEST using criteria such as the number of coding sequences, and coding sequences containing bacteriophage related keywords such as 'capsid' (Table 8.2).

P. aeruginosa strain	No. of prophage regions	Aaphi23	AH2	Arya	B3	BcepMu	D3	Dobby	F10	H66	JBD18	JBD25	JBD30	JBD44	JBD67	JBD69	JBD93	MD8	Pf1	phi2	phi297	phiCTX DNA	PMG1	vB_EcoM_EC01230-10	vB_PaeS_PM105	vB_AbaM_ME3	RS138	P12J	YMC11/02/R656	YMC11/07/P54_PAE_BP
25181	8								*										*											
26491	2																		*										 	
20820-	3																													
27827-	6																												*	
1																														
29582	1																													
29758	5																		*											
80632	5																		*											
80664	2																													
80715	8																		*											
83240	5					L			*																				*	
84269	5																													
85505	1																													
87895	4					L																								\vdash
88693	3					<u> </u>																							<u> </u>	
88812	4																													
463027	6																													\vdash
467896	2					<u> </u>																							<u> </u>	\vdash
480630	3																													
484098	4																													

484919	3										*						
485101	7															*	
488427	7											*					
488613	10				*		*				*						
488958	3										*						
489267	6																
490051	7					*										*	
490137	7										*						
490614	3																
C5752-	4											*					
1																	

Table 4.3 Predicted prophage regions in the genome sequences of 29 P. aeruginosa isolates.

PHASTEST was used to screen the genome sequences of 29 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical cases of canine otitis externa for evidence of prophage regions. Where a prophage region was identified, the coding sequences were compared, and the closest related was identified. Colours prefix of the closest relative; Blue – *Pseudomonas* phage, Orange – Enterobacter phage, Gold – *Burkholderia* phage, Red – *Ralstonia* phage, Green – Bacteriophage, Purple – Acinetobacter. * - A region with similarity to this bacteriophage was identified more than once.

4.2.3 Bacteriophage genome analysis

Genomic DNA extractions of the 19 isolated bacteriophage were performed as described in §2.11.

4.2.3.1 Bacteriophage genome assembly

Bacteriophage genome assembly was performed as described in §2.21.2. Two bacteriophage, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-8 and *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 were unable to be recovered from the sequencing reads.

Subsampling of reads removed contigs with very low coverage (Figure 8.6), as a result, subsampled reads did not always produce the same assembly. One example of this is after subsampling the contig contained the genome assembly for *Pseudomonas* phage K9-5 had been lost. Interestingly, assembly of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-16 appeared to assemble two different phage genomes which shared no similarity as determined by an alignment using nucleotide BLAST.

The genome of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was unable to be resolved using either the complete set of reads or after subsampling. Further analysis of the assembled reads indicated host DNA contamination. To resolve this, trimmed reads were aligned to the genome of *P. aeruginosa* 484098, which had been used to propagate the bacteriophage, and the unmapped reads used for assembly, this resulted in a fragmented genome assembly.

The completeness of the draft genomes was determined by comparing similarity and size to closely related bacteriophage as determined by PhageClouds. These genomes were then screened to determine the termini using PhageTerm (§2.21.2). PhageTerm identified the termini in 16% (3/19) of the bacteriophage genomes. Where defined termini could not be identified manual genome reordering was performed using the closest relative as a reference, although this was not possible for some fragmented assemblies such as *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18. In some cases, a close relative could not be identified so the terminase large subunit (terL) was used (Table 4.4).

Pseudomonas	DNA	Closest	Accession
bacteriophage	packaging	Pseudomonas	
	mechanism	phage relative	
491171-1-30	Headful	NA	-
	(pac)		
K9-1	Headful	NA	-
	(pac)		
K9-2	Headful	NA	-
	(pac)		
K9-3	Unknown	Fc22	NC_074742.1
K9-4	Unknown	MD8	NC_031091.1
K9-5	Unknown	MD8	NC_031091.1
K9-6	Unknown	DL68	NC_028971.1
K9-7	Unknown	shane	MT119368.1
K9-9	New	AN14	KX198613.2
K9-10	Unknown	AN14	KX198613.2
K9-11	New	YuA	NC_010116.1
K9-12	New	vB PaeS PAO1	NC_042115.1
		Ab19	
K9-13	Unknown	vB PaeS PAO1	NC_042115.1
		Ab19	
K9-14	New	PAE1	NC_028980.1
K9-15	New	AN14	KX198613.2
K9-16 large	Unknown	AN14	KX198613.2
K9-16 small	Unknown		
K9-17	New	vB PaeS C1	NC_069749.1
K9-18	Unknown	Fc22	NC_074742.1

Table 4.4 Summary of the method used for genome reordering for each bacteriophage.

Draft bacteriophage genome assemblies were screened to determine the termini using PhageTerm, where the termini were identified, the genome was reordered. Where defined termini could not be identified manual genome reordering was performed using the closest relative as a reference which is reported here.

The reordered bacteriophage genomes were then annotated using Pharokka, each bacteriophage was compared with the reference genome where that existed using Clinker (Figure 4.10). This was used as a final stage of quality control to ensure no large regions of the genome was missing.



Figure 4.10 Clinker alignment of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-11 and closest relative *Pseudomonas* phage YuA.

Complete bacteriophage genomes were annotated using Pharokka and the Genbank outputs were aligned to the closest relative using Clinker. The results were analysed to ensure no large regions of the genome was missing.

4.2.3.2 Pseudomonas bacteriophage genomic variation

A summary of the bacteriophage genomes assembled as part of the present study are shown in Table 4.5. Classification of the bacteriophage at the genus and species level was determined using taxmyPHAGE (§2.23), *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was unable to be classified due to fragmentation of the genome. A majority (67%, 12/18) of the bacteriophage could be assigned to an existing genus. Of these 50% (6/12) were classified as *Yuavirus* spp. Interestingly, some of the isolated bacteriophage (3/18) were classified within an existing species. The remaining 33% (6/18) were identified as new genera.

Pseudomonas	Length	GC	CDS	Coding	Genus	Species
bacteriophage	(bp)	(%)		Density		
				(%)		
491171-1-30	66,222	63.71	77	98.05	Hollowayvirus	New Species
K9-1	38,977	62.05	66	97.27	New Genus	-
K9-2	40,250	63.01	60	98.27	New Genus	-
K9-3	39,481	62.77	60	99.61	New Genus	-
K9-4	38,957	62.05	65	97.32	New Genus	-
K9-5	38,935	62.04	65	97.38	New Genus	-
K9-6	62,494	55.65	97	95.95	Pbunavirus	New Species
K9-7	66,528	55.55	107	94.67	Pbunavirus	LMA2
K9-9	62,159	64.51	96	96.69	Yuavirus	New Species
K9-10	62,159	64.52	96	96.68	Yuavirus	New Species
K9-11	60,497	64.15	88	96.85	Yuavirus	Pseudomonas
						virus Yua
K9-12	57,640	63.07	88	95.28	Abidjanvirus	New Species
Pseudomonas	57,718	63.05	89	95.61	Abidjanvirus	New Species
phage K9-13						
K9-14	61,866	64.20	93	96.39	Yuavirus	New Species
K9-15	62,159	64.52	97	96.66	Yuavirus	New Species
K9-16 large	61,759	64.53	94	97.04	Yuavirus	Pseudomonas
						virus M6
K9-16 small	38,977	62.05	65	97.24	New Genus	-
K9-17	43,056	53.61	57	97.41	Septimatrevirus	New Species
K9-18	62,121	60.85	57	~98.69		

Table 4.5 Summary of bacteriophage genome features.

The number of coding sequences and the percentage coding density was calculated by Pharokka. Genus and species were classified using taxmyPHAGE.

The genome size of the investigated bacteriophages appears to fall into two groups, a smaller group with genomes ranging from 38,935 to 43,056bp and a larger group with a range of 57,640 to 66,528bp. This pattern was mirrored when investigating the number of coding sequences, the smaller group encoded between 57-65 proteins while the larger group encoded 88-107. A linear regression model identified a correlation between the size of the genome and the number of coding sequences (Figure 4.11). There was a clear outlier and further investigation revealed that this was *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18, due to the difficulties assembling this genome and the number of contig it is likely that this assembly is not complete.



Figure 4.11 Comparison of genome length and the number of coding sequences predicted by Pharokka.

A line plot showing the relationship between bacteriophage genome length and the number of coding sequences (CDS). A linear regression model was plotted using seaborn's regplot.

4.2.3.3 Bacteriophage lifestyle prediction

Bacteriophage can be classified as either virulent or temperate, this is determined by their lifestyle. Generally, when considering the use of bacteriophage as a therapeutic, virulent bacteriophage are preferred due to their lytic life cycle. To this end, three tools were used to assess the lifestyle of the bacteriophage based on the genome sequences (§2.23). This identified differences between the tools, 40% (8/20) of the bacteriophage were given the same lifestyle prediction across the three tools while the remaining 60% (12/20) received at least one different prediction from one of the other tools (Table 4.6).

	Lifestyle Prediction									
Pseudomonas	PhaTYP	BACPHLIP	PhageScope							
bacteriophage										
491171-1-30	Temperate	Temperate	Temperate							
K9-1	Temperate	Temperate	Temperate							
К9-2	Virulent	Virulent	Temperate							
К9-3	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-4	Temperate	Temperate	Temperate							
K9-5	Temperate	Temperate	Temperate							
K9-6	Virulent	Virulent	Virulent							
K9-7	Virulent	Virulent	Virulent							
K9-9	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-10	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-11	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-12	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-13	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-14	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-15	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-16 long	Temperate	Virulent	Temperate							
K9-16 short	Temperate	Temperate	Temperate							
K9-17	Virulent	Virulent	Virulent							
K9-18	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested							

Table 4.6 Comparison of three tools used to identify bacteriophage lifestyles, PhaTYP,BACPHLIP and PhageScope.

Pseudomonas phage K9-18 was not tested in this work due to a requirement of the tools being a complete genome assembly.
In an attempt to finalise the classification, the annotated genomes were investigated for the presence of genes with a function in host genome integration and excision (Table 4.7). This highlighted that where an integrase was identified all three programs correctly classified the lifestyle as temperate. However, where a transposase was present the results were more variable. Finally, Pharokka failed to identify any coding sequences with an integration or excision function for *Pseudomonas* phage K9-9 to *Pseudomonas* phage K9-16 long however 2/3 of the lifestyle predictors identified these as temperate bacteriophage.

Pseudomonas	Presence of a gene with integration		
bacteriophage	or excision function		
491171-1-30	Excisionase and transcriptional		
	regulator		
K9-1	Integrase + excisionase		
K9-2	DNA transposition protein +		
	transposase		
K9-3	Transposase + DNA transposition		
	protein		
K9-4	Integrase + excisionase		
K9-5	Excisionase + integrase		
K9-6			
K9-7			
K9-9			
K9-10			
K9-11			
K9-12			
K9-13			
K9-14			
K9-15			
K9-16 long			
K9-16 short	Excisionase + integrase		
K9-17			
K9-18	DNA transposition protein +		
	transposase + excisionase and		
	transcriptional regulator		

Table 4.7 Presence of a gene with integration or excision function within the bacteriophage genomes.

Genome annotations using Pharokka were screened to identify genes with a function in integration or excision that would suggest a temperate lifestyle.

4.2.3.4 Presence of resistance or virulence genes

Due to the prediction of some of the isolated bacteriophage having a temperate lifestyle, the presence of antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes was investigated. Similarly, some bacteriophage are able to transfer AMR genes through transduction (Brown-Jaque, Calero-Cáceres & Muniesa, 2015).

As part of the annotation pipeline, Pharokka screens for antimicrobial resistance genes using the CARD database and virulence genes using the virulence factor database. Analysis of these results did not identify and antibiotic resistance or virulence genes in any of the bacteriophage sequences.

4.2.3.5 Intergenomic similarities

Pairwise intergenomic similarities between 18 bacteriophage genomes were calculated using VIRIDIC, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was excluded to the fragmented nature of the genome assembly (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.12 Intergenomic similarities calculated by VIRIDIC.

Heatmap generated by VIRIDIC of 19 bacteriophage genomes identified in this work in addition to closely related reference genomes identified using BLAST, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was removed from the analysis due to the fragmented genome. The upper right half is a heatmap sorted by hierarchical clustering based on intergenomic similarity. The bottom left portion of the graph shows the aligned genome fractions and genome length ratio. Finally, at the top of the graph is a histogram of the bacteriophage genome lengths.

VIRIDIC identified 8 genus and 17 species clusters (Table 4.8), this identified a large genus cluster containing *Pseudomonas* phage K9-11, K9-14, K9-16 long, K9-9, K9-10 and K9-15. Interestingly, this large cluster had ~20% similarity to *Pseudomonas* phage K9-12 and K9-13 identifying similarities between these two genera of bacteriophage. Finally, *Pseudomonas* phage 491171-30-1 and K9-17 were identified as singletons when compared to the other bacteriophage from this work.

Pseudomonas	Genus Cluster	Species Cluster
bacteriophage		
491171-1-30	7	10
K9-1	8	11
К9-2	6	16
К9-3	6	16
K9-4	8	11
K9-5	8	11
K9-6	2	17
K9-7	2	2
K9-9	1	12
K9-10	1	12
K9-11	1	3
K9-12	4	13
K9-13	4	13
K9-14	1	14
K9-15	1	12
K9-16 long	1	1
K9-16 short	8	11
K9-17	5	15

Table 4.8 Table of assigned genus and species clusters.

Findings from VIRIDIC genus and species clustering of 18 bacteriophage genomes.

4.2.3.6 Proteomic phylogenetic tree

To assess the relationship between the bacteriophage isolated as part of the present study and related bacteriophage. A proteomic tree was constructed using 100 closely related bacteriophage genomes (§2.23). The bacteriophage from the present study were found on two main branches. The results from the proteomic tree were in agreement with VIRIDIC. Interestingly, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 and K9-7 were located on a distinct branch to the other isolates from the present study.



Figure 4.13 Proteomic phylogenetic tree generated using ViPTree.

Circular phylogenetic tree generated using ViPTree including 18 bacteriophage isolated as part of the present study, labelled using red stars and 100 closely related bacteriophage.

4.2.3.7 Genomic similarities of prophage regions

To assess the similarity of prophage sequences identified in §4.2.2.7, the prophage regions were extracted using PHASTEST and pairwise intergenomic similarities calculated using VIRIDIC between prophage and the bacteriophage isolated in the present study (Figure 8.7). This identified that the prophage regions were largely unrelated to the bacteriophage isolated as part of the present study. However, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-5, K9-4, K9-1 and K9-16 short were found to be part of the same genes cluster as a prophage region from *P. aeruginosa* 84269. Additionally, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-2, K9-3 were part of the same genus cluster as prophage regions from *P. aeruginosa* 80715, 490051 and 484098 (Table 8.3). Similarly, when a proteomic tree was constructed using the bacteriophage and prophage the majority of bacteriophage isolates were on distinct branches, however *Pseudomonas* phage K9-2, K9-3, K9-5, K9-4, K9-1 and K9-16 were on branches alongside prophage isolates (Figure 4.14).



Figure 4.14 Proteomic phylogenetic tree generated using ViPTree.

Circular phylogenetic tree generated using ViPTree including 18 bacteriophage isolated as part of the present study, labelled using red stars and prophage regions identified by PASTEST.

4.3 Discussion

Bacteriophage are the most abundant biological entities in the biosphere with an estimated population of 10³¹, many of these exhibiting large genomic diversity (Comeau et al., 2008). The rate of bacteriophage discovery and classification is high (Ackermann & Prangishvili, 2012), as of 2022 the International Committee of Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) has established 11,273 species of bacteriophage (Turner et al., 2023). Not all work investing bacteriophage will be focused on

the search of alternative antimicrobials, however a better understanding of bacteriophage biology could aid in future therapeutic bacteriophage research.

It has been suggested that *P. aeruginosa* isolated from canine otitis externa infections originate from the environment (Morris et al., 2017; Vives-Flórez & Garnica, 2006). Findings from the present study support this notion (§3.2.6). Wastewater is known to be an important source of environmental bacteriophage (Ballesté et al., 2022), including bacteriophage that infect P. aeruginosa (Akremi et al., 2022; Aghaee et al., 2021), as such, samples collected in this study were focused on wastewater effluent and bodies of water near WWTPs. No bacteriophage were found in the environmental water samples. This indicates that samples contaminated with faecal material contain a higher titre of bacteriophage than environmental water samples, this is in line with other reports that sewage contaminated sites harboured more bacteriophage than uncontaminated sources (Aghaee et al., 2021). Although P. aeruginosa is commonly quoted as ubiquitous in soil and aqueous environments, it is more frequently isolated from soil and water sources linked to human activity including sewage (Crone et al., 2020). Given that bacteriophage will primarily be found in an environment with a host, this likely explains the results from the present study.

As the aim of this study was to isolate bacteriophage that could be used therapeutically to treat canine otitis externa with chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection. When evaluating a bacteriophage for therapeutic use, it is important to consider characteristics that would be beneficial in this role. Virulent bacteriophage can only undergo the lytic lifecycle, therefore these bacteriophage are generally preferred for this application (Fernández et al., 2019). A tentative assessment of lifestyle can be assessed by the appearance of bacteriophage clearing on a double layer agar plate. Clear plaques indicate lytic bacteriophage while cloudy plaques suggest a lysogenic (temperate) lifestyle (Jurczak-Kurek et al., 2016). Initial characterisation was performed by determining the host range of the isolated bacteriophage against a panel of 80 isolates of *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE in addition to *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB and 484098. As part of this experiment, lysis was characterised between 0-4 (no clearing – complete clearing). This highlighted that there was evidence of temperate bacteriophage amongst the collection.

Although plaque morphology can give an indication as to the lifestyle of the bacteriophage, temperature bacteriophage can enter the lytic lifecycle depending on a number of factors (Howard-Varona et al., 2017). Analysis of the bacteriophage genomes revealed that 15% (3/20) were predicted to be lytic and 25% (5/20) were predicted to be temperate. No consensus was reached for the lifestyle of the other bacteriophage, therefore manual investigation was performed to identify evidence suggesting a temperate lifestyle, this showed that where Pharokka had identified an integrase a temperate lifestyle could accurately be determined by any of the tools. All of the tools tested employ machine learning methods to predict bacteriophage lifestyle however, PhageScope also uses a large database of bacteriophage genomes. BACPHLIP had a default prediction of a lytic genome unless contrary evidence is detected. This is most likely the reason why Pseudomonas phage K9-9 to Pseudomonas phage K9-16 long were identified as temperate by two of the tools but lytic using BACPHLIP, this notion is supported by Pharoka also being unable to identify any CDS that have a function in integration or excision. Of these bacteriophage, taxmyPHAGE classified them within two genera, *Yuavirus* and *Abidjanvirus*, the lifecycle of bacteriophage within these genera has not been determined and therefore more work is required before a definitive conclusion can be made (Campbell et al., 2021; Ceyssens et al., 2008). Interestingly, VIRIDIC analysis of the bacteriophage isolated in the present study and prophage sequences recognised using PHASTEST identified that *Pseudomonas* phage K9-9 to *Pseudomonas* phage K9-16 did not cluster amongst the prophage sequences, this might suggest that these bacteriophage are lytic.

Host range is another important characteristic when considering bacteriophage for use as a therapeutic. Bacteriophage that have a host range limited to a single species are desirable as they will not infect the microbiota of the patient, in contrast, within a species, bacteriophage that infect many strains increases the chances that a given bacteriophage can be used for any infection (Fernández et al., 2019). Other *Pseudomonas* spp. were not investigated as part of the present study however, the microbiota of the canine ear generally consists of Grampositive organisms and yeast (Shaw, 2016; Fraser, 1961; Lyskova, Vydrzalova & Mazurova, 2007), at the time of writing no bacteriophage has been reported with a host range that includes Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Analysis of the host range results found that 61% (50/82) of the isolates were susceptible to at least one of the bacteriophage. *Pseudomonas* phage K9-7 and *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 were found to have the largest host range of the bacteriophage isolates as part of the present study, infecting 40% and 34% of the *P. aeruginosa* isolates respectively.

Two studies isolated bacteriophage against *P. aeruginosa* and investigated host range using a panel of 121 cystic fibrosis and 140 clinical and environmental

isolates respectively. The largest host range reported by each study was 68% and 33% (Olszak et al., 2015; Akremi et al., 2022).

Overall, this indicates that the majority bacteriophage isolated in the present study have a narrow host range. Despite screening the environmental samples with clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates, the majority of bacteriophage were isolated using PAO1-QUB, future work could focus on the isolation of bacteriophage using only clinical *P. aeruginosa* from OE to isolated bacteriophage with a larger host range. Moreover, it is possible to widen the host range of *P. aeruginosa* bacteriophage using phage training. This approach takes advantage of bacteriophage evolution by co-incubating a mixture of bacteriophage and host strains for multiple passages. This had already been demonstrated using *P. aeruginosa* bacteriophage and is another area that could be explored in the future (Mapes et al., 2016).

Efficiency of plating (EOP) was performed after removing *P. aeruginosa* determined insensitive to bacteriophage from the host range assay, despite this, 10% (5/50) were found to be insensitive to all the tested bacteriophage. In the host range assay, a spot containing 1×10^8 PFU/mL was applied to the bacterial overlay. Lysis from without is bacterial lysis that does not rely on bacteriophage infection and can generally occurs when bacteriophage concentrations of are high (Abedon, 2011).

For remaining isolates EOP was calculated as a percentage of PFU/mL on the target *P. aeruginosa* over the PFU/mL on the propagation *P. aeruginosa* (PAO1-QUB and 484098). Analysis of these results revealed that the isolated bacteriophage were able to infect *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB more readily than

174

other susceptible isolates, notably *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was isolated using *P. aeruginosa* 484098 but was able to productively infect PAO1-QUB with a higher efficiency. Only 22% (11/50) of host isolates displayed an increased sensitivity measured as an EOP value greater than 100%, to a given bacteriophage. Moreover, EOP scores were ranked as previously described, this identified that where a bacteriophage was able to infect a given host strain, it did so with high efficiency. Suggesting that despite these differences, infection efficiency was similar to that of the propagation strain.

Resistance or reduced susceptibility of infection can be achieved by mutation or modifications of the receptor, this can influence the number and structure of the receptor in addition to the expression of a protein that can bind to and subsequently block attachment of the phage to a receptor. Another mechanism is the production of extracellular matrix to block receptors or finally the production of receptor inhibitors (Labrie, Samson & Moineau, 2010). Similarly, intracellular factors can also impact EOP, this includes DNA degradation through systems such as restriction-modification and CRISPR-Cas systems in addition to prophage mediated protection such as superinfection exclusion (Labrie, Samson & Moineau, 2010).

Estimation of CRISPR-Cas arrays identified that 38% (10/26) of the sequenced isolates contained a CRISPR-Cas system and 100% (10/10) of these contained Cas type IF but Cas types IE and IC were also identified. One study performed analysis of 672 *P. aeruginosa* genomes, largely from human origin, and identified that 45% contained intact CRISPR-Cas arrays (van Belkum et al., 2015). An intact system is defined as a system with an intact CRISPR locus with a complete set of *cas* genes with no obvious mutations (Bondy-Denomy &

Davidson, 2014) Moreover, they identified that IF subtypes most commonly, followed by IE and IC (van Belkum et al., 2015). Another study analysed 275 genomes of *Pseudomonas* spp. and identified CRISPR structures in 19.6%, the majority of these positive genomes belonging to *P. aeruginosa* (Parra-Sánchez et al., 2023). This is in line with what has been described in the present study. Resistance against bacteriophage infection mediated by CRISPR-Cas has been identified in *P. aeruginosa* (Cady et al., 2012). It is worth noting that an intact CRISPR-Cas system does not signify an active one, further analysis of the CRISPR spacers could determine this (Bondy-Denomy & Davidson, 2014).

The presence of prophage regions in the genome sequences of 26 clinical P. aeruginosa was estimated. This found that 100% (26/26) contained at least one prophage sequence additionally, up to 10 prophage regions could be identified within a single P. aeruginosa genome. Prophage regions can include genes that encode proteins to resist superinfection. One such mechanism is superinfection exclusion, where DNA of a closely related bacteriophage is prevented from entering the host (Labrie, Samson & Moineau, 2010). The intergenomic similarity of the bacteriophage isolated as part of the present study and prophage regions extracted using PHASTEST was calculated and identified that some of the bacteriophage belonged to the same genus cluster as one or more prophage. Unfortunately, these bacteriophage were largely ineffective at infecting any of the hosts including host strains containing closely related prophage so it is therefore not possible to ascertain if superinfection exclusion was involved. Despite this, a variety of prophage mediated resistance mechanisms have been classified in *P. aeruginosa* which largely function by altering receptors such as the type IV pilus and O-antigen (Bondy-Denomy et al., 2016). This mechanism would function more broadly as they would prevent infection from any bacteriophage that could recognise the receptor.

The final assay used to characterise the bacteriophage isolates was the indirect measurement of lysis by monitoring the growth of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 in the presence of 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) using an OmniLog plate reader assay. In this case MOI is referred to as the ratio of bacteriophage particles to bacterial cells. Analysis of the bacterial growth identified that MOIs lower than 100 were ineffective at controlling the growth of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB for any of the tested bacteriophage. Looking specifically at MOI 100, only 32% (6/19) of the bacteriophage were able to reduce the total growth in comparison to the control. Two of these, *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 and K9-7, appeared to significantly disrupt the growth of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB.

Bacterial cells growing under different conditions i.e. sessile within top layer agar or planktonic in liquid culture likely have significantly different expression of genes. One group identified a similar phenotype when investigating bacteriophage against *Curvibacter* spp. AEP1.3. The bacteriophage was able to infect and produce clear plaques in double-layer agar, however growth in liquid media showed no difference between the phage and control samples. Further investigation identified differences in expression patterns between the states which likely explains this phenotype (Ulrich et al., 2022). This is one explanation for the lack of lytic activity observed in the present study.

Alternatively, the activity of some bacteriophage may not immediately be observed (Magin, Garrec & Andrés, 2019). One limitation of the assay used in the present study is the use of TTC which crosses bacterial cell membranes and

177

is reduced within the cell from the electron transport chain producing formazan which is red in colour (Defez, Andreozzi & Bianco, 2017). As a result, after ~15 h a reduction would not be recorded. Future work could use bacteriophage counts to get a more accurate understanding of bacteriophage growth however this method could only be performed on a small number of samples at once as it would be time consuming.

The error bars of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6, shown as 95% confidence interval, displayed a large amount of variation. To investigate this, individual technical and biological repeats were plotted. This highlighted spontaneous regrowth of the host in individual technical repeats. The rapid nature of the development of resistance, between 10-15 h, hinted that a subpopulation of the P. aeruginosa was resistant to infection from this bacteriophage. These subpopulations carry preexisting mutations, likely in the bacteriophage receptor, and can therefore grow in the presence of the bacteriophage. To confirm this, a Luria & Delbrück (1943) experiment could be performed. Rapid regrowth of bacteriophage resistant subpopulations has been previously reported in *P. aeruginosa*. Analysis of these mutants identified a host fitness cost (Li et al., 2022). Similarly, one study identified a lytic bacteriophage, OMKO1, that recognised outer membrane porin M (OprM) as a receptor-binding site. Development of resistance to OMKO1 resulted in the *P. aeruginosa* host becoming more susceptible to a panel of four antibiotics from different classes (Chan et al., 2016). This example demonstrates that utilising the selective pressure of a bacteriophage could result in improved clinical outcomes if used in combination with antibiotics. Further testing of these resistant isolates could provide an insight into similar effects. Both *Pseudomonas* phage K9-6 and K9-7 were classified as *Pbunavirus* spp. by taxmyPHAGE with *Pseudomonas* phage K9-7 classified as *Pbunavirus* LMA2. Work from another study has identified that multiple *Pbunavirus Pseudomonas virus PB1* like bacteriophage recognised LPS as a receptor (Garbe et al., 2010) with two other studies noting the receptors specifically as the O antigen (Li et al., 2023; Uchiyama et al., 2016). Moreover, one of the bacteriophage was able to infect *P. aeruginosa* isolates where the O5 antigen was not present, eluding to multiple receptors being recognised.

Finally, the use of bacteriophage cocktails is known to improve the therapeutic potential of bacteriophage. Bacteriophage cocktails can be used to reduce the development of resistance to the virus (Abedon, Danis-Wlodarczyk & Wozniak, 2021). Future work to determine the specific host receptor for each bacteriophage could be used to create cocktails of bacteriophage that target different receptors. This could overcome the regrowth that was observed in the present study. Assessing combinations of these bacteriophage using the Omnilog would potentially highlight a greater impact on bacterial growth than when any of the bacteriophage were administered alone.

For some samples, multiple bacteriophage were isolated, restriction digest using 5 restriction endonucleases were performed to produce restriction fragments for each of the bacteriophage to identify if duplicates of bacteriophage were identified. This identified 9 banding patterns, some of which were shared amongst more than one bacteriophage. Additionally, no digestion was observed using any of the enzymes for 7 of the bacteriophage. Of these 5 were classified as *Yuavirus* spp., *Yuavirus Pseudomonas phage YuA* has been previously shown to be insensitive to 10/13 restriction enzymes including EcoRI and HindIII tested in the present study (Ceyssens et al., 2008).

Bacteriophage genomic DNA extractions were sequenced using Illumina (short read) sequencing. Two bacteriophage genomes were unable to be recovered from the assemblies including *Pseudomonas* phage K9-8. When the coverage of the assembled genomes was assessed, it was clear that each bacteriophage was not equally represented within the reads. During Illumina library preparation, DNA fragments are amplified using PCR, this step is known to introduce bias especially for sequences with a high GC content (>65%) (Aird et al., 2011). This notion does not explain the low coverage of all the *Pseudomonas* bacteriophage genomes as Pseudomonas phage K9-6 and K9-7 were found to have a GC content ~55%, this implicates another factor. One potential factor was host DNA contamination leading to an inflated DNA concentration value. A final explanation can be attributed to modification of bases. Difficulties were identified in the PCR amplification of Yuavirus Pseudomonas phage YuA for genome sequencing (Ceyssens et al., 2008), if similar base substitution or modifications were present here that could result in an under representation of these reads in the sequencing library.

Despite this, assemblies were resolved for 17/19 of the bacteriophage and a partial genome of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was resolved after some additional processing. Interestingly, two distinct genomes were assembled from the reads of *Pseudomonas* phage K9-16 with one of these being 1.5× bigger than the other. PhageTerm was used to identify the termini of the bacteriophage genomes although it was unable to determine the termini of 84% (16/19) of the genomes. Confirmation of circular permutation of the genome was attempted using (a) (p)erfect (c)ircle? (Fass, 2015) but this was unsuccessful. After the genomes had been reordered using the closet relative as a reference the genomes were

annotated using Pharokka. A limitation of annotation tools for use in bacteriophage is that they often miss coding sequences, an example of this is the o-spanin gene which is embedded within the i-spanin gene (Kongari et al., 2018). Manual curation of phage genomes can sometimes improve annotation beyond that obtained by automated tools such as Pharokka and future work could focus on this aspect of improve the genomes prior to submission to online databases such as GenBank. This highlights that bacteriophage genome assemblies require a large amount of manual curation to get a good result and some key areas of bacteriophage genome assembly where more research is needed.

Taxonomic classification of the bacteriophage using taxmyPHAGE identified that the isolated bacteriophage belonged to 5 known genera while 6/19 of the bacteriophage were identified as belonging to a new genus, taxmyPHAGE uses ICTV cutoffs for genus and species. Intergenomic similarities were calculated using VIRIDIC, this identified 7 genus clusters, separating the new genera into two new genera. VIRIDIC separated the bacteriophage classified as new genus into two genus clusters, containing 4 and 2 bacteriophage respectively. Using default settings, VIRIDIC determines genus using 70% similarity and species as 95% whereas ICTV uses 50% and 95%. Pseudomonas phage K9-4 and K9-5, part of the larger new genus cluster were identified as having Pseudomonas phage MD8 as a close relative, VIRIDIC analysis highlights only a 40% intergenomic similarity with this bacteriophage supporting the notion of a new genus. Additionally, Pseudomonas phage K9-2 and K9-3 which made up the smaller genome cluster had a high intergenomic similarity (~92%) with Pseudomonas phage Fc22 (Carballo-Ontiveros et al., 2020), this bacteriophage has not been classified to the genus level again supporting this idea that these

bacteriophage belong to a novel genus. Future work could involve the proposal of a new genus to the ICTV (Adriaenssens & Brister, 2017).

To complement work done assessing host range, bacteriophage lifestyle was predicted using three tools as discussed above, this identified multiple temperate bacteriophage. Generally, temperate bacteriophage are not considered suitable candidates for therapeutic use due to their ability to transfer antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes (Fernández et al., 2019) in addition to their unpredictable lifestyles. Despite this, temperate bacteriophage have been shown to reduce mortality in murine and *Drosophila* infection models with *P. aeruginosa* PA14 from inhibiting motility rather than lysis of the host (Chung, Sim & Cho, 2012). None of the bacteriophage genomes assessed in this work were found to contain antimicrobial resistance or virulence genes, and some promising results were identified in the EOP and Omnilog assays for temperate bacteriophage *Pseudomonas* phage 491171-1-30. Further work could be performed to identify if similar physiological effects are identified with the bacteriophage isolated in this study.

A final important consideration when assessing bacteriophage for use as a therapeutic is stability (Fernández et al., 2019). Improper storage or low stability can result in the application of reduced titre bacteriophage suspensions (Wdowiak, Paczesny & Raza, 2022). Factors affecting bacteriophage stability include temperature and pH (Jończyk-Matysiak et al., 2019). SM is frequently supplemented with gelatin; this helps to stabilise the bacteriophage particles (Sambrook & Russell, 2001). Similarly, calcium and magnesium salts are often included in the media when isolating novel bacteriophage. This is due to the requirement of Ca^{2+} or Mg^{2+} divalent ions for attachment or intracellular growth

of many bacteriophage (Van Twest & Kropinski, 2009). These steps were omitted during the isolation process in an attempt to select for non-fastidious bacteriophage. Unfortunately, the stability of the isolated bacteriophage was not assessed in this work, this will be an important step in the future characterisation of these isolates.

In this study, 18 bacteriophage isolated from the environment and an additional bacteriophage from an existing collection were characterised and assessed for their use as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of P. aeruginosa infection for cases of canine otitis externa. Host range and efficiency of plating highlighted that the isolated bacteriophage had a relatively low efficacy on the clinical isolates. Similarly, most of the bacteriophage were unable to control the growth of P. aeruginosa over a 24-hour period at multiple MOIs. Two of the isolated bacteriophage did stand out as having a good therapeutic potential, namely Pseudomonas phage K9-6 and K9-7, future work could involve a cocktail of these bacteriophage and in vivo assessment using Galleria mellonella. Assessment of the genomes of P. aeruginosa isolates from canine otitis externa (§3.2.6) identified the diverse nature of this pathogen, this likely explains the limited host range of many of the bacteriophage. Future work could also involve further isolation of bacteriophage against these clinical isolates so that potential future treatments could be personalised based on susceptibility to a cocktail of bacteriophage.

Chapter 5 Biological Control of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa Using Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus

5.1 Introduction

Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus can prey upon a variety of Gram-negative bacteria via a biphasic predatory lifestyle. B. bacteriovorus has been isolated from soil, fresh water, and marine environments (Klein & Casida, 1967; Chu & Zhu, 2010; Taylor et al., 1974). B. bacteriovorus has also been isolated from the gastrointestinal tract of humans and animals highlighting their ability to survive in this environment but more importantly their presence in the gut has been linked to a heathier state (Schwudke et al., 2001; Iebba et al., 2013). Principally, environmental *Bdellovibrio* have been more extensively characterised, namely B. bacteriovorus HD100 and 109J were both isolated from soil (Stolp & Starr, 1963; Rendulic et al., 2004; Rittenberg, 1972). During its motile attack phase, B. bacteriovorus is propelled via a single polar sheathed flagellum (Thomashow and Rittenberg, 1985). When a prey cell is encountered, there is a reversible attachment, followed by irreversible attachment and entry to the prey periplasm mediated by the formation of a small pore. When inside the periplasm, the host rounds into an osmotically stable bdelloplast, at this point the prey cell is killed and the predator begins to replicate, releasing enzymes to degrade macromolecules from the cytoplasm of the host (Negus et al., 2017, Lambert et al., 2011)

B. bacteriovorus was originally isolated as an accidental discovery while trying to isolate bacteriophage (Stolp & Petzold, 1962). This highlights the similarity in the cultivation of these organisms with both invading another prey or host cell and utilising the cell contents to produce progeny ultimately killing the host/prey measured by the formation of clearing or individual plaques in a bacterial lawn.

In comparison to bacteriophage, which generally have small host ranges, *B. bacteriovorus* is able to prey upon on a wide range of Gram-negative bacteria, with one study identifying 68 different strains from 18 separate genera successfully preyed upon, including pathogens such as *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* (Dashiff et al., 2011). Other studies investigating the susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* to *B. bacteriovorus* highlighted more variable results (Dashiff et al., 2011; Markelova, 2010; Waso, Khan & Khan, 2019; Shanks et al., 2013). Due to this, in the present study, *E. coli* S17-1 was included in all assays as a positive control for predation as it is used for the laboratory maintenance of *B. bacteriovorus* (Lambert & Sockett, 2008).

The rise in the number of antimicrobial resistant infections has prompted research in the search for alternative treatments in both human and animals (O'Neill, 2016). One such application is the treatment of secondary infections for cases of canine otitis externa. *P. aeruginosa* are the most common bacteria isolated from chronic otitis, with up to 35% of cases affected within the literature (Nuttall & Cole, 2007; Petrov et al., 2019). As part of the present study, a collection of 253 clinical isolates from cases of canine OE were characterised (Chapter 3). This identified that antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation was common amongst the clinical strains.

Further to this, 19 bacteriophage were isolated and characterised, two of which showed promise as candidates for the treatment of *P. aeruginosa* infections in cases of canine OE (Chapter 4).

5.1.1 Aims and Hypothesis

The aim of this chapter was to evaluate *B. bacteriovorus* as an alternative therapy for *P. aeruginosa* infections in cases of canine otitis externa.

 Hypothesis: *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* is able to prey upon clinical *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Experiments performed *in vitro* will demonstrate the ability of *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 to infect and kill *P. aeruginosa* isolated from clinical cases of canine otitis externa.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Predation on YPSC double layer agar plates

Successful predation can be measured by the formation of clearing or individual plaques (§5.1) in a bacterial lawn in double later agar plates (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1 Double layer YPSC agar plates highlighting positive and negative predation results.

Predation by *B. bacteriovorus* as shown above by zones of cleaning of lawns of prey bacteria (*E. coli* S17-1 and *P. aeruginosa* 84269), the absence of these zones indicates no predation as seen for PAO1. Isolates were grown in YPSC double layer agar for 120 h at 29°C in the presence of a serial dilution of *B. bacteriovorus* HD100.

Initial assessment of susceptibility was performed by spotting a serial dilution of

B. bacteriovorus predatory culture onto lawns of the 253 clinical isolates at two

temperatures, 29° C and 37° C (§2.14).

A minority (16%, 40/253) of the clinical isolates were susceptible to predation at either of the tested temperatures (Table 5.1). Of the susceptible isolates 88% (35/40) and 75% (30/40) were preyed upon at 29° C and 37° C respectively. Additionally, none of the PAO1 sublines were susceptible to predation by *B*. *bacteriovorus* at either temperature.

	Temperature	
P. aeruginosa	29° C	37° C
Strain		
80664	Y	Y
84381	Y	Y
80632	Y	Y
84269	Y	Y
88033	Y	N
88812	Y	N
468424R	Y	Y
484098	Y	Y
489267	Y	N
490137	Y	Y
490051	Y	Y
484919	Y	Y
487280	Y	Y
485101	Y	N
495165	Y	Y
491136	Y	Y
488958	Y	Y
467896	Y	Ν
26758	Y	Ν
22406	Y	N
26820-3	Y	Y
26777	Y	Y
26491	Y	Y
29582	Y	Y
240682-1	Y	Y
488613	Y	Y
498492	Y	Ν
485015	Y	Y
28472	Y	Ν
84142(2)	N	Y
C-3501	N	Y
487632	N	Y
27660	N	Y
25966	N	Y
30084	Y	N
28279	Y	N
28415	Y	Y
2776	Y	Y
26697-1	Y	Y
26633	Y	Y
PAO1-QUB	N	N
PAO1-N	N	N
PAO1-L	N	N
PAO1-UW	N	N

Table 5.1 Summary of isolates that were susceptibility to *B. bacteriovorus* predation.

The ability of *B. bacteriovorus* to prey upon 253 clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates in addition to four sublines of *P. aeruginosa* was first assessed by spotting dilutions on the predator onto lawns of *P. aeruginosa* using YPSC double layer agar at two temperatures. The results represent three biological repeats. Y – indicates the appearance of clearing and therefore predation. N – the absence of clearing suggesting no predation.

5.2.2 **Predation in liquid culture**

Subsequently, a selection of 81 clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates were tested for their susceptibility to predation by *B. bacteriovorus* in liquid YPSC culture by monitoring OD_{600} for 72 h (§ 2.16). The 81 isolates were selected on the bases of evidence of lysogeny (§4.2.2.1).

Out of the 81 isolates tested, four appeared to have a temperate phage that impacted the results, noted as a decrease in OD_{600} in both the test and control samples in addition to the absence of *B. bacteriovorus* when viewed on the microscope. Additionally, bacterial debris was noted which is common during bacteriophage infection (Rabinovitch, Aviram & Zaritsky, 2003). These isolates were subsequently removed from further analysis. Of the remaining 77 isolates, visualisation of the growth curves highlighted two different growth patterns for *P. aeruginosa* isolates (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2 Growth curves of *P. aeruginosa* isolates in the presence if *B. bacteriovorus* in liquid culture.

The ability of *B. bacteriovorus* to prey upon clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates in vitro using YPSC broth was tested. The values represented here are the mean with 95% confidence interval of three biological repeats.

The first pattern, highlighted with PAO1, is indicative of no predation, within the first 24 h an increase in OD_{600} was observed for both the control and *B. bacteriovorus* positive samples, the OD_{600} then remained the same for the duration of the experiment. The majority of isolates tested (86%, 66/77) exhibited this pattern and were classed as non-sensitive to predation. The second pattern contains the isolates sensitive to *B. bacteriovorus*, shown using 80664 as an example. A minority (14%, 11/77) were found to have this patten and classified as sensitive to *B. bacteriovorus* predation. The first 24 h appear the same as pattern one with an initial increase in OD_{600} observed for both *B. bacteriovorus* treated and untreated samples. However, between 24 and 48 h there is a large reduction in OD_{600} suggesting predation by *B. bacteriovorus* which was confirmed by an increase in *B. bacteriovorus* observed using a microscope, the OD_{600} was then stable for the final 24 h.

No initial growth of *E. coli* S17-1 was observed suggesting that *B. bacteriovorus* was able to prevent growth of S17-1 despite being in YPSC broth. The pattern was not observed for any of the clinical *P. aeruginosa*.

5.2.3 Microscopy

To confirm that intraperiplasmic predation of *P. aeruginosa* by *B. bacteriovorus* was taking place, microscopy experiments were performed by Dr J. Tyson (§2.17) using a selection of nine clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates in addition to *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB and *E. coli* S17-1 (Figure 5.3). Analysis of the images identified that bdelloplasts were present in all the samples. This included PAO1, 80842, 80610, 84556, and 2943 which were all identified as non-sensitive to predation by *B. bacteriovorus* when considering double layer agar predation (§5.2.1).



Figure 5.3 Formation of bdelloplasts in clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates following *Bdellovibrio* exposure.

Fluorescence microscopy images of *B. bacteriovorus* HD100:Bd0064mCherry up to two hours post inoculation with nine *P. aeruginosa* isolates from cases of canine otitis externa in addition to *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* S17-1. Images represent one biological repeat. Scale bar is equivalent to $2 \mu m$.

5.2.4 Predation of pre-formed biofilm

During the analysis of 253 *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine OE it was found that 82% (207/253) of strains produced strong levels of biofilm and only 4% (10/253) produced no quantifiable biofilm under the tested conditions (§3.2.3). To consider *B. bacteriovorus* as an alternative therapy its ability to prey upon cells within a biofilm was assessed by exposing pre-formed *P. aeruginosa* biofilms to *B. bacteriovorus* (§2.18). This assay was only performed using seven

clinical *P. aeruginosa*, however, these results showed that PAO1 and 86% (6/7) of strains' pre-formed biofilms were significantly reduced in the presence of *B. bacteriovorus* at 29° C, while at 37° C there was no significant reduction in the levels of biofilm for PAO1, and only 71% (5/7) of the strains still showed a reduction. Interestingly, strain 467523 had no significant reduction in biofilm at 29° C but did at 37° C (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4 Level of pre-formed biofilms in the presence of *B. bacteriovorus*.

Pre-formed biofilms of seven *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine otitis externa were exposed and PAO1 were exposed to *B. bacteriovorus* and incubated at 29° C (left) and 37° C (right). Values shown represent one biological and 6 technical repeats, statistical significance was calculated using Welch's t-test. * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.001

5.2.5 Effect of ear cleaner on the viability of *B. bacteriovorus*

The use of an ear cleaner is common in cases of canine OE as they aid in the removal of debris from the ear canal (Swinney et al., 2008). As these products alone have been shown have some effect against clinical *P. aeruginosa* (Swinney et al., 2008; Steen & Paterson, 2012) the effect of the ear cleaner on the viability of *B. bacteriovorus* was investigated. Briefly this was performed by combining attack phase *B. bacteriovorus* with either Ca/HEPES or a commercial ear wash and monitoring recoverable *B. bacteriovorus* (§2.19).

This identified that after two hours of exposure the PFU/mL recorded was 1.7×10^7 and 1.7×10^8 for the ear wash and Ca/HEPES solutions respectively. However, after 24 h the mean PFU/mL in the ear wash had been reduced to only 34 PFU/mL while the recoverable number of predators in Ca/HEPES remained high (5.2×10^7) (Figure 5.5). This result highlighted that the presence of the ear wash had a significant impact (p<0.0001) on the viability of *B. bacteriovorus* after 24 h while in the attack phase when compared Ca/HEPES using Welch's t test.



Figure 5.5 Viability of *B. bacteriovorus* in the presence of commercially available ear wash.

B. bacteriovorus was combined with Ca/HEPES buffer and ear wash at 29° C. Viability was calculated by enumerating the *B. bacteriovorus* cultures every 15 min for 2 h and then again after 24 h. Values shown represent the mean of three biological repeats.

5.2.6 Detection of secreted predation-inhibitory products

Due to the large proportion of clinical *P. aeruginosa* that were identified as nonsensitive to predation by *B. bacteriovorus*, the presence of secreted inhibitory products was investigated by inoculating top agar containing a mixture of *B*. *bacteriovorus* and *E. coli* S17-1 with a spot of *P. aeruginosa* (§2.15). The predator:prey ratio in the overlay should allow complete clearing of the lawn as a result, any growth of the *E. coli* within the lawn around the *P. aeruginosa* suggests the inhibition of predation by *B. bacteriovorus* (Figure 5.6). Of the 253 clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates that were tested, a zone of inhibition was reported for 58% (147/253) of the isolates.



Figure 5.6 Agar plate photographs investigating the presence of products that inhibit predation.

B. bacteriovorus HD100 was combined with *E. coli* S17-1 in YPSC top agar, once dry the agar was inoculated with a spot of *P. aeruginosa* which was then incubated statically at 29° C and 37° C for 5 days. A. Shows an example prey where no zone of inhibition was identified. B. *P. aeruginosa* C5752-1 growth in the centre of the plate with a zone of turbidity as a result of *E. coli* S-17 growth within the top agar due to inhibition of *B. bacteriovorus*. C. A completely clear lawn of with no spot.

5.2.7 Identification of genes associated with sensitivity to *B*. *bacteriovorus*

Pan-genome analysis was performed using GFF3-files produced by Bakta combination with Roary (\$2.22.8). The pan-genome of the 35 *P. aeruginosa* clinical isolates contained a total of 14,938 genes. These were divided between core genes (n=4699), soft core genes (n=245), shell genes (n=1367) and finally cloud/accessory genes (n=8627).

The presence and absence of genes known to encode for inhibitory products was investigated (Figure 5.7), however no correlation was identified between the presence of these genes and non-susceptibility to predation.



Figure 5.7 Presence and absence of genes known to produce predation-inhibitory products.

Heatmap displaying presence and absence of hcnABC and psqAH in the genomes of 35 *P*. *aeruginosa* canine otitis externa isolates. Additionally, susceptibility to predation by *B*. *bacteriovorus* in liquid culture is shown Green – susceptibility to predation – Red – Not susceptibility to predation - Black – Not tested.

Subsequently, Scoary was performed to identify genes from the clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates associated with sensitivity to *B. bacteriovorus* predation. Two of the sequenced *P. aeruginosa* strains, 29828-2 and 464429, were not included in the liquid predation assay and were therefore not included in the Scoary analysis.

Scoary revealed 100 genes associated with susceptibility to *B. bacteriovorus* (p<0.05). Of the 100 genes, 6% (6/100) were duplicates and 2% (2/100) were hypothetical proteins and were subsequently removed from further analysis. The top 10 most associated genes are shown in Table 5.2

Gene	Function	P Value
	Phosphopantetheine-	0.000531
	binding protein	
	ATP-dependent	0.003079
	helicase	
zorA	Anti-phage defense	0.003079
	ZorAB system ZorA	
motB	Chemotaxis protein	0.003079
	MotB	
amrR	TetR family	0.013272
	transcriptional regulator	
	AmrR	
	TraG-N domain-	0.013272
	containing protein	
	DUF2158 domain-	0.013272
	containing protein	
	DUF3077 domain-	0.015369
	containing protein	
ivlB	thiamine	0.015369
	pyrophosphate-	
	requiring protein	
	DUF4142 domain-	0.015369
	containing protein	

Table 5.2 Summary of the top 10 results from Scoary analysis.

Roary analysis was paired with a trait table containing sensitivity to predation in the liquid predation assay and used to calculated genes that were overrepresented in the groups with Scoary.

5.2.8 *P. aeruginosa* phylogeny and *B. bacteriovorus* susceptibility

A phylogenetic tree was constructed containing 35 isolates from the present study in addition to 70 isolates listed in the PGBD (§3.2.6.4) and visualised containing susceptibility to *B. bacteriovorus* predation in a liquid culture assay (Figure 5.8). This identified that isolates that were susceptible to predation by *B. bacteriovorus* were not closely related and could be found in all three groups on the tree.



Figure 5.8 Phylogenetic tree of *P. aeruginosa* strains and relationship to susceptibility to *B. bacteriovorus*.

Mashtree with bootstrapping (100 replicates) was used to calculate the phylogenetic distances of the *P. aeruginosa* isolates from the present study in addition to 70 isolates from the *Pseudomonas* database to create a neighbour joining tree which was visualised using MEGA. Susceptibility to predation by *B. bacteriovorus* in liquid culture is shown in green.
5.3 Discussion

P. aeruginosa is not part of the microbiota of the canine ear but is frequently isolated from cases of chronic OE, and the nature of this pathogen often makes treatment difficult. Biofilm formation and antimicrobial resistance highlight the need for alternative treatments. In this study, *B. bacteriovorus*, a predatory bacterium with a unique biphasic lifestyle, was investigated to this end.

The ability of *B. bacteriovorus* to prey upon a lawn of clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates was first investigated using YPSC double layer agar. This was performed at two temperatures; 29° C which is commonly used for laboratory maintenance of *B. bacteriovorus* (Lambert & Sockett, 2008) while 37° C was included as it represents a clinically relevant temperature (Grono, 1970a). This found that 16% (40/253) of the clinical isolates were preyed upon by *B. bacteriovorus* with a larger proportion susceptible only at 29° C, which is in line with the optimum temperature of *B. bacteriovorus* as described above. Multiple sublines of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 have been identified, four of which, namely PAO1-QUB, PAO1-N, PAO1-L and PAO1-UW, were assessed as part of the present study and shown to have different physiological characteristics (Chapter 3). As such, it seemed appropriate to determine differences in *B. bacteriovorus* susceptibility, this identified that all of the sublines were non-susceptible to predation by *B. bacteriovorus*.

Further experiments using liquid co-culture found a similar number of clinical isolates susceptible to predation (14%;11/77). The formation of a bdelloplast, and therefore active predation by *B. bacteriovorus*, was confirmed using fluorescence microscopy. Interestingly, bdelloplast formation was observed

even where strains were reported as resistant to both predation assays such as *P*. *aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB.

Studies investigating the sensitivity of *P. aeruginosa* to predation by *B. bacteriovorus* are conflicting. Initial studies using *B. bacteriovorus* 109J, found that the tested *P. aeruginosa* strains were largely non-susceptible using liquid and top agar methods (Dashiff et al., 2011). In contrast, other groups have investigated the susceptibility of clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains to predation by *B. bacteriovorus* 109J and identified that predation was seen for a number of clinical isolates (Sun et al., 2017; Saralegui et al., 2022). Accurate comparisons cannot be made due to these groups using a different strain of *B. bacteriovorus* in comparison to the current study.

Shanks et al., (2013) tested a collection of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from ocular infections and found that 100% (10/10) of the isolates were susceptible to *B. bacteriovorus* HD100, using liquid co-culture only. Despite the difference in sample size, this is a higher susceptibility than has been reported in the present study. Other researchers investigating *P. aeruginosa* susceptibility to *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 have only used one host when demonstrating predation, therefore accurately assessing the prey range of *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 within *P. aeruginosa* strains is difficult (Iebba et al., 2014; Pantanella et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2023a). At the time of writing, the present study represents the largest panel of clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains that has been assessed for susceptibility to predation by *B. bacteriovorus*.

Interestingly, Tajabadi and colleagues (2023) identified a statistically significant difference between the CFU/mL of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 when grown in the

presence of *B. bacteriovorus* HD100. Between 24 h and 168 h there was ~1 log₁₀ CFU/mL reduction of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 in the presence of *B. bacteriovorus*. These results are similar to what was reported in the present study, as the presence of *Bdellovibrio* did not prevent the growth of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1. However, a difference in OD_{600} when *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 was grown in YPSC broth in the presence of *B. bacteriovorus* was not observed in the present study. This could be explained by differences that are known to exist between P. aeruginosa sublines. For instance, PAO1-UW has a 2.2 Mb inversion when compared to the original PAO1, moreover PAO1-DSM was found to outnumber other sublines during stationary phase, suggesting enhanced survival under these conditions (Klockgether et al., 2010). It is possible that differences between sublines could manifest as sensitivity to predation by *B* bacteriovorus. Alternatively, fluorescence microscopy performed as part of the present study identified bdelloplast, indicative of predation, for all the samples including P. aeruginosa PAO1. This means that some predation is taking place that is not observable with the methods used in this study. This likely means that observing OD_{600} alone is not enough to get an accurate understanding of the predatory-prey dynamics. The findings presented by Tajabadi et al., (2023) in combination with the findings of bdelloplast using fluorescence microscopy in the present study are interesting as it suggests that a subpopulation P. aeruginosa PAO1 is susceptible to predation. The host range of bacteriophage can be widened by coincubating a mixture of bacteriophage and host strains for multiple passages (Mapes et al., 2016). Evolution studies using Bdellovibrio spp. NC01 cocultured with *Pseudomonas* spp. NC02 for 2880 h found that although mutations did

occur, they did not significantly improve prey range or predation efficiency (Mulvey et al., 2023).

The formation of biofilms allows *P. aeruginosa* to better survive in its environment and significantly reduces the effectiveness of treatment in the case of OE (Fusconi et al., 2011; Pye, Yu & Weese, 2013; Robinson et al., 2019; Chan et al., 2019a), this can result in prolonged chronic infections (Pye, 2018). The high proportion of strong biofilm formers in the population of *P. aeruginosa* from cases of canine OE has been discussed previously (§3.2.3). Previous studies have shown that B. bacteriovorus 109J is able to remove pre-formed E. coli biofilm (Kadouri & O'Toole, 2005), however, more recently it has been shown that under conditions where biofilm is still growing, B. bacteriovorus can become immobilised in the matrix of the biofilm and therefore unable to reach prey cells (Wucher et al., 2021). Preliminary experiments investigating the removal of pre-formed P. aeruginosa biofilms highlighted some promising results at both 29° C and 37° C. This is in line with reports from other researchers (Iebba et al., 2014). Notably, after the preformed biofilm had been exposed to Ca/HEPES only for 24 h at 37° C, the OD₅₉₅ of the crystal violet stain was 0.71, this is a large reduction compared to OD₅₉₅ 2.46 after the first 24 h in LB. This suggests that the biofilm of P. aeruginosa is unstable when exposed to Ca/HEPES. A high concentration of calcium ions has been demonstrated to promote biofilm formation in Vibrio cholerae and result in a thicker biofilm for mucoid P. aeruginosa isolates (Sarkisova et al., 2005). Starvation, such as when in a nutrient depleted environment such as Ca/HEPES, can induce biofilm dispersal in multiple species including *P. aeruginosa* (Huynh et al., 2012), this is one explanation for the reduction in preformed biofilm that was found in the present work.

Ca/HEPES and dNB (dilute nutrient broth) or ddNB (double dilute nutrient broth) are used interchangeably by different groups investigating *B. bacteriovorus* (Lambert & Sockett, 2008; Dashiff et al., 2011; Kadouri & O'Toole, 2005). One group noted that the use of ddNB could maintain preformed biofilms on the surface of microtiter wells for up to 120 h (Kadouri & O'Toole, 2005). As biofilms seemed unstable when submerged in Ca/HEPES buffer, future investigation would require the optimisation of the method exhibited in the present study, this could start by investigating methods used by other groups (Kadouri & O'Toole, 2005; Iebba et al., 2014).

The potential for the use of *B. bacteriovorus* as a novel therapeutic is clear when considering other bacterial species (Atterbury et al., 2011; Willis et al., 2016). However, 88% of clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates were identified as non-sensitive in the agar predation assay in the present study. Unlike bacteriophage, which recognise very specific receptor sites, *B. bacteriovorus* is able to prey upon multiple genera of Gram-negative bacteria (Dashiff et al., 2011). Until recently the mechanism by which *B. bacteriovorus* recognised its prey was unknown. Caulton et al., (2024) identified a mosaic adhesive trimer (MAT) superfamily, a family of homologous proteins, localised at various points on the predator surface. These were found to be diverse, are thought to be responsible for the wide prey range observed in *B. bacteriovorus*. Six MAT constructs were screened for adhesion to an O-antigen array consisting of 26 glycans from 11 bacteria and one (Bd2439) showed strong binding to *Proteus mirabilis* OXK glycan and significant binding to glycans from *E. coli* K-235 and *Serratia*

marcescens. The O-antigen of *P. aeruginosa* is highly variable with the International Antigenic Typing Scheme (IATS) recognising 20 different serotypes (Liu et al., 1983; Liu & Wang, 1990). This could explain the difference in sensitivity to *B. bacteriovorus* that was found in the present study however, deletion of Bd2439 showed no defect in the predation (Caulton et al., 2024) highlighting that prey recognition is more complex than this and more work is needed to further understand predatory-prey interactions.

The differences between isolates may not be due to a defect in recognition, it could be attachment, invasion or another part of the life cycle. In fact, B. bacteriovorus has been shown to overcome LPS modification, capsules, and Slayers (Negus et al., 2017). To explore this idea, the presence of secreted inhibitory products was investigated. This found that 58% of the clinical P. aeruginosa isolates were identified to secrete inhibitory products. P. aeruginosa is known to produce three types of pyocins which are bacteriocins, and could be important when considering predation, as the Bdellovibrio may be sensitive to such bacteriocins (Michel-Briand & Baysse, 2002). Additionally, Mun and coworkers showed that Chromobacterium piscinae could produce cyanide up to concentrations of 800 µM, although just 200 µM was enough to significantly reduce the swimming speeds of B. bacteriovorus HD100, which in turn reduced the predatory efficiency of the Bdellovibrio (Mun et al., 2017). P. aeruginosa is also able to produce cyanide via the hcnABC genes (Blumer & Haas, 2000). Similarly, P. aeruginosa PA14 mutants have been used to detect inhibitors B. bacteriovorus 109J and found that quinolone compounds produced by the pqs quorum sensing system could inhibit predation of E. coli in the presence of these compounds (Hoshiko et al., 2021). The presence of indole has also been found

to inhibit *Bdellovibrio* predation when present in 2 mM concentrations (Dwidar, Nam & Mitchell, 2015). Indole is not produced by *P. aeruginosa* (Lee, Jayaraman & Wood, 2007) so this factor was not assessed in the present study. Investigation into the presence and absence of *hcnABC*, *pqsA* and *pqsH* did not correlate with sensitivity to predation by *B. bacteriovorus*. Hoshiko et al., (2021) found that even in the presence of *P. aeruginosa pqsA* or *pqsH* mutants, *B. bacteriovorus* was unable to prey upon the *Pseudomonas* and some inhibition was still seen, implicating another unknown factor in resistance to predation. Pan-genome analysis was performed using Scoary which identified 100 genes associated with sensitivity to *B. bacteriovorus*. Neither *hncABC* nor *pqsAH* were present in the Scoary analysis and so future work could focus on the results from Scoary to identify potential factors that could be involved in the resistance of predation by *B. bacteriovorus*.

When evaluating *B. bacteriovorus* as a therapeutic option for canine OE, it is also important to consider factors within the ear that could reduce the efficacy of predation. In addition to the factors discussed above, environmental factors can also have an influence on predation. One such factor that will be important to consider in the case of otitis is viscosity from excess debris in the ear canal, as it has been shown that as viscosity increases predation is slowed until it is almost completely inhibited, most likely as a result of a loss of motility (Im et al., 2019). This debris also prevents the proper function of some antimicrobials (Nuttall, 2016). Due to this, dogs with canine OE can be prescribed with ear cleaners, these are commercially available and often used alongside antibiotics. When the effect of a commercial ear cleaner on the viability of *B. bacteriovorus*, a 7 \log_{10} PFU/mL drop was reported after 24 h. The composition of ear clearers

varies but generally include cerumenolytics, surfactants, astringents, antimicrobials, and anti-inflammatories (Swinney et al., 2008). In this work, only one product was evaluated, TrizAural, which contains disodium EDTA dihydrate in addition to five other ingredients (Dechra, 2024). Tris-EDTA has been shown to have an antimicrobial effect against pathogens isolated from cases of canine OE (Wooley & Jones, 1983; Steen & Paterson, 2012; Swinney et al., 2008). It is therefore likely that the disodium EDTA dihydrate was responsible for the reduction in *B. bacteriovorus* viability. This also highlights that other products used in the ear could have a similar effect and will need to be investigated. Notably this will include antibiotics that are used to treat the infection as gentamicin and ciprofloxacin can inhibit *B. bacteriovorus* at 0.06 and 0.31 µg/mL respectively (Marine et al., 2020).

In the present study, *B. bacteriovorus* was assessed for its use as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of *P. aeruginosa*. Specifically, clinical isolates from cases of canine OE. A large proportion of the population were non-sensitive to predation however some sensitive isolates were also identified which highlights the potential of the unique predatory bacteria. Preliminary results were promising for the removal of pre-formed biofilm. Similarly, results identified the production of products that inhibit predation, further work investigating these products would give researchers a better understanding of how prey cells can resist predation and potentially uncover mechanisms to overcome these.

Chapter 6 General Discussion

The work described in this thesis has highlighted the potential for the use of novel therapies, namely bacteriophage and *B. bacteriovorus*, as alternatives to antibiotics for the treatment of *P. aeruginosa* infections in cases of canine OE. Adoption of a novel therapy for P. aeruginosa infections in canine OE could result in significantly improved clinical outcomes for patients with chronic antimicrobial resistant P. aeruginosa infections by reducing or eliminating the need for surgery. Additionally, the use of novel therapies may reduce the development of antimicrobial resistant isolates from this infection. This could reduce the burden of antimicrobial resistant infections seen in veterinary practices or extend the life of existing antibiotics currently used in practice. Some success has already been reported for the use of bacteriophage therapy to P. aeruginosa OE in both humans and dogs. Despite this, more research is needed investigating factors such as the effect of bacteriophage treatment on the ear microbiota and how the characteristics of the bacteriophage effect treatment. Additionally, multiple studies have shown successful applications of B. bacteriovorus in vivo although the use of this predator for treating OE has not been described previously. Moreover, the safety and capability of each of these alternative therapies has been demonstrated in humans and animals which supports the idea that they can be used for cases of OE as was the basis for the present study.

P. aeruginosa is an important nosocomial pathogen, in addition to being frequently isolated from patients with cystic fibrosis. Due to this, previous studies have focused on isolates from these sources and less is known about this pathogen's role in canine OE. To this end, the first part of the present study involved the characterisation of *P. aeruginosa* strains isolated from cases of

canine OE (Chapter 3). Acute OE is commonly associated with overgrowth of the natural ear microbiota, initially dominated by Gram-positive bacteria and yeast, then superseded by *P. aeruginosa* which commonly results in severe chronic infections. Two factors which are important in such chronic infections include antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation, it was therefore important to assess these factors for the collection of clinical isolates. A majority of clinical isolates in the present study produced strong levels of biofilm. Additionally, resistance to fluoroquinolones was also common, while resistance to other classes was relatively low. This finding supports evidence from the literature that these factors are involved in pathogenicity (Pye, 2018). The latter point is particularly important as fluoroquinolones are a common component of combined steroid, antibiotic, and antifungal products used to treat canine OE.

An important part of the present study was the use of whole genome sequencing to perform genomic analysis of 35 *P. aeruginosa* isolates. At the time of writing, this is the largest study using whole genome sequencing to investigate *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE sources. Previous studies have used sequencing of selected genes to identify mutations that confer resistance (Arais et al., 2016; Park et al., 2020), while others have performed whole genome sequencing of *P. aeruginosa* from canine sources that included some otitis samples but that was not the main objective of the work (Scott et al., 2019). The work presented by Hawkins et al., (2010) identified the potential for the use of bacteriophage to treat *P. aeruginosa* infections with a focus on clinical outcomes. Analysis of the assembled genomes can build upon this work widening our understanding of the host so that bacteriophage treatment can be better utilised for this type of infection in the future. An example of this was the identification of predicted

prophage regions in the genomes of the clinical *P. aeruginosa* which can prevent superinfection.

P. aeruginosa isolated from human infections are largely non-clonal with some highly successful epidemic clones and clonal complexes (Maatallah et al., 2011). MLST analysis of the OE isolates identified that a majority of isolates from the present study (80%) belonged to a unique sequence type. Interestingly, one of the canine isolates was found to belong to ST111 which is associated with antimicrobial resistant nosocomial infections (Oliver et al., 2015). Without more information it is impossible to speculate too much about this result, however the zooanthroponotic transmission of VIM-2 producing *P. aeruinogsa* has already been demonstrated by other researchers (Fernandes et al., 2018). Moreover, contact with a symptomatic dog can result in *Pseudomonas* transmission between dogs and people (Santaniello et al., 2020). Considering this, the significance of these infections from a one health perspective is highly important.

Phylogenetic analysis of canine isolates from the present study clustered along with human, animal and environmental isolates from other sources, suggesting that the isolates from dog ears were genomically diverse which supports the notion of non-clonal isolates from infection. Perhaps the most important finding from the sequencing was the identification of mutations that resulted in amino acid substitution and deletions that have been shown to confer resistance to fluoroquinolones. Hypermutable strains of *P. aeruginosa* have been isolated from chronic lung infections in humans facilitating the development of resistance, and mutations that confer resistance to almost all classes of antibiotics have been identified (López-Causapé et al., 2018). Consequently, it seems likely

that even with the development of a new antibiotic, resistance would develop, which highlights the need for alternative treatment strategies.

P. aeruginosa isolates implicated in canine OE may originate from the environment (Morris et al., 2017). Additionally, environmental isolates showed no statistically significant difference in pathogenesis when compared to clinical isolates (Vives-Flórez & Garnica, 2006). The presence and absence of virulence genes was investigated using the 35 clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE and compared using hierarchical clustering to other human, animal and environmental isolates. This highlighted that there is no specific virulence profile that predisposed an isolate for causing canine OE infections and supports the notion that these strains could have originated from the environment. As described in Chapter 4, it therefore seemed appropriate to isolate bacteriophage that originate from the same environment using environmental samples. To that end, samples from 19 sources, primarily wastewater but also other environmental water samples and samples from a dairy farm slurry, were collected.

In order to maximise its therapeutic potential, a given bacteriophage should have specific properties. Namely a strictly lytic lifecycle, broad host range and stability under a variety of environmental conditions (Fernández et al., 2019). Two bacteriophage with a predicted lytic lifecycle, a wide host range in regards to the clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates and the ability to control *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 in liquid culture were isolated as part of the present study. This also highlighted the limitations of isolating bacteriophage from the environment as a large proportion of the bacteriophage were predicted to have a lysogenic lifestyle. Another limitation of the bacteriophage isolated in the present study

was identified when the growth kinetics of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1-QUB was monitored in the presence of different bacteriophage isolated as part of this work. It was noted that for one of these, spontaneous regrowth was seen, this was most likely regrowth of subpopulations. Further characterisation of this finding would be an important next step.

Chapter 5 investigated the ability of *B. bacteriovorus* to prey upon clinical *P.* aeruginosa from cases of canine OE. The present study showed that B. bacteriovorus was able to prey upon a number of clinical P. aeruginosa isolates *in vitro*. Interestingly, fluorescence microscopy highlighted bdelloplast even for strains that appeared non-sensitive to predation in the other assays suggesting that some predation was taking place. This finding warrants further experimentation, as populations may initially appear non-susceptible to predation, however, over an extended period of time, or when growth is slower such as within a biofilm, come under control. This could also explain why preformed biofilms were significantly reduced in the presence of *B. bacteriovorus* even for non-susceptible isolates. This could also be important in infections where the host immune system is present. Experiments performed using zebrafish larvae have shown that B. bacteriovorus can act synergistically with the host immune cells, specifically neutrophils and macrophages (Willis et al., 2016). During severe cases of canine OE where ulceration is present, macrophages may be found in the ear canal. Ultimately, this could mean that even where a drastic reduction in *P. aeruginosa* is not seen from *B. bacteriovorus* predation, a positive outcome could still occur. Even in the absence of interaction with the immune system, B. bacteriovorus may suppress P. aeruginosa enough to result in reduced clinical symptoms, although more work would be required to confirm this.

Different bacteriophage have been used in therapeutic cocktails, and also in combination with antibiotics (Abedon, Danis-Wlodarczyk & Wozniak, 2021; Osman et al., 2023). Bacteriophage cocktails can be used to reduce the development of resistance to the virus, typically by targeting different host receptors while simultaneously increasing the number of strains that can be treated (Abedon, Danis-Wlodarczyk & Wozniak, 2021). Under certain circumstances, the use of a cocktail could reduce the host range due to competition between the viruses (Molina et al., 2022). Similarly, combining bacteriophage and antibiotics can have a synergistic effect but again could be antagonistic if an inappropriate combination is selected (Osman et al., 2023). B. bacteriovorus has been used in combination with antibiotics to evaluate synergistic interactions. As *Bdellovibrio* preys upon on Gram-negative bacteria, the presence of violacein, an antibiotic effective against Gram-positives, was assessed in co-cultures containing both Gram-positive and negative pathogens. Neither were effective at controlling the other target organisms. When used in combination the presence of both antimicrobial agents did not impact each other and in a coculture and both Gram-positive and negative were reduced (Im et al., 2017).

The future direction of this work could focus on the use of a combination of *B*. *bacteriovorus* and bacteriophage, as has already been demonstrated by two groups (Hobley et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2024). Hobley *et al.*, (2020) investigated the combined action of *B. bacteriovorus* and a bacteriophage that was reported to produce halo plaques on a lawn of *E. coli* prey. Through

experimental and mathematical studies, it was shown that within liquid cultures containing *E. coli* prey and both predations, despite the phage infecting the prey much more quickly, the rapid development of a phage resistant prey population allowed *B. bacteriovorus* to grow and together the two predators ultimately reduced the prey population to undetectable levels, something nether could do alone (Hobley et al., 2020). Similarly, Morris et al., (2024) identified that a combination of *B. bacteriovorus* and bacteriophage followed by solar disinfection could reduced the numbers of drug resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* to bellow the limit of detection.

If a combined therapy was found to be more effective, the efficacy of the treatment could be tested in an *in vivo Galleria mellonella* insect model. This model is preferred by researchers due to the lack of restrictive ethical rules, low cost, ease of use and finally the presence of an innate immune system (Ménard et al., 2021). As a result, the ability of bacteriophage to kill clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates from cystic fibrosis and canine OE has been assessed using this model (Olszak et al., 2015; Antoine et al., 2021). Moreover, no effect was seen when *G. mellonella* was injected with *B. bacteriovorus* (Shanks et al., 2013). A long-term aim of the present study would be to test a combination therapy for a case of canine OE that had reached a therapeutic end point and measure factors such as a reduction in *P. aeruginosa* and increase in *B. bacteriovorus* or bacteriophage or changes in tissues.

In conclusion, the work presented in this thesis has shown that *P. aeruginosa* isolated from cases of canine OE are genotypically distinct, with no particular virulence genes associated with this disease. Moreover, antimicrobial resistance, particularly to fluroquinolones and a strong level of biofilm formation is

common amongst *P. aeruginosa* isolates from this disease. Development of resistance through the acquisition of mutations was common amongst the clinical isolates and this highlights the need for alternatives to antibiotics. The work in this thesis has demonstrated that bacteriophage that infect and kill clinical *P. aeruginosa* can be readily isolated from the environment. Moreover, *B. bacteriovorus* was shown to prey upon several of the clinical isolates in multiple assays. The results highlight the potential of alternative therapies for the treatment of *P. aeruginosa* infections and the potential for reduced antibiotic use and in future work this could feed into an *in vivo* assessment which could significantly improve the outcomes of canine OE and other *P. aeruginosa* infections.

Chapter 7 References

Abedon, S.T. (2011) Lysis from without. *Bacteriophage*. 1 (1), 46–49. doi:10.4161/bact.1.1.13980.

Abedon, S.T. (2023) Bacteriophage Adsorption: Likelihood of Virion Encounter with Bacteria and Other Factors Affecting Rates. *Antibiotics*. 12 (4), 723. doi:10.3390/antibiotics12040723.

Abedon, S.T., Danis-Wlodarczyk, K.M. & Wozniak, D.J. (2021) Phage Cocktail Development for Bacteriophage Therapy: Toward Improving Spectrum of Activity Breadth and Depth. *Pharmaceuticals*. 14 (10), 1019. doi:10.3390/ph14101019.

Abedon, S.T., Kuhl, S.J., Blasdel, B.G. & Kutter, E.M. (2011) Phage treatment of human infections. *Bacteriophage*. 1 (2), 66–85. doi:10.4161/bact.1.2.15845.

Ackermann, H.-W. & Prangishvili, D. (2012) Prokaryote viruses studied by electron microscopy. *Archives of Virology*. 157 (10), 1843–1849. doi:10.1007/s00705-012-1383-y.

Adriaenssens, E. & Brister, J.R. (2017) How to Name and Classify Your Phage: An Informal Guide. *Viruses*. 9 (4), 70. doi:10.3390/v9040070.

Aendekerk, S., Diggle, S.P., Song, Z., Høiby, N., Cornelis, P., Williams, P. & Cámara, M. (2005) The MexGHI-OpmD multidrug efflux pump controls growth, antibiotic susceptibility and virulence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* via 4-quinolone-dependent cell-to-cell communication. *Microbiology*. 151 (4), 1113–1125. doi:10.1099/mic.0.27631-0.

Aeschlimann, J.R. (2003) The Role of Multidrug Efflux Pumps in the Antibiotic Resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and Other Gram-Negative Bacteria. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*. 23 (7), 916–924. doi:10.1592/phco.23.7.916.32722.

Aghaee, B.L., Mirzaei, M.K., Alikhani, M.Y. & Mojtahedi, A. (2021) Sewage and sewage-contaminated environments are the most prominent sources to isolate phages against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *BMC Microbiology*. 21 (1), 132. doi:10.1186/s12866-021-02197-z.

Ahmed, A.M., Nakagawa, T., Arakawa, E., Ramamurthy, T., Shinoda, S. & Shimamoto, T. (2004) New aminoglycoside acetyltransferase gene, aac(3)-Id, in a class 1 integron from a multiresistant strain of Vibrio fluvialis isolated from an infant aged 6 months. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 53 (6), 947–951. doi:10.1093/jac/dkh221.

Aird, D., Ross, M.G., Chen, W.-S., Danielsson, M., Fennell, T., Russ, C., Jaffe, D.B., Nusbaum, C. & Gnirke, A. (2011) Analyzing and minimizing PCR amplification bias in Illumina sequencing libraries. *Genome Biology*. 12 (2), R18. doi:10.1186/gb-2011-12-2-r18.

Aires, J.R., Köhler, T., Nikaido, H. & Plésiat, P. (1999) Involvement of an Active Efflux System in the Natural Resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to

Aminoglycosides. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 43 (11), 2624–2628. doi:10.1128/aac.43.11.2624.

Akasaka, T., Tanaka, M., Yamaguchi, A. & Sato, K. (2001) Type II Topoisomerase Mutations in Fluoroquinolone-Resistant Clinical Strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolated in 1998 and 1999: Role of Target Enzyme in Mechanism of Fluoroquinolone Resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 45 (8), 2263–2268. doi:10.1128/aac.45.8.2263-2268.2001.

Akremi, I., Merabishvili, M., Jlidi, M., Haj Brahim, A., Ben Ali, M., Karoui, A., Lavigne, R., Wagemans, J., Pirnay, J.-P. & Ben Ali, M. (2022) Isolation and Characterization of Lytic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Bacteriophages Isolated from Sewage Samples from Tunisia. *Viruses*. 14 (11), 2339. doi:10.3390/v14112339.

Aksyuk, A.A. & Rossmann, M.G. (2011) Bacteriophage Assembly. *Viruses*. 3 (3), 172–203. doi:10.3390/v3030172.

Alcock, B.P., Huynh, W., Chalil, R., Smith, K.W., Raphenya, A.R., et al. (2023) CARD 2023: expanded curation, support for machine learning, and resistome prediction at the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 51 (D1), D690–D699. doi:10.1093/nar/gkac920.

Allesen-Holm, M., Barken, K.B., Yang, L., Klausen, M., Webb, J.S., Kjelleberg, S., Molin, S., Givskov, M. & Tolker-Nielsen, T. (2006) A characterization of DNA release in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cultures and biofilms. *Molecular Microbiology*. 59 (4), 1114–1128. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.05008.x.

Amieva, R., Gil-Gil, T., Martínez, J.L. & Alcalde-Rico, M. (2022) The MexJK Multidrug Efflux Pump Is Not Involved in Acquired or Intrinsic Antibiotic Resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, but Modulates the Bacterial Quorum Sensing Response. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 23 (14), 7492. doi:10.3390/ijms23147492.

Andrews, S. (2010) Babraham Bioinformatics - FastQC A Quality Control toolforHighThroughputSequenceData.2010.https://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/[Accessed: 21December 2023].

Antoine, C., Laforêt, F., Blasdel, B., Glonti, T., Kutter, E., Pirnay, J.P., Mainil, J., Delcenserie, V. & Thiry, D. (2021) Efficacy assessment of PEV2 phage on *Galleria mellonella* larvae infected with a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* dog otitis isolate. *Research in Veterinary Science*. 136, 598–601. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.010.

Aoki-Komori, S., Shimada, K., Tani, K., Katayama, M., Saito, T.R. & Kataoka, Y. (2007) Microbial Flora in the Ears of Healthy Experimental Beagles. *Experimental Animals*. 56 (1), 67–69. doi:10.1538/expanim.56.67.

Apostolopoulos, N., Glaeser, S.P., Bagwe, R., Janssen, S., Mayer, U., Ewers, C., Kämpfer, P., Neiger, R. & Thom, N. (2021) Description and comparison of the

skin and ear canal microbiota of non-allergic and allergic German shepherd dogs using next generation sequencing. *PLOS ONE*. 16 (5), e0250695. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0250695.

Arais, L.R., Barbosa, A.V., Carvalho, C.A. & Cerqueira, A.M.F. (2016) Antimicrobial resistance, integron carriage, and gyrA and gyrB mutations in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from dogs with otitis externa and pyoderma in Brazil. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 27 (2), 113-e31. doi:10.1111/vde.12290.

Arora, S.K., Neely, A.N., Blair, B., Lory, S. & Ramphal, R. (2005) Role of Motility and Flagellin Glycosylation in the Pathogenesis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Burn Wound Infections. *Infection and Immunity*. 73 (7), 4395–4398. doi:10.1128/IAI.73.7.4395-4398.2005.

Asperen, I.A. van, Rover, C.M. de, Schijven, J.F., Oetomo, S.B., Schellekens, J.F.P., Leeuwen, N.J. van, Colle, C., Havelaar, A.H., Kromhout, D. & Sprenger, M.W.J. (1995) Risk of otitis externa after swimming in recreational fresh water lakes containing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *BMJ*. 311 (7017), 1407–1410. doi:10.1136/bmj.311.7017.1407.

Atterbury, R.J., Hobley, L., Till, R., Lambert, C., Capeness, M.J., Lerner, T.R., Fenton, A.K., Barrow, P. & Sockett, R.E. (2011) Effects of Orally Administered Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus on the Well-Being and Salmonella Colonization of Young Chicks v. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 77 (16), 5794–5803. doi:10.1128/AEM.00426-11.

August, J.R. (1988) Otitis Externa: A Disease of Multifactorial Etiology. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice*. 18 (4), 731–742. doi:10.1016/S0195-5616(88)50076-1.

Avidano, M.A., Cotter, C.S., Stringer, S.P. & Schultz, G.S. (1998) Analysis of protease activity in human otitis media. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*. 119 (4), 346–351. doi:10.1016/S0194-5998(98)70076-2.

Bajwa, J. (2019) Canine otitis externa — Treatment and complications. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*. 60 (1), 97–99.

Ballesté, E., Blanch, A.R., Muniesa, M., García-Aljaro, C., Rodríguez-Rubio, L., Martín-Díaz, J., Pascual-Benito, M. & Jofre, J. (2022) Bacteriophages in sewage: abundance, roles, and applications. *FEMS Microbes.* 3, xtac009. doi:10.1093/femsmc/xtac009.

Barbier, M., Damron, F.H., Bielecki, P., Suárez-Diez, M., Puchałka, J., Albertí, S., Santos, V.M. dos & Goldberg, J.B. (2014) From the Environment to the Host: Re-Wiring of the Transcriptome of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from 22°C to 37°C. *PLOS ONE*. 9 (2), e89941. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089941.

Bateman, F.L., Moss, S.M., Trott, D.J. & Shipstone, M.A. (2012) Biological efficacy and stability of diluted ticarcillin–clavulanic acid in the topical treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 23 (2), 97-e22. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2011.01018.x.

Baxter, M. & Lawler, D.C. (1972) The incidence and microbiology of otitis externa of dogs and cats in New Zealand. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*. 20 (3), 29–32. doi:10.1080/00480169.1972.33996.

Beharry, Z. & Palzkill, T. (2005) Functional Analysis of Active Site Residues of the Fosfomycin Resistance Enzyme FosA from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 280 (18), 17786–17791. doi:10.1074/jbc.M501052200.

Bergvall, K.E., Ahman, S., Mueller, R., Boehm, T., Chala, V., Fournel, S. & Navarro, C. (2017) Can topical hydrocortisone aceponate effectively control allergic otitis externa and reduce the risk of recurrence? A double-blinded, placebo-controlled, prospective study. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 28, 535.

Berk, R.S., Brown, D., Coutinho, I. & Meyers, D. (1987) In vivo studies with two phospholipase C fractions from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Infection and Immunity*. 55 (7), 1728–1730. doi:10.1128/iai.55.7.1728-1730.1987.

Berka, R.M. & Vasil, M.L. (1982) Phospholipase C (heat-labile hemolysin) of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: purification and preliminary characterization. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 152 (1), 239–245. doi:10.1128/jb.152.1.239-245.1982.

Bernheim, A. & Sorek, R. (2020) The pan-immune system of bacteria: antiviral defence as a community resource. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 18 (2), 113–119. doi:10.1038/s41579-019-0278-2.

Blanc, D.S., Nahimana, I., Petignat, C., Wenger, A., Bille, J. & Francioli, P. (2004) Faucets as a reservoir of endemic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonization/infections in intensive care units. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 30 (10), 1964–1968. doi:10.1007/s00134-004-2389-z.

Blondeau, J.M. (2009) New concepts in antimicrobial susceptibility testing: the mutant prevention concentration and mutant selection window approach. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 20 (5–6), 383–396. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00856.x.

Blumer, C. & Haas, D. (2000) Mechanism, regulation, and ecological role of bacterial cyanide biosynthesis. *Archives of Microbiology*. 173 (3), 170–177. doi:10.1007/s002039900127.

Bolard, A., Plésiat, P. & Jeannot, K. (2018) Mutations in Gene fusA1 as a Novel Mechanism of Aminoglycoside Resistance in Clinical Strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 62 (2), 10.1128/aac.01835-17. doi:10.1128/aac.01835-17.

Bondy-Denomy, J. & Davidson, A.R. (2014) To acquire or resist: the complex biological effects of CRISPR–Cas systems. *Trends in Microbiology*. 22 (4), 218–225. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2014.01.007.

Bondy-Denomy, J., Qian, J., Westra, E.R., Buckling, A., Guttman, D.S., Davidson, A.R. & Maxwell, K.L. (2016) Prophages mediate defense against

phage infection through diverse mechanisms. *The ISME Journal*. 10 (12), 2854–2866. doi:10.1038/ismej.2016.79.

Borriello, G., Paradiso, R., Catozzi, C., Brunetti, R., Roccabianca, P., Riccardi, M.G., Cecere, B., Lecchi, C., Fusco, G., Ceciliani, F. & Galiero, G. (2020) Cerumen microbial community shifts between healthy and otitis affected dogs. *PLOS ONE*. 15 (11), e0241447. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0241447.

Bouras, G., Grigson, S.R., Papudeshi, B., Mallawaarachchi, V. & Roach, M.J. (2024) Dnaapler: A tool to reorient circular microbial genomes. *Journal of Open Source Software*. 9 (93), 5968. doi:10.21105/joss.05968.

Bouras, G., Nepal, R., Houtak, G., Psaltis, A.J., Wormald, P.-J. & Vreugde, S. (2023a) Pharokka: a fast scalable bacteriophage annotation tool. *Bioinformatics*. 39 (1), btac776. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btac776.

Bouras, G., Sheppard, A.E., Mallawaarachchi, V. & Vreugde, S. (2023b) Plassembler: an automated bacterial plasmid assembly tool. *Bioinformatics*. 39 (7), btad409. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btad409.

Bourély, C., Cazeau, G., Jarrige, N., Leblond, A., Madec, J.Y., Haenni, M. & Gay, E. (2019) Antimicrobial resistance patterns of bacteria isolated from dogs with otitis. *Epidemiology and Infection*. 147, e121. doi:10.1017/S0950268818003278.

Bouteiller, M., Dupont, C., Bourigault, Y., Latour, X., Barbey, C., Konto-Ghiorghi, Y. & Merieau, A. (2021) Pseudomonas Flagella: Generalities and Specificities. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 22 (7), 3337. doi:10.3390/ijms22073337.

Brown-Jaque, M., Calero-Cáceres, W. & Muniesa, M. (2015) Transfer of antibiotic-resistance genes via phage-related mobile elements. *Plasmid*. 79, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.plasmid.2015.01.001.

Bruchmann, S., Dötsch, A., Nouri, B., Chaberny, I.F. & Häussler, S. (2013) Quantitative Contributions of Target Alteration and Decreased Drug Accumulation to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Fluoroquinolone Resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 57 (3), 1361–1368. doi:10.1128/aac.01581-12.

Brynildsrud, O., Bohlin, J., Scheffer, L. & Eldholm, V. (2016) Rapid scoring of genes in microbial pan-genome-wide association studies with Scoary. *Genome Biology*. 17 (1), 238. doi:10.1186/s13059-016-1108-8.

Buckley, L.M., McEwan, N.A. & Nuttall, T. (2013) Tris–EDTA significantly enhances antibiotic efficacy against multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in vitro. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 24 (5), 519-e122. doi:10.1111/vde.12071.

Bugden, D. (2013) Identification and antibiotic susceptibility of bacterial isolates from dogs with otitis externa in Australia. *Australian Veterinary Journal*. 91 (1–2), 43–46. doi:10.1111/avj.12007.

Burrows, L.L. (2012) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* twitching motility: type IV pili in action. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 66, 493–520. doi:10.1146/annurev-micro-092611-150055.

Cady, K.C., Bondy-Denomy, J., Heussler, G.E., Davidson, A.R. & O'Toole, G.A. (2012) The CRISPR/Cas Adaptive Immune System of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Mediates Resistance to Naturally Occurring and Engineered Phages. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 194 (21), 5728–5738. doi:10.1128/jb.01184-12.

Cady, K.C., White, A.S., Hammond, J.H., Abendroth, M.D., Karthikeyan, R.S.G., Lalitha, P., Zegans, M.E. & O'Toole, G.A. (2011) Prevalence, conservation and functional analysis of Yersinia and Escherichia CRISPR regions in clinical *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates. *Microbiology*. 157 (2), 430–437. doi:10.1099/mic.0.045732-0.

Caiazza, N.C., Merritt, J.H., Brothers, K.M. & O'Toole, G.A. (2007) Inverse regulation of biofilm formation and swarming motility by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA14. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 189 (9), 3603–3612. doi:10.1128/JB.01685-06.

Campbell, R.A., Farlow, J., Freyberger, H.R., He, Y., Ward, A.M., Ellison, D.W., Getnet, D., Swierczewski, B.E., Nikolich, M.P. & Filippov, A.A. (2021) Genome Sequences of 17 Diverse *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Phages. *Microbiology Resource Announcements*. 10 (19), 10.1128/mra.00031-21. doi:10.1128/mra.00031-21.

Carballo-Ontiveros, M.A., Cazares, A., Vinuesa, P., Kameyama, L. & Guarneros, G. (2020) The Concerted Action of Two B3-Like Prophage Genes Excludes Superinfecting Bacteriophages by Blocking DNA Entry into *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Virology.* 94 (15), 10.1128/jvi.00953-20.

Caulton, S.G., Lambert, C., Tyson, J., Radford, P., Al-Bayati, A., Greenwood, S., Banks, E.J., Clark, C., Till, R., Pires, E., Sockett, R.E. & Lovering, A.L. (2024) Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus uses chimeric fibre proteins to recognize and invade a broad range of bacterial hosts. *Nature Microbiology*. 9 (1), 214–227. doi:10.1038/s41564-023-01552-2.

Ceyssens, P.-J., Mesyanzhinov, V., Sykilinda, N., Briers, Y., Roucourt, B., Lavigne, R., Robben, J., Domashin, A., Miroshnikov, K., Volckaert, G. & Hertveldt, K. (2008) The Genome and Structural Proteome of YuA, a New *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Phage Resembling M6. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 190 (4), 1429–1435. doi:10.1128/jb.01441-07.

Chai, T.J. (1983) Characteristics of Escherichia coli grown in bay water as compared with rich medium. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 45 (4), 1316–1323. doi:10.1128/aem.45.4.1316-1323.1983.

Chan, B.K., Sistrom, M., Wertz, J.E., Kortright, K.E., Narayan, D. & Turner, P.E. (2016) Phage selection restores antibiotic sensitivity in MDR *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Scientific Reports*. 6 (1), 26717. doi:10.1038/srep26717.

Chan, W.Y., Hickey, E.E., Khazandi, M., Page, S.W., Trott, D.J. & Hill, P.B. (2018) In vitro antimicrobial activity of narasin against common clinical isolates associated with canine otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 29 (2), 149-e57. doi:10.1111/vde.12516.

Chan, W.Y., Hickey, E.E., Page, S.W., Trott, D.J. & Hill, P.B. (2019) Biofilm production by pathogens associated with canine otitis externa, and the antibiofilm activity of ionophores and antimicrobial adjuvants. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. 42 (6), 682–692. doi:10.1111/jvp.12811.

Chan, W.Y., Khazandi, M., Hickey, E.E., Page, S.W., Trott, D.J. & Hill, P.B. (2019b) In vitro antimicrobial activity of seven adjuvants against common pathogens associated with canine otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 30 (2), 133-e38. doi:10.1111/vde.12712.

Chandler, C.E., Horspool, A.M., Hill, P.J., Wozniak, D.J., Schertzer, J.W., Rasko, D.A. & Ernst, R.K. (2019) Genomic and Phenotypic Diversity among Ten Laboratory Isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 201 (5), 10.1128/jb.00595-18. doi:10.1128/jb.00595-18.

Chanyi, R.M. & Koval, S.F. (2014) Role of Type IV Pili in Predation by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *PLOS ONE*. 9 (11), e113404. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113404.

Chapman-McQuiston, E. & Wu, X.L. (2008) Stochastic Receptor Expression Allows Sensitive Bacteria to Evade Phage Attack. Part I: Experiments. *Biophysical Journal*. 94 (11), 4525. doi:10.1529/biophysj.107.120212.

Chaturongakul, S. & Ounjai, P. (2014) Phage-host interplay: examples from tailed phages and Gram-negative bacterial pathogens. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 5. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00442.

Chávez-Jacobo, V.M., Hernández-Ramírez, K.C., Romo-Rodríguez, P., Pérez-Gallardo, R.V., Campos-García, J., Gutiérrez-Corona, J.F., García-Merinos, J.P., Meza-Carmen, V., Silva-Sánchez, J. & Ramírez-Díaz, M.I. (2018) CrpP Is a Novel Ciprofloxacin-Modifying Enzyme Encoded by the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pUM505 Plasmid. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 62 (6), 10.1128/aac.02629-17. doi:10.1128/aac.02629-17.

Chen, R., Déziel, E., Groleau, M.-C., Schaefer, A.L. & Greenberg, E.P. (2019) Social cheating in a Pseudomonas aeruginosa quorum-sensing variant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 116 (14), 7021–7026. doi:10.1073/pnas.1819801116.

Chen, S., Zhou, Y., Chen, Y. & Gu, J. (2018) fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. *Bioinformatics*. 34 (17), i884–i890. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bty560.

Cholley, P., Thouverez, M., Floret, N., Bertrand, X. & Talon, D. (2008) The role of water fittings in intensive care rooms as reservoirs for the colonization of

patients with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 34 (8), 1428–1433. doi:10.1007/s00134-008-1110-z.

Chu, W.-H. & Zhu, W. (2010) Isolation of Bdellovibrio as biological therapeutic agents used for the treatment of Aeromonas hydrophila infection in fish. *Zoonoses and Public Health.* 57 (4), 258–264. doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2008.01224.x.

Chung, I.-Y., Sim, N. & Cho, Y.-H. (2012) Antibacterial Efficacy of Temperate Phage-Mediated Inhibition of Bacterial Group Motilities. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 56 (11), 5612–5617. doi:10.1128/aac.00504-12.

Clokie, M.R.J. & Kropinski, A.M. (2009) *Bacteriophages*. Methods in Molecular Biology. Totowa, NJ, Humana Press. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-164-6.

Clokie, M.R.J., Millard, A.D., Letarov, A.V. & Heaphy, S. (2011) Phages in nature. *Bacteriophage*. 1 (1), 31–45. doi:10.4161/bact.1.1.14942.

CLSI (2012) M02-A11: Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Disk Susceptibility Tests; Approved Standard—Eleventh Edition.

CLSI (2018) CLSI M100: Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing.

CLSI (2020) VET01S - Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Disk and Dilution Susceptibility Tests for Bacteria Isolated From Animals.

Coffey, B.M. & Anderson, G.G. (2014) Biofilm Formation in the 96-Well Microtiter Plate. In: A. Filloux & J.-L. Ramos (eds.). *Pseudomonas Methods and Protocols*. Methods in Molecular Biology. New York, NY, Springer. pp. 631–641. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-0473-0_48.

Coleman, S.R., Pletzer, D. & Hancock, R.E.W. (2021) Contribution of Swarming Motility to Dissemination in a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Murine Skin Abscess Infection Model. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 224 (4), 726–733. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiaa778.

Collins, M.D., Love, D.N., Karjalainen, J., Kanervo, A., Forsblom, B., Willems, A., Stubbs, S., Sarkiala, E., Bailey, G.D., Wigney, D.I. & Jousimies-Somer, H. (1994) Phylogenetic Analysis of Members of the Genus Porphyromonas and Description of Porphyromonas cangingivalis sp. nov. and Porphyromonas cansulci sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 44 (4), 674–679. doi:10.1099/00207713-44-4-674.

Colvin, K.M., Gordon, V.D., Murakami, K., Borlee, B.R., Wozniak, D.J., Wong, G.C.L. & Parsek, M.R. (2011) The Pel Polysaccharide Can Serve a Structural and Protective Role in the Biofilm Matrix of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *PLOS Pathogens*. 7 (1), e1001264. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001264.

Colvin, K.M., Irie, Y., Tart, C.S., Urbano, R., Whitney, J.C., Ryder, C., Howell, P.L., Wozniak, D.J. & Parsek, M.R. (2012) The Pel and Psl polysaccharides

provide *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* structural redundancy within the biofilm matrix. *Environmental Microbiology*. 14 (8), 1913–1928. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02657.x.

Comeau, A.M., Hatfull, G.F., Krisch, H.M., Lindell, D., Mann, N.H. & Prangishvili, D. (2008) Exploring the prokaryotic virosphere. *Research in Microbiology*. 159 (5), 306–313. doi:10.1016/j.resmic.2008.05.001.

Cotter, C.S., Avidano, M.A., Stringer, S.P. & Schultz, G.S. (1996) Inhibition of proteases in Pseudomonas otitis media in chinchillas. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*. 115 (4), 342–351. doi:10.1016/S0194-5998(96)70049-9.

Couvin, D., Bernheim, A., Toffano-Nioche, C., Touchon, M., Michalik, J., Néron, B., Rocha, E.P.C., Vergnaud, G., Gautheret, D. & Pourcel, C. (2018) CRISPRCasFinder, an update of CRISRFinder, includes a portable version, enhanced performance and integrates search for Cas proteins. *Nucleic Acids Research.* 46 (W1), W246–W251. doi:10.1093/nar/gky425.

Cox, G. & Wright, G.D. (2013) Intrinsic antibiotic resistance: Mechanisms, origins, challenges and solutions. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*. 303 (6), 287–292. doi:10.1016/j.ijmm.2013.02.009.

CPT (2011) *Phage DNA extraction modified Wizard method*. 2011. https://cpt.tamu.edu/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/Phage-DNA-extraction-modified-Wizard-method-07-12-2011.pdf [Accessed: 24 March 2024].

Crone, S., Vives-Flórez, M., Kvich, L., Saunders, A.M., Malone, M., Nicolaisen, M.H., Martínez-García, E., Rojas-Acosta, C., Catalina Gomez-Puerto, M., Calum, H., Whiteley, M., Kolter, R. & Bjarnsholt, T. (2020) The environmental occurrence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *APMIS*. 128 (3), 220–231. doi:10.1111/apm.13010.

d'Herelle, F. (1917) Sur un microbe invisible antagoniste des bacilles dysentériques. *Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Séances de L'Academie des Sciences*. 165 (11), 349–380.

Dashiff, A., Junka, R.A., Libera, M. & Kadouri, D.E. (2011) Predation of human pathogens by the predatory bacteria Micavibrio aeruginosavorus and Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. 110 (2), 431–444. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2010.04900.x.

Davison. W.C. (1922)THE BACTERIOLYSANT THERAPY OF BACILLARY DYSENTERY IN CHILDREN: THERAPEUTIC APPLICATION OF BACTERIOLYSANTS; D'HERELLE'S PHENOMENON. American Journal of Diseases of Children. 23 (6), 531–534. doi:10.1001/archpedi.1922.01910420062011.

Dechra (2024) *TrizAural*. 2024. https://www.dechra.co.uk/products/dog/non-prescription/trizaural [Accessed: 23 March 2024].

Defez, R., Andreozzi, A. & Bianco, C. (2017) Quantification of Triphenyl-2Htetrazoliumchloride Reduction Activity in Bacterial Cells. *BIO-PROTOCOL*. 7 (2). doi:10.21769/BioProtoc.2115.

Dégi, J., Moţco, O.-A., Dégi, D.M., Suici, T., Mareş, M., Imre, K. & Cristina, R.T. (2021) Antibiotic Susceptibility Profile of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Canine Isolates from a Multicentric Study in Romania. *Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland)*. 10 (7), 846. doi:10.3390/antibiotics10070846.

Diamond, G., Beckloff, N., Weinberg, A. & Kisich, K.O. (2009) The Roles of Antimicrobial Peptides in Innate Host Defense. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*. 15 (21), 2377–2392. doi:10.2174/138161209788682325.

Dickson, D.B. & Love, D.N. (1983) Bacteriology of the horizontal ear canal of dogs. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*. 24 (7), 413–421. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.1983.tb00381.x.

Diggle, S.P., Griffin, A.S., Campbell, G.S. & West, S.A. (2007) Cooperation and conflict in quorum-sensing bacterial populations. *Nature*. 450 (7168), 411–414. doi:10.1038/nature06279.

Dion, M.B., Oechslin, F. & Moineau, S. (2020) Phage diversity, genomics and phylogeny. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 18 (3), 125–138. doi:10.1038/s41579-019-0311-5.

Domínguez, M., Miranda, C.D., Fuentes, O., de la Fuente, M., Godoy, F.A., Bello-Toledo, H. & González-Rocha, G. (2019) Occurrence of Transferable Integrons and sul and dfr Genes Among Sulfonamide-and/or Trimethoprim-Resistant Bacteria Isolated From Chilean Salmonid Farms. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 10.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00748.

Dowah, A.S.A. & Clokie, M.R.J. (2018) Review of the nature, diversity and structure of bacteriophage receptor binding proteins that target Gram-positive bacteria. *Biophysical Reviews*. 10 (2), 535–542. doi:10.1007/s12551-017-0382-3.

Doyle, R.S., Skelly, C. & Bellenger, C.R. (2004) Surgical management of 43 cases of chronic otitis externa in the dog. *Irish Veterinary Journal*. 57 (1), 22. doi:10.1186/2046-0481-57-1-22.

Doyle, R.S., Skelly, C. & Bellenger, C.R. (2004) Surgical management of 43 cases of chronic otitis externa in the dog. *Irish Veterinary Journal*. 57 (1), 22. doi:10.1186/2046-0481-57-1-22.

Dubern, J.-F., Romero, M., Mai-Prochnow, A., Messina, M., Trampari, E., Gijzel, H.N., Chan, K.-G., Carabelli, A.M., Barraud, N., Lazenby, J., Chen, Y., Robertson, S., Malone, J.G., Williams, P., Heeb, S. & Cámara, M. (2022) ToxR is a c-di-GMP binding protein that modulates surface-associated behaviour in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. npj Biofilms and Microbiomes.* 8 (1), 1–12. doi:10.1038/s41522-022-00325-9.

Dwidar, M., Nam, D. & Mitchell, R.J. (2015) Indole negatively impacts predation by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus and its release from the bdelloplast. *Environmental Microbiology*. 17 (4), 1009–1022. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12463.

Ebani, V.V., Nardoni, S., Bertelloni, F., Najar, B., Pistelli, L. & Mancianti, F. (2017) Antibacterial and Antifungal Activity of Essential Oils against Pathogens Responsible for Otitis Externa in Dogs and Cats. *Medicines*. 4 (2), 21. doi:10.3390/medicines4020021.

Egorov, A.M., Ulyashova, M.M. & Rubtsova, M.Y. (2018) Bacterial Enzymes and Antibiotic Resistance. *Acta Naturae*. 10 (4), 33–48.

Eksztejn, M. & Varon, M. (1977) Elongation and cell division in Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Archives of Microbiology*. 114 (2), 175–181. doi:10.1007/BF00410781.

Elfadadny, A., Uchiyama, J., Goto, K., Imanishi, I., Ragab, R.F., Nageeb, W.M., Iyori, K., Toyoda, Y., Tsukui, T., Ide, K., Kawamoto, K. & Nishifuji, K. (2023) Antimicrobial resistance and genotyping of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from the ear canals of dogs in Japan. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*. 10, 1074127. doi:10.3389/fvets.2023.1074127.

Engelking, H.M. & Seidler, R.J. (1974) The involvement of extracellular enzymes in the metabolism of Bdellovibrio. *Archiv Fur Mikrobiologie*. 95 (4), 293–304. doi:10.1007/BF02451770.

Evans, K.J., Lambert, C. & Sockett, R.E. (2007) Predation by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100 requires type IV pili. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 189 (13), 4850–4859. doi:10.1128/JB.01942-06.

Farca, A.M., Cavana, P., Robino, P. & Nebbia, P. (2007) In vitro antimicrobial activity of marbofloxacin and enrofloxacin against bacterial strains isolated from companion animals. *Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde*. 149 (6), 265–271. doi:10.1024/0036-7281.149.6.265.

Fass, J. (2015) *apc*. https://github.com/jfass/apc.

Favrot, C., Steffan, J., Seewald, W. & Picco, F. (2010) A prospective study on the clinical features of chronic canine atopic dermatitis and its diagnosis. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 21 (1), 23–31. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00758.x.

Feldman, M., Bryan, R., Rajan, S., Scheffler, L., Brunnert, S., Tang, H. & Prince, A. (1998) Role of Flagella in Pathogenesis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Pulmonary Infection. *Infection and Immunity*. 66 (1), 43–51. doi:10.1128/iai.66.1.43-51.1998.

Feltman, H., Schulert, G., Khan, S., Jain, M., Peterson, L. & Hauser, A.R. (2001) Prevalence of type III secretion genes in clinical and environmental isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Microbiology.* 147 (10), 2659–2669. doi:10.1099/00221287-147-10-2659. Fenton, A.K., Kanna, M., Woods, R.D., Aizawa, S.-I. & Sockett, R.E. (2010) Shadowing the actions of a predator: backlit fluorescent microscopy reveals synchronous nonbinary septation of predatory Bdellovibrio inside prey and exit through discrete bdelloplast pores. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 192 (24), 6329–6335. doi:10.1128/JB.00914-10.

Fernandes, M.R., Sellera, F.P., Moura, Q., Carvalho, M.P.N., Rosato, P.N., Cerdeira, L. & Lincopan, N. (2018) Zooanthroponotic Transmission of Drug-Resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Brazil. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*. 24 (6), 1160–1162. doi:10.3201/eid2406.180335.

Fernández, L., Gutiérrez, D., García, P. & Rodríguez, A. (2019) The Perfect Bacteriophage for Therapeutic Applications—A Quick Guide. *Antibiotics*. 8 (3), 126. doi:10.3390/antibiotics8030126.

Fonseca, E.L., Marin, M.A., Encinas, F. & Vicente, A.C.P. (2015) Full characterization of the integrative and conjugative element carrying the metalloβ-lactamase blaSPM-1 and bicyclomycin bcr1 resistance genes found in the pandemic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clone SP/ST277. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 70 (9), 2547–2550. doi:10.1093/jac/dkv152.

Franklin, M., Nivens, D., Weadge, J. & Howell, P. (2011) Biosynthesis of the
Pseudomonas aeruginosa Extracellular Polysaccharides, Alginate, Pel, and Psl.
*Frontiers*FrontiersinMicrobiology.2.https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00167.

Fraser, G. (1961) The fungal flora of the canine ear. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*. 71, 1–5. doi:10.1016/s0368-1742(61)80001-5.

Fraser, M.A. & Girling, S.J. (2009) Bacterial carriage of computer keyboards in veterinary practices in Scotland. *Veterinary Record.* 165, 26–27.

Friedman, L. & Kolter, R. (2004) Two Genetic Loci Produce Distinct Carbohydrate-Rich Structural Components of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Biofilm Matrix. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 186 (14), 4457–4465. doi:10.1128/jb.186.14.4457-4465.2004.

Fusconi, M., Petrozza, V., Taddei, A.R., Vinciguerra, V., De Virgilio, A., Chiarini, F., Cirenza, M., Gallinelli, C., Conte, M. & de Vincentiis, M. (2011) Is biofilm the cause of chronic otitis externa? *The Laryngoscope*. 121 (12), 2626–2633. doi:10.1002/lary.22348.

Galanos, C. & Freudenberg, M.A. (1993) Bacterial endotoxins: biological properties and mechanisms of action. *Mediators of Inflammation*. 2 (7), S11–S16. doi:10.1155/S0962935193000687.

Galdino, A.C.M., Branquinha, M.H., Santos, A.L.S. & Viganor, L. (2017) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and Its Arsenal of Proteases: Weapons to Battle the Host. In: S. Chakraborti & N.S. Dhalla (eds.). *Pathophysiological Aspects of Proteases*. Singapore, Springer. pp. 381–397. doi:10.1007/978-981-10-6141-7_16.

Garbe, J., Wesche, A., Bunk, B., Kazmierczak, M., Selezska, K., Rohde, C., Sikorski, J., Rohde, M., Jahn, D. & Schobert, M. (2010) Characterization of JG024, a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PB1-like broad host range phage under simulated infection conditions. *BMC Microbiology*. 10 (1), 301. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-10-301.

Garneau, J.R., Depardieu, F., Fortier, L.-C., Bikard, D. & Monot, M. (2017) PhageTerm: a tool for fast and accurate determination of phage termini and packaging mechanism using next-generation sequencing data. *Scientific Reports*. 7 (1), 8292. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-07910-5.

Gatzeva-Topalova, P.Z., May, A.P. & Sousa, M.C. (2005) Structure and Mechanism of ArnA: Conformational Change Implies Ordered Dehydrogenase Mechanism in Key Enzyme for Polymyxin Resistance. *Structure*. 13 (6), 929–942. doi:10.1016/j.str.2005.03.018.

Gbadamosis, S. & Gotthelf, L. (2003) Abstracts from the American Academy of Veterinary Dermatology and American College of Veterinary Dermatology Annual Meeting. Monterey, CA, 9–13 April 2003. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 14, 210–236.

Gebru, E., Choi, M.-J., Lee, S.-J., Damte, D. & Park, S.C. (2011) Mutantprevention concentration and mechanism of resistance in clinical isolates and enrofloxacin/marbofloxacin-selected mutants of Escherichia coli of canine origin. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*. 60 (10), 1512–1522. doi:10.1099/jmm.0.028654-0.

Gigante, A. & Atterbury, R.J. (2019) Veterinary use of bacteriophage therapy in intensively-reared livestock. *Virology Journal*. 16 (1), 155. doi:10.1186/s12985-019-1260-3.

Girlich, D., Naas, T. & Nordmann, P. (2004) Biochemical Characterization of the Naturally Occurring Oxacillinase OXA-50 of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 48 (6), 2043–2048. doi:10.1128/aac.48.6.2043-2048.2004.

Gorzelnik, K.V. & Zhang, J. (2021) Cryo-EM reveals infection steps of singlestranded RNA bacteriophages. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*. 160, 79–86. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2020.07.011.

Grono, L.R. & Frost, A.J. (1969) Otitis externa in the dog. The microbiology of the normal and affected external ear canal. *Australian Veterinary Journal*. 45 (9), 420–422. doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.1969.tb15117.x.

Grono, L.R. (1970a) Studies of the Microclimate of the External Auditory Canal in the Dog: I. Aural Temperature. *Research in Veterinary Science*. 11 (4), 307–311. doi:10.1016/S0034-5288(18)34293-0.

Grono, L.R. (1970b) Studies of the Microclimate of the External Auditory Canal in the Dog: II. Hydrogen Ion Concentration of the Epithelial Surface of the External Auditory Meatus. *Research in Veterinary Science*. 11 (4), 312–315. doi:10.1016/S0034-5288(18)34294-2.

Guedeja-Marrón, J., Blanco, J.L., Ruperez, C. & Garcia, M. -E. (1998) Susceptibility of Bacterial Isolates from Chronic Canine Otitis Externa to Twenty Antibiotics. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine, Series B*. 45 (1–10), 507– 512. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0450.1998.tb00821.x.

Gurevich, A., Saveliev, V., Vyahhi, N. & Tesler, G. (2013) QUAST: quality assessment tool for genome assemblies. *Bioinformatics*. 29 (8), 1072–1075. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btt086.

Hächler, H., Santanam, P. & Kayser, F.H. (1996) Sequence and characterization of a novel chromosomal aminoglycoside phosphotransferase gene, aph (3')-IIb, in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy.* 40 (5), 1254–1256. doi:10.1128/aac.40.5.1254.

Haenni, M., Hocquet, D., Ponsin, C., Cholley, P., Guyeux, C., Madec, J.-Y. & Bertrand, X. (2015) Population structure and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from animal infections in France. *BMC Veterinary Research*. 11, 9. doi:10.1186/s12917-015-0324-x.

Hancock, R.E.W. & Speert, D.P. (2000) Antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: mechanisms and impact on treatment. *Drug Resistance Updates*. 3 (4), 247–255. doi:10.1054/drup.2000.0152.

Hancock, R.E.W. (1998) Resistance Mechanisms in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and Other Nonfermentative Gram-Negative Bacteria. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 27 (Supplement_1), S93–S99. doi:10.1086/514909.

Harvey, H., Bondy-Denomy, J., Marquis, H., Sztanko, K.M., Davidson, A.R. & Burrows, L.L. (2018) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* defends against phages through type IV pilus glycosylation. *Nature Microbiology*. 3 (1), 47–52. doi:10.1038/s41564-017-0061-y.

Hattab, J., Mosca, F., Di Francesco, C.E., Aste, G., Marruchella, G., Guardiani, P. & Tiscar, P.G. (2021) Occurrence, antimicrobial susceptibility, and pathogenic factors of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in canine clinical samples. *Veterinary World.* 14 (4), 978–985. doi:10.14202/vetworld.2021.978-985.

Hawkins, C., Harper, D., Burch, D., Änggård, E. & Soothill, J. (2010) Topical treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* otitis of dogs with a bacteriophage mixture: A before/after clinical trial. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 146 (3), 309–313. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.05.014.

He, G.-X., Kuroda, T., Mima, T., Morita, Y., Mizushima, T. & Tsuchiya, T. (2004) An H+-Coupled Multidrug Efflux Pump, PmpM, a Member of the MATE Family of Transporters, from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 186 (1), 262–265. doi:10.1128/jb.186.1.262-265.2004.

Hobley, L., King, J.R. & Sockett, R.E. (2006) Bdellovibrio Predation in the Presence of Decoys: Three-Way Bacterial Interactions Revealed by Mathematical and Experimental Analyses. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 72 (10), 6757–6765. doi:10.1128/AEM.00844-06.

Hobley, L., Summers, J.K., Till, R., Milner, D.S., Atterbury, R.J., Stroud, A., Capeness, M.J., Gray, S., Leidenroth, A., Lambert, C., Connerton, I., Twycross, J., Baker, M., Tyson, J., Kreft, J.-U. & Sockett, R.E. (2020) Dual Predation by Bacteriophage and Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Can Eradicate Escherichia coli Prey in Situations where Single Predation Cannot. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 202 (6), e00629-19. doi:10.1128/JB.00629-19.

Hockenberry, A.J. & Wilke, C.O. (2021) BACPHLIP: predicting bacteriophage lifestyle from conserved protein domains. *PeerJ.* 9, e11396. doi:10.7717/peerj.11396.

Hoff, S.E., Berger, D.J., Viall, A.K., Schrunk, D. & Noxon, J.O. (2021) Chemical and microbiological stability of diluted ceftazidime in three different solutions under three storage temperatures over a 28 day period. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 32 (5), 456-e124. doi:10.1111/vde.12997.

Hoffmann, A.R., Patterson, A.P., Diesel, A., Lawhon, S.D., Ly, H.J., Stephenson, C.E., Mansell, J., Steiner, J.M., Dowd, S.E., Olivry, T. & Suchodolski, J.S. (2014) The Skin Microbiome in Healthy and Allergic Dogs. *PLOS ONE*. 9 (1), e83197. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083197.

Hogardt, M. & Heesemann, J. (2010) Adaptation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* during persistence in the cystic fibrosis lung. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*. 300 (8), 557–562. doi:10.1016/j.ijmm.2010.08.008.

Hooper, D.C. & Jacoby, G.A. (2016) Topoisomerase Inhibitors: Fluoroquinolone Mechanisms of Action and Resistance. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*. 6 (9), a025320. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a025320.

Horna, G. & Ruiz, J. (2021) Type 3 secretion system of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. Microbiological Research. 246, 126719. doi:10.1016/j.micres.2021.126719.

Hoshiko, Y., Nishiyama, Y., Moriya, T., Kadokami, K., López-Jácome, L.E., Hirano, R., García-Contreras, R. & Maeda, T. (2021) Quinolone Signals Related to Pseudomonas Quinolone Signal-Quorum Sensing Inhibits the Predatory Activity of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 12. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2021.722579.

Howard-Varona, C., Hargreaves, K.R., Abedon, S.T. & Sullivan, M.B. (2017) Lysogeny in nature: mechanisms, impact and ecology of temperate phages. *The ISME Journal*. 11 (7), 1511–1520. doi:10.1038/ismej.2017.16.

Hu, B., Margolin, W., Molineux, I.J. & Liu, J. (2015) Structural remodeling of bacteriophage T4 and host membranes during infection initiation. *Proceedings*

of the National Academy of Sciences. 112 (35), E4919–E4928. doi:10.1073/pnas.1501064112.

Huang, H.-P., Little, C.J.L. & McNeil, P.E. (2009) Histological changes in the external ear canal of dogs with otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 20 (5–6), 422–428. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00853.x.

Huang, Y., Wang, W., Zhang, Z., Gu, Y., Huang, A., Wang, J. & Hao, H. (2022) Phage Products for Fighting Antimicrobial Resistance. *Microorganisms*. 10 (7), 1324. doi:10.3390/microorganisms10071324.

Hunt, M., Silva, N.D., Otto, T.D., Parkhill, J., Keane, J.A. & Harris, S.R. (2015) Circlator: automated circularization of genome assemblies using long sequencing reads. *Genome Biology*. 16 (1), 294. doi:10.1186/s13059-015-0849-0.

Huynh, T.T., McDougald, D., Klebensberger, J., Qarni, B.A., Barraud, N., Rice, S.A., Kjelleberg, S. & Schleheck, D. (2012) Glucose Starvation-Induced Dispersal of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Biofilms Is cAMP and Energy Dependent. *PLOS ONE*. 7 (8), e42874. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042874.

Hyun, J.-E., Chung, T.-H. & Hwang, C.-Y. (2018) Identification of VIM-2 metallo- β -lactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from dogs with pyoderma and otitis in Korea. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 29 (3), 186-e68. doi:10.1111/vde.12534.

Iebba, V., Santangelo, F., Totino, V., Nicoletti, M., Gagliardi, A., Biase, R.V.D., Cucchiara, S., Nencioni, L., Conte, M.P. & Schippa, S. (2013) Higher Prevalence and Abundance of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in the Human Gut of Healthy Subjects. *PLOS ONE*. 8 (4), e61608. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061608.

Iebba, V., Totino, V., Santangelo, F., Gagliardi, A., Ciotoli, L., et al. (2014) Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus directly attacks *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and Staphylococcus aureus Cystic fibrosis isolates. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 5. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00280.

Igimi, S., Takahashi, E. & Mitsuoka, T. (1990) Staphylococcus schleiferi subsp. coagulans subsp. nov., Isolated from the External Auditory Meatus of Dogs with External Ear Otitis. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 40 (4), 409–411. doi:10.1099/00207713-40-4-409.

Iida, Y., Hobley, L., Lambert, C., Fenton, A.K., Sockett, R.E. & Aizawa, S.-I. (2009) Roles of Multiple Flagellins in Flagellar Formation and Flagellar Growth Post Bdelloplast Lysis in Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 394 (5–10), 1011–1021. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2009.10.003.

Im, H., Choi, S.Y., Son, S. & Mitchell, R.J. (2017) Combined Application of Bacterial Predation and Violacein to Kill Polymicrobial Pathogenic Communities. *Scientific Reports*. 7 (1), 14415. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-14567-7.

Im, H., Kwon, H., Cho, G., Kwon, J., Choi, S.Y. & Mitchell, R.J. (2019) Viscosity has dichotomous effects on Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100 predation. *Environmental Microbiology*. 21 (12), 4675–4684. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.14799.

Irum, S., Naz, K., Ullah, N., Mustafa, Z., Ali, A., Arslan, M., Khalid, K. & Andleeb, S. (2021) Antimicrobial Resistance and Genomic Characterization of Six New Sequence Types in Multidrug-Resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Clinical Isolates from Pakistan. *Antibiotics*. 10 (11), 1386. doi:10.3390/antibiotics10111386.

Jeannot, K., Elsen, S., Köhler, T., Attree, I., van Delden, C. & Plésiat, P. (2008) Resistance and Virulence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Clinical Strains Overproducing the MexCD-OprJ Efflux Pump. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 52 (7), 2455–2462. doi:10.1128/aac.01107-07.

Jerzsele, Á. & Pásztiné-Gere, E. (2015) Evaluating synergy between marbofloxacin and gentamicin in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from dogs with otitis externa. *Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica*. 62 (1), 45–55. doi:10.1556/amicr.62.2015.1.4.

Jin, H.-J., Hwang, C.-Y., Kang, J.-H., Baek, S.-J. & Hyun, J.-E. (2021) In vitro antimicrobial activity of cold atmospheric microwave plasma against bacteria causing canine skin and ear infections. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 32 (5), 462-e126. doi:10.1111/vde.13012.

Jolley, K.A., Bray, J.E. & Maiden, M.C.J. (2018) Open-access bacterial population genomics: BIGSdb software, the PubMLST.org website and their applications. *Wellcome Open Research*. 3, 124. doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.14826.1.

Jończyk, E., Kłak, M., Międzybrodzki, R. & Górski, A. (2011) The influence of external factors on bacteriophages—review. *Folia Microbiologica*. 56 (3), 191–200. doi:10.1007/s12223-011-0039-8.

Jończyk-Matysiak, E., Łodej, N., Kula, D., Owczarek, B., Orwat, F., Międzybrodzki, R., Neuberg, J., Bagińska, N., Weber-Dąbrowska, B. & Górski, A. (2019) Factors determining phage stability/activity: challenges in practical phage application. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy*. 17 (8), 583–606. doi:10.1080/14787210.2019.1646126.

Jones, C.J. & Wozniak, D.J. (2017) Congo Red Stain Identifies Matrix Overproduction and Is an Indirect Measurement for c-di-GMP in Many Species of Bacteria. In: K. Sauer (ed.). *c-di-GMP Signaling: Methods and Protocols*. Methods in Molecular Biology. New York, NY, Springer. pp. 147–156. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-7240-1_12.

Jurczak-Kurek, A., Gąsior, T., Nejman-Faleńczyk, B., Bloch, S., Dydecka, A., Topka, G., Necel, A., Jakubowska-Deredas, M., Narajczyk, M., Richert, M., Mieszkowska, A., Wróbel, B., Węgrzyn, G. & Węgrzyn, A. (2016) Biodiversity of bacteriophages: morphological and biological properties of a large group of phages isolated from urban sewage. *Scientific Reports*. 6 (1), 34338. doi:10.1038/srep34338.

Kadouri, D. & O'Toole, G.A. (2005) Susceptibility of Biofilms to Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Attack. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 71 (7), 4044–4051. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.7.4044-4051.2005.

Kadouri, D.E., To, K., Shanks, R.M.Q. & Doi, Y. (2013) Predatory bacteria: a potential ally against multidrug-resistant Gram-negative pathogens. *PloS One*. 8 (5), e63397. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063397.

Kamali, E., Jamali, A., Ardebili, A., Ezadi, F. & Mohebbi, A. (2020) Evaluation of antimicrobial resistance, biofilm forming potential, and the presence of biofilm-related genes among clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *BMC Research Notes*. 13 (1), 27. doi:10.1186/s13104-020-4890-z.

Kaplan, M., Chang, Y.-W., Oikonomou, C.M., Nicolas, W.J., Jewett, A.I., Kreida, S., Dutka, P., Rettberg, L.A., Maggi, S. & Jensen, G.J. (2023) Bdellovibrio predation cycle characterized at nanometre-scale resolution with cryo-electron tomography. *Nature Microbiology*. 8 (7), 1267–1279. doi:10.1038/s41564-023-01401-2.

Katz, L.S., Griswold, T., Morrison, S.S., Caravas, J.A., Zhang, S., Bakker, H.C. den, Deng, X. & Carleton, H.A. (2019) Mashtree: a rapid comparison of whole genome sequence files. *Journal of Open Source Software*. 4 (44), 1762. doi:10.21105/joss.01762.

Kearns, D.B. (2010) A field guide to bacterial swarming motility. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 8 (9), 634–644. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2405.

Kiel, A., Creutz, I., Rückert, C., Kaltschmidt, B.P., Hütten, A., Niehaus, K., Busche, T., Kaltschmidt, B. & Kaltschmidt, C. (2022) Genome-Based Analysis of Virulence Factors and Biofilm Formation in Novel *P. aeruginosa* Strains Isolated from Household Appliances. *Microorganisms*. 10 (12), 2508. doi:10.3390/microorganisms10122508.

Kim, E., Choe, C., Yoo, J.G., Oh, S.-I., Jung, Y., Cho, A., Kim, S. & Do, Y.J. (2018) Major medical causes by breed and life stage for dogs presented at veterinary clinics in the Republic of Korea: a survey of electronic medical records. *PeerJ*. 6, e5161. doi:10.7717/peerj.5161.

Kirby, A.L., Rosenkrantz, W.S., Ghubash, R.M., Neradilek, B. & Polissar, N.L. (2010) Evaluation of otoscope cone disinfection techniques and contamination level in small animal private practice. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 21 (2), 175–183. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00783.x.

Klein, D.A. & Casida, L.E. (1967) Occurrence and enumeration of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in soil capable of parasitizing Escherichia coli and indigenous soil bacteria. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*. 13 (9), 1235–1241. doi:10.1139/m67-168.
Klinczar, A.M., Griffies, J.D., Bateman, F.L., Arnold, R.D., Jasper, S.L. & Brown, A.R. (2022) Determination of amikacin stability at 1% and 3% concentrations in four topical solutions over a 56-day period. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 33 (1), 23-e8. doi:10.1111/vde.13025.

Klockgether, J., Munder, A., Neugebauer, J., Davenport, C.F., Stanke, F., Larbig, K.D., Heeb, S., Schöck, U., Pohl, T.M., Wiehlmann, L. & Tümmler, B. (2010) Genome Diversity of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 Laboratory Strains. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 192 (4). doi:10.1128/jb.01515-09.

Köhler, T., Curty, L.K., Barja, F., van Delden, C. & Pechère, J.-C. (2000) Swarming of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Is Dependent on Cell-to-Cell Signaling and Requires Flagella and Pili. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 182 (21), 5990–5996. doi:10.1128/jb.182.21.5990-5996.2000.

Köhler, T., Michéa-Hamzehpour, M., Henze, U., Gotoh, N., Kocjancic Curty, L. & Pechère, J.-C. (1997) Characterization of MexE–MexF–OprN, a positively regulated multidrug efflux system of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Molecular Microbiology*. 23 (2), 345–354. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.2281594.x.

Kolmogorov, M., Yuan, J., Lin, Y. & Pevzner, P.A. (2019) Assembly of long, error-prone reads using repeat graphs. *Nature Biotechnology*. 37 (5), 540–546. doi:10.1038/s41587-019-0072-8.

Kongari, R., Rajaure, M., Cahill, J., Rasche, E., Mijalis, E., Berry, J. & Young, R. (2018) Phage spanins: diversity, topological dynamics and gene convergence. *BMC Bioinformatics*. 19 (1), 326. doi:10.1186/s12859-018-2342-8.

Korkmaz, H., Çetinkol, Y. & Korkmaz, M. (2013) Cross-contamination and cross-infection risk of otoscope heads. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*. 270 (12), 3183–3186. doi:10.1007/s00405-013-2539-4.

Kounnas, M.Z., Morris, R.E., Thompson, M.R., FitzGerald, D.J., Strickland, D.K. & Saelinger, C.B. (1992) The alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein binds and internalizes Pseudomonas exotoxin A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 267 (18), 12420–12423. doi:10.1016/S0021-9258(18)42291-0.

Koval, S.F., Hynes, S.H., Flannagan, R.S., Pasternak, Z., Davidov, Y. & Jurkevitch, E. (2013) Bdellovibrio exovorus sp. nov., a novel predator of Caulobacter crescentus. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 63 (Pt 1), 146–151. doi:10.1099/ijs.0.039701-0.

Kramer, A., Schwebke, I. & Kampf, G. (2006) How long do nosocomial pathogens persist on inanimate surfaces? A systematic review. *BMC Infectious Diseases*. 6 (1), 130. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-6-130.

Kregiel, D., Rygala, A., Kolesinska, B., Nowacka, M., Herc, A.S. & Kowalewska, A. (2019) Antimicrobial and Antibiofilm N-acetyl-L-cysteine Grafted Siloxane Polymers with Potential for Use in Water Systems.

International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 20 (8), 2011. doi:10.3390/ijms20082011.

KuKanich, K.S., Bagladi-Swanson, M. & KuKanich, B. (2022) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* susceptibility, antibiogram and clinical interpretation, and antimicrobial prescribing behaviors for dogs with otitis in the Midwestern United States. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. 45 (5), 440–449. doi:10.1111/jvp.13077.

Kutter, E. (2009) Phage Host Range and Efficiency of Plating. In: M.R.J. Clokie & A.M. Kropinski (eds.). *Bacteriophages: Methods and Protocols, Volume 1: Isolation, Characterization, and Interactions*. Totowa, NJ, Humana Press. pp. 141–149. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-164-6_14.

LaBauve, A.E. & Wargo, M.J. (2012) Growth and Laboratory Maintenance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Current Protocols in Microbiology*. 25 (1), 6E.1.1-6E.1.8. doi:10.1002/9780471729259.mc06e01s25.

Labrie, S.J., Samson, J.E. & Moineau, S. (2010) Bacteriophage resistance mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 8 (5), 317–327. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2315.

LaMarre, A.G., Straley, S.C. & Conti, S.F. (1977) Chemotaxis toward amino acids by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 131 (1), 201–207. doi:10.1128/jb.131.1.201-207.1977.

Lambert, C. & Sockett, R.E. (2008) Laboratory Maintenance of Bdellovibrio. *Current Protocols in Microbiology*. 9 (1), 7B.2.1-7B.2.13. doi:10.1002/9780471729259.mc07b02s9.

Lambert, C., Chang, C.-Y., Capeness, M.J. & Sockett, R.E. (2010) The First Bite— Profiling the Predatosome in the Bacterial Pathogen Bdellovibrio. *PLOS ONE*. 5 (1), e8599. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008599.

Lambert, C., Evans, K.J., Till, R., Hobley, L., Capeness, M., Rendulic, S., Schuster, S.C., Aizawa, S.-I. & Sockett, R.E. (2006) Characterizing the flagellar filament and the role of motility in bacterial prey-penetration by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Molecular Microbiology*. 60 (2), 274–286. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05081.x.

Lambert, C., Fenton, A.K., Hobley, L. & Sockett, R.E. (2011) Predatory Bdellovibrio Bacteria Use Gliding Motility To Scout for Prey on Surfaces. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 193 (12), 3139–3141. doi:10.1128/jb.00224-11.

Lambert, C., Hobley, L., Chang, C.-Y., Fenton, A., Capeness, M. & Sockett, L. (2009) A predatory patchwork: membrane and surface structures of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Advances in Microbial Physiology*. 54, 313–361. doi:10.1016/S0065-2911(08)00005-2.

Lambert, C., Lerner, T.R., Bui, N.K., Somers, H., Aizawa, S.-I., Liddell, S., Clark, A., Vollmer, W., Lovering, A.L. & Sockett, R.E. (2016) Interrupting peptidoglycan deacetylation during Bdellovibrio predator-prey interaction

prevents ultimate destruction of prey wall, liberating bacterial-ghosts. *Scientific Reports*. 6 (1), 26010. doi:10.1038/srep26010.

Lambert, C., Smith, M.C.M. & Sockett, R.E. (2003) A novel assay to monitor predator-prey interactions for Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus 109 J reveals a role for methyl-accepting chemotaxis proteins in predation. *Environmental Microbiology*. 5 (2), 127–132. doi:10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00385.x.

Larkin, M.A., Blackshields, G., Brown, N.P., Chenna, R., McGettigan, P.A., McWilliam, H., Valentin, F., Wallace, I.M., Wilm, A., Lopez, R., Thompson, J.D., Gibson, T.J. & Higgins, D.G. (2007) Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England).* 23 (21), 2947–2948. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btm404.

Lawson, P.A., Johnson, C.N., Bengtsson, L., Charalampakis, G., Dahlén, G., Moore, E. & Falsen, E. (2012) Peptostreptococcus *canis* sp. nov., isolated from subgingival plaque from canine oral cavity. *Anaerobe*. 18 (6), 597–601. doi:10.1016/j.anaerobe.2012.10.008.

Le, S., Yao, X., Lu, S., Tan, Y., Rao, X., Li, M., Jin, X., Wang, J., Zhao, Y., Wu, N.C., Lux, R., He, X., Shi, W. & Hu, F. (2014) Chromosomal DNA deletion confers phage resistance to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Scientific Reports*. 4 (1), 4738. doi:10.1038/srep04738.

Lee, C., Klockgether, J., Fischer, S., Trcek, J., Tümmler, B. & Römling, U. (2020) Why? – Successful Pseudomonas aeruginosa clones with a focus on clone C. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*. 44 (6), 740–762. doi:10.1093/femsre/fuaa029.

Lee, J., Jayaraman, A. & Wood, T.K. (2007) Indole is an inter-species biofilm signal mediated by SdiA. *BMC Microbiology*. 7 (1), 42. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-7-42.

Lefkowitz, E.J., Dempsey, D.M., Hendrickson, R.C., Orton, R.J., Siddell, S.G. & Smith, D.B. (2018) Virus taxonomy: the database of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV). *Nucleic Acids Research*. 46 (D1), D708–D717. doi:10.1093/nar/gkx932.

Léonard, C., Taminiau, B., Ngo, J., Fantini, O., Daube, G. & Fontaine, J. (2021) Preventive use of a topical anti-inflammatory glucocorticoid in atopic dogs without clinical sign of otitis does not affect ear canal microbiota and mycobiota. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 32 (4), 355-e98. doi:10.1111/vde.12977.

Leonard, C., Thiry, D., Taminiau, B., Daube, G. & Fontaine, J. (2022) External Ear Canal Evaluation in Dogs with Chronic Suppurative Otitis Externa: Comparison of Direct Cytology, Bacterial Culture and 16S Amplicon Profiling. *Veterinary Sciences*. 9 (7), 366. doi:10.3390/vetsci9070366.

Leprince, A. & Mahillon, J. (2023) Phage Adsorption to Gram-Positive Bacteria. *Viruses*. 15 (1), 196. doi:10.3390/v15010196.

Lerner, T.R., Lovering, A.L., Bui, N.K., Uchida, K., Aizawa, S., Vollmer, W. & Sockett, R.E. (2012) Specialized peptidoglycan hydrolases sculpt the intra-

bacterial niche of predatory Bdellovibrio and increase population fitness. *PLoS pathogens*. 8 (2), e1002524. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002524.

Li, F., Hou, C.-F.D., Lokareddy, R.K., Yang, R., Forti, F., Briani, F. & Cingolani, G. (2023) High-resolution cryo-EM structure of the Pseudomonas bacteriophage E217. *Nature Communications*. 14 (1), 4052. doi:10.1038/s41467-023-39756-z.

Li, H. (2013) Seqtk. https://github.com/lh3/seqtk.

Li, H. (2018) Minimap2: pairwise alignment for nucleotide sequences. *Bioinformatics*. 34 (18), 3094–3100. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bty191.

Li, H., Handsaker, B., Wysoker, A., Fennell, T., Ruan, J., Homer, N., Marth, G., Abecasis, G., Durbin, R., & 1000 Genome Project Data Processing Subgroup (2009) The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics*. 25 (16), 2078–2079. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btp352.

Li, N., Zeng, Y., Wang, M., Bao, R., Chen, Y., Li, X., Pan, J., Zhu, T., Hu, B. & Tan, D. (2022) Characterization of Phage Resistance and Their Impacts on Bacterial Fitness in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology Spectrum*. 10 (5), e02072-22. doi:10.1128/spectrum.02072-22.

Li, X.-Z., Poole, K. & Nikaido, H. (2003) Contributions of MexAB-OprM and an EmrE Homolog to Intrinsic Resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to Aminoglycosides and Dyes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 47 (1), 27–33. doi:10.1128/aac.47.1.27-33.2003.

Li, Y., Mima, T., Komori, Y., Morita, Y., Kuroda, T., Mizushima, T. & Tsuchiya, T. (2003) A new member of the tripartite multidrug efflux pumps, MexVW-OprM, in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 52 (4), 572–575. doi:10.1093/jac/dkg390.

Lima, J.L. da C., Alves, L.R., Jacomé, P.R.L. de A., Bezerra Neto, J.P., Maciel, M.A.V. & Morais, M.M.C. de (2018) Biofilm production by clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and structural changes in LasR protein of isolates non biofilm-producing. *The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 22 (2), 129–136. doi:10.1016/j.bjid.2018.03.003.

Liu, B., Zheng, D., Zhou, S., Chen, L. & Yang, J. (2021) VFDB 2022: a general classification scheme for bacterial virulence factors. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 50 (D1), D912–D917. doi:10.1093/nar/gkab1107.

Liu, D., Van Belleghem, J.D., de Vries, C.R., Burgener, E., Chen, Q., Manasherob, R., Aronson, J.R., Amanatullah, D.F., Tamma, P.D. & Suh, G.A. (2021b) The Safety and Toxicity of Phage Therapy: A Review of Animal and Clinical Studies. *Viruses*. 13 (7), 1268. doi:10.3390/v13071268.

Liu, P., Matsimoto, H., Kusama, H. & Bergan, T. (1983) Survey of Heat-Stable, Major Somatic Antigens of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*†. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 33 (2), 256–264. doi:10.1099/00207713-33-2-256. Liu, P.V. & Wang, S. (1990) Three new major somatic antigens of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 28 (5), 922–925. doi:10.1128/jcm.28.5.922-925.1990.

Liu, Y., Guo, W., Wang, W., Zhang, H. & Jin, Y. (2023a) *In situ* forming hydrogel loaded with predatory bacteria treats drug-resistant corneal infection. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 364, 393–405. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2023.10.040.

Liu, Y., Zhuang, B., Yuan, B., Zhang, H., Li, J., Wang, W., Li, R., Du, L., Ding, P. & Jin, Y. (2023b) Predatory bacterial hydrogels for topical treatment of infected wounds. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*. 13 (1), 315–326. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2022.05.005.

López-Causapé, C., Cabot, G., del Barrio-Tofiño, E. & Oliver, A. (2018) The Versatile Mutational Resistome of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 9. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.00685.

Lund, E.M., Armstrong, P.J., Kirk, C.A., Kolar, L.M. & Klausner, J.S. (1999) Health status and population characteristics of dogs and cats examined at private veterinary practices in the United States. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical* Association. 214 (9), 1336–1341. doi:10.2460/javma.1999.214.09.1336.

Lundman, L., Harada, T., Santi, P.A., Juhn, S.K., Morizono, T. & Bagger-Sjöbäck, D. (1992) Inner Ear Damage and Passage through the round Window Membrane of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Exotoxin a in a Chinchilla Model. *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology.* 101 (5), 437–444. doi:10.1177/000348949210100511.

Luria, S.E. & Delbrück, M. (1943) MUTATIONS OF BACTERIA FROM VIRUS SENSITIVITY TO VIRUS RESISTANCE. *Genetics*. 28 (6), 491–511. doi:10.1093/genetics/28.6.491.

Łusiak-Szelachowska, M., Międzybrodzki, R., Drulis-Kawa, Z., Cater, K., Knežević, P., Winogradow, C., Amaro, K., Jończyk-Matysiak, E., Weber-Dąbrowska, B., Rękas, J. & Górski, A. (2022) Bacteriophages and antibiotic interactions in clinical practice: what we have learned so far. *Journal of Biomedical Science*. 29 (1), 23. doi:10.1186/s12929-022-00806-1.

Lyskova, P., Vydrzalova, M. & Mazurova, J. (2007) Identification and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Bacteria and Yeasts Isolated from Healthy Dogs and Dogs with Otitis Externa. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A*. 54 (10), 559–563. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0442.2007.00996.x.

Ma, L., Jackson, K.D., Landry, R.M., Parsek, M.R. & Wozniak, D.J. (2006) Analysis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Conditional Psl Variants Reveals Roles for the Psl Polysaccharide in Adhesion and Maintaining Biofilm Structure Postattachment. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 188 (23), 8213–8221. doi:10.1128/jb.01202-06. Maatallah, M., Cheriaa, J., Backhrouf, A., Iversen, A., Grundmann, H., Do, T., Lanotte, P., Mastouri, M., Elghmati, M.S., Rojo, F., Mejdi, S. & Giske, C.G. (2011) Population structure of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from five Mediterranean countries: evidence for frequent recombination and epidemic occurrence of CC235. *PloS One*. 6 (10), e25617. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0025617.

Machado, C.S., Seeger, M.G., Moreira, K.S., Burgo, T.A.L., Iglesias, B.A., Vogel, F.S.F. & Cargnelutti, J.F. (2022) *In vitro* porphyrin-based photodynamic therapy against mono and polyculture of multidrug-resistant bacteria isolated from integumentary infections in animals. *Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy*. 40, 103179. doi:10.1016/j.pdpdt.2022.103179.

Madigan, M., Martinko, J., Stahl, D. & Clark, D. (2010) *Brock Biology of Microorganisms (13th Edition)*. 13th edition. Pearson Education.

Magin, V., Garrec, N. & Andrés, Y. (2019) Selection of Bacteriophages to Control In Vitro 24 h Old Biofilm of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolated from Drinking and Thermal Water. *Viruses*. 11 (8), 749. doi:10.3390/v11080749.

Mahmoud, K.K. & Koval, S.F. (2010) Characterization of type IV pili in the life cycle of the predator bacterium Bdellovibrio. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*. 156 (Pt 4), 1040–1051. doi:10.1099/mic.0.036137-0.

Mapes, A.C., Trautner, B.W., Liao, K.S. & Ramig, R.F. (2016) Development of expanded host range phage active on biofilms of multi-drug resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Bacteriophage.* 6 (1), e1096995. doi:10.1080/21597081.2015.1096995.

Marine, E., Milner, D.S., Lambert, C., Sockett, R.E. & Pos, K.M. (2020) A novel method to determine antibiotic sensitivity in Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus reveals a DHFR-dependent natural trimethoprim resistance. *Scientific Reports*. 10 (1), 5315. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-62014-x.

Markelova, N.Y. (2010) Predacious bacteria, Bdellovibrio with potential for biocontrol. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*. 213 (6), 428–431. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.08.004.

Matar, G.M., Ramlawi, F., Hijazi, N., Khneisser, I. & Abdelnoor, A.M. (2002) Transcription Levels of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Exotoxin A Gene and Severity of Symptoms in Patients with Otitis Externa. *Current Microbiology*. 45 (5), 350–354. doi:10.1007/s00284-002-3703-z.

Mauldin, E.A., Scott, D.W., Miller, W.H. & Smith, C.A. (1997) Malassezia dermatitis in the dog: a retrospective histopathological and immunopathological study of 86 cases (1990–95). *Veterinary Dermatology*. 8 (3), 191–202. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3164.1997.d01-15.x.

May, E.R., Ratliff, B.E. & Bemis, D.A. (2019) Antibacterial effect of N-acetylcysteine in combination with antimicrobials on common canine otitis

externa bacterial isolates. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 30 (6), 531-e161. doi:10.1111/vde.12795.

McCready, A.R., Paczkowski, J.E., Cong, J.-P. & Bassler, B.L. (2019) An autoinducer-independent RhlR quorum-sensing receptor enables analysis of RhlR regulation. *PLOS Pathogens*. 15 (6), e1007820. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007820.

Mekić, S., Matanović, K. & Šeol, B. (2011) Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from dogs with otitis externa. *Veterinary Record*. 169 (5), 125–125. doi:10.1136/vr.d2393.

Ménard, G., Rouillon, A., Cattoir, V. & Donnio, P.-Y. (2021) Galleria mellonella as a Suitable Model of Bacterial Infection: Past, Present and Future. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 11. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2021.782733.

Merrill, B.D., Ward, A.T., Grose, J.H. & Hope, S. (2016) Software-based analysis of bacteriophage genomes, physical ends, and packaging strategies. *BMC Genomics*. 17 (1), 679. doi:10.1186/s12864-016-3018-2.

Metry, C.A., Maddox, C.W., Dirikolu, L., Johnson, Y.J. & Campbell, K.L. (2012) Determination of enrofloxacin stability and in vitro efficacy against Staphylococcus pseudintermedius and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in four ear cleaner solutions over a 28 day period. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 23 (1), 23-e6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2011.00999.x.

Mi, Y., He, Y., Mi, J., Huang, Y., Fan, H., Song, L., An, X., Xu, S., Li, M. & Tong, Y. (2023) Genetic and Phenotypic Analysis of Phage-Resistant Mutant Fitness Triggered by Phage-Host Interactions. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 24 (21), 15594. doi:10.3390/ijms242115594.

Michalska, M. & Wolf, P. (2015) Pseudomonas Exotoxin A: optimized by evolution for effective killing. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 6. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00963.

Michel-Briand, Y. & Baysse, C. (2002) The pyocins of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. Biochimie. 84 (5), 499–510. doi:10.1016/S0300-9084(02)01422-0.

Millard, A. (2023) taxmyPHAGE. https://github.com/amillard/tax_myPHAGE.

Milner, D.S., Ray, L.J., Saxon, E.B., Lambert, C., Till, R., Fenton, A.K. & Sockett, R.E. (2020) DivIVA Controls Progeny Morphology and Diverse ParA Proteins Regulate Cell Division or Gliding Motility in Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 11, 542. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.00542.

Mima, T., Joshi, S., Gomez-Escalada, M. & Schweizer, H.P. (2007) Identification and Characterization of TriABC-OpmH, a Triclosan Efflux Pump of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Requiring Two Membrane Fusion Proteins. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 189 (21), 7600–7609. doi:10.1128/jb.00850-07. Mima, T., Kohira, N., Li, Y., Sekiya, H., Ogawa, W., Kuroda, T. & Tsuchiya, T. (2009) Gene cloning and characteristics of the RND-type multidrug efflux pump MuxABC-OpmB possessing two RND components in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology*. 155 (11), 3509–3517. doi:10.1099/mic.0.031260-0.

Mima, T., Sekiya, H., Mizushima, T., Kuroda, T. & Tsuchiya, T. (2005) Gene Cloning and Properties of the RND-Type Multidrug Efflux Pumps MexPQ-OpmE and MexMN-OprM from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology and Immunology*. 49 (11), 999–1002. doi:10.1111/j.1348-0421.2005.tb03696.x.

Molina, F., Menor-Flores, M., Fernández, L., Vega-Rodríguez, M.A. & García, P. (2022) Systematic analysis of putative phage-phage interactions on minimumsized phage cocktails. *Scientific Reports*. 12 (1), 2458. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-06422-1.

Montie, T.C., Doyle-Huntzinger, D., Craven, R.C. & Holder, I.A. (1982) Loss of virulence associated with absence of flagellum in an isogenic mutant of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in the burned-mouse model. *Infection and Immunity*. 38 (3), 1296–1298. doi:10.1128/iai.38.3.1296-1298.1982.

Moradali, M.F., Ghods, S. & Rehm, B.H.A. (2017) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Lifestyle: A Paradigm for Adaptation, Survival, and Persistence. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 7. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2017.00039.

Moraru, C., Varsani, A. & Kropinski, A.M. (2020) VIRIDIC—A Novel Tool to Calculate the Intergenomic Similarities of Prokaryote-Infecting Viruses. *Viruses*. 12 (11), 1268. doi:10.3390/v12111268.

Morehouse, K.A., Hobley, L., Capeness, M. & Sockett, R.E. (2011) Three motAB stator gene products in Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus contribute to motility of a single flagellum during predatory and prey-independent growth. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 193 (4), 932–943. doi:10.1128/JB.00941-10.

Morris, D.O. (2004) Medical therapy of otitis externa and otitis media. *Veterinary Clinics: Small Animal Practice*. 34 (2), 541–555. doi:10.1016/j.cvsm.2003.10.009.

Morris, D.O., Davis, M.F., Palmeiro, B.S., O'Shea, K. & Rankin, S.C. (2017) Molecular and epidemiological characterization of canine Pseudomonas otitis using a prospective case-control study design. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 28 (1), 118-e25. doi:10.1111/vde.12347.

Morris, T.C., Reyneke, B., Havenga, B., Khan, S. & Khan, W. (2024) Simultaneous *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus*–Bacteriophage dosing with SODIS for treatment of environmental water sources. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*. 12 (2), 112359. doi:10.1016/j.jece.2024.112359.

Moulari, B., Pellequer, Y., Chaumont, J., Guillaume, Y. & Millet, J. (2007) In vitro antimicrobial activity of the leaf extract of Harungana madagascariensis Lam. ex Poir. (Hypericaceae) against strains causing otitis externa in dogs and

cats. *Acta Veterinaria Hungarica*. 55 (1), 97–105. doi:10.1556/avet.55.2007.1.10.

Mulcahy, H., Charron-Mazenod, L. & Lewenza, S. (2008) Extracellular DNA Chelates Cations and Induces Antibiotic Resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Biofilms. *PLOS Pathogens*. 4 (11), e1000213. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000213.

Mulvey, K., Brosnan, K., Galvin, M., Mohr, S., Muldowney, L., Oser, M. & Williams, L.E. (2023) Parallel Evolution in Predatory Bdellovibrio sp. NC01 during Long-Term Coculture with a Single Prey Strain. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 89 (1), e01776-22. doi:10.1128/aem.01776-22.

Mun, W., Kwon, H., Im, H., Choi, S.Y., Monnappa, A.K. & Mitchell, R.J. (2017) Cyanide Production by Chromobacterium piscinae Shields It from Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100 Predation. *mBio.* 8 (6), 10.1128/mbio.01370-17. doi:10.1128/mbio.01370-17.

Munita, J.M. & Arias, C.A. (2016) Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. *Microbiology spectrum*. 4 (2), 10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0016–2015. doi:10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0016-2015.

Negus, D., Moore, C., Baker, M., Raghunathan, D., Tyson, J. & Sockett, R.E. (2017) Predator Versus Pathogen: How Does Predatory Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Interface with the Challenges of Killing Gram-Negative Pathogens in a Host Setting? *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 71, 441–457. doi:10.1146/annurev-micro-090816-093618.

Newton, H.M., Rosenkrantz, W.S., Muse, R. & Griffin, C.E. (2006) Evaluation of otoscope cone cleaning and disinfection procedures commonly used in veterinary medical practices: a pilot study. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 17 (2), 147–150. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2006.00501.x.

Ngo, J., Taminiau, B., Fall, P.A., Daube, G. & Fontaine, J. (2018) Ear canal microbiota – a comparison between healthy dogs and atopic dogs without clinical signs of otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 29 (5), 425-e140. doi:10.1111/vde.12674.

Nishimura, Y., Yoshida, T., Kuronishi, M., Uehara, H., Ogata, H. & Goto, S. (2017) ViPTree: the viral proteomic tree server. *Bioinformatics*. 33 (15), 2379–2380. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btx157.

Nordmann, P. & Poirel, L. (2019) Epidemiology and Diagnostics of Carbapenem Resistance in Gram-negative Bacteria. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 69 (Supplement_7), S521–S528. doi:10.1093/cid/ciz824.

Nuttall, T. & Cole, L.K. (2007) Evidence-based veterinary dermatology: a systematic review of interventions for treatment of Pseudomonas otitis in dogs. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 18 (2), 69–77. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2007.00575.x.

Nuttall, T. (2016) Successful management of otitis externa. *In Practice*. 38 (S2), 17–21. doi:10.1136/inp.i1951.

Nuttall, T. (2023) Managing recurrent otitis externa in dogs: what have we learned and what can we do better? *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*. 261 (S1), S10–S22. doi:10.2460/javma.23.01.0002.

Nuttall, T.J. (1998) Use of ticarcillin in the management of canine otitis externa complicated by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*. 39 (4), 165–168. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.1998.tb03624.x.

O'Neill, D.G., James, H., Brodbelt, D.C., Church, D.B. & Pegram, C. (2021a) Prevalence of commonly diagnosed disorders in UK dogs under primary veterinary care: results and applications. *BMC Veterinary Research*. 17 (1), 69. doi:10.1186/s12917-021-02775-3.

O'Neill, D.G., Volk, A.V., Soares, T., Church, D.B., Brodbelt, D.C. & Pegram, C. (2021b) Frequency and predisposing factors for canine otitis externa in the UK – a primary veterinary care epidemiological view. *Canine Medicine and Genetics*. 8 (1), 7. doi:10.1186/s40575-021-00106-1.

O'Neill, J. (2016) *Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: final report and recommendations*. https://amr-review.org/.

O'Toole, G.A. & Kolter, R. (1998) Flagellar and twitching motility are necessary for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm development. *Molecular Microbiology*. 30 (2), 295–304. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.01062.x.

O'Neill, D.G., Church, D.B., McGreevy, P.D., Thomson, P.C. & Brodbelt, D.C. (2014) Prevalence of Disorders Recorded in Dogs Attending Primary-Care Veterinary Practices in England. *PLOS ONE*. 9 (3), e90501. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090501.

Okonechnikov, K., Conesa, A. & García-Alcalde, F. (2016) Qualimap 2: advanced multi-sample quality control for high-throughput sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*. 32 (2), 292–294. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btv566.

Oliver, A., Mulet, X., López-Causapé, C. & Juan, C. (2015) The increasing threat of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* high-risk clones. *Drug Resistance Updates*. 21–22, 41–59. doi:10.1016/j.drup.2015.08.002.

Olszak, T., Zarnowiec, P., Kaca, W., Danis-Wlodarczyk, K., Augustyniak, D., Drevinek, P., de Soyza, A., McClean, S. & Drulis-Kawa, Z. (2015) In vitro and in vivo antibacterial activity of environmental bacteriophages against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains from cystic fibrosis patients. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*. 99 (14), 6021–6033. doi:10.1007/s00253-015-6492-6.

ONT (2023) Medaka. https://github.com/nanoporetech/medaka.

Osman, A.-H., Kotey, F.C.N., Odoom, A., Darkwah, S., Yeboah, R.K., Dayie, N.T.K.D. & Donkor, E.S. (2023) The Potential of Bacteriophage-Antibiotic Combination Therapy in Treating Infections with Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria. *Antibiotics*. 12 (8), 1329. doi:10.3390/antibiotics12081329.

Overhage, J., Bains, M., Brazas, M.D. & Hancock, R.E.W. (2008) Swarming of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Is a Complex Adaptation Leading to Increased Production of Virulence Factors and Antibiotic Resistance. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 190 (8), 2671–2679. doi:10.1128/jb.01659-07.

Oxford Nanopore (n.d.) *Medaka*. https://github.com/nanoporetech/medaka.

Ozer, E.A., Nnah, E., Didelot, X., Whitaker, R.J. & Hauser, A.R. (2019) The Population Structure of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Is Characterized by Genetic Isolation of exoU+ and exoS+ Lineages. *Genome Biology and Evolution*. 11 (7), 1780–1796. doi:10.1093/gbe/evz119.

Page, A.J., Cummins, C.A., Hunt, M., Wong, V.K., Reuter, S., Holden, M.T.G., Fookes, M., Falush, D., Keane, J.A. & Parkhill, J. (2015) Roary: rapid large-scale prokaryote pan genome analysis. *Bioinformatics*. 31 (22), 3691–3693. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btv421.

Pang, Z., Raudonis, R., Glick, B.R., Lin, T.-J. & Cheng, Z. (2019) Antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: mechanisms and alternative therapeutic strategies. *Biotechnology Advances*. 37 (1), 177–192. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2018.11.013.

Pantanella, F., Iebba, V., Mura, F., Dini, L., Totino, V., Neroni, B., Bonfiglio, G., Maria, T., Passariello, C. & Schippa, S. (2018) Behaviour of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in the presence of Gram-positive Staphylococcus aureus. *The New Microbiologica*. 41 (2), 145–152.

Papp, M. & Solymosi, N. (2022) Review and Comparison of Antimicrobial Resistance Gene Databases. *Antibiotics*. 11 (3), 339. doi:10.3390/antibiotics11030339.

Park, M.-H., Kim, S.Y., Roh, E.Y. & Lee, H.S. (2017) Difference of Type 3 secretion system (T3SS) effector gene genotypes (*exoU* and *exoS*) and its implication to antibiotics resistances in isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from chronic otitis media. *Auris Nasus Larynx.* 44 (3), 258–265. doi:10.1016/j.anl.2016.07.005.

Park, Y., Oh, J., Park, S., Sum, S., Song, W., Chae, J. & Park, H. (2020) Antimicrobial resistance and novel mutations detected in the gyrA and parC genes of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from companion dogs. *BMC Veterinary Research.* 16 (1), 111. doi:10.1186/s12917-020-02328-0.

Parra-Sánchez, Á., Antequera-Zambrano, L., Martínez-Navarrete, G., Zorrilla-Muñoz, V., Paz, J.L., Alvarado, Y.J., González-Paz, L. & Fernández, E. (2023) Comparative Analysis of CRISPR-Cas Systems in Pseudomonas Genomes. *Genes.* 14 (7), 1337. doi:10.3390/genes14071337.

Pasquali, F. & Manfreda, G. (2007) Mutant prevention concentration of ciprofloxacin and enrofloxacin against *Escherichia coli, Salmonella* Typhimurium and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 119 (2), 304–310. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2006.08.018.

Paterson, S. & Matyskiewicz, W. (2018) A study to evaluate the primary causes associated with Pseudomonas otitis in 60 dogs. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*. 59 (4), 238–242. doi:10.1111/jsap.12813.

Paterson, S. (2016) Discovering the causes of otitis externa. *In Practice*. 38 (S2), 7–11. doi:10.1136/inp.i470.

Pedregosa, F., Varoquaux, G., Gramfort, A., Michel, V., Thirion, B., Grisel, O., Blondel, M., Prettenhofer, P., Weiss, R., Dubourg, V., Vanderplas, J., Passos, A. & Cournapeau, D. (2011) Scikit-learn: Machine Learning in Python. *MACHINE LEARNING IN PYTHON*.

Perry, E., Sutton, G.A., Haggag, L., Fleker, M., Blum, S.E. & Kaufmann, R. (2022) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolation from dog grooming products used by private owners or by professional pet grooming salons: prevalence and risk factors. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 33 (4), 316-e73. doi:10.1111/vde.13072.

Petermann, S.R., Doetkott, C. & Rust, L. (2001) Elastase Deficiency Phenotype of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Canine Otitis Externa Isolates. *Clinical Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*. 8 (3), 632–636. doi:10.1128/cdli.8.3.632-636.2001.

Petrov, V., Zhelev, G., Marutsov, P., Koev, K., Georgieva, S., Toneva, I. & Urumova, V. (2019) Microbiological and antibacterial resistance profile in canine otitis externa – a comparative analysis. *BULGARIAN JOURNAL OF VETERINARY MEDICINE*. 22 (4), 447–456. doi:10.15547/bjvm.2151.

Piddock, L.J.V. (1999) Mechanisms of Fluoroquinolone Resistance: An Update 1994–1998. *Drugs*. 58 (2), 11–18. doi:10.2165/00003495-199958002-00003.

Pietschmann, S., Meyer, M., Voget, M. & Cieslicki, M. (2013) The joint in vitro action of polymyxin B and miconazole against pathogens associated with canine otitis externa from three European countries. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 24 (4), 439-e97. doi:10.1111/vde.12037.

Podder, V. & Sadiq, N.M. (2024) Levofloxacin. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island(FL),StatPearlsPublishing.p.http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK545180/.

Poole, K. (2005) Aminoglycoside Resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 49 (2), 479–487. doi:10.1128/aac.49.2.479-487.2005.

Purdy-Gibson, M.E., France, M., Hundley, T.C., Eid, N. & Remold, S.K. (2015) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in CF and non-CF homes is found predominantly in drains. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*. 14 (3), 341–346. doi:10.1016/j.jcf.2014.10.008.

Pye, C. (2018) Pseudomonas otitis externa in dogs. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*. 59 (11), 1231.

Pye, C.C., Singh, A. & Weese, J.S. (2014) Evaluation of the impact of tromethamine edetate disodium dihydrate on antimicrobial susceptibility of

Pseudomonas aeruginosa in biofilm *in vitro. Veterinary Dermatology.* 25 (2), 120-e34. doi:10.1111/vde.12115.

Pye, C.C., Yu, A.A. & Weese, J.S. (2013) Evaluation of biofilm production by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from canine ears and the impact of biofilm on antimicrobial susceptibility *in vitro*. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 24 (4), 446-e99. doi:10.1111/vde.12040.

Rabinovitch, A., Aviram, I. & Zaritsky, A. (2003) Bacterial debris—an ecological mechanism for coexistence of bacteria and their viruses. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 224 (3), 377–383. doi:10.1016/S0022-5193(03)00174-7.

Raghunathan, D., Radford, P.M., Gell, C., Negus, D., Moore, C., Till, R., Tighe, P.J., Wheatley, S.P., Martinez-Pomares, L., Sockett, R.E. & Tyson, J. (2019) Engulfment, persistence and fate of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus predators inside human phagocytic cells informs their future therapeutic potential. *Scientific Reports*. 9 (1), 4293. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-40223-3.

Rangel-Pineros, G., Millard, A., Michniewski, S., Scanlan, D., Sirén, K., Reyes, A., Petersen, B., Clokie, M.R.J. & Sicheritz-Pontén, T. (2021) From Trees to Clouds: PhageClouds for Fast Comparison of ~640,000 Phage Genomic Sequences and Host-Centric Visualization Using Genomic Network Graphs. *PHAGE*. 2 (4), 194–203. doi:10.1089/phage.2021.0008.

Remold, S.K., Brown, C.K., Farris, J.E., Hundley, T.C., Perpich, J.A. & Purdy, M.E. (2011) Differential Habitat Use and Niche Partitioning by Pseudomonas Species in Human Homes. *Microbial Ecology*. 62 (3), 505–517. doi:10.1007/s00248-011-9844-5.

Rendulic, S., Jagtap, P., Rosinus, A., Eppinger, M., Baar, C., Lanz, C., Keller, H., Lambert, C., Evans, K.J., Goesmann, A., Meyer, F., Sockett, R.E. & Schuster, S.C. (2004) A predator unmasked: life cycle of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus from a genomic perspective. *Science (New York, N.Y.).* 303 (5658), 689–692. doi:10.1126/science.1093027.

Rice, S.A., van den Akker, B., Pomati, F. & Roser, D. (2012) A risk assessment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in swimming pools: a review. *Journal of Water and Health*. 10 (2), 181–196. doi:10.2166/wh.2012.020.

Rittenberg, S.C. (1972) Nonidentity of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Strains 109D and 109J. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 109 (1), 432–433.

Robinson, V.H., Paterson, S., Bennett, C. & Steen, S.I. (2019) Biofilm production of *Pseudomonas* spp. isolates from canine otitis in three different enrichment broths. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 30 (3), 218. doi:10.1111/vde.12738.

Rodríguez-Martínez, J.-M., Poirel, L. & Nordmann, P. (2009) Extended-Spectrum Cephalosporinases in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 53 (5), 1766–1771. doi:10.1128/aac.01410-08.

Rogosky, A.M., Moak, P.L. & Emmert, E.A.B. (2006) Differential predation by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus 109J. *Current Microbiology*. 52 (2), 81–85. doi:10.1007/s00284-005-0038-6.

Romanowski, E.G., Stella, N.A., Brazile, B.L., Lathrop, K.L., Franks, J.M., Sigal, I.A., Kim, T., Elsayed, M., Kadouri, D.E. & Shanks, R.M.Q. (2023) Predatory bacteria can reduce *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* induced corneal perforation and proliferation in a rabbit keratitis model. *The Ocular Surface*. 28, 254–261. doi:10.1016/j.jtos.2023.05.002.

Romanowski, E.G., Stella, N.A., Brothers, K.M., Yates, K.A., Funderburgh, M.L., Funderburgh, J.L., Gupta, S., Dharani, S., Kadouri, D.E. & Shanks, R.M.Q. (2016) Predatory bacteria are nontoxic to the rabbit ocular surface. *Scientific Reports*. 6 (1), 30987. doi:10.1038/srep30987.

Rosser, E.J. (1993) Diagnosis of food allergy in dogs. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*. 203 (2), 259–262. doi:10.2460/javma.1993.203.02.259.

Roy, P.H., Tetu, S.G., Larouche, A., Elbourne, L., Tremblay, S., Ren, Q., Dodson, R., Harkins, D., Shay, R., Watkins, K., Mahamoud, Y. & Paulsen, I.T. (2010) Complete Genome Sequence of the Multiresistant Taxonomic Outlier *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA7. *PLOS ONE*. 5 (1), e8842. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008842.

Rutherford, V., Yom, K., Ozer, E.A., Pura, O., Hughes, A., Murphy, K.R., Cudzilo, L., Mitchell, D. & Hauser, A.R. (2018) Environmental reservoirs for exoS+ and exoU+ strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Environmental Microbiology Reports*. 10 (4), 485–492. doi:10.1111/1758-2229.12653.

Sambrook, J. & Russell, D.W. (2001) *Molecular cloning : a laboratory manual*. 3rd edition.

Santaniello, A., Sansone, M., Fioretti, A. & Menna, L.F. (2020) Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Occurrence of ESKAPE Bacteria Group in Dogs, and the Related Zoonotic Risk in Animal-Assisted Therapy, and in Animal-Assisted Activity in the Health Context. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 17 (9), 3278. doi:10.3390/ijerph17093278.

Santoro, D. (2023) Comparison of the quantity and antimicrobial activity of host defence peptides in ear canals between healthy and atopic dogs: A preliminary study. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 34 (5), 452–459. doi:10.1111/vde.13164.

Saralegui, C., Herencias, C., Halperin, A.V., de Dios-Caballero, J., Pérez-Viso, B., Salgado, S., Lanza, V.F., Cantón, R., Baquero, F., Prieto, M.A. & del Campo, R. (2022) Strain-specific predation of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with a higher range for cystic fibrosis than for bacteremia isolates. *Scientific Reports*. 12 (1), 10523. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-14378-5.

Saridomichelakis, M.N., Farmaki, R., Leontides, L.S. & Koutinas, A.F. (2007) Aetiology of canine otitis externa: a retrospective study of 100 cases. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 18 (5), 341–347. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2007.00619.x.

Sarkisova, S., Patrauchan, M.A., Berglund, D., Nivens, D.E. & Franklin, M.J. (2005) Calcium-Induced Virulence Factors Associated with the Extracellular Matrix of Mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Biofilms. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 187 (13), 4327–4337. doi:10.1128/JB.187.13.4327-4337.2005.

Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J.-Y., White, D.J., Hartenstein, V., Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P. & Cardona, A. (2012) Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods*. 9 (7), 676–682. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2019.

Schmelcher, M., Donovan, D.M. & Loessner, M.J. (2012) Bacteriophage endolysins as novel antimicrobials. *Future Microbiology*. 7 (10), 1147–1171. doi:10.2217/fmb.12.97.

Schwengers, O., Jelonek, L., Dieckmann, M.A., Beyvers, S., Blom, J. & Goesmann, A. (2021) Bakta: rapid and standardized annotation of bacterial genomes via alignment-free sequence identification. *Microbial Genomics*. 7 (11), 000685. doi:10.1099/mgen.0.000685.

Schwudke, D., Strauch, E., Krueger, M. & Appel, B. (2001) Taxonomic Studies of Predatory Bdellovibrios Based on 16S rRNA Analysis, Ribotyping and the *hit* Locus and Characterization of Isolates from the Gut of Animals. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 24 (3), 385–394. doi:10.1078/0723-2020-00042.

Scott, A., Pottenger, S., Timofte, D., Moore, M., Wright, L., Kukavica-Ibrulj, I., Jeukens, J., Levesque, R.C., Freschi, L., Pinchbeck, G.L., Schmidt, V.M., McEwan, N., Radford, A.D. & Fothergill, J.L. (2019) Reservoirs of resistance: polymyxin resistance in veterinary-associated companion animal isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Veterinary Record.* 185 (7), 206–206. doi:10.1136/vr.105075.

Scott, D.W. (1981) Observations on canine atopy. *Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association*. 17 (1), 91–100.

Secker, B., Shaw, S. & Atterbury, R.J. (2023) Pseudomonas spp. in Canine OtitisExterna.*Microorganisms*.11(11),2650.doi:10.3390/microorganisms11112650.

Seeger, M.G., Ries, A.S., Gressler, L.T., Botton, S.A., Iglesias, B.A. & Cargnelutti, J.F. (2020) *In vitro* antimicrobial photodynamic therapy using tetracationic porphyrins against multidrug-resistant bacteria isolated from canine otitis. *Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy*. 32, 101982. doi:10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.101982.

Seemann, T. (2014) Prokka: rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. *Bioinformatics*. 30 (14), 2068–2069. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btu153.

Seemann, T. (2015) ABRicate. https://github.com/tseemann/abricate.

Seemann, T. (2023) *mlst*. https://github.com/tseemann/mlst.

Sellera, F.P., Fernandes, M.R., Sabino, C.P., de Freitas, L.M., da Silva, L.C.B.A., Pogliani, F.C., Ribeiro, M.S., Hamblin, M.R. & Lincopan, N. (2019) Effective treatment and decolonization of a dog infected with carbapenemase (VIM-2)-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* using probiotic and photodynamic therapies. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 30 (2), 170-e52. doi:10.1111/vde.12714.

Shang, J., Tang, X. & Sun, Y. (2023) PhaTYP: predicting the lifestyle for bacteriophages using BERT. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*. 24 (1), bbac487. doi:10.1093/bib/bbac487.

Shanks, R.M.Q., Davra, V.R., Romanowski, E.G., Brothers, K.M., Stella, N.A., Godboley, D. & Kadouri, D.E. (2013) An Eye to a Kill: Using Predatory Bacteria to Control Gram-Negative Pathogens Associated with Ocular Infections. *PLOS ONE*. 8 (6), e66723. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066723.

Shatzkes, K., Singleton, E., Tang, C., Zuena, M., Shukla, S., Gupta, S., Dharani, S., Onyile, O., Rinaggio, J., Connell, N.D. & Kadouri, D.E. (2016) Predatory Bacteria Attenuate Klebsiella pneumoniae Burden in Rat Lungs. *mBio.* 7 (6), e01847-16. doi:10.1128/mBio.01847-16.

Shatzkes, K., Singleton, E., Tang, C., Zuena, M., Shukla, S., Gupta, S., Dharani, S., Rinaggio, J., Kadouri, D.E. & Connell, N.D. (2017a) Examining the efficacy of intravenous administration of predatory bacteria in rats. *Scientific Reports*. 7 (1), 1864. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02041-3.

Shatzkes, K., Tang, C., Singleton, E., Shukla, S., Zuena, M., Gupta, S., Dharani, S., Rinaggio, J., Connell, N.D. & Kadouri, D.E. (2017b) Effect of predatory bacteria on the gut bacterial microbiota in rats. *Scientific Reports*. 7 (1), 43483. doi:10.1038/srep43483.

Shaw, S. (2016) Pathogens in otitis externa: diagnostic techniques to identify secondary causes of ear disease. *In Practice*. 38 (S2), 12–16. doi:10.1136/inp.i461.

Shemesh, Y. & Jurkevitch, E. (2004) Plastic phenotypic resistance to predation by Bdellovibrio and like organisms in bacterial prey. *Environmental Microbiology*. 6 (1), 12–18. doi:10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00530.x.

Shen, A. & Millard, A. (2021) Phage Genome Annotation: Where to Begin and End. *PHAGE*. 2 (4), 183–193. doi:10.1089/phage.2021.0015.

Shoriridge, V.D., Lazdunski, A. & Vasil, M.L. (1992) Osmoprotectants and phosphate regulate expression of phospholipase C in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Molecular Microbiology*. 6 (7), 863–871. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.1992.tb01537.x.

Sim, J.X.F., Khazandi, M., Chan, W.Y., Trott, D.J. & Deo, P. (2019a) Antimicrobial activity of thyme oil, oregano oil, thymol and carvacrol against sensitive and resistant microbial isolates from dogs with otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 30 (6), 524-e159. doi:10.1111/vde.12794.

Sim, J.X.F., Khazandi, M., Pi, H., Venter, H., Trott, D.J. & Deo, P. (2019b) Antimicrobial effects of cinnamon essential oil and cinnamaldehyde combined with EDTA against canine otitis externa pathogens. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. 127 (1), 99–108. doi:10.1111/jam.14298.

Singh, M., Sykes, E.M.E., Li, Y. & Kumar, A. (2020) MexXY RND pump of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA7 effluxes bi-anionic β -lactams carbenicillin and sulbenicillin when it partners with the outer membrane factor OprA but not with OprM. *Microbiology*. 166 (11), 1095–1106. doi:10.1099/mic.0.000971.

Sitovs, A., Sartini, I. & Giorgi, M. (2021) Levofloxacin in veterinary medicine: a literature review. *Research in Veterinary Science*. 137, 111–126. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.031.

Sloot, R., Nsonwu, O., Chudasama, D., Rooney, G., Pearson, C., Choi, H., Mason, E., Springer, A., Gerver, S., Brown, C. & Hope, R. (2022) Rising rates of hospital-onset Klebsiella spp. and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* bacteraemia in NHS acute trusts in England: a review of national surveillance data, August 2020–February 2021. *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 119, 175–181. doi:10.1016/j.jhin.2021.08.027.

Smeak, D.D. (2016) Treatment of Persistent Deep Infection After Total Ear Canal Ablation and Lateral Bulla Osteotomy. *Veterinary Clinics: Small Animal Practice*. 46 (4), 609–621. doi:10.1016/j.cvsm.2016.01.001.

Smith, H.W. & Huggins, M.B. (1982) Successful treatment of experimental Escherichia coli infections in mice using phage: its general superiority over antibiotics. *Journal of General Microbiology*. 128 (2), 307–318. doi:10.1099/00221287-128-2-307.

Smith, H.W. & Huggins, M.B. (1983) Effectiveness of phages in treating experimental Escherichia coli diarrhoea in calves, piglets and lambs. *Journal of General Microbiology*. 129 (8), 2659–2675. doi:10.1099/00221287-129-8-2659.

Smith, H.W., Huggins, M.B. & Shaw, K.M. (1987) The control of experimental Escherichia coli diarrhoea in calves by means of bacteriophages. *Journal of General Microbiology*. 133 (5), 1111–1126. doi:10.1099/00221287-133-5-1111.

Song, S.-Y., Hyun, J.-E., Kang, J.-H. & Hwang, C.-Y. (2020) In vitro antibacterial activity of the manuka essential oil from Leptospermum scoparium combined with Tris-EDTA against Gram-negative bacterial isolates from dogs with otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 31 (2), 81-e6. doi:10.1111/vde.12807.

Sparks, T.A., Kemp, D.T., Wooley, R.E. & Gibbs, P.S. (1994) Antimicrobial effect of combinations of EDTA-Tris and amikacin or neomycin on the microorganisms associated with otitis externa in dogs. *Veterinary Research Communications*. 18 (4), 241–249. doi:10.1007/BF01839190.

Steen, S.I. & Paterson, S. (2012) The susceptibility of Pseudomonas spp. isolated from dogs with otitis to topical ear cleaners. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*. 53 (10), 599–603. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.2012.01262.x.

Stenqvist, M., Anniko, M. & Pettersson, Å. (1997) Effect of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Exotoxin A on Inner Ear Function. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*. 117 (1), 73–79. doi:10.3109/00016489709117995.

Stenqvist, M., Anniko, M. & Rask-Andersen, H. (1999) Middle ear mucosa changes following exposure to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* exotoxin A. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*. 256 (10), 484–490. doi:10.1007/s004050050196.

Stepanovic, S., Vukovic, D., Dakic, I., Savic, B. & Svabic-Vlahovic, M. (2000) A modified microtiter-plate test for quantification of staphylococcal biofilm formation. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*. 40 (2), 175–179. doi:10.1016/s0167-7012(00)00122-6.

Stewart, L., Ford, A., Sangal, V., Jeukens, J., Boyle, B., Kukavica-Ibrulj, I., Caim, S., Crossman, L., Hoskisson, P.A., Levesque, R. & Tucker, N.P. (2014) Draft genomes of 12 host-adapted and environmental isolates of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and their positions in the core genome phylogeny. *Pathogens and Disease*. 71 (1), 20–25. doi:10.1111/2049-632X.12107.

Stolp, H. & Petzold, H. (1962) Untersuchungen über einen obligat parasitischen Mikroorganismus mit lytischer Aktivität für Pseudomonas-Bakterien. *Journal of Phytopathology*. 45 (4), 364–390. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0434.1962.tb02050.x.

Stolp, H. & Starr, M.P. (1963) Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus gen. et sp. n., a predatory, ectoparasitic, and bacteriolytic microorganism. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*. 29 (1), 217–248. doi:10.1007/BF02046064.

Storms, Z.J. & Sauvageau, D. (2015) Modeling tailed bacteriophage adsorption: Insight into mechanisms. *Virology*. 485, 355–362. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2015.08.007.

Stout-Graham, M., Kainer, R.A., Whalen, L.R. & Macy, D.W. (1990) Morphologic measurements of the external horizontal ear canal of dogs. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*. 51 (7), 990–994. doi:10.2460/ajvr.1990.51.07.990.

Stover, C.K., Pham, X.Q., Erwin, A.L., Mizoguchi, S.D., Warrener, P., et al. (2000) Complete genome sequence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1, an opportunistic pathogen. *Nature*. 406 (6799), 959–964. doi:10.1038/35023079.

Straley, S.C. & Conti, S.F. (1977) Chemotaxis by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus toward prey. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 132 (2), 628–640. doi:10.1128/jb.132.2.628-640.1977.

Straley, S.C., LaMarre, A.G., Lawrence, L.J. & Conti, S.F. (1979) Chemotaxis of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus toward pure compounds. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 140 (2), 634–642.

Stull, J.W. & Weese, J.S. (2015) Hospital-Associated Infections in Small Animal Practice. *Veterinary Clinics: Small Animal Practice*. 45 (2), 217–233. doi:10.1016/j.cvsm.2014.11.009.

Subedi, D., Vijay, A.K., Kohli, G.S., Rice, S.A. & Willcox, M. (2018) Comparative genomics of clinical strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from different geographic sites. *Scientific Reports*. 8 (1), 15668. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-34020-7.

Sulakvelidze, A., Alavidze, Z. & Morris, J.G. (2001) Bacteriophage Therapy. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 45 (3), 649–659. doi:10.1128/aac.45.3.649-659.2001.

Sun, Y., Ye, J., Hou, Y., Chen, H., Cao, J. & Zhou, T. (2017) Predation Efficacy of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus on Multidrug-Resistant Clinical Pathogens and Their Corresponding Biofilms. *Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 70 (5), 485–489. doi:10.7883/yoken.JJID.2016.405.

Sundström, J., Ågrup, C., Kronvall, G. & Wretlind, B. (1997) *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa Adherence to External Auditory Canal Epithelium. Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery. 123 (12), 1287–1292. doi:10.1001/archotol.1997.01900120037005.

Sweeney, M.T., Lubbers, B.V., Schwarz, S. & Watts, J.L. (2018) Applying definitions for multidrug resistance, extensive drug resistance and pandrug resistance to clinically significant livestock and companion animal bacterial pathogens. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 73 (6), 1460–1463. doi:10.1093/jac/dky043.

Swinney, A., Fazakerley, J., McEwan, N. & Nuttall, T. (2008) Comparative in vitro antimicrobial efficacy of commercial ear cleaners. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 19 (6), 373–379. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2008.00713.x.

Tabacca, N.E., Cole, L.K., Hillier, A. & Rajala-Schultz, P.J. (2011) Epithelial migration on the canine tympanic membrane. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 22 (6), 502–510. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2011.00982.x.

Tajabadi, F.H., Karimian, S.M., Mohsenipour, Z., Mohammadi, S., Salehi, M., Sattarzadeh, M., Fakhari, S., Momeni, M., Dahmardehei, M. & Feizabadi, M.M. (2023) Biocontrol treatment: Application of *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* HD100 against burn wound infection caused by *Pseudomonas aeroginosa* in mice. *Burns*. 49 (5), 1181–1195. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2022.08.020.

Tamura, K., Stecher, G. & Kumar, S. (2021) MEGA11: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 11. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*. 38 (7), 3022–3027. doi:10.1093/molbev/msab120.

Tang, S., Prem, A., Tjokrosurjo, J., Sary, M., Van Bel, M.A., Rodrigues-Hoffmann, A., Kavanagh, M., Wu, G., Van Eden, M.E. & Krumbeck, J.A. (2020) The canine skin and ear microbiome: A comprehensive survey of pathogens implicated in canine skin and ear infections using a novel next-generation-sequencing-based assay. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 247, 108764. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108764.

Tater, K.C., Scott, D.W., Miller Jr, W.H. & Erb, H.N. (2003) The Cytology of the External Ear Canal in the Normal Dog and Cat. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A*. 50 (7), 370–374. doi:10.1046/j.1439-0442.2003.00548.x.

Taylor, V.I., Baumann, P., Reichelt, J.L. & Allen, R.D. (1974) Isolation, enumeration, and host range of marine Bdellovibrios. *Archives of Microbiology*. 98 (2), 101–114. doi:10.1007/BF00425273.

Teresa Tejedor, M., Martín, J.L., Navia, M., Freixes, J. & Vila, J. (2003) Mechanisms of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from canine infections. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 94 (4), 295–301. doi:10.1016/s0378-1135(03)00129-9.

Thacharodi, A. & Lamont, I.L. (2023) Gene–Gene Interactions Reduce Aminoglycoside Susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* through Efflux Pump-Dependent and -Independent Mechanisms. *Antibiotics*. 12 (1), 152. doi:10.3390/antibiotics12010152.

Thi, M.T.T., Wibowo, D. & Rehm, B.H.A. (2020) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Biofilms. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 21 (22), 8671. doi:10.3390/ijms21228671.

Thomashow, L.S. & Rittenberg, S.C. (1985) Waveform analysis and structure of flagella and basal complexes from Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus 109J. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 163 (3), 1038–1046.

Tron, E.A.M., Wilke, H.L., Petermann, S.R. & Rust, L. (2004) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from canine otitis externa exhibit a quorum sensing deficiency. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 99 (2), 121–129. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2003.12.005.

Trott, D.J., Moss, S.M., See, A.M. & Rees, R. (2007) Evaluation of disc diffusion and MIC testing for determining susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates to topical enrofloxacin/silver sulfadiazine. *Australian Veterinary Journal.* 85 (11), 464–466. doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.2007.00223.x.

Turner, D., Shkoporov, A.N., Lood, C., Millard, A.D., Dutilh, B.E., et al. (2023) Abolishment of morphology-based taxa and change to binomial species names: 2022 taxonomy update of the ICTV bacterial viruses subcommittee. *Archives of Virology*. 168 (2), 74. doi:10.1007/s00705-022-05694-2. Twort, F.W. (1915) AN INVESTIGATION ON THE NATURE OF ULTRA-MICROSCOPIC VIRUSES. *The Lancet*. 186 (4814), 1241–1243. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)20383-3.

Uchiyama, J., Suzuki, M., Nishifuji, K., Kato, S., Miyata, R., Nasukawa, T., Yamaguchi, K., Takemura-Uchiyama, I., Ujihara, T., Shimakura, H., Murakami, H., Okamoto, N., Sakaguchi, Y., Shibayama, K., Sakaguchi, M. & Matsuzaki, S. (2016) Analyses of Short-Term Antagonistic Evolution of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Strain PAO1 and Phage KPP22 (Myoviridae Family, PB1-Like Virus Genus). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 82 (15), 4482–4491. doi:10.1128/AEM.00090-16.

Ugurlu, A., Karahasan Yagci, A., Ulusoy, S., Aksu, B. & Bosgelmez-Tinaz, G. (2016) Phenolic compounds affect production of pyocyanin, swarming motility and biofilm formation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*. 6 (8), 698–701. doi:10.1016/j.apjtb.2016.06.008.

Ulrich, L., Giez, C., Steiner, L.X., Hentschel, U. & Lachnit, T. (2022) Adaptive lifestyle of bacteria determines phage-bacteria interaction. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 13. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2022.1056388.

van Belkum, A., Soriaga, L.B., LaFave, M.C., Akella, S., Veyrieras, J.-B., et al. (2015) Phylogenetic Distribution of CRISPR-Cas Systems in Antibiotic-Resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. mBio.* 6 (6), 10.1128/mbio.01796-15. doi:10.1128/mbio.01796-15.

Van Twest, R. & Kropinski, A.M. (2009) Bacteriophage Enrichment from Water and Soil. In: M.R.J. Clokie & A.M. Kropinski (eds.). *Bacteriophages: Methods and Protocols, Volume 1: Isolation, Characterization, and Interactions*. Totowa, NJ, Humana Press. pp. 15–21. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-164-6_2.

Vercelli, C., Pasquetti, M., Giovannetti, G., Visioni, S., Re, G., Giorgi, M., Gambino, G. & Peano, A. (2021) In vitro and in vivo evaluation of a new phytotherapic blend to treat acute externa otitis in dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. 44 (6), 910–918. doi:10.1111/jvp.13000.

Verdial, C., Carneiro, C., Machado, I., Tavares, L., Almeida, V., Oliveira, M. & Gil, S. (2021) Controlling bacteriological contamination of environmental surfaces at the biological isolation and containment unit of a veterinary teaching hospital. *Irish Veterinary Journal*. 74 (1), 18. doi:10.1186/s13620-021-00197-z.

Viazis, S., Akhtar, M., Feirtag, J., Brabban, A.D. & Diez-Gonzalez, F. (2011) Isolation and characterization of lytic bacteriophages against enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. 110 (5), 1323–1331. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.04989.x.

Vidakovic, L., Singh, P.K., Hartmann, R., Nadell, C.D. & Drescher, K. (2018) Dynamic biofilm architecture confers individual and collective mechanisms of viral protection. *Nature Microbiology*. 3 (1), 26–31. doi:10.1038/s41564-017-0050-1.

Vincent, J.-L., Bihari, D.J., Suter, P.M., Bruining, H.A., White, J., Nicolas-Chanoin, M.-H., Wolff, M., Spencer, R.C. & Hemmer, M. (1995) The Prevalence of Nosocomial Infection in Intensive Care Units in Europe: Results of the European Prevalence of Infection in Intensive Care (EPIC) Study. *JAMA*. 274 (8), 639–644. doi:10.1001/jama.1995.03530080055041.

Vives-Flórez, M. & Garnica, D. (2006) Comparison of virulence between clinical and environmental *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates. *International Microbiology: The Official Journal of the Spanish Society for Microbiology*. 9 (4), 247–252.

von Silva-Tarouca, M.S.E., Wolf, G. & Mueller, R.S. (2019) Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations for silver sulfadiazine and other topical antimicrobial agents against strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from canine otitis externa. *Veterinary Dermatology*. 30 (2), 145-e42. doi:10.1111/vde.12718.

Wang, R.H., Yang, S., Liu, Z., Zhang, Y., Wang, X., Xu, Z., Wang, J. & Li, S.C. (2024) PhageScope: a well-annotated bacteriophage database with automatic analyses and visualizations. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 52 (D1), D756–D761. doi:10.1093/nar/gkad979.

Wang, W., Li, Y., Tang, K., Lin, J., Gao, X., Guo, Y. & Wang, X. (2022) Filamentous prophage capsid proteins contribute to superinfection exclusion and phage defence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Environmental Microbiology*. 24 (9), 4285–4298. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.15991.

Washizaki, A., Yonesaki, T. & Otsuka, Y. (2016) Characterization of the interactions between Escherichia coli receptors, LPS and OmpC, and bacteriophage T4 long tail fibers. *MicrobiologyOpen*. 5 (6), 1003–1015. doi:10.1002/mbo3.384.

Waso, M., Khan, S. & Khan, W. (2019) Assessment of predatory bacteria and prey interactions using culture-based methods and EMA-qPCR. *Microbiological Research*. 228, 126305. doi:10.1016/j.micres.2019.126305.

Waters, V. & Smyth, A. (2015) Cystic fibrosis microbiology: Advances in antimicrobial therapy. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis: Official Journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society.* 14 (5), 551–560. doi:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.02.005.

Wdowiak, M., Paczesny, J. & Raza, S. (2022) Enhancing the Stability of Bacteriophages Using Physical, Chemical, and Nano-Based Approaches: A Review. *Pharmaceutics*. 14 (9), 1936. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics14091936.

Weigel, C. & Seitz, H. (2006) Bacteriophage replication modules. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*. 30 (3), 321–381. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00015.x.

Weiner, L.M., Webb, A.K., Limbago, B., Dudeck, M.A., Patel, J., Kallen, A.J., Edwards, J.R. & Sievert, D.M. (2016) Antimicrobial-Resistant Pathogens

Associated With Healthcare-Associated Infections: Summary of Data Reported to the National Healthcare Safety Network at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011–2014. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*. 37 (11), 1288–1301. doi:10.1017/ice.2016.174.

Whitchurch, C.B., Tolker-Nielsen, T., Ragas, P.C. & Mattick, J.S. (2002) Extracellular DNA Required for Bacterial Biofilm Formation. *Science*. 295 (5559), 1487–1487. doi:10.1126/science.295.5559.1487.

White, P.A., Stokes, H.W., Bunny, K.L. & Hall, R.M. (1999) Characterisation of a chloramphenicol acetyltransferase determinant found in the chromosome of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*. 175 (1), 27–35. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.1999.tb13598.x.

WHO (2017) WHO publishes list of bacteria for which new antibiotics are *urgently needed*. 2017. https://www.who.int/news/item/27-02-2017-who-publishes-list-of-bacteria-for-which-new-antibiotics-are-urgently-needed [Accessed: 29 November 2023].

Wick, R.R. & Holt, K.E. (2022) Polypolish: Short-read polishing of long-read bacterial genome assemblies. *PLOS Computational Biology*. 18 (1), e1009802. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1009802.

Wick, R.R., Judd, L.M., Gorrie, C.L. & Holt, K.E. (2017) Unicycler: Resolving bacterial genome assemblies from short and long sequencing reads. *PLOS Computational Biology*. 13 (6), e1005595. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005595.

Wick, R.R., Schultz, M.B., Zobel, J. & Holt, K.E. (2015) Bandage: interactive visualization of de novo genome assemblies. *Bioinformatics*. 31 (20), 3350–3352. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btv383.

Willemse, T. (1986) Bsava Education Committee Commissioned Article. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*. 27 (11), 771–778. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.1986.tb02119.x.

Willis, A.R., Moore, C., Mazon-Moya, M., Krokowski, S., Lambert, C., Till, R., Mostowy, S. & Sockett, R.E. (2016) Injections of Predatory Bacteria Work Alongside Host Immune Cells to Treat Shigella Infection in Zebrafish Larvae. *Current Biology*. 26 (24), 3343–3351. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2016.09.067.

Winsor, G.L., Griffiths, E.J., Lo, R., Dhillon, B.K., Shay, J.A. & Brinkman, F.S.L. (2016) Enhanced annotations and features for comparing thousands of Pseudomonas genomes in the Pseudomonas genome database. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 44 (D1), D646-653. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv1227.

Wishart, D.S., Han, S., Saha, S., Oler, E., Peters, H., Grant, J.R., Stothard, P. & Gautam, V. (2023) PHASTEST: faster than PHASTER, better than PHAST. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 51 (W1), W443–W450. doi:10.1093/nar/gkad382.

Wooley, R.E. & Jones, M.S. (1983) Action of EDTA-Tris and antimicrobial agent combinations on selected pathogenic bacteria. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 8 (3), 271–280. doi:10.1016/0378-1135(83)90079-2.

Wooley, R.E., Jones, M.S., Gilbert, J.P. & Shotts, E.B. (1983) In vitro action of combinations of antimicrobial agents and EDTA-tromethamine on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. American journal of veterinary research.* 44 (8), 1521–1524.

Wright, A., Hawkins, C. h., Änggård, E. e. & Harper, D. r. (2009) A controlled clinical trial of a therapeutic bacteriophage preparation in chronic otitis due to antibiotic-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*; a preliminary report of efficacy. *Clinical Otolaryngology*. 34 (4), 349–357. doi:10.1111/j.1749-4486.2009.01973.x.

Wucher, B.R., Elsayed, M., Adelman, J.S., Kadouri, D.E. & Nadell, C.D. (2021) Bacterial predation transforms the landscape and community assembly of biofilms. *Current Biology*. 31 (12), 2643-2651.e3. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2021.03.036.

Yamashita, K., Shimizu, A., Kawano, J., Uchida, E., Haruna, A. & Igimi, S. (2005) Isolation and Characterization of Staphylococci from External Auditory Meatus of Dogs with or without Otitis Externa with Special Reference to Staphylococcus schleiferi subsp. coagulans Isolates. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*. 67 (3), 263–268. doi:10.1292/jvms.67.263.

Yeung, A.T.Y., Torfs, E.C.W., Jamshidi, F., Bains, M., Wiegand, I., Hancock, R.E.W. & Overhage, J. (2009) Swarming of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Is Controlled by a Broad Spectrum of Transcriptional Regulators, Including MetR. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 191 (18), 5592–5602. doi:10.1128/jb.00157-09.

Young, R. (2014) Phage lysis: Three steps, three choices, one outcome. *Journal of Microbiology*. 52 (3), 243–258. doi:10.1007/s12275-014-4087-z.

Zankari, E., Allesøe, R., Joensen, K.G., Cavaco, L.M., Lund, O. & Aarestrup, F.M. (2017) PointFinder: a novel web tool for WGS-based detection of antimicrobial resistance associated with chromosomal point mutations in bacterial pathogens. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 72 (10), 2764–2768. doi:10.1093/jac/dkx217.

Zimin, A.V. & Salzberg, S.L. (2020) The genome polishing tool POLCA makes fast and accurate corrections in genome assemblies. *PLOS Computational Biology*. 16 (6), e1007981. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007981.

Zubyk, H.L. & Wright, G.D. (2021) CrpP Is Not a Fluoroquinolone-Inactivating Enzyme. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 65 (8), 10.1128/aac.00773-21. doi:10.1128/aac.00773-21.

Zupančič, J., Turk, M., Črnigoj, M., Ambrožič Avguštin, J. & Gunde-Cimerman, N. (2019) The dishwasher rubber seal acts as a reservoir of bacteria in the home environment. *BMC Microbiology*. 19 (1), 300. doi:10.1186/s12866-019-1674-5.

Zur, G., Lifshitz, B. & Bdolah-Abram, T. (2011) The association between the signalment, common causes of canine otitis externa and pathogens. *Journal of*

Small Animal Practice. 52 (5), 254–258. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.2011.01058.x.

Chapter 8 Appendix

8.1 Supplementary material

8.1.1 Complete canine otitis externa strain collection

P. aeruginosa strain	Origin	Original Isolation
80842	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
80664	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84556	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
80610	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84181	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84381	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83240	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84653	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84142	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84750	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84331	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84480	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84987	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83386	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85566	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85571	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85552	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
80632	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83304	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
80715	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84269	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84456	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85115	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
87870	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85505	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84654	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84496	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85546	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88693	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85344	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88033	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
87895	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88812	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88549	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88023	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
89011 (2)	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88030	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
89022	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
88440	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83213	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83719	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83635	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
83389	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown

83693	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
84688	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
85300	Royal Veterinary College	Unknown
491804	NationWide Laboratories	Blandford Forum
464009 (1)	NationWide Laboratories	Stamford
467884	NationWide Laboratories	Rugeley
462080	NationWide Laboratories	Mansfield
495200	NationWide Laboratories	Biddulph
487390	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
488519	NationWide Laboratories	Malta
464429	NationWide Laboratories	Northampton
467523	NationWide Laboratories	Edinburgh
494759	NationWide Laboratories	Penrith
489935	NationWide Laboratories	Blandford Forum
467153	NationWide Laboratories	Congleton
490559?	NationWide Laboratories	Northampton
464570	NationWide Laboratories	Northwich
490142	NationWide Laboratories	Lichfield
490055	NationWide Laboratories	Glasgow
488363	NationWide Laboratories	Northampton
468424R	NationWide Laboratories	Brighton and Hove
468424L	Unknown	Unknown
484098	NationWide Laboratories	Blandford Forum
467985	NationWide Laboratories	Romford
468512	NationWide Laboratories	Thornton-Cleveleys
483253	NationWide Laboratories	Winsford
469525	NationWide Laboratories	Nottingham
491810	NationWide Laboratories	Northwich
491809	NationWide Laboratories	Chalfont Saint Giles
489267	NationWide Laboratories	Manchester
491019	NationWide Laboratories	Lichfield
491171	NationWide Laboratories	Swadlincote
490614	NationWide Laboratories	Bramhall
491708(1)	NationWide Laboratories	Royal Leamington Spa
494920	NationWide Laboratories	Unknown
486412	NationWide Laboratories	Glasgow
462206	NationWide Laboratories	North Walsham
491243	NationWide Laboratories	Henley-on-Thames
490471	NationWide Laboratories	Ashton-under-Lyne
490219	NationWide Laboratories	Unknown
490290	Unknown	Unknown
486414	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
491037	NationWide Laboratories	Stoke-on-Trent
490137	NationWide Laboratories	Penrith
490594	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
462969	NationWide Laboratories	London
469154	NationWide Laboratories	Liverpool
489748	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens

150011		01 1
453344	NationWide Laboratories	Chatham
485418	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
488666	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
488401	NationWide Laboratories	NN4 6FF
491041	NationWide Laboratories	Dubai
490051	NationWide Laboratories	Blandford Forum
488402	NationWide Laboratories	Barnstaple
464016	NationWide Laboratories	Ulverston
489179	NationWide Laboratories	Easingwold
467565R	NationWide Laboratories	Thornton-Cleveleys
463027	NationWide Laboratories	Tipton
488427	NationWide Laboratories	Axminster
487845	NationWide Laboratories	Barnstaple
491808	NationWide Laboratories	Bexhill
485366	NationWide Laboratories	Wolverhampton
484919	NationWide Laboratories	Dubai
487280	NationWide Laboratories	Maidstone
485101	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
495165	NationWide Laboratories	Fasingwold
468424	NationWide Laboratories	Thornton-Cleveleys
468571	NationWide Laboratories	Blackburn
400371	NationWide Laboratories	St Halans
491130	NationWide Laboratories	Deading
400317	Nation Wide Laboratories	Reading Disa dford Former
491243	Nation Wide Laboratories	Dialitiona Forulli
462188	Nation Wide Laboratories	Royston
480630	Nation Wide Laboratories	Barnstaple
46/565 (1)	NationWide Laboratories	Nottingham
488521	NationWide Laboratories	Welwyn
488958	NationWide Laboratories	Cupar
462781	NationWide Laboratories	Hexham
484916	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
467565 (2)	Unknown	Unknown
464591(1)	NationWide Laboratories	Ross-on-Wye
491610	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
467896	NationWide Laboratories	Buntingford
464009 (2)	Unknown	Unknown
27827-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27039	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28495	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29797-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29712	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29775	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29825	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28045-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27786	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27207	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
2848	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
26758	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
20130	Oniversity of Copennagen	UIKIUWII

10435-2 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
5660-2University of CopenhagenUnknown	
C3683 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
25181 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
5690University of CopenhagenUnknown	
26228 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
22406 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
C37291 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26712 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
C5752-1 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26277 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
C3524 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27003 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
C5768-2 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26675-2 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26820-2 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
29885 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26737-1 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26551 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
29264 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26820-3 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26820-3 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
28504 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26740 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
28093 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27473 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
28260 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
23180 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
25395 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27267 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
29570-2-2 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
28517 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
40910-1 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
29130 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27197 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
28272 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26777 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27174 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26992 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26491 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27321 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27995 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26853 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
26768 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
29582 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
28728 University of Copenhagen Unknown	
27360 University of Copenhagen Unknown	

469375	NationWide Laboratories	Wootton Bridge
488613	NationWide Laboratories	Swadlincote
498491	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
498492	NationWide Laboratories	Maidstone
488518	NationWide Laboratories	St Helens
453191	NationWide Laboratories	Snodland
464591(2)	Unknown	Unknown
467139	NationWide Laboratories	Watford
483186	NationWide Laboratories	Northwich
485015	NationWide Laboratories	Smethwick
472819	NationWide Laboratories	Fleetwood
467505	NationWide Laboratories	Bootle
488188	NationWide Laboratories	Wolverhampton
473025	NationWide Laboratories	Shirley
491708(2)	Unknown	Unknown
493691	NationWide Laboratories	Lichfield
464127	NationWide Laboratories	Ulverston
28045-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
25467	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28712	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
22814	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29051	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28472	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
10476-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
23275	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29893-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28494	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
84142(2)	Unknown	Unknown
C-3501	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
487632	NationWide Laboratories	Harlow
27660	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
25966	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
30084	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29663	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28279	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
23276	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27889-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
28415	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29878-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29569	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
2782	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
26667	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29405	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
25837	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
25131	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
2776	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
26982	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
26392-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
	·	

2943	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29844-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29843-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
26907	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27523-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
C-3499	Unknown	Unknown
89011-2	Unknown	Unknown
26697-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
26633	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27744	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29878-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29758	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29797-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29844-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
27660-2	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
94987	Unknown	Unknown
27983	University of Copenhagen	Unknown
29570-2-1	University of Copenhagen	Unknown

 Table 8.1 Complete collection of clinical P. aeruginosa used in this work.

Royal Veterinary College (n = 46), NationWide Laboratories (n = 93) and an EU Collection from the University of Copenhagen, School of Veterinary Medicine (n = 104). The source of the remaining (n = 10) isolates is unknown.

8.1.2 Extracting amino acid sequences for genes of interest

```
from Bio import SeqIO
import os
genes_of_interest = {"": [], "": [], "": [], "": [], "": [], "": []}
def gene_of_interest(GOI):
   fasta_list = []
    for f in gen_files:
        for rec in SeqIO.parse(f, "genbank"):
            if rec.features:
                for feature in rec.features:
                    if feature.type == "CDS":
                        if "gene" in feature.qualifiers:
                            if GOI in feature.qualifiers["gene"][0]:
                                seq = feature.qualifiers["translation"]
                                id = ">{}:{} {}".format(rec.id,
feature.qualifiers["gene"][0], rec.description)
                                fasta_list.append("{}\n{}".format(id, *seq))
   return fasta_list
def save_fasta(GOI, GOI_info):
   with open('{}.fasta'.format(GOI), 'w') as fp:
       for item in GOI_info:
            fp.write("%s\n" % item)
```

Figure 8.1 Python script used to extract the amino acid sequences of genes of interest.

8.1.3 Complete biofilm formation ability of *P. aeruginosa* isolates







Strain



Figure 8.2 Biofilm formation of P. aeruginosa from canine otitis externa.

The biofilm forming ability of 253 *P. aeruginosa* strains was tested in a crystal violet, 96 well plate assay. Green – Strong biofilm producing - Purple – Moderate biofilm producing - Orange – Weak biofilm producing - Red – No quantifiable biofilm. The values here are from three biological and six technical repeats represented by the mean with 95% confidence interval.

8.1.4 Comparison of biofilm formation of PAO1 sublines



Figure 8.3 Comparison of biofilm formation between P. aeruginosa sublines.

The ability of three common *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 sublines, PAO1-L originally from the Dieter Haas laboratory, PAO1-UW, maintained at the University of Washington, and PAO1-N from the University of Nottingham to form biofilm in vitro was compared using a 96 well microtiter plate assay to PAO1-QUB from the present study. Green – Strong biofilm producing. Welch's ANOVA test revealed a statistically significant difference in biofilm formation (p<0.0001). Dunnett's T3 multiple comparisons test found that all the groups were statistically significantly different. Three biological repeats with 24 technical repeats are represented by the mean with 95% confidence interval. ** P<0.001, **** P<0.001
8.1.5 Cluster analysis







Figure 8.4 Breakdown of hierarchical clustering results.

Hierarchical clustering using Euclidean distance with Ward linkage was performed using the results from six experiments, namely the crystal violet biofilm and swarming motility assays, the total number of resistances to the tested antibiotics, predation by B. bacteriovorus on YPSC agar

and in YPSC broth and finally bacteriophage host range. Above shows the distribution of results in each assay for each of the clusters.



8.1.6 Bacteriophage restriction digestion gels





Figure 8.5 Ethidium Bromide agarose gel image of bacteriophage restriction digestion with three restriction endonucleases.

Restriction digestions of genomic DNA extracts from 19 bacteriophage were performed using EcoRI-HF, NdeI and HindIII as described in §2.12. Subsequently, the digestions were run on an agarose gel containing Ethidium Bromide (§2.4).

Strain		Nu	Number of prophage regions	
2	25181		8	
Length (bp)	Completeness	CDS	Closest Relative	
30,600	Intact	37	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
32,300	Intact	41	Pseudomonas phage F10	
76,600	Intact	79	Pseudomonas phage F10	
59,800	Intact	90	Pseudomonas phage PMG1	
12,600	Intact	18	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
66,700	Intact	77	Pseudomonas phage JBD44	
33,300	Intact	30	Acinetobacter phage vB_AbaM_ME3	
12,200	Intact	17	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
2	26491		2	
20,200	Intact	27	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
17,800	Questionable	17	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
20	6820-3		3	
18,800	Questionable	23	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
11,300	Questionable	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
13,300	Intact	15	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
27	7827-1		6	
33,100	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
37,800	Intact	53	Pseudomonas phage JBD30	
35,400	Intact	51	Pseudomonas phage JBD69	
47,600	Intact	47	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
56,500	Questionable	78	Pseudomonas phage JBD44	
12,100	Intact	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
2	29582		1	
30,700	Intact	37	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
2	29758		5	
30,600	Intact	38	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
45,300	Intact	46	Pseudomonas phage F10	
11,800	Questionable	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
9,700	Intact	12	Pseudomonas phage Pf1	
54,700	Intact	61	Pseudomonas phage vB_PaeS_PM105	
8	30632		5	
18,500	Questionable	24	Pseudomonas phage YMC11/02/R656	
43,800	Intact	61	Pseudomonas phage MD8	
56,500	Intact	53	Pseudomonas phage B3	

8.1.7 Complete prophage analysis

14,100	Intact	15	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
11,700	Intact	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
8	30664		2
30,600	Intact	36	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
48,100	Intact	65	Pseudomonas phage phi2
	30715		8
22,700	Intact	29	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
41,700	Intact	59	Pseudomonas phage phi2
56,800	Intact	70	Pseudomonas phage phi297
48,200	Intact	49	Pseudomonas phage JBD25
39,400	Intact	53	Pseudomonas phage JBD93
17,300	Questionable	10	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
24,400	Intact	29	Escherichia phage
			vB_EcoM_ECO1230-10
11,700	Questionable	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
3	33240		5
30,600	Intact	37	Pseudomonas phage
,			YMC11/02/R656
41,700	Intact	59	Pseudomonas phage F10
61,500	Intact	76	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
11,400	Intact	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
43,000	Intact	45	Pseudomonas phage F10
8	34269	5	
18,400	Intact	25	Pseudomonas phage
			phiCTX DNA
48,400	Intact	57	Pseudomonas phage F10
76,100	Intact	94	Bacteriophage D3
52,700	Questionable	65	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/07/P54_PAE_BP
14,600	Intact	18	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
8	35505		1
22,900	Intact	29	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
8	37895		4
30,600	Intact	38	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
50,700	Intact	59	Pseudomonas phage F10
42,800	Intact	52	Pseudomonas phage B3
67,100	Intact	69 Pseudomonas virus H66	
8	38693		3
15,100	Intact	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
42,900	Intact	54	Burkholderia phage AH2
18,400	Intact	25	Pseudomonas phage
			phiCTX DNA
88812			4

20,200	Intact	27	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
43,800	Intact	58	Pseudomonas phage MD8
56,300	Intact	57	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/07/P54_PAE_BP
16,000	Questionable	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
	463027		6
32,300	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
46,500	Intact	51	Pseudomonas phage F10
47,800	Intact	53	Pseudomonas phage MD8
52,100	Intact	52	Burkholderia cenocepacia
			phage BcepMu
11,600	Intact	12	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
43,800	Intact	52	Pseudomonas phage Dobby
	467896		2
18,400	Intact	24	Enterobacter phage Arya
57,800	Intact	67	Pseudomonas phage phi297
	480630		3
19,000	Questionable	23	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
56,200	Intact	53	Pseudomonas phage phi297
13,500	Intact	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
	484098		4
18,400	Intact	25	Pseudomonas phage
			phiCTX DNA
56,700	Intact	49	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
45,100	Intact	48	Pseudomonas phage JBD25
40,800	Intact	48	Pseudomonas phage Dobby
	484919		3
18,900	Questionable	22	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
11,500	Intact	15	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
17,600	Questionable	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
	485101		7
32,300	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
43,600	Intact	64	Pseudomonas phage F10
48,600	Intact	56	Pseudomonas phage JBD25
19,100	Incomplete	24	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
63,100	Intact	98	Bacteriophage D3
44,500	Intact	51	Escherichia phage
			vB_EcoM_ECO1230-10
49,300	Intact	48	Pseudomonas phage JBD67
	488427		7
43,300	Intact	62	Pseudomonas phage JBD93

32,300	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
39,800	Intact	57	Pseudomonas phage JBD30
72,800	Intact	62	Pseudomonas phage phi297
14,200	Questionable	20	Ralstonia phage p12J
61,000	Intact	69	Pseudomonas phage phi297
43,000	Intact	45	Pseudomonas phage F10
43	88613		10
48,700	Intact	52	Pseudomonas phage JBD18
15,100	Intact	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
20,200	Intact	16	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
18,400	Intact	25	Pseudomonas phage Dobby
41,900	Intact	55	Pseudomonas phage MD8
47.600	Intact	59	Pseudomonas phage PMG1
55,500	Intact	57	Pseudomonas phage JBD18
33,300	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage
;			vB_PaeS_PM105
54,500	Intact	52	Pseudomonas phage JBD18
53,900	Intact	53	Pseudomonas phage Dobby
43	88958		3
18,900	Questionable	22	Pseudomonas phage
	_		YMC11/02/R656
11,500	Intact	15	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
17,600	Questionable	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
489267			6
18,400	Intact	23	Escherichia phage
			vB_EcoM_ECO1230-10
43,100	Intact	61	Pseudomonas phage phi2
50,500	Intact	57	Pseudomonas virus H66
45,100	Intact	51	Burkholderia cenocepacia
			phage BcepMu
12,800	Questionable	11	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
47,100	Intact	52	Pseudomonas phage Dobby
49	90051		7
22,500	Intact	20	Ralstonia phage RS138
49,900	Incomplete	65	Pseudomonas phage F10
48,900	Intact	55	Pseudomonas phage JBD25
32,300	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
29,300	Intact	34	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
25,600	Incomplete	42	Pseudomonas phage F10
22,100	Incomplete	29	Pseudomonas phage F10
49	90137		7
19,800	Intact	25	Pseudomonas phage
			phiCTX DNA
24,300	Questionable	23	Pseudomonas phage F10
69,700	Intact	82	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656

56,400	Intact	77	Pseudomonas phage PMG1
15,500	Incomplete	21	Bacteriophage Aaphi23
12,700	Questionable	10	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
15,700	Intact	18	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
4	90614		3
18,400	Intact	23	Pseudomonas phage Dobby
49,800	Intact	58	Pseudomonas virus H66
30,900	Intact	14	Pseudomonas phage Pf1
C5752-1		4	
32,300	Intact	40	Pseudomonas phage
			YMC11/02/R656
56,200	Intact	62	Pseudomonas phage phi297
47,000	Intact	47	Pseudomonas phage phi297
59,600	Intact	61	Pseudomonas phage F10
Table 8.2 Results from PHASTEST analysis of clinical P. aeruginosa genome sequences.			

The prediction of prophage sequences was performed using PHASTEST (§2.22.7). Presented for each *P. aeruginosa* isolate is the number of predicted prophage regions, in addition to the length of that region (bp), the completeness of the prophage sequence, the number of coding sequences and finally the closest relative.



8.1.8 Coverage of bacteriophage reads before and after subsampling





Up to two bacteriophage genome samples were combined and co-sequenced in one Illumina library preparation. Coverage was calculated using the complete set of trimmed reads and then repeated using a subsample of reads. A coverage of 0 indicates that a contig representing an assembly of the bacteriophage could not be identified.

8.1.9 VIRIDIC heatmap containing prophage regions



Figure 8.7 Heatmap showing intergenomic similarities calculated by VIRIDIC.

Heatmap generated by VIRIDIC of 19 bacteriophage genomes identified in this work in addition to prophage regions extracted using PHASTEST (\$4.2.2.7). *Pseudomonas* phage K9-18 was removed from the analysis due to the fragmented genome. The upper right half is a heatmap sorted by hierarchical clustering based on intergenomic similarity. The bottom left portion of the graph shows the aligned genome fractions and genome length ratio. Finally, at the top of the graph is a histogram of the bacteriophage genome lengths. Green – *Pseudomonas* bacteriophage isolated in the present study.

Genome	Species cluster	Genus cluster
Pseudomonas phage	123	89
K9-17		
Pseudomonas phage	120	88
K9-12	100	
Pseudomonas phage	120	88
K9-13	110	07
Pseudomonas pnage	119	87
K9-11 Decondomonos nhogo	101	07
r seudomonas phage	121	07
R9-14 Pseudomonas nhage	122	87
K9-16 long	122	07
Pseudomonas phage	118	87
K9-9	110	01
Pseudomonas phage	118	87
K9-10		
Pseudomonas phage	118	87
K9-15		
Pseudomonas phage	125	90
К9-б		
Pseudomonas phage	126	90
K9-7		
490137 prophage region	76	56
2		
485101 prophage region	44	36
4		
25181 prophage region	2	2
2	10.4	
87895 prophage region	106	78
2	104	74
84269 prophage region	104	/6
4	((
25181 prophage region	0	0
0 27827 1 prophaga	10	15
region 5	10	15
84269 prophage region	103	75
3	105	15
25181 prophage region	4	4
4		
485101 prophage region	45	37
5		
490137 prophage region	78	58
4		
88812 prophage region	110	81
2		

8.1.10 VIRIDIC genus and species clustering

488613 prophage region 5	58	47
80632 prophage region 2	85	63
84269 prophage region 2	102	74
Pseudomonas phage K9-5	117	74
Pseudomonas phage K9-4	117	74
Pseudomonas phage K9-1	117	74
Pseudomonas phage K9-16 short	117	74
83240 prophage region 2	99	72
C5752-1 prophage region 4	115	85
488613 prophage region 6	59	48
80664 prophage region 2	90	66
489267 prophage region 2	64	50
80715 prophage region 2	92	67
88693 prophage region 2	109	80
80715 prophage region 5	95	69
488427 prophage region 1	48	13
488427 prophage region 3	49	13
27827-1 prophage region 2	15	13
27827-1 prophage region 3	16	13
485101 prophage region 3	43	35
485101 prophage region 7	47	39
80715 prophage region 4	94	30
490051 prophage region 3	71	30
484098 prophage region 3	38	30

Pseudomonas phage	124	30
К9-2		
Pseudomonas phage	124	30
80632 prophage region	86	64
3	00	0-
87895 prophage region	107	64
3		
29758 prophage region 5	25	20
488613 prophage region 8	61	49
488613 prophage region	60	43
7		
488613 prophage region 1	54	43
488613 prophage region	62	43
9		~ .
489267 prophage region 3	65	51
490614 prophage region	82	51
2		
87895 prophage region 4	108	79
Pseudomonas phage 491171-1-30	116	86
463027 prophage region	28	22
3		
C5752-1 prophage	114	84
463027 prophage region	27	21
2	27	21
490051 prophage region	69	52
29758 prophage region	22	17
2		
488427 prophage region 7	53	17
83240 prophage region	53	17
5		
80715 prophage region 3	93	68
488427 prophage region	52	42
6		
488427 prophage region 4	50	40
C5752-1 prophage	113	83
region 2		

490137 prophage region	77	57
27827-1 prophage	17	14
484098 prophage region	37	14
467896 prophage region	33	27
480630 prophage region	35	28
88812 prophage region	111	28
3 490051 prophage region	72	54
5 83240 prophage region	100	73
3 490137 prophage region	79	59
5 26491 prophage region	9	9
1 88812 prophage region	9	9
1 80715 prophage region	91	9
1 85505 prophage region	91	9
1 80632 prophage region	84	9
1 2<2000 2	11	2
region 1 region 1		9
480630 prophage region 1	34	9
484919 prophage region 1	34	9
488958 prophage region 1	34	9
489267 prophage region 1	63	26
490614 prophage region 1	63	26
490137 prophage region 1	75	26
484098 prophage region 1	32	26
467896 prophage region	32	26
84269 prophage region 1	32	26

488613 prophage region 4	32	26
88693 prophage region 3	32	26
27827-1 prophage region 1	14	1
80664 prophage region 1	89	1
488427 prophage region 2	26	1
490051 prophage region 4	26	1
485101 prophage region 1	26	1
463027 prophage region 1	26	1
C5752-1 prophage region 1	26	1
25181 prophage region 1	1	1
87895 prophage region 1	1	1
29582 prophage region 1	20	1
29758 prophage region 1	21	1
83240 prophage region 1	21	1
488613 prophage region 3	57	46
490137 prophage region 7	81	61
26820-3 prophage region 3	13	12
29758 prophage region 4	24	19
80632 prophage region 5	88	19
25181 prophage region 5	5	5
25181 prophage region 8	8	8
27827-1 prophage region 6	19	16
488613 prophage region 2	56	45
88693 prophage region 1	56	45

480630 prophage region 3	36	29
490137 prophage region 6	80	60
484919 prophage region 2	40	32
488958 prophage region 2	40	32
463027 prophage region 5	30	24
83240 prophage region 4	101	24
490614 prophage region 3	83	62
26491 prophage region 2	10	10
80715 prophage region 6	96	10
80715 prophage region 8	98	71
84269 prophage region 5	105	77
484919 prophage region 3	41	33
488958 prophage region 3	41	33
88812 prophage region 4	112	82
80632 prophage region 4	87	65
26820-3 prophage region 2	12	11
29758 prophage region 3	23	18
489267 prophage region 5	67	18
488613 prophage region 10	55	44
484098 prophage region 4	39	31
463027 prophage region 6	31	25
489267 prophage region 6	68	25
463027 prophage region 4	29	23
489267 prophage region 4	66	23

485101 prophage region 6	46	38
80715 prophage region 7	97	70
490051 prophage region 7	74	55
490051 prophage region 2	70	53
490051 prophage region 6	73	53
25181 prophage region 3	3	3
485101 prophage region 2	42	34
25181 prophage region 7	7	7
488427 prophage region 5	51	41

Table 8.3 Table of assigned genus and species clusters.

Findings from VIRIDIC genus and species clustering of 18 bacteriophage genomes from the present study and prophage regions identified using PHASTEST (§4.2.2.7).

8.2 **PIPS reflective statement**

Note to examiners:

This statement is included as an appendix to the thesis in order that the thesis accurately captures the PhD training experienced by the candidate as a BBSRC Doctoral Training Partnership student.

The Professional Internship for PhD Students is a compulsory 3-month placement which must be undertaken by DTP students. It is usually centred on a specific project and must not be related to the PhD project. This reflective statement is designed to capture the skills development which has taken place during the student's placement and the impact on their career plans it has had.

A requirement of my PhD program was the completion of a three-month professional internship for PhD students. To satisfy this requirement, I was hosted by Dr Frieda Jorgensen within food, water, and environmental microbiology at UKHSA Porton Down. My duties included three research projects: "Metagenomic analysis of contaminated chicken nuggets", "Using qPCR for the rapid quantification of Campylobacter spp" and "Isolation of *E. albertii* or EPEC from supermarket chicken". The later project was a particular success and I continued to work on the project with Dr Jorgensen after my PIPS had finished.

The microbiology lab at UKHSA was ISO 17025 accredited, which gave me experience working in an ISO accredited environment and familiarised me with working safely within SOPs to perform DNA extractions using a Qiagen EZ Advanced XL platform and using existing qPCR methods to identify bacteria.

This work also involved the enrichment of samples using selective methods in addition and identification of isolates MALDI-TOF methods.

While on my placement I had the opportunity to visit the Quadram institute as part of an open day. While there I got to hear about the research that was being performed there as well as a tour of the facilities. This trip was a highlight of my PIPS.

This placement was the first time I had worked in microbiology outside of a university and helped me realise I would enjoy a career in public health microbiology, which is something I will look at pursuing after my PhD.

8.3 **Publications from this work**



Review



Pseudomonas spp. in Canine Otitis Externa

Bailey Secker ^{1, 2}, Stephen Shaw ¹ and Robert J. Atterbury ^{1,*}

- School of Veterinary Medicine and Science, University of Nottingham, College Road, Sutton Bonington, Leicestershire LE12 SRD, UK; bailey.secker@nottingham.ac.uk (B.S.); steve shaw@nottingham.ac.uk (S.S.) School of Biosciences, University of Nottingham, College Road, Sutton Bonington, Leicestershire LE12 SRD, UK

- Correspondence: robert.atterbury@nottingham.ac.uk

Abstract: Canine otitis externa (OE) is a commonly diagnosed condition seen in veterinary practice worldwide. In this review, we discuss the mechanisms of the disease, with a particular focus on the biological characteristics of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and the impact that antibiotic resistance has on successful recovery from OE. We also consider potential alternatives to antimicrobial chemotherapy for the treatment of recalcitrant infections. P. aeruginosa is not a typical constituent of the canine ear microbiota, but is frequently isolated from cases of chronic OE, and the nature of this pathogen often makes treatment difficult. Biofilm formation is identified in 40-95% of P. aeruginosa from cases of OE and intrinsic and acquired antibiotic resistance, especially resistance to clinically important antibiotics, highlights the need for alternative treatments. The role of other virulence factors in OE remains relatively unexplored and further work is needed. The studies described in this work highlight several potential alternative treatments, including the use of bacteriophages. This review provides a summary of the aetiology of OE with particular reference to the dysbiosis that leads to colonisation by P. aeruginosa and highlights the need for novel treatments for the future management of P. aeruginosa otitis.

Keywords: Pseudomonas; canine; otitis externa; dog; companion animal



Citation: Secker, B.; Shaw, S.; Atterbury, R.J. Pseudomonas spp. in Canine Otitis Externa. Microorganians 2023, 11, 2650. https://doi.org/ nisms11112650 10.3390/microorg

Academic Editor: Paolo Calistri

Received: 29 September 2023 Revised: 22 October 2023 Accepted: 25 October 2023 Published: 28 October 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Com Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// ns.org/licenses/by/ 40/).

1. Introduction

1.1. Canine Otitis Externa

Otitis externa (OE) is defined as inflammation of the external ear canal that may affect the entire length, or any part, of the canal from the tympanic membrane (TM) to the outer meatus, and is often associated with concurrent pinnal changes. The disease can be painful and/or pruritic, acute, or chronic, and may affect one or both ears. Chronic OE is defined variably, but is usually considered to be disease of over three months duration [1], or which returns within three months and/or for the ear to demonstrate changes consistent with chronic disease [2].

OE is a very common condition in dogs presenting to veterinary clinics worldwide [3]. Secondary infections, particularly those involving Pseudomonas spp., most commonly Pseudomonas aeruginosa, are key in disease progression, morbidity, and treatment failure. Tissue changes, such as swelling and glandular hyperplasia, may result from the primary cause or secondary infection and further complicate the disease [4]. In severe cases, medical management may fail, requiring surgical intervention and resulting in hearing loss and risk of continued infection [5].

1.2. Normal Ear Structure and Function

The long cylindrical nature of the ear canal requires a delicate balance of the epidermal microbiota and a specialised function to maintain health [6]. Epidermal cells of the drum and ear wall are constantly being renewed. Corneocytes, shed from the surface, mix with sebaceous and œruminous secretions to form cerumen (ear wax) that acts as a vehicle to

Microorganisms 2023, 11, 2650. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11112650

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/microorganisms

carry material, including microorganisms, out of the ear. The underlying epidermis moves centrifugally towards the outer meatus to facilitate this [7].

A higher density of ceruminous glands has been associated with the development of OE in dogs predisposed to otitis [8,9]. These secretions largely determine the acidity of the canine ear—at around pH 6—providing a buffered environment that regulates pH changes [10]. Acute ear infections can be accompanied by a reduction in the pH of the canal wall, whereas chronic disease may be more associated with an alkaline shift. Acidity may act to control infection [11], and stronger acids—particularly acetic acid—can be used as an otic disinfectant in people as well as dogs [12,13].

The microbiota of the healthy canine ear is maintained through a complex combination of mechanical, chemical, immunological, and microbial interactions, similar to those described for the human ear [14]. Innate and specific immune responses mediated by host defence peptides, such as β-defensin (cBD3)-like and cathelicidin (cCath), and the secretion of IgA, IgM, and (particularly) IgG in cerumen contribute to this [15]. Bacterial and epidermal antimicrobial peptides may act to limit bacterial growth and alter the immunosurveillance of commensal organisms. The disruption of the microbiota may lead to sustained dysbiosis and subsequent secondary infections. A further understanding of this may assist in the development of more effective treatments for OE.

1.3. Normal Ear Microbiota

Microorganisms in the ear are characterised using three main techniques cytological examination, bacterial culture, and deep sequencing [16–18]. The cytological examination of otic discharge/œrumen is mostly used in the clinical setting as a quick, convenient test. However, this test is not sensitive and may fail to identify low or normal numbers of bacteria and yeasts [19], resulting in a binary interpretation of either normality on the one hand or infection and inflammation on the other; for instance, in *P. acruginosa* infection, short rods are seen (Figure 1). Bacterial culture is also used in clinics, with or without the benefit of cytology, and will often identify bacteria and the non-lipid-dependent yeast *Malassezia padhydermatis*, which will grow on non-selective agar plates, regardless of whether they are in excess. When commensals are cultured, the clinical context, preferably also supported by cytology, is key to the interpretation of the laboratory results.

The organisms present in the normal canine ear have been investigated in only a few studies [16,20–22]. Traditional culturing has revealed the predominance of *Staphylococcus speudintermedius*, *Bacillus* spp., coagulase-negative *Staphylococcus* spp., *Micrococcus* spp., as well as *Malassezia* spp., with smaller numbers of *Corynebacterium* spp. and Gram-negative rods [19,23,24]. Recently the microbiota of the middle ears was assessed in six healthy Beagle dogs and found to be similar to those of the external ear canal [25]. In OE, these organisms are over-represented, but the results of culture often reveal less commonly isolated organisms, such as *Staphylococcus* such *ease*, transient organisms not adapted to the epidermis can invade and become established.

More recently, deep sequencing and metagenomics have revealed a richer population of bacteria and yeasts that characterise the microbiome of normal ears. They also provide evidence of changes in the microbiota that precede and follow the invasion of environmental organisms, such as *P. aeruginosa*. A metagenomic study of 257 ear swabs from 89 different dog breeds in the US (*n* = 256) and UK (*n* = 1) found *Staphylococcus pseudintermedius*, *Malassezia* spp., and *Streptococcus* spp., as would be expected from cytology and traditional culture, but also reported *Cutibacterium acnes* as commonly as *Staphylococcus pseudintermedius* [27]. Separate studies of dogs in the US, Belgium, and France found that *Corynebacterium*, *Streptococcus*, and *Staphylococcus* were frequently reported, although there was considerable variation in the microbiome between individual animals [27–29]. The reader is referred to other texts for a more detailed discussion of the normal microbiota of the ear [27,30].



Figure 1. Cytology showing rods and nuclear streaming indicative of an active infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa—modified Romanovsky stain ($\times 1000$).

Dysbiosis of the ear may be characterised by an overgrowth of *Malassezia* or bacterial populations, but there is not a consistent pattern of change from normal to infected ears, and this may also vary according to breed [31]. Dysbiosis often makes dogs more vulnerable to ear infections with *Pseudomonas*, particularly when accompanied by other factors, such as neglect. *P. aeruginosa* is not an obligate pathogen, and studies investigating the source of these infections often highlight environmental sources—particularly water [32], although nosocomial infections in veterinary surgery are possible [33].

2. Clinical Framework

August (1988) [4] devised a useful clinical framework that separated the factors involved in the development of canine OE into primary disease, predisposing factors, and perpetuating factors. This allowed a structured approach to diagnosis and treatment. More recently, the perpetuating factors have been separated into physical changes and secondary infections resulting in the PSPP (primary, secondary, perpetuating, and predisposing factors) system that is widely taught and used (Figure 2). However, this separation, though useful, is artificial and, for instance, otic inflammation and dysbiosis are intimately connected. Beyond these divisions that might be used to describe ottis, one group developed the OTIS-3 scale to describe the severity of OE using a composite score of ery thema, oedema/swelling, erosion/ulceration, and exudate, but this is used infrequently [34].



Figure 2. Diagram showing the influences and progress of ear disease from primary disease to infection.

2.1. Primary Factors

These describe the causes of initial inflammation in the ear. The most common are allergy, presence of foreign bodies, and infestations with *Otodectes cynotis*. Between 70 and 80% of dogs suffering from allergic skin disease (food and environmental allergy) have OE [35,36]. In particular, OE has been increasingly linked with canine atopic dermatitis (cAD) over the last few decades. In the 1980s, between 5 and 17% of dogs with cAD had OE [37,38], but by the early 2000s, this was reported to be up to 43% by Saridomichelakis et al. [39] and then later 50% in a large study of cAD by Favrot [40] However, this difference could be explained by a broadening of the definition of otitis to include inflammatory, as well as infected, OE [35]. It is important to note that primary factors are not identified in some cases [39].

The association between atopic dermatitis and OE complicates the PSPP system, as allergy causes inflammation and increases the probability of secondary infection. One study compared the microbiota of dogs suffering from atopic dermatitis with control animals using linear discriminant effect size analysis (LEfSe). Significantly greater numbers (p < 0.05) of some microbial species were found in the ears of dogs suffering from cAD compared with unaffected control animals. This was especially evident for *Staphylococcus*, which was present in 43.53% of cAD cases and 5.12% of controls. Populations of *Ralstonia, Methylotenera,* and *Lactobacillus* have also been reported as higher in dogs suffering from cAD [28]. Conversely, Apostolopoulos et al. [41] found lower abundances of *Brevibacterium* and *Macrococcus* ($p \leq 0.05$) in the ear canal of German shepherd dogs with allergy, although no difference in *Staphylococcus* colonisation was reported.

The type of primary disease may influence the subsequent bacterial and yeast infections. Zur, Lifshitz, and Bdolah-Abram [42] reported *Malasszia* and rods more commonly in allergy and endocrine disease, respectively. In contrast, Paterson and Matyskiewicz [35] reported that allergy was a common cause of *Pseudomonas* infections in dogs (70%).

Despite the presence of primary disease, many dogs only present to the clinic upon the subsequent development of secondary infections with both normal skin commensals as well as environmental organisms, such as *Pseudomonas*.

2.2. Secondary Infections

Secondary infection usually causes a marked increase in the clinical signs experienced (increased discharge with a purulent exudate, malodour, and irritation or pain) in canine OE, and many patients are not presented until this is noted. The normal canine ear is not sterile, and depending on the primary disease, some dysbiosis may be seen in the absence of clinical infection, blurring the line between traditionally binary infected versus non-infected ears. Inflamed ears are often dysbiotic, with an overgrowth of *Staphylococcus pseudintermedius* and *Malassezia pachydermatis* [28]. In the absence of perpetuating factors (below), reducing inflammation may be sufficient to resolve the overgrowth [43].

Table 1 summarises the microbial species found in OE using culture-based and me tagenomic methods. *Staphylococcus* spp. (297–58.5%) and *P. aeruginosa* (5.83–35.5%) are both frequently isolated using culture, along with the fungus *Malassezia pachydermatis* (8.75–30.9%). Shotgun metagenomics has further identified the obligate anaerobes Peptostreptococcus canis and Porphyromonas cangingivalis in 5.52% and 4.38% of OE cases respectively [27]. The anaerobic nature of these organisms means that they have not yet been implicated in cases of OE; however, they have both been identified in the canine mouth [44,45].

Table 1. Bacteria and fungi commonly isolated from cases of canine otitis externa using both culturebased and metagenomic methods.

Genus	Species	Prevalence Using Traditional Culture	Prevalence Using Metagenomics
Staphylococcus	S. intermedius, coagulase-positive Staphylococci, S. pseudintermedius, S. schleiferi, S. schleiferi spp. Coagulans, coagulase-negative Staphylococci	58.5% + 6.2% [24]; 36.83% + 2.97% [46]; 24.30% [47]	22% [29]; 11.25% + 8.54% [27]
Pseudomonas	P. aeruginosa	35.5% [47]; 16.24% [46]; 7.2% [24]	18.6% [29]; 5.83% [27]
Malassezia	M. pachyder matis	30.9% [24]; 30.01% [46]	8.75% [27]
Streptococcus	S. canis, β-hæmolytic Streptococci, non-hæmolytic Streptococci, S. halichoeri, S. agalactiae	29.9% + 4.1% [24]; 6.2% [47]; 2.97% [46]	5.42% + 3.80% + 0.83% [27]; 2.2% [29]
Proteus	P. spp., P. mirabilis	14.4% [24]; 6.8% [47]; 3.56% [46]	5.60% [29]; 2.29% [27]
Escherichia	E. coli	10.30% [24]; 4.2% [47]; 3.17% [46]	
Corynebacterium	C. auriscanis, C. freneyi, C. spp.	0.79% [46]	7.08% + 4.38% [27]; 5.4% [29]
Finegoldia	F. magna		5.83% [27]
Peptostreptococcus	P. canis		5.52% [27]
Lact obacillus			5.5% [29]
Enterococcus	E. faecium, E. faecalis	5.2% [24]	2.30% [29]; 1.04% [27]
Enterobacteriaœae (Unknown genus)			4.9% [29]
Porphyrimonas	P. cangingivalis		4.5% [29]; 4.38% [27]
Arcanobacterium	A. canis		4% [27]
Peptoniphilus	P. harei		2.29% [27]
Candida	C. spp.	2.38% [46]	
Bacillus	B. spp.	0.99% [46]	
14 Others			2.08-0.63% [27]

Corynebacterium spp. Was isolated from 0.79% of canine OE patients in Bulgaria [46]. Coryneoccentarian spp. was isolated from 0.79% of carine OE patients in Bulgana [46]. However, metagenomic sequencing suggests that this could be an underestimate, as its prevalence could be up to 5.4-7.08% [27,29]. This is in line with other studies showing the greater sensitivity of 16S rRNA sequencing compared with traditional culture methods [18]. However, the results of DNA sequence analysis should be interpreted with caution, as they do not distinguish between viable and dead cells. Given the microbial diversity of healthy ears and the range of environmental and physical exposures that can initiate infection, it is unsurprising that the relative abundance

of pathogens in canine OE also varies considerably between studies. However, despite this diversity, Pseudomonas spp. are the most common bacteria in chronic otitis, with up to 35%



of cases affected (Figure 3) [48]. Typically, the time from the onset of primary disease to the reporting of *Pseudomonas* infection is between 10 and 28 months [35].

Figure 3. An example of the clinical appearance of Pseudomonas otitis in a Cocker spaniel.

2.3. Perpetuating Factors

Perpetuating factors represent the tissue changes in the ear canal that develop as a result of disease and that prevent the resolution of OE and make repeated infection more likely [4]. Swelling and hyperplasia of the canal wall are followed by the enlargement of the ceruminous glands (modified sweat glands) and, finally, hidradenitis. Once the disease has progressed to this stage, it is often irreversible, and with increased surface area and ineffective physical and mechanical defences, bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* thrive. Bacterial toxins and physical accumulation of discharge can cause the rupture of the tympanic membrane, allowing infection to spread to the middle ear, resulting in otitis media (OM), which can then act as a perpetuating reservoir of infection [49]. Ear canal stenosis (38%) and OM (25%) were identified as the most prevalent perpetuating factors in Greece among 100 dogs of varying breeds [39].

2.4. Predisposing Factors

Predisposing factors are not causative of inflammation, but increase the probability of developing otitis. Addressing these rarely results in the complete alleviation or resolution of OE once it has developed. Predisposing factors include the physical traits of the dogs such as long, pendulous, hairy, or V-shaped drop pinna, as well as narrow external canals. These traits may lead to higher levels of moisture within the ear canal, which favour bacterial growth/survival. External factors, such as swimming and over-treatment with aqueous ear cleaners, may similarly disrupt normal functioning by increasing moisture within the ear canal, disrupting the normal microbiota and predisposing to OE [39,50].

2.5. Prevalence

Estimates of canine OE prevalence range between 5-20% [4]. In the UK, canine OE was a frequent diagnosis (7.3%) in a random sample of 22,000 dogs attending primary care practices over a one-year period in 2016, which was second only to periodontal disease (12.52%) [51]. Further investigation revealed that certain breeds were predisposed to this disease, namely Basset Hounds, Chinese Shar Pei, and Labradoodles, whereas Chihuahuas were the least susceptible [50]. An earlier study in South-Eastern England found that OE was the most prevalent diagnosis for dogs (10.2%), followed by periodontal disease (9.3%) [52]. A similar prevalence has been reported in South Korea (6.3%) [53], the US (13%) [54], and New Zealand (7.5%) [55].

2.6. Treatment

Treatment for OE has three aims: reduce clinical signs, restore normal numbers and distribution of microbial organisms, and restore normal ear function. The PSPP system directs the clinician to consider the primary cause. In cases where there are minimal perpetuating changes and mild dysbiosis, removing the primary disease may be sufficient to restore ear health. Steroids are often included in the treatment of canine OE; these aid in the management of inflammation of the ear canal and are administered orally, parenterally, or topically. Although steroids do not have a direct effect on the ear microbiota [56], their use in infections, including *Pseudomonas*, is controversial as they may reduce useful inflammation and immune responses; however, severe swelling is often a marked impediment to successful treatment and they are widely used. Negative effects are offset as steroids are usually part of combined steroid, antibiotic, antifungal products (cSAA products)—see Table 2 below.

Table 2. Otic treatments containing antibiotics in the UK.

Steroid	Antibiotic	Antifungal
D	Matbofloxacin	Clotrimazole
Dexamethasone (as acetate) 0.9 mg/mL	3 mg/mL	10 mg/mL
D. 1 . 1. 25. (I	Diethanolamine fusidate 5.0 mg/mL	Nystatin
Prednisolone 2.5 mg/mL	Framycetin sulphate 5.0 mg/mL	100,000 iu/mL
The last of the second se	Gentamicin sulfate	Miconazole nitrate
Hydrocortisone aceponate 1.11 mg/ mL	1505 iu/mL	15.1 mg/mL
Betamethasone valerate	Gentamicin sulfate	Clotrimazole
0.88 mg/mL	2640 iu/mL	8.80 mg/mL
Mometasone furoate	Orbifloxacin	Posaconazole
0.9 mg/mL	8.5 mg/mL	0.9 mg/mL
Prednisolone acetate	Polymyx in B sulfate	Miconazole nitrate
5 mg/mL	0.5293 mg/mL	23 mg/mL
Mometasone furoate 2.2 mg/dose	Florfenicol 16.7 mg/dose	Terbinafine 14.9 mg/ dose
Betamethasone acetate 1 mg/dose	Florfenicol 10 mg/dose	Terbinifine 10 mg/dose

ote: no products have marketing authorisation for use in the middle ear.

Topical antimicrobial therapy is generally preferred by clinicians for treating canine OE. This is because otic preparations provide a much higher local drug concentration than systemic treatments [57]. The concentration used is such that culture and susceptibility data must be considered carefully as the antibiotic is being used at many times the MIC. For this reason, and following cytological examination, antibiotics are often used empirically [48]. Bacterial resistance is a common feature of recurrent OE and constitutive resistance is a feature of *Pseudomonas* infections. For cases of *P. aeruginosa* OE, three classes of antibiotics are often used. These are fluoroquinolones, such as marbofloxacin, and aminoglycosides, particularly gentamicin and polymyxin B. Topical otic treatments containing antibiotics

with marketing authorisation in the UK are shown in Table 2. In addition, some clinicians prepare ad hoc solutions using injectable solutions of antibiotics when resistance is seen or suspected [58] e.g., ticarcillin–clavulanic acid [59], amikacin [60], ceftazidime [61], and enrofloxacin [62]. There is a perception that such mixtures may be less ototoxic in the case of a ruptured tympanic membrane, but this is not substantiated in the literature [63].

Dogs with canine OE may be prescribed ear cleaners, usually as an adjunctive to antibiotics. This aids in the removal of debris from the ear canal, which is important for the proper function of some antimicrobials, namely aminoglycosides and polymyxin B, which have reduced efficiency in the presence of pus [57,64]. The specific composition varies between products; however, they generally include œrumenolytics, surfactants, astringents, antimicrobials, and anti-inflammatories [13], as well contain ingredients that disrupt biofilms [65]. When products with antimicrobial action are used, this can have a marked effect on the success of therapy. Such disinfectant cleaners can have a faster rate of action than antibiotics, and by providing an alternative mechanism to kill bacteria, make the development of resistance by mutant selection less likely. For fluoroquinolones, the mutant prevention concentration for *Pseudomonas* is many times the minimum inhibitory concentration and, in infections where high numbers of organisms are present, additional products are essential [66,67].

The efficacy of ear cleaners in inhibiting clinical *P. aeruginosa* from canine OE varies based on the composition. Multiple studies have failed to identify key components or properties of ear cleaners, e.g., pH. However, the combination of Tris-EDTA plus 0.15% chlorhexidine has shown some effect against *P. aeruginosa* [13,68], and products containing this formulation have been widely adopted for this reason.

In some cases of chronic OE, the disease may progress to a point where medical treatment will be unsuccessful in controlling infection. In such cases, marked canal hyperplasia, secondary OM, and biofilm production in the presence of a multi-drug-resistant *Pseudomonas* infection are often evident. At this stage, surgery is necessary, including total ear canal ablation with or without bulla osteotomy. This procedure involves the removal of the infected ear canal and bulla contents, resulting in the resolution of disease in most cases [69].

2.7. Environmental Prevalence

P. aeruginosa is often described as ubiquitous in soil and aqueous environments. However, it is more frequently isolated from soil and water sources linked to human activity, such as those contaminated with oil hydrocarbons or pesticides [70]. Urban rivers have been linked to an increased prevalence of *P. aeruginosa* [70]. In an outbreak of human OE in the Netherlands involving *P. aeruginosa*, 83% of cases were linked to swimming in freshwater lakes, even though the water met quality standards [71].

2.8. Pseudomonas in the Veterinary Environment

The contamination of the veterinary clinical environment has been reported in the findings of surveillance studies [72–74] and has been linked to life-threatening infections following cardiac and orthopaedic open surgery [75,76]. In ear disease, the contamination of otic speculums is a particular risk, chiefly in practices with poor speculum availability and high case volumes where disinfection between patients is inadequate [33,77]. This is also a problem in human ear clinics [78], although this can be addressed by using disposable speculums. There is a need for further studies to examine other parts of the otoscope system, such as handles and trailing wires, as these may pose a considerable infection risk. The impact of the accidental inoculation of *Pseudomonas* may be increased by the strategic use of narrow-spectrum antibiotic treatments containing florfenicol targeting *Staphylococcus* spp., rather than broad-spectrum products.

2.9. In the Home

P. aeruginosa has been isolated from multiple sites in the home, such as surfaces, water supplies, and dishwasher rubber seals. Several studies have identified household drains as important reservoirs of *P. aeruginosa* [79–81]. Clonal isolates to those causing OE in dogs have been found in the oral cavity of affected dogs and other animals in the home, as well as water bowls and taps [32], although the directionality of transmission could not be established. Clonal *P. aeruginosa* isolates have been found in household taps used to fill water bowls [32]. The same study used statistical modelling to link swimming in pools and visiting dog parks to a 64% higher prevalence of *Pseudomonas* otitis [32]. This makes sense given the occurrence of *P. aeruginosa* in environmental water samples and even in commercial swimming pools [82]. Finally, grooming products in the home and professional salons have been found to harbour *P. aeruginosa* [83]. *P. aeruginosa* can also be isolated from the ears of apparently healthy dogs, suggesting an unknown history of OE [84] or contamination from the environment. This could result in the contamination of the home environment and subsequent reinfection or infection of other animals/humans in the household.

2.10. Isolates

The population structure of *P. aeruginosa* causing clinical infections in animals and people is largely non-clonal, i.e., the strains involved exhibit a high degree of diversity, with little or no association between groups and diseases [85]. Very few studies have examined the genomic profiles of *P. aeruginosa* strains causing canine ottis specifically. Whole-genome MLST has revealed a high diversity of *P. aeruginosa*, with 45 different sequence types (STs) identified from 80 isolates in one study [86] and 27 STs from 29 isolates in another [87]. This mirrors studies of *Pseudomonas* from human infections, which also found a largely non-clonal population structure punctuated by highly successful epidemic clones/ clonal complexes [88]. There are reports of *Pseudomonas* transmission between dogs and people, especially following contact with symptomatic dogs [89]. However, the directionality of transmission is difficult to establish, as the zooanthroponotic transmission of *P. aeruginosa* has also been reported [90].

P. aeruginosa isolates from canine otitis have been found to exhibit an intermediate or strong ability to form biofilms compared with isolates from other sites [91], which may contribute to their increased antimicrobial resistance (AMR) [92]. Multidrug resistance appears to be more common in isolates from dogs (35%) than from other animal species, namely horses and cows (0%), particularly those isolated from cases of otitis [85]. However, stable clonal variants of *P. aeruginosa* that exhibit either enhanced biofilm formation or accelerated detachment may coexist in the same clinical sample. Greater production of extracellular polysaccharides has been found to positively correlate with the intracellular levels of the secondary messenger cyclic di-GMP in clinical *P. aeruginosa* canine otitis isolates [93]. The coexistence and cooperation of these variants may enhance bacterial persistence overall in what has been described as the "insurance hypothesis" [94].

3. Toxin Production/Virulence Factors

Few studies have investigated virulence factors specific to the development of canine OE. While it is widely accepted that biofilm formation and antibiotic resistance contribute to *P. aeruginosa* infection in canine OE [57], other virulence factors are relatively unexplored. In insect and plant infection models, clinical (hospital) and environmental (soil and water) isolates showed no statistically significant difference in pathogenesis [95], supporting the notion of infections originating from exposure to environmental reservoirs.

Biofilm formation is likely the most important virulence factor involved in chronic *P. aeruginosa* canine OE infections and is associated with poor treatment outcomes [92,96,97]. Biofilms provide protection from antimicrobials and the immune system, and facilitate dispersion to other environments (for a detailed review, see [98]). In cases of canine OE, this often presents as the development of OM, which can subsequently re-infect the ear canal [1]. Bacteria form biofilms by attaching to a surface and producing extracellular polymeric substances comprising exopolysaccharides, extracellular DNA, and proteins. Biofilms are produced by 40–95% of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE [92,96,97] and 92% of human patients with chronic OE, but only 20% from those with acute otitis [99]. *Pseudomonas* isolates from human OE showed increased adherence to guinea pig epithelial cell lines compared with isolates from other sites of infection [100]. The removal of the biofilm using novel therapies, such as chemical ear peeling, significantly reduced the recurrence of symptoms compared with ciprofloxacin/hydrocortisone antibiotic treatment in humans [99].

Hattab et al. [91] investigated the presence of five virulence genes in *P. acruginosa* isolates from dogs, including from the ear canal. Three genes, *lasB* (elastase A), *aprA* (alkaline protease), and *plcH* (haemolytic phospholipase C), were present in all of the tested isolates, while *exoS* (bi-functional type-III cytotoxin) and *toxA* (Exotoxin A) were present in 87.5% and 91.7%, respectively [91]. Similarly, *P. acruginosa* isolated from human OM patients in Egypt was positively amplified between two and ten of the quorum sensing (*rhlR*, *rhlI*, *lasR*, *lasI*) and virulence genes (*lasB*, *toxA*, *aprA*, *algD*, *exoS*, and *plcH*) [101]. While these findings may help to identify areas for further investigation, we need to determine if/when these genes are expressed to establish their role in disease. Details of *P. acruginosa* virulence and secretion systems have been reviewed elsewhere [102] and this review will concentrate on those factors with specific relevance to canine OE.

Bacterial proteases are a major contributor to disease. *P. aeruginosa* secretes several proteases, including alkaline protease (AprA), Elastase A and B (LasA and LasB), protease IV (PrpL), small protease (PASP), large exoprotease (LepA), and others [103]. Protease activity, measured by the degradation of azocasein, from *P. aeruginosa* infection has been identified in humans with OM [104]. The total protease activity of *P. aeruginosa* infection has been on average (p = 0.7538) when assessed by the hide powder azure absorbance assay [105]. The treatment of a chinchilla model of *P. aeruginosa* (M with bacterial protease inhibitor (GM 6001) resulted in higher survival (66%) compared with the control, gentamicin and gentamicin + GM 6001 groups, although this was not significant (p = 0.2674) [106].

P. aeruginosa isolates from chronic cases of canine OE have been found to have a reduced mean elastase activity compared with other animal isolates (p < 0.0001); moreover, some strains produce a stable elastase-negative phenotype due to deficiencies in the *rhl* quorum sensing system. Interestingly, the *rhl* phenotype was observed in an isolate with wild-type elastase activity, implicating an unknown constituent of quorum sensing being important in chronic otitis infections [105,107].

Haemolytic phospholipase C (plcH) is an excenzyme that is able to lyse red blood cells [108] in addition to components of eukaryotic cell membranes [109]. No specific studies have been performed investigating the role of plcH in cases of OE. The intradermal inoculation of the protein in an in vivo mouse model resulted in a concentration-dependent response showing either no change, erythema, or dermonecrosis [110].

Bacterial secretion systems are important for the virulence of Gram-negative bacteria as they allow for the transport of proteins across the two membranes and, in some cases, directly into a target cell. Exotoxin A (ToxA) is exported via the SEC-dependent type II secretion system. The toxin is part of the AB toxin family, where the A subunit has enzymatic activity and the B suburit facilitates attachment to CD91 (also known as alpha2macroglobulin receptor/low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein $\alpha 2MR/LRP$). Once inside the host cytoplasm, the protease furin cleaves the protein and it is transported to the trans Golgi network, where it inhibits the eukaryotic elongation factor-2 by ADPribosylation, inducing apoptosis. This allows the toxin to bind to and kill cells from many different tissues [111,112]. Increased transcription of exotoxin A in human OE patients has been associated with patients suffering from more severe symptoms compared with those with 'mild to moderate' symptoms [113]. Additionally, when applied to the middle ear, the toxin causes the apoptosis of epithelial cells and can penetrate the inner ear, causing damage to the cochlea in multiple animal studies [114-116]. Whether the toxin is able to

cross the tympanic membrane during OE and have this effect has not been investigated. ExoS is part of the type III secretion system of *P. aeruginosa*. It possesses an N-terminal GTPase-activating protein region that triggers actin cytoskeleton disruption, and a Cterminal adenosine diphosphate ribosyl transferase, which is a major cause of host apoptosis [117]. The presence of ExoS is commonly mutually exclusive with ExoU, although the reason for this and its role in infection are unclear [118,119]. *P. aeruginosa* isolates from human chronic OM cases were significantly more likely to be *exoU+* than *exoS+* compared with a control group of isolates from blood and respiratory infections [120]. In human cases of OE, *P. aeruginosa* isolates have been shown to produce significantly less pyocyanin and alginate than isolates from other sites of infection, in addition to increased deoxyribonuclease production [100]. Whether differences in these factors are seen in canine OE and their clinical significance remains to be elucidated.

4. Antibiotic, Disinfectant, and Biological Control

In addition to biofilm formation, the outer membrane of *P. aeruginosa* has limited permeability, which confers some intrinsic resistance to antimicrobials and allows specific antibiotic resistance mechanisms to act more effectively. Resistance can also arise from efflux pumps and the expression of a chromosomal β -lactamase [121].

AMR, especially for Gram-negative rods, has been recognised as a problem in canine otitis for many years [122], with numerous studies documenting resistance profiles for *P. aeruginosa* isolates. Fluoroquinolone resistance has frequently been reported, particularly with respect to enrofloxacin (27–68%), orbifloxacin (55–82%), and marbofloxacin (33–35%). Gentamicin resistance seems to vary greatly depending on the study, with resistance reported in 3–43% of isolates [46,48,87,123–125]. Multidrug resistance, which is defined as resistance to at least one antibiotic from three or more classes [126], was recorded in 13–35% of isolates [87,123]. Non-susceptibility to carbapenem antibiotics has also been reported in 15–23% of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine ottits [86,123]. This is important as the World Health Organisation identified a critical need for new antibiotics against carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* [127]. Carbapenem resistance can arise in *P. aeruginosa* by either the production of carbapenemase, efflux pump over-expression, or reduced outer-membrane permeability [128]. Clinical canine ottis *P. aeruginosa* isolates producing metallo-*β*-lactamase VIM-2 have been identified in Korea [86].

Petrov and co-workers [46] monitored AMR patterns in dogs suffering from both Grampositive and Gram-negative infections in OE between 2007–2011, and again in 2013–2017. They found that, for most antibiotics tested against *P. aeruginosa* between these time points, resistance had increased. Notably, gentamicin resistance increased from 2% to 15%, as did resistance to tobramycin (20% to 26%), amikacin (0% to 18%), lincomycin/spectinomycin (40% to 93%), and polymyxin B (0% to 50%). In contrast, enrofloxacin resistance decreased (38% to 27%). In France, the investigation of *P. aeruginosa* resistance profiles from canine OE surveillance databases found that resistance to gentamicin remained unchanged over a 5-year period, while resistance to enrofloxacin first increased and then slowly decreased over the following years. Worryingly, resistance to both enrofloxacin and gentamycin was reported in 19.4% of isolates. The decrease in resistance to enrofloxacin au likely due to the decreased exposure of companion animals to antibiotics over the study period [125].

Park and colleagues [84] investigated the antibiotic susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* isolates from various body sites of healthy and diseased dogs. While antibiotic resistance was more prevalent in diseased samples, resistance was still present in isolates from otherwise healthy dogs. Specifically, resistance to ciprofloxacin (10.5%) was the most common, while ciprofloxacin–gentamicin–tobramycin, gentamicin, and tobramycin all showed the same level of resistance (2.6%).

Potential Alternative Treatments

Increasing AMR, particularly among the ESKAPE pathogens, including *Pseudomonas*, has driven research into enhancing the efficacy of current therapeutic options and the development of novel alternatives. Prior to 2000, there was very little research on alternative treatments for *Pseudomonas* OE. One study investigated the use of new antibiotic, ticarcillin in treatment-resistant cases, resulting in the initial resolution of 11 out of 12 cases, although two of these later relapsed [129]. More recently, synergy and partial synergy were reported when a combination of polymyxin B/miconazole and marbofloxacin/gentamicin was tested on *P. aeruginosa* canine otitis isolates [130,131].

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), specifically Tris-EDTA, has been studied as an adjuvant in combination with antimicrobials in relation to OE for many years [132–134], and is now a common component of many commercially available ear cleaners [68]. When used alone, Tris-EDTA typically produces a bacteriostatic effect on *P. aeruginosa*, unless applied in excess [97]. However, it has been used to eradicate biofilms produced by clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates [97,135] or reduce the MIC of certain antibiotics for *P. aeruginosa* present in biofilms [65].

Tris-EDTA has been found to act synergistically with amikacin (fractional inhibitory concentration, FIC = 0.1994) and neomycin (FIC = 0.1646) against *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE [133]. It has also been found to complement the action of enrofloxacin [136], marbofloxacin, and gentamicin [135] when used against AMR *P. aeruginosa* from cases of OE.

N-acetylcysteine (NAC) is another candidate being explored as an adjuvant for use in canine OE. Similarly to Tris-EDTA, it has been shown to inhibit the growth of *P. aeruginosa*, including in canine otitis clinical isolates [97,137,138]. Synergistic interactions between NAC and enrofloxacin or gentamicin have been observed for one *P. aeruginosa* isolate, but were indifferent or antagonistic at the concentrations tested in vitro for most isolates [137]. NAC is also able to remove biofilms formed by clinical *P. aeruginosa* (20,000–80,000 µg/mL minimum biofilm eradication concentration (MBEC)) isolates; however, it is important to note that this was at potentially ototoxic concentrations (<20,000 µg/mL) [97].

Narasin and monensin were unable to inhibit clinical *P. aeruginosa* and other Gramregative otitis pathogens at the tested concentrations when used alone, but an additive effect for narasin (but not monensin) was seen in combination with Tris-EDTA [139,140]. However, monensin was found to significantly reduce, but not eradicate, *P. aeruginosa* biofilm development [97].

A combination of enrofloxacin plus silver sulfadiazine demonstrated increased antimicrobial susceptibility, with the mean MIC decreasing from 12.97 μ g/mL to 1.52/3.05 μ g/mL [141]. Similarly, clinical canine OE *P. aeruginosa* isolates challenged with silver sulfadiazine alone were all found to be susceptible, with 80% of isolates having a mean MIC of <10 μ g/mL. It was noted that a commercially available product should be effective in vivo, as it has a concentration much higher than the MICs seen in the study [142].

Phytochemicals have been investigated for *P. aeruginosa* inhibition. An antimicrobial effect has been reported for cinnamon oil, cinnamaldehyde [143], oregano oil, carvacrol, thyme oil, thymol [144], basil oil, rosemary oil, clary sage oil [145], and *Harungana madagasariensis* extract [146] in vitro. In all cases, *P. aeruginosa* required a higher MIC than other common otitis pathogens, specifically Gram-positive organisms, such as *S. pseudintermedius*. One group tested an EDTA combination, and a synergistic interaction was observed for cinnamon oil (FIC = 0.27) and cinnamaldehyde (FIC = 0.26) [143]. Song and colleagues [147] showed that, when applied alone, *P. aeruginosa* was resistant to manuka oil (MIC > 8% v/v). However, when combined with Tris-EDTA, the MIC was reduced to 0.5% or less. This was also true for multidrug-resistant isolates. When investigating the use of a commercially available essential oil blend in vivo for cases of acute OE, it was reported that 33.3% of dogs were "cured" and a further 20.9% showed strong improvements. Importantly, rods were not present in the cytology; therefore, more work is needed to assess its use in chronic cases of OE involving *P. aeruginosa*. Despite this, the blend did inhibit a clinical strain of *P. aeruginosa* when tested in vitro [148].

Another promising alternative treatment is the use of antimicrobial photodynamic therapy. The use of tetra-cationic porphyrins to inactivate multidrug-resistant *P. aeruginosa* isolates from canine OE and other infection sites has been demonstrated in vitro [149,150]. Antimicrobial photodynamic therapy has been successfully used in vivo for a case of OE caused by a VIM-2 Metallo- β -lactamase-producing *P. aeruginosa* that had been unresponsive to treatment with enrofloxacin [151].

The effect of cold atmospheric microwave plasma was investigated using primarily Gram-positive canine otitis isolates, but the study did include an ATCC *P. aeruginosa*. Gram-negative bacteria, including the ATCC *P. aeruginosa*, were more susceptible to cold atmospheric microwave plasma than other isolates. For example, after 10 s of exposure at a plasma intensity of 30 W, *P. aeruginosa* survival was only 22.9%, while that of *S. aureus* was 50.3%. However, this has yet to be tested on canine OE isolates [152].

The safety and capability of in vivo bacteriophage therapy have already been assessed against antibiotic-resistant *P. acruginosa* causing chronic otitis in humans and dogs. In humans, twenty-four patients were selected, of which twelve received bacteriophage. Those who were treated with the phage reported clinical improvement and no adverse effects, with three cases seeming to be cured after a single treatment [153]. In the canine study, ten dogs suffering from antibiotic-resistant *P. acruginosa* otitis were treated once with a cocktail of six bacteriophages and monitored. After 48 h there was a 67% reduction in the number of *P. acruginosa*. After 18 months, three of the animals had recovered from the disease and another three had no detectable *P. acruginosa*; again, no side effects were reported [154]. Although these results are promising, bacteriophages are often strain-specific; therefore, a cocktail of phages targeting different receptors is required. Additionally, phage resistance may be seen, although this was not investigated in the above studies. It is also potentially important to note that the chronic nature of *P. acruginosa* OE might require multiple rounds of phage treatment, further increasing the risk of developing resistance and therefore potentially requiring multiple phage cocktails per treatment.

5. Conclusions

Canine OE is a common disease in veterinary practices, with the most recent study from the UK reporting a prevalence of 7.3%. Cases are often only seen after an increase in clinical signs from secondary infection. When addressing this disease, it is important to consider the primary, secondary, perpetuating, and predisposing factors. Certain breeds are predisposed to this disease due to factors such as long, pendulous, hairy, or V-shaped drop pinna, and allergy is the most common primary factor. Advances in sequencing technologies have provided a better understanding of the natural microbiota of the canine ear and how allergies can lead to dysbiosis of the ear canal. This potentially helps us to understand why allergi is such a prevalent primary factor. Despite this, *P. aeruginosa* is still commonly isolated from cases of canine OE and, due to widely reported antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation, still poses a major issue for clinicians. Research investigating alternative treatments has seen promising results in vitro, with only a few being tested in vivo. Further work and in vivo experiments will be required in order to provide a better prognosis for the future.

Author Contributions: Writing—Original Draft Preparation, B.S., S.S. and R.J.A.; Writing—Review and Editing, B.S., S.S. and R.J.A.; Visualisation, S.S.; Supervision, S.S. and R.J.A.; Project Administration, R.J.A.; Funding Acquisition, B.S., S.S. and R.J.A. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council [grant number BB/M008770/1].

Data availability statement: In this study, no new data were generated or analysed. As such, data sharing is not relevant.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Bajwa, J. Canine Otitis Externa-Treatment and Complications. Can. Vet. J. 2019, 60, 97-99. [PubMed] 1.
- Nuttall, T. Managing Recurrent Otitis Externa in Dogs: What Have We Learned and What Can We Do Better? J. Am. Vet. Med. 2 Assoc. 2023, 261, S10-S22, [CrossRef] Hill, P.B.; Lo, A.; Eden, C.A.N.; Huntley, S.; Morey, V.; Ramsey, S.; Richardson, C.; Smith, D.J.; Sutton, C.; Taylor, M.D.; et al. 3.
- Survey of the Prevalence, Diagnosis and Treatment of Dermatological Conditions in Small Animals in General Practice. Vol. Rec. 2006, 158, 533-539, [CrossRef] [PubMed] August, J.R. Otitis Externa. Vet. Clin. N. Am. Small Anim. Pract. 1988, 18, 731-742. [CrossRef]
- Smeak, D.D. Treatment of Persistent Deep Infection After Total Ear Canal Ablation and Lateral Bulla Osteotomy. Va. Clin. N. Am. Small Anim. Pract. 2016, 46, 609-621. [CrossRef] 5.
- Cole, L.K. Anatomy and Physiology of the Canine Ear. Vet. Dermatd. 2009, 21, 221-231. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tabacca, N.E.; Cole, L.K.; Hillier, A.; Rajala-Schultz, P.J. Epithelial Migration on the Canine Tympanic Membrane: Epithelial Migration on Canine Tympanum. Vet. Dermatol. 2011, 22, 502-510. [CrossRef] 7.
- 8. Huang, H.; Little, C.J.L.; McNeil, P.E. Histological Changes in the External Ear Canal of Dogs with Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2009. 20. 422-428. [CrossRef]
- 9. Stout-Graham, M.; Kainer, R.A.; Whalen, L.R.; Macy, D.W. Morphologic Measurements of the External Horizontal Ear Canal of Dogs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 1990, 51, 990-994
- Grono, L.R. Studies of the Microclimate of the External Auditory Canal in the Dog. 3. Relative Humidity within the External 10 Auditory Meatus. Res. Vet. Sci. 1970, 11, 316-319. [CrossRef]
- Parzutt, P.; Mosca, M.; Fantini, O.; Noel, G.; Cappelle, J.; Pin, D. Effect of an Ear Cleaner Instillation Containing Lipacids in a Model of Re-acidification of the External Auditory Canal in Dogs. Vet. Dermatol. 2022, 33, 402–406. [CrossRef] Thorp, M.A.; Kruger, J.; Oliver, S.; Nilssen, E.L.K.; Prescott, C.A.J. The Antibacterial Activity of Acetic Acid and Burow's Solution 11. 12.
- as Topical Otological Preparations. J. Laryngol. Otol. 1998, 112, 925–928. [CrossRef] Swinney, A.; Fazakerley, J.; McEwan, N.; Nuttall, T. Comparative in Vitro Antimicrobial Efficacy of Commercial Ear Cleaners. Va. 13.
- Dermatol. 2008, 19, 373-379. [CrossRef] [PubMed] Diamond, G.; Beckloff, N.; Weinberg, A.; Kisich, K. The Roles of Antimicrobial Peptides in Innate Host Defense. CPD 2009, 15, 14.
- 2377-2392. [CrossRef] 15.
- Santoro, D. Comparison of the Quantity and Antimicrobial Activity of Host Defence Peptides in Ear Canals between Healthy and Atopic Dogs: A Preliminary Study. Vet. Dermatol. 2023, 34, 452-459. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dickson, D.B.; Love, D.N. Bacteriology of the Horizontal Ear Canal of Dogs. J. Small Anim. Pract. 1983, 24, 413-421. [CrossRef] 16. Tater, K.C.; Scott, D.W.; Miller, W.H.; Erb, H.N. The Cytology of the External Ear Canal in the Normal Dog and Cat. J. Vet. Med. 17
- Ser. A 2003, 50, 370-374. [CrossRef] Leonard, C.; Thiry, D.; Taminiau, B.; Daube, G.; Fontaine, J. External Ear Canal Evaluation in Dogs with Chronic Suppurative 18
- Otitis Externa: Comparison of Direct Cytology, Bacterial Culture and 16S Amplicon Profiling. Vet. Sci. 2022, 9, 366. [CrossRef] Shaw, S. Pathogens in Otitis Externa: Diagnostic Techniques to Identify Secondary Causes of Ear Disease. Practice 2016, 38, 12-16. 19. [CrossRef]
- Grono, L.R.; Frost, A.J. Otitis externa in the dog: The Microbiology of the Normal and Affected External Ear Canal. Aust. Vet. J. 20. 1969, 45, 420-422. [CrossRef]
- Yamashita, K.; Shimizu, A.; Kawano, J.; Uchida, E.; Haruna, A.; Igimi, S. Isolation and Characterization of Staphylococci from 21. External Auditory Meatus of Dogs with or without Otitis Externa with Special Reference to Staphylococcus schleiferi Subsp. Coagulans Isolates. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 2005, 67, 263-268. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22 Aoki Komori, S.; Shimada, K.; Tani, K.; Katayama, M.; Saito, T.R.; Kataoka, Y. Microbial Flora in the Ears of Healthy Experimental Beagles. Exp. Anim. 2007, 56, 67-69. [CrossRef]
- Fraser, G. The Fungal Flora of the Canine Ear. J. Comp. Pathd. Ther. 1961, 71, 1-5. [CrossRef] [PubMed] 23
- Lyskova, P.; Vydrzalova, M.; Mazurova, J. Identification and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Bacteria and Yeasts Isolated from Healthy Dogs and Dogs with Otitis Externa. J. Vet. Med. Ser. A 2007, 54, 559–563. [CrossRef] 24
- Leonard, C.; Picavet, P.P.; Fontaine, J.; Clercx, C.; Taminiau, B.; Daube, G.; Claeys, S. The Middle Ear Microbiota in Healthy Dogs 25.
- Is Similar to That of the External Ear Canal. Vet. Sci. 2023, 10, 216. [CrossRef] [PubMed] Igimi, S.; Takahashi, E.; Mitsuoka, T. Staphylococcus Schleiferi Subep. Coagulans Subsp. Nov., Isolated from the External Auditory 26. Meatus of Dogs with External Ear Otitis. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 1990, 40, 409-411. [CrossRef]
- Tang, S.; Prem, A.; Tjokrosurjo, J.; Sary, M.; Van Bel, M.A.; Rodrigues-Hoffmann, A.; Kavanagh, M.; Wu, G.; Van Eden, M.E.; 27. Krumbeck, J.A. The Canine Skin and Ear Microbiome: A Comprehensive Survey of Pathogens Implicated in Canine Skin and Ear
- Infections Using a Novel next-Generation-Sequencing-Based Assay. Vet. Microbiol. 2020, 247, 108764. [CrossRef] Ngo, J.; Taminiau, B.; Fall, P.A.; Daube, G.; Fontaine, J. Ear Canal Microbiota—A Comparison between Healthy Dogs and Atopic 28. Dogs without Clinical Signs of Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2018, 29, 425. [CrossRef]
- Borriello, G.; Paradiso, R.; Catozzi, C.; Brunetti, R.; Roccabianca, P.; Riccardi, M.G.; Cecere, B.; Lecchi, C.; Fusco, G.; Ceciliani, F.; et al. Cerumen Microbial Community Shifts between Healthy and Otitis Affected Dogs. *PLoS ONE* 2020, 15, e0241447. [CrossRef] Rodrigues Hoffmann, A.; Patterson, A.P.; Diesel, A.; Lawhon, S.D.; Ly, H.J.; Stephenson, C.E.; Mansell, J.; Steiner, J.M.; Dowd, S.E.; 29
- 30. Olivry, T.; et al. The Skin Microbiome in Healthy and Allergic Dogs. PLoS ONE 2014, 9, e83197. [CrossRef]
- Mauldin, E.A.; Scott, D.W.; Miller, W.H.; Smith, C.A. Malassezia Dermatitis in the Dog: A Retrospective Histopathological and Immunopathological Study of 86 Cases (1990-95). Vet. Dermatd. 1997, 8, 191-202. [CrossRef]
 Morris, D.O.; Davis, M.F.; Palmeiro, B.S.; O'Shea, K.; Rankin, S.C. Molecular and Epidemiological Characterization of Canine
- Morris, D.G.; Davis, M.H.; Pameiro, B.S.; O Snea, N.; Kankin, S.C. Molecular and Epidemological Characterization of Canine Pseudononas Ottis Using a Prospective Case-Control Study Design. Vet. Dermatol. 2017, 28, 118-e25. [CrossRef]
 Newton, H.M.: Rosenkrantz, W.S.: Muse, R.: Criffin, C.E. Evaluation of Obscore Cone Cleaning and Disinfection Procedures
- Newton, H.M.; Rosenkrantz, W.S.; Muse, R.; Griffin, C.E. Evaluation of Otoscope Cone Cleaning and Disinfection Procedures Commonly Used in Veterinary Medical Practices: A Pilot Study. Vet. Dermatol. 2006, 17, 147–150. [CrossRef]
 Nuttall, T.; Bensignor, E. A Pilot Study to Develop an Objective Clinical Score for Canine Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2014,
- Paterson, S.; Matyskiewicz, W. A Study to Evaluate the Primary Causes Associated with Pseudomonas Otitis in 60 Dogs: Primary
- Fratersol, S., Watyskewicz, W. A Study to Evaluate the Frinary Causes of Pseudomonas Outis in 60 Dogs: Frinary Causes of Pseudomonas Ottiss. J. Small Anim. Pract. 2018, 59, 238–242. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Reser, E.I. Diaenosis of Food Allerov in Doss. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 1993, 203, 259–262.
- Rosser, E.J. Diagnosis of Food Allergy in Dogs. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 1993, 203, 259–262.
 Scott, D. Observations on Canine Atopy. J. Am. Anim. Hosp. Assoc. 1981, 17, 91–100.
- Willemse, T. Atopic Skin Disease: A Review and a Reconsideration of Diagnostic Criteria. J. Small Anim. Pract. 1986, 27, 771–778. [CrossRef]
- Saridomichelakis, M.N.; Farmaki, R.; Leontides, L.S.; Koutinas, A.F. Aetiology of Canine Otitis Externa: A Retrospective Study of 100 Cases. Vet. Dermatol. 2007, 18, 341–347. [CrossRef]
 Favrot, C.; Steffan, J.; Seewald, W.; Picco, F. A prospective study on the clinical features of chronic canine atopic dermatitis and its
- Antor, C., Senar, J., Seconda, W., Jose, J. & Prospective Med J. Charles of charles of
- Sequencing, PLoS ONE 2021, 16, e0250695. [CrossRef] [PubMed] 42. Zur, G.; Lifshitz, B.; Bdolah-Abram, T. The Association between the Signalment, Common Causes of Canine Otitis Externa and
- Pathogens J. Small Anim. Pract. 2011, 52, 254–258. [CrossRef] 43. Bergvall, K.; Ahman, S.; Mueller, R.; Boehm, T.; Chala, V.; Fournel, S.; Navarro, C. Can Topical Hydrocortisone Aceponateeffectively Control Allercic Ottic Externance Acquee the Rick of Recurrence? A double Blinded Placebo Controlled Proceedings
- tively Control Allergic Otitis Externand Reduce the Risk of Recurrence? Adouble-Blinded, Placebo-Controlled, Prospective Study. Abstracts of the 29th Annual Congress of the ECVD-ESVD, 7-9th September 2017, Lausanne, Switzerland. Vot. Dermatol. 2017, 28, 533-553. [CrossRef]
- Lawson, P.A.; Johnson, C.N.; Bengtsson, L.; Charalampakis, G.; Dahlén, G.; Moore, E.; Falsen, E. Peptostreptococcus Canis Sp. Nov., Isolated from Subgingival Plaque from Canine Oral Cavity. *Anaerobe* 2012, *18*, 597–601. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Collins, M.D.; Love, D.N.; Karjalainen, J.; Kanervo, A.; Forsblom, B.; Willems, A.; Stubbs, S.; Sarkiala, E.; Bailey, G.D.; Wigney, D.I.;
- Collins, M.D.; Love, D.N.; Karjalainen, J.; Karervo, A.; Forsblom, B.; Willems, A.; Stubbs, S.; Sarkiala, E.; Bailey, G.D.; Wigney, D.I.; et al. Phylogenetic Analysis of Members of the Genus Porphyromonas and Description of Parphyromonas cangingitalis Sp. Nov. and Porphyromonas cansulci Sp. Nov. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 1994, 44, 674-679. [CrossRef]
 Petrov, V.; Zhelev, G.; Marutsov, P.; Koev, K.; Georgleva, S.; Toneva, I.; Urumova, V. Microbiological and Antibacterial Resistance
- Petrov, V.; Zhelev, G.; Marutsov, P.; Koev, K.; Georgieva, S.; Toneva, I.; Urumova, V. Microbiological and Antibacterial Resistance Profile in Canine Otitis Externa—A Comparative Analysis. BJVM 2019, 22, 447–456. [CrossRef]
- Bugden, D. Identification and Antibiotic Susceptibility of Bacterial Isolates from Dogs with Otitis Externa in Australia. Aust. Vet. J. 2013, 91, 43–46. [CrossRef]
- Nuttall, T.; Cole, L.K. Evidence-Based Veterinary Dermatology: A Systematic Review of Interventions for Theatment of Pseudomonas Otitis in Dogs. Vet. Dermatol. 2007, 18, 69–77. [CrossRef]
- 49. Paterson, S. Discovering the Causes of Otitis Externa. Practice 2016, 38, 7-11. [CrossRef]
- O'Neill, D.G.; Volk, A.V.; Soares, T.; Church, D.B.; Brodbelt, D.C.; Pegram, C. Frequency and Predisposing Factors for Canine Otitis Externa in the UK—A Primary Veterinary Care Epidemiological View. *Canine Med. Genet.* 2021, *8*, 7. [CrossRef]
 O'Neill, D.G.; James, H.; Brodbelt, D.C.; Church, D.B.; Pegram, C. Prevalence of Commonly Diagnosed Disorders in UK Dogs
- O'Neill, D.G.; James, H.; Brodbelt, D.C.; Church, D.B.; Pegram, C. Prevalence of Commonly Diagnosed Disorders in UK Dogs under Primary Veterinary Care: Results and Applications. *BMC Vet. Res.* 2021, *17*, 69. [CrossRef]
 O'Neill, D.G.; Church, D.B.; McGreevy, P.D.; Thomson, P.C.; Brodbelt, D.C. Prevalence of Disorders Recorded in Dogs Attending
- O'Neili, D.G.; Church, D.B.; McGreevy, P.D.; Homson, P.C.; Brodbelt, D.C. Prevalence of Disorder's Recorded in Dogs Attending Primary-Care Veterinary Practices in England. *PLoS ONE* 2014, *9*, e90501. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Kim, S.; Choe, C.; Yoo, I.G.; Oh. S.-I.; Jung, Y.; Cho, A.; Kim, S.; Do, Y.I. Major Medical Causes by Breed and Life Stage for Dogs
- Kim, E.; Choe, C.; Yoo, J.G.; Oh, S.-I.; Jung, Y.; Cho, A.; Kim, S.; Do, Y.J. Major Medical Causes by Breed and Life Stage for Dogs Presented at Veterinary Clinics in the Republic of Korea: A Survey of Electronic Medical Records. *PeerJ* 2018, 6, e5161. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lund, E.M.; Armstrong, P.J.; Kirk, C.A.; Kolar, L.M.; Klausner, J.S. Health Status and Population Characteristics of Dogs and Cats Examined at Private Veterinary Practices in the United States. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 1999, 214, 1336-1341.
 Bayter M. I. awker D.C. The Incidence and Microbiology of Otifits Externa of Dors and Cats in New Zealand. N.Z. Vet. L 1972.
- Baxter, M.; Lawler, D.C. The Incidence and Microbiology of Otitis Externa of Dogs and Cats in New Zealand. N. Z. Vet. J. 1972, 20, 29–32. [CrossRef]
 Leonard, C.; Taminiau, B.; Ngo, J.; Fantini, O.; Daube, G.; Fontaine, J. Preventive Use of a Topical Anti-inflammatory Glucocorticoid
- in Atopic Dogs without Clinical Sign of Otitis Does Not Affect Ear Canal Microbiota and Mycobiota. Val. Dermatol. 2021, 32, 355. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Nuttall, T. Successful Management of Otitis Externa. Practice 2016, 38, 17-21. [CrossRef]
- Morris, D.O. Medical Therapy of Otitis Externa and Otitis Media. Vet. Clin. N. Am. Small Anim. Pract. 2004, 34, 541-555. [CrossRef]

- Bateman, F.L.; Moss, S.M.; Trott, D.J.; Shipstone, M.A. Biological Efficacy and Stability of Diluted Ticarcillin-Clavulanic Acid in 59. the Topical Treatment of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Infections. Vet. Dermatol. 2012, 23, 97-e22. [CrossRef] Klinczar, A.M.; Griffies, J.D.; Bateman, F.L.; Arnold, R.D.; Jasper, S.L.; Brown, A.R. Determination of Amikacin Stability at 1% and 60.
- 3% Concentrations in Four Topical Solutions over a 56-Day Period. Vet. Dermatol. 2022, 33, 23-e8. [CrossRef] 61.
- Hoff, S.E.; Berger, D.J.; Viall, A.K.; Schrunk, D.; Noxon, J.O. Chemical and Microbiological Stability of Diluted Ceftazidime in Three Different Solutions under Three Storage Temperatures over a 28 Day Period. Vet. Dermatol. 2021, 32, 456-e124. [CrossRef] Metry, C.A.; Maddox, C.W.; Dirikolu, L.; Johnson, Y.J.; Campbell, K.L. Determination of Enrofloxacin Stability and in Vitro 62.
- Efficacy against Staphylococcus Pseudintermedius and Pseudomonas Aeruginosa in Four Ear Cleaner Solutions over a 28 Day Period. Vet. Dermatol. 2012, 23, 23-e6. [CrossRef] Paterson, S. Brainstem Auditory Evoked Responses in 37 Dogs with Otitis Media before and after Topical Therapy. J. Small Anim. 63.
- Pract. 2018, 59, 10-15. [CrossRef]
- Pye, C. Pseudomonas Otitis Externa in Dogs. Can. Vet. J. 2018, 59, 1231-1234. [PubMed]
- Pye, C.C.; Singh, A.; Weese, J.S. Evaluation of the Impact of Tromethamine Edetate Disodium Dihydrate on Antimicrobial Susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Biofilm in vitro. Vet. Dermatol. 2014, 25, 120-e34. [CrossRef] 65. Blondeau, J.M. New Concepts in Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing: The Mutant Prevention Concentration and Mutant Selection 66.
- Window Approach. Vet. Dermatol. 2009, 20, 383–396. [CrccsRef] Pasquali, F.; Manfreda, G. Mutant Prevention Concentration of Ciprofloxacin and Enrofloxacin against Escherichia Coli, 67.
- Salmonella Typhimurium and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Vet. Microbiol. 2007, 119, 304–310. [CrossRef]
- Steen, S.I.; Paterson, S. The Susceptibility of *Pseudomonas* Spp. Isolated from Dogs with Otitis to Topical Ear Cleaners. J. Small Anim. Pract. 2012, 53, 599-603. [CrossRef] [PubMed] 68.
- 69. Doyle, R.S.; Skelly, C.; Bellenger, C.R. Surgical Manager ent of 43 Cases of Chronic Otitis Externa in the Dog. Ir. Vet. I. 2004, 57, 22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Crone, S.; Vives-Flórez, M.; Kvich, L.; Saunders, A.M.; Malone, M.; Nicolaisen, M.H.; Martínez-García, E.; Rojas-Acosta, C.; 70. Catalina Gomez-Puerto, M.; Calum, H.; et al. The Environmental Occurrence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. APMIS 2020, 128, 220-231. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van Asperen, I.A.; De Rover, C.M.; Schijven, J.F.; Oetomo, S.B.; Schellekens, J.F.P.; Van Leeuwen, N.J.; Colle, C.; Havelaar, A.H.; 71. Kromhout, D.; Sprenger, M.W.J. Risk of Otitis Externa after Swimming in Recreational Fresh Water Lakes Containing Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. *BMJ* 1995, 311, 1407–1410. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Verdial, C.; Carneiro, C.; Machado, I.; Tavares, L.; Almeida, V.; Oliveira, M.; Gil, S. Controlling Bacteriological Contamination of 72. Environmental Surfaces at the Biological Isolation and Containment Unit of a Veterinary Teaching Hospital. Ir. Vet. J. 2021, 74, 18. CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stull, J.W.; Weese, J.S. Hospital-Associated Infections in Small Animal Practice. Vet. Clin. N. Am. Small Anim. Pract. 2015, 45, 73. 217-233. [CrossRef]
- 74 Fraser, M.A.; Girling, S.J. Bacterial Carriage of Computer Keyboards in Veterinary Practices in Scotland. Vet. Rec. 2009, 165, 26-27. [CrossRef]
- 75 Fine, D.M.; Tobias, A.H. Cardiovascular Device Infections in Dogs Report of 8 Cases and Review of the Literature. J. Vat. Intern. Med. 2007, 21, 1265-1271. [CrossRef]
- Peremans, K.; Winter, F.; Janssens, L.; Dumont, F.; Bree, H.; Dierckx, R. AN INFECTED HIP PROSTHESIS IN A DOG DIAGNOSED 76. WITH A 99mTC-CIPROFLOXACIN (INFECTON) SCAN. Vet. Radiol. Ultrasound 2002, 43, 178-182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kirby, A.L.; Rosenkrantz, W.S.; Ghubash, R.M.; Neradilek, B.; Polissar, N.L. Evaluation of Otoscope Cone Disinfection Techniques and Contamination Level in Small Animal Private Practice. Vet. Dermatol. 2010, 21, 175–183. [CrossRef] 77.
- Korkmaz, H.; Çetinkol, Y.; Korkmaz, M. Cross-Contamination and Cross-Infection Risk of Otoscope Heads. Eur. Ardi. Otorhino-78 laryngol. 2013, 270, 3183–3186. [CrossRef] [PubMed] Remold, S.K.; Brown, C.K.; Farris, J.E.; Hundley, T.C.; Perpich, J.A.; Purdy, M.E. Differential Habitat Use and Niche Partitioning
- 79. by Pseudomonas Species in Human Homes. Microb. Ecol. 2011, 62, 505–517. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zupančič, J.; Turk, M.; Črnigoj, M.; Ambrožič Avguštin, J.; Gunde-Cimerman, N. The Dishwasher Rubber Seal Acts as a Reservoir 80. of Bacteria in the Home Environment. BMC Microbiol. 2019, 19, 300. [CrossRef] 81.
- Purdy-Gibson, M.E.; France, M.; Hundley, T.C.; Eid, N.; Remold, S.K. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa in CF and Non-CF Homes Is Found Predominantly in Drains. J. Cyst. Fibros. 2015, 14, 341–346. [CrossRef] Rice, S.A.; Van Den Akker, B.; Pomati, F.; Roser, D. A Risk Assessment of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa in Swimming Pools: A 82.
- Review. J. Water Health 2012, 10, 181–196. [CrossRef] [PubMed] Perry, E.; Sutton, G.A.; Haggag, L.; Fleker, M.; Blum, S.E.; Kaufmann, R. Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolation from Dog Grooming
- 83. Products Used by Private Owners or by Professional Pet Grooming Salons: Prevalence and Risk Factors. Vet. Dermatol. 2022, 33, 316. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Park, Y.; Oh, J.; Park, S.; Sum, S.; Song, W.; Chae, J.; Park, H. Antimicrobial Resistance and Novel Mutations Detected in the GyrA 84 and ParC Genes of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Strains Isolated from Companion Dogs. BMC Vet. Res. 2020, 16, 111. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Haenni, M.; Hocquet, D.; Ponsin, C.; Cholley, P.; Guyeux, C.; Madec, J.-Y.; Bertrand, X. Population Structure and Antimicrobial 85. Susceptibility of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa from Animal Infections in France. BMC Vet. Res. 2015, 11, 9. [CrossRef]

- Hyun, J.-E.; Chung, T.-H.; Hwang, C.-Y. Identification of VIM-2 Metallo-β-Lactamase-Producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolated from Dogs with Pyoderma and Otitis in Korea. Vd. Dermatol. 2018, 29, 186-e68. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Elfadadny, A.; Uchiyama, J.; Goto, K.; Imanishi, I.; Ragab, R.F.; Nageeb, W.M.; Iyori, K.; Toyoda, Y.; Tsukui, T.; Ide, K.; et al.
- Elfadadny, A.; Uchiyama, J.; Goto, K.; Imanishi, I.; Ragab, R.F.; Nageeb, W.M.; Iyori, K.; Toyoda, Y.; Tsukui, T.; Ide, K.; et al. Antimicrobial Resistance and Genotyping of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Isolated from the Ear Canals of Dogs in Japan. Front. Vot. Sci. 2023, 10, 1074127. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Maatallah, M.; Cheriaa, J.; Backhrouf, A.; Iversen, A.; Grundmann, H.; Do, T.; Lanotte, P.; Mastouri, M.; Elghmati, M.S.; Rojo, F.; et al. Population Structure of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa from Five Mediterrane an Countries: Evidence for Frequent Recombination and Epidemic Occurrence of OC235. PLoS ONE 2011, 6, e25617. [CrossRef]
- Santaniello, A.; Sansone, M.; Fioretti, A.; Menna, L.F. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Occurrence of ESKAPE Bacteria Group in Dogs, and the Related Zoonotic Risk in Animal-Assisted Therapy, and in Animal-Assisted Activity in the Health Context. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020, 17, 3278. [CrossRef]
- Fernandes, M.R.; Sellera, F.P.; Moura, Q.; Carvalho, M.P.N.; Rosato, P.N.; Cerdeira, L.; Lincopan, N. Zooanthroponotic Transmission of Drug-Resistant Pseudomonas Aeruginosa, Brazil. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2018, 24, 1160–1162. [CrossRef]
- Hattab, J.; Mosca, F.; Di Francesco, C.E.; Aste, G.; Marruchella, G.; Guardiani, P.; Tiscar, P.G. Occurrence, Antimicrobial Susceptibility, and Pathogenic Factors of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa in Canine Clinical Samples. Vet. World 2021, 14, 978–985. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pye, C.C.; Yu, A.A.; Weese, J.S. Evaluation of Biofilm Production by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from Canine Ears and the Impact of Biofilm on Antimicrobial Susceptibility in vitro. *Vet. Dermatol.* 2013, 24, 446-e99. [CrossRef]
 Brock, M.T.; Fedderly, G.C.; Borlee, G.I.; Russell, M.M.; Filipowska, L.K.; Hyatt, D.R.; Ferris, R.A.; Borlee, B.R. Pseudomonas
- Brock, M.T.; Fedderly, G.C.; Borlee, G.I.; Russell, M.M.; Filipowska, L.K.; Hyatt, D.R.; Ferris, R.A.; Borlee, B.R. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Variants Obtained from Veterinary Clinical Samples Reveal a Role for Cyclic Di-GMP in Biofilm Formation and Colony Morphology. *Microbiology* 2017, 163, 1613–1625. [CrossRef]
- Boles, B.R.; Thoendel, M.; Singh, P.K. Self-Generated Diversity Produces "Insurance Effects" in Biofilm Communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2004, 101, 16630–16635. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vives-Flórez, M.; Garnica, D. Comparison of Virulence between Clinical and Environmental Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Isolates. Int. Microbiol. 2006, 9, 247–252.
- Robinson, V.H.; Paterson, S.; Bennett, C.; Steen, S.I. Biofilm Production of *Pseudomonas* Spp. Isolates from Canine Otitis in Three Different Enrichment Broths. Vet. Dormatol. 2019, 30, 218. [CrossRef]
- Chan, W.Y.; Hickey, E.E.; Page, S.W.; Trott, D.J.; Hill, P.B. Biofilm Production by Pathogens Associated with Canine Otitis Externa, and the Antibiofilm Activity of Ionophones and Antimicrobial Adjuvants. Vol. Pharm. Ther. 2019, 42, 682–692. [CrossRef]
 Thi, M.T.T.; Wibowo, D.; Rehm, B.H.A. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Biofilms. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2020, 21, 8671. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ini, M. I. I.; Wibowo, D.; Kehm, B.H.A. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa bionims. *Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2020, 21*, 86/1. [CrossKef] [PubMed]
 Fusconi, M.; Petrozza, V.; Taddei, A.R.; Vinciguerra, V.; De Virgilio, A.; Chiarini, F.; Cirenza, M.; Gallinelli, C.; Conte, M.;
- De Vincentiis, M. Is Biofilm the Cause of Chronic Otitis Externa?: Biofilm in Chronic Otitis Externa. Laryngoscope 2011, 121, 2626–2633. [CrossRef] [PubMed] 100. Sundstrom, J.; Agrup, C.; Kronvall, G.; Wætlind, B. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Adherence to External Auditory Canal Epithelium.
- Arch. Otolaryngol.—Head Neck Surg. 1997, 123, 1287–1292. [CrossRef] 101. Ghanem, S.M.; Abd El-Baky, R.M.; Abourehab, M.A.; Fadl, G.F.; Gamil, N.G. Prevalence of Quorum Sensing and Virulence Factor
- Genes Among Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Isolated from Patients Suffering from Different Infections and Their Association with Antimicrobial Resistance. IDR 2023, 16, 2371–2385. [CrossRef]
 102. Qin, S.; Xiao, W.; Zhou, C.; Pu, Q.; Deng, X.; Lan, L.; Liang, H.; Song, X.; Wu, M. Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Pathogenesis, virulence
- 102 Qin, S. Xiao, W. Zhou, C. Fu, Q. Deng, X. Lan, L. Liang, H. Song, X. Yu, M. Fenutomonus aeruginesis: Fartogenesis, Viruence factors, antibiotic resistance, interaction with host, technology advances and emerging therapeutics. Sig. Transduct. Target Thr. 2022, 7, 199. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Galdino, A.C.M.; Branquinha, M.H.; Santos, A.L.S.; Viganor, L. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa and Its Arsenal of Proteases: Weapons to Battle the Host. In *Pathophysiological Aspects of Proteases*; Chakraborti, S., Dhalla, N.S., Eds.; Springer: Singapore, 2017; pp. 381–397, ISBN 978-981-10-6140-0.
- Avidano, M.A.; Cotter, C.S.; Stringer, S.P.; Schultz, G.S. Analysis of Protease Activity in Human Otitis Media. Otolaryngol.—Head Neck Surg. 1998, 119, 346–351. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Petermann, S.R.; Doetkott, C.; Rust, L. Elastase Deficiency Phenotype of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Canine Otitis Externa Isolates. Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 2001, 8, 632–636. [CrossRef]
- 6. Cotter, C.S.; Avidano, M.A.; Stringer, S.F.; Schultz, G.S. Inhibition of Proteases in Pseudomonas otitis Media in Chinchillas. Otolaryngol.—Head Neck Surg. 1996, 115, 342–351. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tron, E.A.M.; Wilke, H.L.; Petermann, S.R.; Rust, L. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa from Canine Otitis Externa Exhibit a Quorum Sensing Deficiency. Vot. Microbiol. 2004, 99, 121–129. [CrossRef]
 Shoriridge, V.D.; Lazdunski, A.; Vasil, M.L. Osmoprotectants and Phosphate Regulate Expression of Phospholipase C in
- Pseudomonas Aeruginoea. Mol. Microbiol. 1992, 6, 863-871. [CrossRef] 109. Berka, R.M.; Vasil, M.L. Phospholipase C (Heat-Labile Hemolysin) of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa: Purification and Preliminary
- Characterization. J. Bacteriol. 1982, 152, 239–245. [CrossRef]
 Berk, R.S.; Browr, D.; Coutinho, I.; Meyers, D. In Vivo Studies with Two Phospholipase C Fractions from Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. Infect. Immun. 1987, 55, 1728–1730. [CrossRef]

- 111. Michalska, M.; Wolf, P. Pseudomonas Exotoxin A: Optimized by Evolution for Effective Killing. Front. Microbiol. 2015, 6, 963. CrossRef]
- 112. Kounnas, M.Z.; Morris, R.E.; Thompson, M.R.; FitzGerald, D.J.; Strickland, D.K.; Sælinger, C.B. The Alpha 2-Macroglobulin Receptor/Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein Binds and Internalizes Pseudomonas Exotoxin A. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 12420-12423. [CrossRef]
- 113. Matar, G.M.; Ramlawi, F.; Hijazi, N.; Khneisser, I.; Abdelnoor, A.M. Transcription Levels of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Exotoxin A Gene and Severity of Symptoms in Patients with Otitis Externa. Curr. Microbiol. 2002, 45, 350-354. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lundman, L.; Harada, T.; Santi, P.A.; Juhn, S.K.; Morizono, T.; Bagger-Sjöbäck, D. Inner Ear Damage and Passage through the Round Window Membrane of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Exotoxin a in a Chinchilla Model. Ann. Otol. Rhinol. Laryngol. 1992, 101, 437-444. [CrossRef]
- 115. Stenavist, M.; Anniko, M.; Rask-Andersen, H. Middle Ear Mucosa Changes Following Exposure to Pseudomonas aeruginosa Evolution A. Eur. Arch. Oto-Rhino-Laryngol. 1999, 256, 484-490. [CrossRef] 116. Stenqvist, M.; Anniko, M.; Pettersson, A. Effect of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Exotoxin A on Inner Ear Function. Acta Oto-Laryngol.
- 1997, 117, 73-79. [CrossRef] 117.
- Horna, G.; Ruiz, J. Type 3 Secretion System of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. Microbiol. Res. 2021, 246, 126719. [CrossRef] [PubMed] Feltman, H.; Schulert, G.; Khan, S.; Jain, M.; Peterson, L.; Hauser, A.R. Prevalence of Type III Secretion Genes in Clinical and Environmental Isolates of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. *Microbiology* 2001, 147, 2659–2669. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rutherford, V.; Yom, K.; Ozer, E.A.; Pura, O.; Hughes, A.; Murphy, K.R.; Cudzilo, L.; Mitchell, D.; Hauser, A.R. Environmental 119.
- Reservoirs for ExoS+ and ExoU+ Strains of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. Environ. Microbiol. Rep. 2018, 10, 485–492. [CrossRef] 120. Park, M.-H.; Kim, S.Y.; Roh, E.Y.; Lee, H.S. Difference of Type 3 Secretion System (T3SS) Effector Gene Genotypes (ExoU and ExoS) and Its Implication to Antibiotics Resistances in Isolates of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa from Chronic Otitis Media. Auris Nasus Laryn x 2017, 44, 258-265. [CrossRef]
- 121. Cox, G.; Wright, G.D. Intrinsic Antibiotic Resistance: Mechanisms, Origins, Challenges and Solutions. Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 2013, 303, 287-292. [CrossRef]
- 122. Guedeja-Marrón, J.; Blanco, J.L.; Ruperez, C.; Garcia, M.-E. Susceptibility of Bacterial Isolates from Chronic Canine Otitis Externa
- KuKanich, K.S.; Bagladi-Swanson, M.; KuKanich, B. Pseudomonas aruginosa Susceptibility, Antibiogram and Clinical Interpreta-tion, and Antimicrobial Prescribing Behaviors for Dogs with Otitis in the Midwestern United States. Vol. Pharm. Ther. 2022, 45, 440-449. [CrossRef]
- 124. Mekić, S.; Matanović, K.; Šeol, B. Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolates from Dogs with Otitis Externa. Vet. Rec. 2011, 169, 125. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bourély, C.; Cazeau, G.; Jarrige, N.; Leblond, A.; Madec, J.Y.; Haenni, M.; Gay, E. Antimicrobial Resistance Patterns of Bacteria Isolated from Dogs with Otitis. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 2019, 147, e121. [CrossRef] 126. Sweeney, M.T.; Lubbers, B.V.; Schwarz, S.; Watts, J.L. Applying Definitions for Multidrug Resistance, Extensive Drug Resistance
- and Pandrug Resistance to Clinically Significant Livestock and Companion Animal Bacterial Pathogens. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 2018, 73, 1460–1463. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 127. WHO Publishes List of Bacteria for Which New Antibiotics Are Urgently Needed. Available online: https://www.who int/news/item/27-02-2017-who-publishes-list-of-bacteria-for-which-new-antibiotics-are-urgently-needed (accessed on 21 September 2023).
- 128. Nordmann, P.; Poirel, L. Epidemiology and Diagnostics of Carbapenem Resistance in Gram-Negative Bacteria. Clin. Infect. Dis. 2019, 69, S521-S528. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 129. Nuttall, T.J. Use of Ticarcillin in the Management of Canine Otitis Externa Complicated by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J. Small Anim. Pract. 1998, 39, 165-168. [CrossRef]
- 130. Pietschmann, S.; Meyer, M.; Voget, M.; Cieslicki, M. The Joint in Vitro Action of Polymyxin B and Miconazole against Pathogens Associated with Canine Otitis Externa from Three E Uropean Countries. Vet. Dermatol. 2013, 24, 439. [CrossRef]
- Jetzsele, Á.; Pásztiné-Gere, E. Evaluating Synergy between Marbofloxacin and Gentamicin in Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Strains Isolated from Dogs with Otitis Externa. Acta Microbiol. Immunol. Hung. 2015, 62, 45–55. [CrossRef] 132. Wooley, R.E.; Jones, M.S. Action of EDTA-Tris and Antimicrobial Agent Combinations on Selected Pathogenic Bacteria. Vet.
- Microbiol, 1983, 8, 271-280, [CrossRef] 133. Sparks, T.A.; Kemp, D.T.; Wooley, R.E.; Gibbs, P.S. Antimicrobial Effect of Combinations of EDTA-Tris and Amikacin or Neomycin
- on the Microorganisms Associated with Otitis Externa in Dogs. Vd. Res. Commun. 1994, 18, 241-249. [CrossRef] 134. Wooley, R.E.; Jones, M.S.; Gilbert, J.P.; Shotts, E.B. In Vitro Action of Combinations of Antimicrobial Agents and EDTA-
- Tromethamine on Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. Am. J. Vet. Res. 1983, 44, 1521–1524.
- Buckley, L.M.; McEwan, N.A.; Nuttall, T. Tris-EDTA Significantly Enhances Antibiotic Efficacy against Multidrug-Resistant Pseudanonas Aeruginosa in Vitro. Vet. Dermatol. 2013, 24, 519-e122. [CrossRef] GBADAMOSIS, S.; GOTTHELF, L. Abstracts from the American Academy of Veterinary Dermatology and American College of 136.
- Veterinary Dermatology Annual Meeting. Monterey, CA, 9–13 April 2003. Vat. Dermatol. 2003, 14, 210–236. [CrossRef] 137. May, E.R.; Ratliff, B.E.; Bemis, D.A. Antibacterial Effect of N-acetylcysteine in Combination with Antimicrobials on Common
- Canine Otitis Externa Bacterial Isolates. Vet. Dermatol. 2019, 30, 531. [CrossRef]

- Chan, W.Y.; Khazandi, M.; Hickey, E.E.; Page, S.W.; Trott, D.J.; Hill, P.B. In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of Seven Adjuvants against Common Pathogens Associated with Canine Otitis Externa. Va. Dermatol. 2019, 30, 133. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Chan, W.Y.; Hickey, E.E.; Khazandi, M.; Page, S.W.; Trott, D.J.; Hill, P.B. In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of Narasin and Monensin
- Chan, W. Y.; Hickey, E.E.; Khazandi, M.; Page, S.W.; Irott, D.J.; Fhil, P.B. In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of Narasin and Monensin in Combination with Adjuvants against Pathogens Associated with Canine Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2020, 31, 138. [CrossRef]
 Chan, W.Y.; Hickey, E.E.; Khazandi, M.; Page, S.W.; Trott, D.J.; Hill, P.B. In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of Narasin against
- Common Clinical Isolates Associated with Canine Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2018, 29, 149. [CrossRef] [PubMed] 141. Trott, D.; Moss, S.; See, A.; Rees, R. Evaluation of Disc Diffusion and MIC Testing for Determining Susceptibility of Pseudomonas
- Aeruginosa Isolates to Topical Enrofloxacin/Silver Sulfadiazine. Aust. Vet. J. 2007, 85, 464–466. [CrossRef] 142. Von Silva-Tarouca, M.S.E.; Wolf, G.; Mueller, R.S. Determination of Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations for Silver Sulfadiazine
- and Other Topical Antimicrobial Agents against Strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolated from Canine Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2019, 30, 145. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sim, J.X.F.; Khazandi, M.; Pi, H.; Venter, H.; Trott, D.J.; Deo, P. Antimicrobial Effects of Cinnamon Essential Oil and Cinnamaldehyde Combined with EDTA against Canine Otitis Externa Pathogens. J. Appl. Microbiol. 2019, 127, 99–108. [CrossRef]
 Sim, J.X.F.; Khazandi, M.; Char, W.Y.; Trott, D.J.; Deo, P. Antimicrobial Activity of Thyme Oil, Oregano Oil, Thymol and Carvacrol
- Sim, J.X.F.; Khazandi, M.; Chan, W.Y.; Irott, D.J.; Deo, P. Antimicrobial Activity of Thyme Oil, Oregano Oil, Thymol and Carvacrol against Sensitive and Resistant Microbial Isolates from Dogs with Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2019, 30, 524. [CrossRef]
- 145. Ebani, V.; Nardoni, S.; Bertelloni, F.; Najar, B.; Pistelli, L.; Mancianti, F. Antibacterial and Antifungal Activity of Essential Oils against Pathogens Responsible for Otitis Externa in Dogs and Cats. *Medicines* 2017, 4, 21. [CrossRef]
- Moulari, B.; Pellequer, Y.; Chaumont, J.; Guillaume, Y.; Millet, J. In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of the Leaf Extract of Harungana Madagascariensis Lam. Ex Poir. (Hypericaceae) against Strains Causing Otitis Externa in Dogs and Cats. Acta Vet. Hung. 2007, 55, 97–105. [CrossRef]
- 147. Song, S.; Hyun, J.; Kang, J.-H.; Hwang, C. In Vitro Antibacterial Activity of the Manuka Essential Oil from Leptospermum scoparium Combined with Tris-EDTA against Gram-negative Bacterial Isolates from Dogs with Otitis Externa. Vet. Dermatol. 2020, 31, 81. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 148. Vercelli, C.; Pasquetti, M.; Giovannetti, G.; Visioni, S.; Re, G.; Giorgi, M.; Gambino, G.; Peano, A. In Vitro and in Vivo Evaluation of a New Phytotherapic Blend to Treat A cute Externa Otitis in Dogs. Vet. Pharm. Ther. 2021, 44, 910–918. [CrossRef]
- Seeger, M.G., Ries, A.S.; Gressler, L.T.; Botton, S.A.; Iglesias, B.A.; Cargnelutti, J.F. In Vitro Antimicrobial Photodynamic Therapy Using Tetra-Cationic Porphyrins against Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria Isolated from Canine Otitis. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther.* 2020, 32, 101982. [CrossRef]
- Machado, C.S.; Seeger, M.G.; Moreira, K.S.; Burgo, T.A.L.; Iglesias, B.A.; Vogel, F.S.F.; Cargnelutti, J.F. In Vitro Porphyrin-Based Photodynamic Therapy against Mono and Polyculture of Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria Isolated from Integumentary Infections in Animals. Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther. 2022, 40, 103179. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sellera, F.P.; Fernandes, M.R.; Sabino, C.P.; De Freitas, L.M.; Da Silva, L.C.B.A.; Pogliani, F.C.; Ribeiro, M.S.; Hamblin, M.R.; Lincopan, N. Effective Treatment and Decolonization of a Dog Infected with Carbapenemase (VIM-2)-producing *Pseudomonas* Aeruginosa Using Probiotic and Photodynamic Therapies. Vol. Dermatol. 2019, 30, 170. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jin, H.; Hwang, C.; Kang, J.; Baek, S.; Hyun, J. In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of Cold Atmospheric Microwave Plasma against Bacteria Causing Canine Skin and Ear Infections. Vat. Dermatol. 2021, 32, 462. [CrossRef]
- Wright, A.; Hawkins, C.H.; Änggård, E.E.; Harper, D.R. A Controlled Clinical Trial of a Therapeutic Bacteriophage Preparation in Chronic Otitis Due to Antibiotic-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa; a Preliminary Report of Efficacy. Clin. Otolaryngol. 2009, 34, 349–357. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hawkins, C.; Harper, D.; Burch, D.; Änggård, E.; Soothill, J. Topical Treatment of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Otitis of Dogs with a Bacteriophage Mixture: A before/after Clinical Trial. Vat. Microbiol. 2010, 146, 309–313. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.